Public Document Pack

Resources Department
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Members of Planning Committee are summoned to a meeting, which will be held in the
Council Chamber - Town Hall on 27 July 2021 at 7.30 pm.
Enquiries to
Tel
E-mail
Despatched

:
:
:
:

Ola Adeoye
020 7527 3044
democracy@islington.gov.uk
19 July 2021

Welcome:
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting.
Consideration of Planning Applications – This is a formal agenda where decisions are
taken on planning applications submitted to the Council. Public speaking rights on these
items are limited to those wishing to comment on specific applications. If you wish to
speak at the meeting please register by calling the Planning Department on
020 7527 2278 or emailing enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk.
Committee Membership
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
West;
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

Wards

Klute (Chair)
- St Peter's;
Poyser (Vice-Chair) - Hillrise;
Khondoker (Vice-Chair) - Highbury
Clarke
Convery
Ibrahim
Jackson
North
Picknell
Woolf

Quorum: 3 councillors

-

St George's;
Caledonian;
Highbury West;
Holloway;
St Peter's;
St Mary's;
Canonbury;

Substitute Members
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor
Councillor

Chowdhury
Hyde
Kay
Khurana
Nathan
Wayne
Williamson
Gilgunn

-

Barnsbury;
Caledonian;
Mildmay;
Tollington;
Clerkenwell;
Canonbury;
Tollington;
Tollington;

A.

Formal Matters

1.

Introductions

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declarations of Substitute Members

4.

Declarations of Interest

Page

If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business:
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the
existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it
becomes apparent;
 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.
In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in
discussion of the item.
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in
the discussion and vote on the item.
*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or
vocation carried on for profit or gain.
(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election;
including from a trade union.
(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works,
between you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a
beneficial interest) and the council.
(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month
or longer.
(f)
Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest.
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a
place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value
of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued
share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.
This applies to all members present at the meeting.
5.

Order of Business

1-2

6.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

3-8

B.

Consideration of Planning Applications

Page

1.

394 Camden Road, Islington, London N& 0SJ

9 - 36

2.

Land at Park View Estate Collins Road, N5 2UD

37 - 84

3.

Land at York Way Estate York Way London N7

85 176

4.

Willen House 8-26 Bath Street, London EC1V 9DX

177 178

C.

Consideration of other planning matters

Page

D.

Urgent non-exempt items (if any)
Any non-exempt items which the Chair is of the opinion should be considered as
a matter of urgency and to consider whether the special circumstances included
in the report as to why it was not included on and circulated with the agenda are
acceptable for recording in the minutes.

Exclusion of press and public

E.

To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the agenda,
it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information within
the terms of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the Constitution and,
if so, whether to exclude the press and public during discussion thereof.
F.

Confidential/exempt items

G.

Urgent exempt items (if any)

Page

Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the
Chair and recorded in the minutes.

Date of Next Meeting: Planning Committee, 2 September 2021
Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on the
council's website: www.democracy.islington.gov.uk

WEBCASTING NOTICE
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s
website. The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt
items, and the footage will be on the website for 12 months. A copy of it will also be retained in
accordance with the Council’s data retention policy.
If you participate in the meeting you will be deemed by the Council to have consented to being
filmed. By entering the Council Chamber you are also consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. If

you do not wish to have your image captured you should sit in the public gallery area, overlooking
the Chamber.
In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public to take photographs, film,
audio-record, and report on the proceedings at public meetings. The Council will only seek to
prevent this should it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner.
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of meetings by the public, please
contact Democratic Services on democracy@islington.gov.uk

PROCEDURES FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE
Planning Committee Membership
The Planning Committee consists of ten locally elected members of the council who will
decide on the applications for planning permission.
Order of Agenda
The Chair of the Planning Committee has discretion to bring forward items, or vary the
order of the agenda, where there is a lot of public interest.
Consideration of the Application
After hearing from council officers about the main issues of the proposal and any
information additional to the written report, the Chair will invite those objectors who have
registered to speak for up to three minutes on any point relevant to the application. If
more than one objector is present for any application then the Chair may request that a
spokesperson should speak on behalf of all the objectors. The spokesperson should be
selected before the meeting begins. The applicant will then be invited to address the
meeting also for three minutes. These arrangements may be varied at the Chair's
discretion.
Members of the Planning Committee will then discuss and vote to decide the application.
The drawings forming the application are available for inspection by members during the
discussion.
Please note that the Planning Committee will not be in a position to consider any
additional material (e.g. further letters, plans, diagrams etc.) presented on that evening.
Should you wish to provide any such information, please send this to the case officer a
minimum of 24 hours before the meeting. If you submitted an objection but now feel that
revisions or clarifications have addressed your earlier concerns, please write to inform us
as soon as possible.
What Are Relevant Planning Objections?
The Planning Committee is required to decide on planning applications in accordance with
the policies in the Development Plan unless there are compelling other reasons. The
officer's report to the Planning Committee will refer to the relevant policies and evaluate
the application against these policies. Loss of light, openness or privacy, disturbance to
neighbouring properties from proposed intrusive uses, over development or the impact of
proposed development in terms of size, scale, design or character on other buildings in
the area, are relevant grounds for objection. Loss of property value, disturbance during
building works and competition with existing uses are not. Loss of view is not a relevant
ground for objection, however an unacceptable increase in sense of enclosure is.
For further information on how the Planning Committee operates and how to
put your views to the Planning Committee please call Ola Adeoye on 020 7527
3044. If you wish to speak at the meeting please register by calling the
Planning Department on 020 7527 2278 or emailing
enquiriesplanning@islington.gov.uk.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item A5

Schedule of Planning Applications
PLANNING COMMITTEE - Tuesday 27 July, 2021

COMMITTEE AGENDA
1 394 Camden Road
Islington
London
N7 0SJ
2 Land At Park View Estate Park View Estate
Collins Road
London
N5 2UD
3 Land at York Way Estate
York Way
London N7
4 Willen House
8-26 Bath Street
London
EC1V 9DX

1 394 Camden Road
Islington
London
N7 0SJ
Application Number: P2018/4071/FUL
Ward: Holloway
Proposed Development: Increase in floorspace through creation of 449.6 sqm of floorspace at mezzanine level.
Retrospective change of use and subdivision of warehouse building from Use Class B8 to
flexible employment Sui Generis uses and Use Class B1. Provision of new metal roof panel Kingspan KS1000 RW Trapezoidal; Provision of 20 cycle spaces; Construction of canopy
and post boxes at entrance to warehouse building and reduction size of opening on
Hillmarton Road elevation.
Application Type: Full Planning Application
Case Officer: Malachy Mcgovern
Name of Applicant: Embankment Building Ltd, Mr Spitz

Recommendation:

2 Land At Park View Estate Park View Estate
Collins Road
London
N5 2UD
Application Number: P2020/3313/S73

Schedule of Planning Applications

Page 1
Page 1 of 2

Ward: Highbury East
Proposed Development: Application for a minor-material amendment under S73 to vary condition 2 (approved
Drawings) and condition 11 (Energy Statement) following a grant of planning permission Ref:
P2017/2444/FUL dated 28/11/2017 for the construction of 40 new dwelling units comprising
8 x 1B2P units, 3 x 2B3P units, 27 x 2B4P units, 2 x 3B5P units with associated amenity
space and 41.8sqm community use floorspace, provided in six new residential blocks
ranging from 2 to 6 storeys in height, along with bicycle storage, improvements to the public
realm, and the demolition of existing garages and storage unitsThe amendments sought are:
Increasing affordable housing provision to 100% social rented housing; amendments to the
landscaping plan, removal of an additional tree, swapping a 2-bedroom wheelchair
accessible home in Block B with a 3-bedroom home from Block G, amendments to design
and layout and relocation of cycle parking spaces.
Application Type: Removal/Variation of Condition (Section 73)
Case Officer: Joseph Hennessy
Name of Applicant: Andrew Hunter

Recommendation:

3 Land at York Way Estate
York Way
London N7
Application Number: P2021/0969/FUL
Ward: Holloway
Proposed Development: Demolition of existing community centre building and MUGA and the erection of four blocks
of between four and seven storeys (Buildings A, B & C - part six and part seven storeys and
Building D - four storeys) to provide a total of 91 x Class C3 units (17 x studios, 25 x 1-bed,
21 x 2-bed, 25 x 3-bed & 3 x 4-bed), a community centre and estate office, estate wide play
space and landscaping. Alterations to vehicular, service and pedestrian access from North
Road, York Way and Market Road, pedestrian footpaths and ramps, car and cycle parking
and other associated works including landscaping; amenity space; and refuse storage.
Application Type: Full Planning Application
Case Officer: Stefan Sanctuary
Name of Applicant: Mr James Illsley

Recommendation:

4 Willen House
8-26 Bath Street
London
EC1V 9DX
Application Number: P2021/0616/FUL
Ward: Bunhill
Proposed Development: Extension, alteration and refurbishment of the existing building to provide re-modelled
student (with 10% wheelchair accessible rooms) with ancillary amenity spaces and secure
cycle parking (sui generis use), together with new landscaping at basement level, installation
of pavement lightwells, removal of access ramp and replacement with platform lift.
(AMENDED PLANS AND DESCRIPTION)
Application Type: Full Planning Application
Case Officer: Nicholas Linford
Name of Applicant: Mr Steven Gardner

Recommendation:

Page 2
Schedule of Planning Applications

Page 2 of 2

Agenda Item A6
London Borough of Islington
Planning Committee - 29 June 2021
Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held at Council Chamber, Town Hall,
Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on 29 June 2021 at 7.30 pm.
Present:

Councillors:

Also
Present:

Councillors:

Klute (Chair), Poyser (Vice-Chair), Clarke, Convery,
Ibrahim, Jackson, North and Picknell

Councillor Martin Klute in the Chair

238

INTRODUCTIONS (Item A1)
Councillor Klute welcomed everyone to the meeting. Members of the Committee and
officers introduced themselves.

239

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A2)
There were no apologies for absence

240

DECLARATIONS OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A3)
There were no declarations of substitute members.

241

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Item A4)
There were no declarations of interest.

242

ORDER OF BUSINESS (Item A5)
The order of Business would be B2 and B1

243

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A6)
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 May 2021 be confirmed as an accurate
record of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them.

244

MEMBERSHIP, TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DATES OF MEETINGS (Item
A7)
RESOLVED:
a) That the Sub-Committees be confirmed as five member Sub-Committees and
that the terms of reference be noted.
b) That the allocation of seats was determined in accordance with the advice in
the report.
1

Page 3

Planning Committee - 29 June 2021

c) That Councillors Khondoker, Clarke, Jackson, Klute and Woolf be appointed as
members of Planning Sub-Committee A for the current municipal year or until
their successors are appointed.
d) That Councillors Poyser, Convery, Ibrahim, North and Picknell be appointed as
members of Planning Sub-Committee B for the current municipal year or until
their successors are appointed.
e) That it be noted that Councillor Khondoker had been appointed Chair of
Planning Sub-Committee A and Councillor Poyser had been appointed Chair of
Planning Sub-Committee B for the municipal year or until their successors are
appointed.
f) That it be noted that Councillor Woolf had been appointed Vice Chair of
Planning Sub-Committee A and Councillor Picknell had been appointed Vice
Chair of Planning Sub-Committee B for the municipal year or until their
successor are appointed.
g) That it be noted that any member who was a member or substitute member of
the Planning Committee could substitute at any meetings of either SubCommittee if they had not been appointed as a member of the Sub-Committee.
245

20 TILEYARD ROAD LONDON N7 9AH (Item B1)
Demolition of the existing building and the erection of a five-storey (plus basement)
commercial building comprising industrial (Class E(g)(iii)/B2/B8) and Class E(g)
floorspace; and the provision of associated access, cycle parking and refuse
storage.
(Planning application number: P2021/1062/FUL)
In the discussion the following points were made:
 The Planning Officer presented the scheme, advissing in summary that the
proposal increases the amount of industrial floorspace in a sympatheticallydesign new building which is sensitive to surrounding occupiers. Inclusive
design and sustainable design features have been incorporated as well as
well considered servicing and delivery arrangements.
 The Planning Officer informed the meeting of 2 additional updates, that a
contribution of £21,222.36 Highway reinstatement bond has been proposed
and that condition 13 be amended to read as follows The 1,555sqm of B2,
B8, E(g)(iii) Use Class floorspace - of the Schedule to the Town and Country
Planning (Use Class) Order 1987 as amended 2020 (or the equivalent use
within any amended/updated subsequent Order) - hereby approved, shall be
limited to those uses only and for no other purpose whatsoever, without
express planning consent from the Local Planning Authority first being
obtained.
 In response to a question about the lack of affordable workspace in the
scheme, the agent acknowledged that the scheme has been designed with
2

Page 4

Planning Committee - 29 June 2021






flexibility and the requirements of SME’s in mind, that the floor plates are
generally modest in size and that given its relatively small size and the
industrial nature of the floor it is considered acceptable.
On the brick type being proposed for the scheme, the Planning Officer
advised that a condition requiring the submission of details of materials for
approval is recommended prior to their use. A suggestion by Chair that the
condition should make specific reference to solid brick was seconded by
Councillor Convery.
Members were advised that there is no plan to cook on the site that the
applicant offers catering of cold food such as sandwiches and salad hence no
need for ventilation flues
With regard to a suggestion for the scheme to provide more vegetation and
trees on the site, the meeting was advised that this would be sought through
details pursuant to condition 21 whilst condition 14requires that green/brown
roofs shall be maximised across the development.

Councillor Klute proposed a motion to grant Planning permission. This was
seconded by Councillor Picknell and carried.
RESOLVED:
That following consideration of the case officer’s report (the assessment and
recommendations therein), the presentation to Committee, submitted
representations, planning permission be granted subject to the conditions and
informatives set out in Appendix 1 of the officer report and subject to the prior
completion of a Deed of Planning Obligation made under Section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 securing the heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1
of the officer report.
246

218 UPPER STREET LONDON N1 1RR (Item B2)
Demolition of existing office building, save for retention of ground floor façade, and
redevelopment to create new office three-storey/set back four-storey building with
roof plant, landscaping, cycle parking and other associated works
(Planning application number: P2020/3058/FUL)
In the discussion the following points were made:
 Planning Officer advised of two updates, that the applicant submitted
supplementary information regarding the sunlight impact towards
neighbouring properties at 216 Upper Street which indicates that the
proposal complies with the relevant BRE guidance
 Condition 3(b) relating to materials be reworded to read ‘window treatments
(including sections and reveals, and details of the limestone surrounds for
the upper floor windows) to a scale of at least 1:10. In addition ,condition 31
relating to flat roof will be reworded to read ‘ with the exception of the third
floor roof terrace in relation to condition 29, the flat roofs of the development
hereby approved, including the first floor rear terrace shall not be used as
amenity spaces and shall not be accessed other than for maintenance
 In terms of land use consideration, the Planning Officer advised that the
scheme would provide additional office floor space within the Employment
Growth Area; on site affordable workspace and importantly the vacant site
3

Page 5

Planning Committee - 29 June 2021




















would be brought back into active use, that the scheme is supported by local
plan policies.
Members were reminded that the building was registered for local listing in
Dec 2020, following Committee’s resolution in November 2020 recognising
its significance.
The Planning Officer highlighted the 3 options that were considered during
the pre advice stage and that it is agreed that the proposal before the
committee would result in minimal disruption to neighbouring residents and
any heritage harm following demolition of the building.
Meeting was advised that the proposal will involve a substantial demolition
of the locally listed former bank building, retaining only the ground floor
shopfront, excavating and extending the basement so as to create a new
three storey office building with a fourth floor set back storey and plant at
roof level.
Officers considered that the retention of the ground floor façade is
acceptable, noting that whilst some of the reinstatement of features are
welcome, the proposal would cause some adverse impact in the loss of one
of the front bays due to the provision of access to the substation at lower
ground floor.
On the scheme’s harm to heritage assets, the Planning Officer advised
that the extent of the proposed demolition to the locally listed building
would cause less than substantial harm to the significance of the nondesignated heritage asset and that the level of harm identified would need
to be weighed against the merits of the design of the replacement building,
as well as the planning balance of the whole application.
The Planning Officer acknowledged concerns about the daylight/sunlight
loss to neighbouring properties of both 216 Upper Street and 18-22
Edwards Mews, that there were some transgressions however the overall
impact is considered to be minor and weighed against the other planning
benefits identified.
With regard to other neighbouring amenity concerns such as outlook and
overlooking from roof terraces, the Planning Officer advised that condition
31 has been recommended to address the issue.
The Planning Officer reiterated that the scheme will comprise of 117sqm of
on-site affordable workspace which is located at the lower ground floor
level which represents 6.4% of the proposed GIA, which exceeds the 5%
minimum requirement
Concerns about the proposed gate accessing the substation was noted
especially as it is recessed into the façade of the building and the use of
metal louvres instead of glass.
With regards to asbestos concerns in the basement of the existing building,
the planning officer advised of no evidence, but reminded members that if
during the demolition process if this was identified this would be addressed
safely via the Construction Management Plan
In response to a question about the rooms which failed the daylight and
sunlight test and the methodology employed, the Planning Officer reiterated
that although no internal layout of neighbouring properties had been
provided, Officers having examined the submitted daylight/sunlight
4

Page 6

Planning Committee - 29 June 2021















information and the maps, that it would be reasonable to assess all the
windows and rooms on the basis that they are serving as habitable rooms
and not hallways or circulation areas.
It was acknowledged that although the proposed development would
result in some level of reduction of daylight, none of the windows/rooms
would be severely impacted by the proposed development.
In terms of privacy concerns, members were reminded that the 18m
separation distance requirement is not applicable as the scheme is not a
residential development nor does it have any habitable room. Members
were informed that having reviewed the proposal and the separation
distance between the site and the properties at Islington Park Mews, it is
considered that there is sufficient separation distance (approximately 40m)
between the buildings and that no harm would be caused.
In response to questions about biodiversity and possibility of future
plans by the applicants to provide more trees, the architect reminded
members that the rear of the site was not used as a garden nor for any
form of outdoor amenity when the bank was the occupier, however the
applicant has submitted details of green roofs and balconies, that the
proposed green roofs to the rear of the building will provide additional
green coverage of the site and mitigate the loss of the undeveloped yard at
rear.
A suggestion that condition 12 be reworded was agreed, that the wording
needs to specific, requesting the applicant to explore the possibility of
providing additional green and brown roofs in conjunction with the Pv panels.
Wording to be delegated to the Planning Officer and agreed by the Chair
The Chair has recommended condition 3 (material) to be amended to
require the submission of the design details of the ground floor louvre/mesh
screen for the access to the substation would need to be consulted with the
Chair before the condition can be discharged.
The committee has also recommended a condition to require details of
screening for the rear elevation to be submitted and approved, to ensure
that the proposal would not adversely affect the privacy of the neighbours at
Edwards Mews. Wording to be delegated to the Planning Officer and agreed
by the Chair
A member welcomed bringing the vacant site back into active use,
acknowledging it’s protection as a building of local significance
In response to the lack of provision of retail use on the ground floor, the
meeting was advised of constraints within the building such as the lift core
with the result that the floor space is insufficient for retail use.

Councillor Klute proposed a motion to grant planning permission. This was
seconded by Councillor Ibrahim and carried.
RESOLVED:
That following consideration of the case officer’s report (the assessment and
recommendations therein), the presentation to Committee, submitted
5

Page 7

Planning Committee - 29 June 2021

representations at this meeting, planning permission be granted subject to the
conditions and informatives set out in Appendix 1 of the officer report and the
amended conditions outlined above; and subject to the prior completion of a Deed
of Planning Obligation made under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 securing the heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1 of the officer report
as amended above.

The meeting ended at 8.30 pm

CHAIR

6

Page 8

Agenda Item B1
Development Management Service
Planning and Development Division
Environment and Regeneration Department

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Date:
27 July 2021

1.

AGENDA ITEM NO:

B1

Application number

P2018/4071/FUL

Application type

Full Planning Application

Site Address

394 Camden Road, London N7 0SJ

Proposal

Ward

Retrospective change of use from a storage and distrubution
warehouse (B8) to light industry B1(a) (now Class E). Retention of
internal alterations including internal mezzanine floor (amended
description) to provide 450 sqm of new Class E floorspace. The
installation of a new roof and rooflights. Construction of new
entrance canopy and provision of 20 cycle spaces.
Holloway

Listed Building

Not applicable

Conservation Area

Hillmarton (Article 4) Conservation Area

Development Plan Context

Nags Head & Upper Holloway Core Strategy Key Area
Major Cycle Route
Employment Growth Area
Within Site Allocation NH9
Within 100m of SRN and TLRN Road
Article 4 Direction A1-A2 (rest of Borough)

Licencing Implications

None

Case Officer

Malachy McGovern

Applicant

Embankment Building Ltd

Agent

Mr Wiseman

RECOMMENDATION

Page 9
P-RPT-COM-Main

The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to the conditions set
out in Appendix 1.

Page 10
P-RPT-COM-Main

2.

SITE PLAN (SITE OUTLINED IN RED)

Page 11
P-RPT-COM-Main

3.

PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET

Image 1 above: Aerial view of site (from south)

Image 2 above: Aerial view (from west)

Page 12
P-RPT-COM-Main

Image 3 above: Aerial view (from north)

Image 4 above: View of roof from Hilmarton Road

Page 13
P-RPT-COM-Main

Image 5, 6 above: Canopy area for proposed cycle stands and bin storage

4.

SUMMARY

4.1

The application is for full planning permission for a change of use of the existing warehouse
building from B8 to 18 individual B1 workspace units. The change of use has already taken place
and the proposal is therefore a retrospective one to secure regularisation of the existing
commercial activities on site. The proposed use of the warehouse for 18 separate business units
would support local employment and contribute to the local economy. New London Plan 2021
policy E1 ‘Offices’ states that improvements to the quality, flexibility and adaptability of office
space of different sizes (for micro, small, medium-sized and larger enterprises) should be
supported by new office provision, refurbishment and mixed-use development in areas such as
the employment areas. Islington Core Strategy policy CS13 ‘Employment spaces’ encourages
new employment floor space to be located within the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and town
centres.

4.2

The proposal would be a more intensive and more efficient use of the available land and would
increase the employment levels on site. It would therefore accord with New London Plan 2021
policy GG2 ‘Making best use of land’ and policy GG5 ‘Growing a good economy’. It should be
recognised that the existing microbusiness have successfully ‘weathered the storm’ and
continued to operate on site despite the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic and this is testament to the
viability and resilience of these enterprises.

4.3

The operational development associated with the proposal includes a new metal roof and skylights
which are visible from views along Hillmarton Road. It is considered that the new roof would have
a neutral appearance and would be compliant with the design advice found within the Islington
Design Guide 2017 and Hillmarton Conservation Area Design Guidelines, and the objectives of
policies CS8 and CS9 of the Islington Core Strategy (2011), and DM2.1 and DM2.3 of Development
Management Policies (2013). It is therefore considered to preserve the visual appearance and
historic character of the wider Hillmarton Conservation Area, and is acceptable in design terms.

Page 14

P-RPT-COM-Main

4.4

Whilst the proposal has the potential for increased noise and nuisance to the surrounding area
given the more intensive and varied uses proposed, given the proposed plant equipment and
nature of the use, the Council’s Environmental Health Pollution Officers have recommended a
number of controls to mitigate this impact. In addition, conditions relating to preventing the use of
the rear garden, as well as the opening hours and the front seating area are also recommended.

4.5

The proposal is considered to not detrimentally impact the wider public highway network including
Camden Road, which is a TLRN road.

4.6

The proposal is considered to be acceptable and it is recommended that the application be
approved subject to conditions.
Background Enforcement

4.7

The application has been submitted in response to a Council Planning Enforcement
investigation opened on 17 October 2018. The Council asserted that both the use of the
subdivided main warehouse for 18 units within Class B1 (now Class E) and various Sui
Generis uses, and the townhouse in use as 8 flexible units within Class B1 (Class E),
was in breach of planning control and required planning permission. The Council also
asserted that the new felt roof was in breach of planning control.
Three-Storey Townhouse (Not part of planning application)

4.8

The applicant submits that the three storey townhouse (no. 394 Camden Road) on the northeastern corner of the site is ancillary to the larger warehouse building and therefore its lawful use
also fell within Use Class B8 at the time the enforcement letter was sent.

4.9

The applicant submits that the townhouse building was converted to 8 flexible office units within
Use Class B1 from Use Class B8 under permitted development rights i.e. Class I – industrial and
general business conversions – of the General Permitted Development Order 2015 (with
amendments) (GPDO).

4.10

The Council accepts that the townhouse is ancillary to the warehouse and fell within Use Class B8
at the time of the conversion (now use Class E). It is a separate building and therefore complied
with Class I of the GPDO regulations which limits the change of use to 500m2 of floor space in the
building. The townhouse building is 193.9m2 so this development is permitted and there is no prior
approval process required. This element of the site does not therefore form part of this planning
application although it is a material consideration.
The Warehouse Building (The application site)

4.11

The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Regulations were updated on 1st September 2020,
with the existing B1 light industry uses becoming Class E, alongside other town centre uses. This
enables buildings to have a number of flexible uses and changes to other uses use within the
same Class E do not require planning permission. It should be noted that a number of the units
such as the tattoo artist are in sui generis use and the grant of this permission will be limited by
planning conditions to ensure that no other sui-generis uses are permitted to operate on site.

5.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1

The application site is ‘L-shaped’ and measures approximately 1,600 metres in area (0.16
hectares). The site is located on the junction of Camden Road (A503) and Hilmarton Road (A5203)
immediately east of an operational Exan garage which adjoins the Castle Public House on the
corner. To east of the site along Camden Road is a row of three storey buildings with commercial
ground floor uses and residential dwellings above. The site is bound to the Exan garage to the west
and as such the entire corner site has a commercial industrial character. To the rear (south-east)
of the site is a four storey residential block of flats and communal garden.

Page 15

P-RPT-COM-Main

5.2

The surrounding area is characterised by two to three storey buildings with retail/commercial uses
at ground floor and ancillary accommodation or residential units above. The site itself is within the
Hillmarton Conservation Area and is within the Nags Head and Holloway Core Strategy Key Area.
There are no Listed Buildings within the site boundary.

5.3

The site is earmarked on the Council’s Local Plan Brownfield Register as ‘NH9’ and is identified as
failing within an Employment Growth Area. Caledonian Road Station and Holloway Road Station
are situated approximately 650m to the south and east respectively. Finsbury Park Town Centre
and Highbury and Islington Centre are further north and south east with Camden Town further
along Camden Road to the south west. The site has a high Public Transport Accessibility Level
(PTAL) of 6a.

6.

PROPOSAL (IN DETAIL)

6.1

The application seeks retrospective planning permission for:

6.2



Change of use from a B8 (now Class E) warehouse unit to 18 separate business units (light
industry) in Class E and other sui generis uses (e.g. tattoo shop);



Internal changes comprising a new mezzanine floor, internal partitioning and staircases to
provide an additional 450 sqm of Class E floor space;



A small entrance canopy to accommodate 10 cycle stands (20 cycle spaces);

The application seeks planning permission for:
 Retention of existing external alterations including construction of a new pitched roof
material and roof lights.

7.

RELEVANT HISTORY:
Planning

7.1

P051292; Approved 20051
Redevelopment of the existing site, comprising 43 residential units and 388m2 of commercial
space arranged over ground, first, second and third floor levels.

7.2

P2013/1974/FUL; Withdrawn in October 2013
Application for two new residential blocks comprising 34 private and 10 affordable units, and
renovation of an existing Victorian townhouse (used as an office).

7.3

P2014/1667/FUL; Refused 26th February 2016
RECONSULTATION AS AMENDED DESCRIPTION; Demolition of existing vacant warehouse
building (1,122sqm B8 floorspace with 205sqm ancillary office space provided in the townhouse)
and existing side extension of the townhouse. Comprehensive redevelopment of site, through the
erection of a part three, part four storey 'L' shaped building with basement, alterations to the
townhouse, and other associated ancillary development including hard and soft landscaping,
creation of sub-station and installation of plant. The development would provide a total of 28
residential units (comprising 1 x 4-bedroom, 3 x 3-bedroom, 11 x 2- bedroom, 8 x 1-bedroom and
5 x studio) and 462sqm of B1a office floorspace. The proposal would provide 10% affordable
housing by habitable room.

7.4

P2014/3788/FUL; Refused February 2015. Appeal dismissed July 2015
Application for demolition of derelict industrial buildings and erection of 5 No. 3-storey (C3) mews
houses with basement providing (B1) office space and separate single storey entrance at ground
floor.

Page 16

P-RPT-COM-Main

Enforcement
7.5

E/2018/0145: Alterations to building and sub-division of warehouse - 07/2020 - Without planning
permission, the construction of a new roof from ply and felt on the warehouse building, the
provision of scaffold railings and fixings on its south eastern parapet elevation and the installation
of air conditioning plant on its north eastern elevation. Enforcement Notice Served April 2020.

8.0

CONSULTATION
Public Consultation

8.1

Letters were sent to occupants of 111 adjoining and nearby properties on the 16th August 2019.
This is in addition to the display of a site notice and a press advert. The consultation period expired
on 9th September 2019. Due to the passage of time and in recognition of the intervening changes
introducing Class E since the original consultation, a further round of consultation took place on
24th June 2021 which expired on 8th July 2021. No further representations have been received to
this second consultation exercise.

8.2

At the time of the writing of this report a total of 2 responses including 2 objections had been
received from the public with regard to the application. It should be clarified that the objections
were in both email and letter format and were from the same objector. The issues raised can be
summarised as follows (with the paragraph that provides responses to each issue indicated within
brackets):
1. Uplift Increase in floor space is not clear – is it 449 or 474.6 sqm?
Response: An internal measurement of the mezzanine floor space is 475 sqm however some areas
are within the eaves and so the usable floor area is 449 sqm
2. Proposed sui generis use is unclear. Delivery & Servicing Plan refers to Live/ work units
Response: The only sui generis use proposed on site is a tattoo parlour and this will be limited by
planning condition. There are no live/ work units on site and a condition restricting any other sui
generis uses such as live / work shall be imposed.
3. Live- work units would have poor standard of accommodation
Response: There are no live-work units proposed on site. The facilities for the proposed
employment space and work units are considered adequate in terms of natural light and ventilation
and all have toilet and sink facilities.
4. Accessibility for wheelchair users may be limited
Response: it is acknowledged that the proposal would not provide accessible lifts to access the
upper workspace on upper (mezzanine) level, it is not considered to warrant the refusal of the
application given it relates to an existing building which has been in long term industrial use.
5. Site access during operation- no refuse vehicle swept-path analysis provided
Response: The Council’s Highways Team have been consulted and have specifically advised that
the existing cross over and forecourt at the site entrance has functioned adequately for the historical
industrial uses on site and would be adequate for the proposed operations given the dimensions
of the entrance.
6. Number of weekly Delivery & Servicing Trips would be excessive
Response: The Council’s Highways Team and Pollution / Environmental Protection Teams have
been consulted and have advised that they have no objections to the Delivery & Servicing Plan by
Markides Associates as proposed.

Page
17 on site plan shows private parking only
7. Location of Bin Stores is not clear on plans.
Forecourt
P-RPT-COM-Main

Response: The Council’s Highways Team and Waste Team have been consulted and have
advised that they have no objections to the proposal. A condition requiring details of the bin storage
and recycling will be imposed by condition to clarify however it is considered that this can be easily
accommodated under the canopy area as indicated in the submitted information (see image 5 and
6 of this report).
8. There is potential for Noise nuisance on site.
Response: The Council’s Public Protection (Pollution) Team have been consulted on the
application and have advised that there are no complaints listed in relation to the new layout. There
is no fixed plant or machinery shown on the plan drawings however a standard condition has been
imposed relating to noise controls on plant equipment in general. The Team advised that there is
likely to be a reduction in the number of heavy vehicle movements given the change from B8
storage and distribution to smaller independent units comprising mostly creative industries, fashion
designers, artists and similar uses and so noise from vehicular activity may actually be reduced.
Additionally, a condition limiting the hours of operation has been imposed.
External Consultees
8.3

Transport for London: No objections.
Internal Consultees

9.0



Design & Conservation Officer: No objection subject to condition requiring roof lights to
be flush



Access & Inclusive Design Officer: No objection



Planning Policy Officer: No objection



Sustainability Officer: No objection



Tree Preservation Officer: No objection



Public Protection (Land Contamination) Officer: No objection



Public Protection (Construction Management) Officer: No objection subject to condition
requiring CMP



Highways Officer: No objection subject to revised disabled parking bay



Traffic & Engineering Officer: No objection



Refuse & Recycling Officer: No objection subject to refuse conditions



Energy & Energy Efficiency Officer: No objection

RELEVANT STATUTORY DUTIES & DEVELOPMENT PLAN CONSIDERATIONS AND
POLICIES
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2. This report
considers the proposal against the following development plan documents

National Guidance

Page 18
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.1

Islington Planning Committee, in determining the planning application has the main following
statutory duties to perform:





To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application
and to any other material considerations (Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990);



To determine the application in accordance with the development plan unless other material
considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004) (Note: that the relevant Development Plan is the London Plan and Islington’s Local Plan,
including adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance.)

As the development is within a conservation area(s), the Council also has a statutory duty in that
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area (s72(1));

9.2

National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF): Paragraph 10 states: “at the heart of the
NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

9.3

The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that
effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations.
The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into account as part of the assessment
of these proposals.

9.4

Since March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance for England has been published online.

9.5

In considering the planning application account has to be taken of the statutory and policy
framework, the documentation accompanying the application, and views of both statutory and nonstatutory consultees.

9.6

The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the key articles of the European Convention on Human
Rights into domestic law. These include:


Article 1 of the First Protocol: Protection of property. Every natural or legal person is entitled
to the peaceful enjoyment of his possessions. No one shall be deprived of his possessions
except in the public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the
general principles of international law.



Article 14: Prohibition of discrimination. The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms set forth
in this Convention shall be secured without discrimination on any ground such as sex, race,
colour, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, association
with a national minority, property, birth, or other status.

9.7

Members of the Planning Committee must be aware of the rights contained in the Convention
(particularly those set out above) when making any Planning decisions. However, most Convention
rights are not absolute and set out circumstances when an interference with a person's rights is
permitted. Any interference with any of the rights contained in the Convention must be sanctioned
by law and be aimed at pursuing a legitimate aim and must go no further than is necessary and be
proportionate.

9.8

The Equality Act 2010 provides protection from discrimination in respect of certain protected
characteristics, namely: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or beliefs and sex and sexual orientation. It places the Council under a legal duty to have
due regard to the advancement of equality in the exercise of its powers including planning powers.
The Committee must be mindful of this duty inter alia when determining all planning applications.
In particular, the Committee must pay due regard to the need to: (1) eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; (2) advance
equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it; and (3) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

Page 19
P-RPT-COM-Main

Development Plan
9.9

The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011 and
the Islington Development Management Policies 2013. The policies of the Development Plan that
are considered relevant to this application are listed at Appendix 2 to this report.
The new London Plan was adopted on the 2nd March 2021. The adopted London plan has now
full weight and is it is considered a material consideration. The adopted London Plan policies have
been fully taken into account

Designations
9.10

The site has the following designations under the newly adopted London Plan 2021, Islington Core
Strategy 2011, Development Management Policies 2013, and Site Allocations 2013:
-

Nags Head & Upper Holloway Core Strategy Key Area
Hilmarton (Article 4) Conservation Area
Major Cycle Route
Employment Growth Area
392a and 394 Site Allocation
Within 100m of SRN and TLRN Road
Article 4 Direction A1-A2 (rest of Borough)

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD)
9.10

The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2.
Emerging Policies
Draft Islington Local Plan 2019

9.11 The Regulation 19 draft of the Local Plan was approved at Full Council on 27 June 2019 for
consultation and subsequent submission to the Secretary of State for Independent Examination.
From 5 September 2019 to 18 October 2019, the Council consulted on the Regulation 19 draft of
the new Local Plan. Submission took place on 12 February 2020 with the examination process
now in progress. As part of the examination consultation on pre-hearing modifications took

place between is taking place from 19 March to and 9 May 2021. The Matters and Issues
have now been published with hearings set to take place from 13 September to 5
October.

9.12

In line with the NPPF Local Planning Authorities may give weight to relevant
emerging plans according to:




9.13

policies

in

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the greater
the weight that may be given);
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant the
unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this Framework (the
closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight
that may be given).

Emerging policies relevant to this application are set out below:

Page 20
P-RPT-COM-Main

-

Policy R8 – Location and Concentration of Uses
Policy T4: Public realm
Policy T5: Delivery, servicing and construction

10.0

ASSESSMENT

10.1

The main issues arising from this proposal relate to:

Land Use

Design, Conservation and Heritage

Neighbouring Amenity

Highways and Transport

Accessibility

Refuse and Recycling
Land Use

10.2

The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (hereafter NPPF) places a presumption in favour
of sustainable development and identifies 3 overarching objectives; economic, social and
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so
that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the different objectives).

10.3

The emerging Islington Local Plan estimates that by 2036, 50,500 additional jobs are expected in
the borough, with the majority of this increase within sectors that will require office
accommodation. To meet the identified need of 400,000sqm of business floor space up to 2036,
the Local Plan aims to promote new business floor space and ensure that existing business floor
space is strongly protected.

10.4

At a regional level, new London Plan 2021 Policy E2 ‘Providing suitable business space’ states at
Part A that Boroughs should include policies in local Development Plan Documents that support
the provision, and where appropriate, protection of a range of B Use Class business space, in
terms of type, use and size, at an appropriate range of rents, to meet the needs of micro, small
and medium-sized enterprises and to support firms wishing to start-up or expand.

10.5

Policy E4 ‘Land for industry, logistics and services to support London’s economic function’ states
at Part A that a sufficient supply of land and premises in different parts of London to meet current
and future demands for industrial and related functions should be provided and maintained,
taking into account strategic and local employment land reviews, industrial land audits and the
potential for intensification, colocation and substitution (see Policy E7 Industrial intensification,
co-location and substitution). This should make provision for the varied operational requirements
of:
1) light and general industry (Use Classes B1c and B2)
2) storage and logistics/distribution (Use Class B8) including ‘last mile’
distribution close to central London and the Northern Isle of Dogs,
consolidation centres and collection points
3) secondary materials, waste management and aggregates
4) utilities infrastructure (such as energy and water)
5) land for sustainable transport functions including intermodal freight
interchanges, rail and bus infrastructure
6) wholesale markets
7) emerging industrial-related sectors
8) flexible (B1c/B2/B8) hybrid space to accommodate services that support
the wider London economy and population
9) low-cost industrial and related space for micro, small and medium-sized
enterprises (see also Policy E2 Providing suitable business space)
10) research and development of industrial and related products or
processes (falling within Use Class B1b).

Page 21
P-RPT-COM-Main

10.6

The proposed change of use from B8 to a business units for creative industries and small
employers would be supported by Policy E2 and by parts 7 and 8 of policy E4 which advises
Boroughs to take a flexible approach to providing employment and supporting the economy.

10.7

At a local level, the site is located within the Nags Head and Holloway Core Strategy Key Area.
Islington Core Strategy Policy CS3 states at Part B that opportunities will be identified in the Site
Specific Allocations and indeed, the site is currently allocated (along with an adjoin site at 392a
Camden Road) as ‘NH9’ within the Councils adopted Site Allocations. . CS3 states at Part D that
maintaining and enhancing the provision of employment spaces…will be important in contributing
to the diversity of the local economy and providing opportunities for small and medium
businesses, capitalising on all key transport links.

10.8 Islington Core Strategy policy CS13 ‘Employment spaces’ states at Part A that the Council will
require new business floorspace to be flexible to meet future business needs. The policy states at
Part B that the council will protect existing employment land by safeguarding existing business
spaces throughout the borough by protecting against change of use to non-business uses. The
proposed change of use from B8 to work space from creative industries and sui-generis use would
be in line with these principles and would continue to provide employment floorspace. It is noted
that these small business have survived and continued to operate during the ongoing Covid
pandemic and as such have demonstrated their viability and resilience in economic terms.
10.9 Policy DM5.1 ‘New business floorspace’ states at Part A. that within Town Centres and
Employment Growth Areas the council will encourage the intensification, renewal and
modernisation of existing business floorspace, including in particular, the reuse of otherwise
surplus large office spaces for smaller units. Within these locations proposals for the
redevelopment or Change of Use of existing business floorspace are required to incorporate:
i) the maximum amount of business floorspace reasonably possible on the site, whilst complying
with other relevant planning considerations, and
ii) a mix of complementary uses, including active frontages where appropriate.
10.10 The proposed change of use would result in a more intensive use of the site and would increase
employment levels on site from approximately 6 staff to 16 employees (discounting wider
synergies). The proposals would therefore satisfy policies CS3, CS13 and DM5.1.

Affordable Workspace
10.11 New London Plan 2021 policy E2 Providing suitable business space’ states at part D
Page
22 greater than 2,500 sq.m.
Development proposals for new B Use Class business
floorspace
P-RPT-COM-Main

(gross external area), or a locally determined lower threshold in a local Development Plan
Document, should consider the scope to provide a proportion of flexible workspace or smaller
units suitable for micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. Policy E3 ‘Affordable workspace’
states that In defined circumstances…, planning obligations may be used to secure affordable
workspace (in the B Use Class) at rents maintained below the market rate for that space for a
specific social, cultural or economic development purpose…The policy goes further to state that
Boroughs, in their Development Plans, should consider detailed affordable workspace policies in
light of local evidence of need and viability. These may include policies on site-specific locations
or defining areas of need for certain kinds of affordable workspace.
10.12 Policy DM5.4 of the Councils current adopted policies states that ‘Within Employment Growth
Areas and Town Centres, major development proposals for employment floorspace must
incorporate an appropriate amount of affordable workspace and/or workspace suitable for
occupation by micro and small enterprises. It is recognised that the proposal does make provison
for workspace for SME’s so is compliance with adopted policy. It is acknowledged that he
provision of 10% affordable workspace would normally be required in accordance with emerging
Local Plan policy B4(a) ‘Affordable Workspace’, however this must be accorded appropriate
weight. Furthermore, the Council’s Affordable Workspace Team have been consulted on the
planning application and have advised that given the relatively affordable cost of the existing units
compared to high value new build units, they are satisfied that the existing uses have offered
affordable space for micro businesses and creative industries and that the existing operators
have established a successful and creative community which in itself carries additional social
value.
Class E and Sui generis Restrictions
10.13 As noted above, the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Regulations were amended on 1st
September 2020. The amended Use Class regulations omit the former Use Class B1 and
introduces a new Use Class E, which encompasses business use, together with many other
commercial and employment uses. The application proposes the change of use to small
businesses with a focus on creative industries, and one tattoo artist which is sui generis. Significant
weight needs to be given to the relatively recent Use Class Order changes which means that uses
previously within B1 would not need planning permission to change within Class E. This is a
material consideration. The new classification of Class E took effect on the 1st September 2020
and is summarised below:
Class E
In 11 parts, Class E more broadly covers uses previously defined in the revoked Classes A1/2/3,
B1, D1(a-b) and ‘indoor sport’ from D2(e):


E(a) Display or retail sale of goods, other than hot food



E(b) Sale of food and drink for consumption (mostly) on the premises



E(c) Provision of:
o

E(c)(i) Financial services,

o

E(c)(ii) Professional services (other than health or medical services), or

o

E(c)(iii) Other appropriate services in a commercial, business or service locality



E(d) Indoor sport, recreation or fitness (not involving motorised vehicles or firearms)



E(e) Provision of medical or health services (except the use of premises attached to the residence
of the consultant or practitioner)



E(f) Creche, day nursery or day centre (not including a residential use)



Page 23
E(g) Uses which can be carried out in a residential
area without detriment to its amenity:
P-RPT-COM-Main

o

E(g)(i) Offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions,

o

E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes

o

E(g)(iii) Industrial processes

10.14 It is considered that the other Class E uses may not be an appropriate use for the site or within the
surrounding local context without the submission of further details and mitigation measures.
10.15 As such, a condition is recommended restricting the use of the Class E development to Class E
part (g) only. Similarly, the tattoo artist studio (sui generis) will be limited to tattoo studio and no
other sui generis use such as live/work units.
Design and Conservation
10.16 The site falls within the Hillmarton Conservation Area and does not comprise any Listed Buildings
or fall within the setting of any Listed Buildings. It should be noted that the only operational
development that would have a physical impact on the visual amenity of the Conservation Area
would be the proposed metal roof and roof lights. The smaller alterations to include cycle parking
and a small canopy for the bin and cycle storage would be located within the warehouse complex
and out of public view. As such these minor alterations would have very negligible impact on the
Conservation Area.
10.17 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2019) states that ‘When considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to
the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be).
Furthermore, at paragraph 196: ‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.
10.18 London-wide planning policies relevant to design and conservation are set out in Chapter 3 ‘Design’
and Chapter 7 ‘Design & Conservation’ of the new London Plan 2021, and the Mayor of London’s
Character and Context SPG is also relevant. At the local level, Policy CS9 of Islington’s Core
Strategy (CS) 2011 and Policy DM2.1 of Islington’s Development Management Policies 2013
accord with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in seeking to sustain and enhance
Islington’s built environment. Taken together, they seek to ensure that proposed development
responds positively to existing buildings, the streetscape and the wider context, including local
architecture and character, surrounding heritage assets, and locally distinctive patterns of
development.
10.19 Policy DM2.3 seeks to ensure that the borough's heritage assets are conserved and enhanced in
a manner appropriate to their significance. Development that makes a positive contribution to
Islington's local character and distinctiveness will be encouraged. It seeks to ensure developments
within the setting of a listed building are of good quality contextual design. It also seeks to retain,
repair and reuse of non-designated heritage assets. Proposals that unjustifiably harm the
significance of a non-designated heritage asset will generally not be permitted.
10.20 In accordance with Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990, in assessing the proposals hereby under consideration, special attention has been paid to
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the Hilmarton
Conservation Area. Section 61(2) and 16(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990, seeks to ensure special attention has been paid to the desirability of preserving
or enhancing the character and appearance of the setting of listed buildings.
10.21 The design advice found within the Islington Urban Design Guide 2017 and Hillmarton
Conservation Area Design Guidelines should be taken into consideration in the design assessment
of the proposal.
10.22 The proposal includes a number of different external alterations with an assessment of these
elements set out below:

Page 24

P-RPT-COM-Main

Metal Roof & Roof lights
10.23 The existing building is not statutorily or locally listed. However, it is located within the Hilllmarton
Conservation Area. The roofs of the buildings are a major component of the area’s character,
together with the use of vernacular materials, such as slate roofs. The Hilllmarton (CA32)
Conservation Area Design Guidelines (CADG) state in paragraph 32.9:
“It is important that new buildings and refurbishments of existing buildings blend in with and
reinforce the existing character of the area.”
10.24 The building is a simple light industrial structure dating from the mid-20th century, constructed of
brick. The previous roof of the building had been destroyed by fire. This roof was corrugated
metal with a line of rooflights. The building, with the pre-fire corrugated roof, was considered to
make a neutral contribution to the Hillmarton Conservation Area.
10.25 The (pre-fire) corrugated metal roof blended in with the character of the area due to its variation
in colour and texture, which was sympathetic to surrounding roofs. This was despite the roof
covering a vast area.
10.26 The existing roof covering is constructed of ply and felt, and is considered not to blend in with or
reinforce the character of the conservation area. The existing roof is highly uniform in colour, with
a flat matt finish that is at odds with the traditional roof coverings characteristic of the Hillmarton
Conservation Area. Because of its size, the roof is also prominent in views within the
Conservation Area. It is visible from street level in Hillmarton Road and in streets surrounding the
application site, including Penn Road and Keighley Close. As the roof does not blend in and is
clearly visible, it therefore has a negative impact on the character of the conservation area. For
these reasons the roof was subject to planning enforcement action and it is this current planning
application which seeks to regularise the unauthorised development.
10.27 The existing roof covering also contravenes Islington Urban Design Guide (2017) which states in
paragraph 5.112:
“The choice of materials in any new development must take account of its context.”
10.28 The NPPF makes clear that any harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, in this
case the Hillmarton Conservation Area, requires clear and convincing justification. There has
been no justification for the new roof covering with regards to the use of ply and felt and its
overall appearance.

Page 25
P-RPT-COM-Main

Google Street view image of roof in 2014 just before the fire

Google Street View image of existing felt roof – subject to enforcement action

Photo above: Proposed Kingspan Trapezoidal Pitched Roof System KS1000 RW (shale grey)
10.29 The Council’s Conservation & Design team have been consulted on the planning application and
have advised that the proposed metal roof shown on drawing 354_P_2-02_A (roof plan as
proposed) would be much better than the existing ply that has been installed. The ply was flat
and uniform, whereas the metal roof would have some texture to it.
10.30 The team has advised that the proposed roof would be satisfactory subject to a condition
requiring the new roof lights to be flush and not standing proud above the roof plane as they
currently are. It is noted that installation of the replacement metal roof would require removal and
replacement of the skylights in any event and so thisPage
would be
26easily achieved.
P-RPT-COM-Main

10.31 Given the above, the proposal is considered to preserve the visual appearance and historic
character of the locally listed host building and wider conservation area, and compliant with the
design advice found within Islington Urban Design Guide 2017 and Hillmarton Conservation Area
Design Guidelines, and policies CS8 and CS9 of Islington Core Strategy (2011) and DM2.1 and
DM2.3 of Development Management Policies (2013).
Neighbouring Amenity
10.32 The Development Plan contains policies that seek to appropriately safeguard the amenities of
residential occupiers when considering new development. New London Plan policy D13 ‘Agent of
Change’ states at part B that:
“Development should be designed to ensure that established noise and other nuisance-generating
uses remain viable and can continue or grow without unreasonable restrictions being placed on
them.”
The existing warehouse and operations are established and whilst there is a proposed change of
use from B8 to Class E uses comprising SMEs and creative industries and artists workshops, it is
considered that these uses would generate less noise nuisance from industrial operations given
they would not rely on industrial scale machinery or plant equipment to operate. The policy seeks
to ensure that these can continue to operate without unreasonable restrictions. Whilst this is
understood, the Council have fully assessed the proposed units in terms of their potential impacts
on neighbouring amenity as required by part C of D13:
“New noise and other nuisance-generating development proposed close to residential and other
noise-sensitive uses should put in place measures to mitigate and manage any noise impacts for
neighbouring residents and businesses.”
10.33 Policy DM2.1 of the Development Management Policies Document 2013 identifies that satisfactory
consideration shall be given to noise and the impact of disturbance, vibration, as well as
overshadowing, overlooking, privacy, direct sunlight and daylight receipt, over-dominance, sense
of enclosure and outlook.
10.34 The Council’s Public Protection (Pollution) Team have been consulted on the application and
have advised that there are no complaints listed in relation to the new layout. There is no fixed
plant or machinery shown on the plan drawings however a standard condition has been imposed
relating to noise controls on plant equipment in general. The Team advised that they have no
objections to the proposal. There would be no harmful impacts such as odour or light pollution.
Daylight/Sunlight and Outlook
10.35 The proposal is not consider to result in any significant loss of daylight/sunlight or outlook to
neighbouring properties over and above the existing situation given the fact there would be no
increase in building mass and no additional height to the roof form. The alterations to the roof would
largely replicate the existing situation, and would not result in any daylight or sunlight impacts in
comparison with the existing situation.
Hours of Operation
10.36 The application seeks permission to allow for the opening hours of between 08:00 and 19:00 hours
Monday to Sundays. The proposed hours would have a similar closing time to other industrial units
in the borough and is considered acceptable. The hours of operation are secured by planning
condition.
Conclusion
10.37 Overall, due to the mitigation measures identified above, the proposal is considered to be compliant
with Development Management Policies DM2.1.
Highways and Transport

Page 27
P-RPT-COM-Main

10.38 The site has excellent access to public transport and the Public Transport Accessibility (PTAL)
rating is 6a (where 6 is the best and 0 the worst). There are several bus routes in the surrounding
area, close proximity to the Holloway Road Underground Station. The site also is positioned on the
eastern side of Camden Road, which is part of the TLRN (Transport for London Road Network).
10.39 Policy DM8.2 seeks to ensure developments meet the transport needs of the development and
address its transport impacts in a sustainable manner and in accordance with best practice.
Transport for London have raised no objections to the proposal.
10.40 The Councils Highways Team have been consulted on the scheme and have advised that the long
standing operations on site have not caused any significant issues and that the proposed uses are
likely to result in a reduction of both private and commercial vehicle movements. The Highway
Officer has advised that an improvement to provide one disabled parking space within the existing
forecourt would be beneficial. The applicant has submitted a revised site plan showing a disabled
parking space which is considered satisfactory. The applicant has also submitted a Travel Plan
and advised that efforts to encourage sustainable transport such as cycling have been promoted.
Twenty cycle spaces will also be provided on site which is considered acceptable and are secured
by planning condition.
10.41 Policy DM8.6 sets out that provision for delivery and servicing for new developments would
continue to use the existing arrangements. Whilst limited information has been provided in this
regard, the Council’s Highways & Transportation Teams have been consulted on the proposal, and
have not raised objection to the operation of the uses based on the submitted plans and layout. It
is therefore considered acceptable in this regard.
Accessibility
10.42 Policy DM2.2 seeks to ensure developments demonstrate that they provide for ease of and
versatility in use. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposal would not provide accessible lifts to
access the upper workspace on upper levels, it is not considered to warrant the refusal of the
application given it relates to an existing building which has been in long term industrial use.
Refuse and Recycling
10.43 The existing site has on-street collections for refuse and recycling on Monday to Saturdays
between 18:00 and 19:00 hours and 00:00 and 01:00 hours. Given the existing arrangements the
proposal is not considered to detrimentally impact this situation and is therefore considered
acceptable in this regard.
Other Matters
10.44 Representations have been received raising concerns regarding the works subject to this
application having been carried out without planning permission. However, following an
investigation by Council’s Planning Enforcement Team the applicant has submitted this application
to seek to regularise relevant works.
10.45 It should be noted that there is no S106 Legal Agreement required for this application.
11.0

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Summary

11.1

The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Regulations were updated on 1st September 2020,
with the existing warehouse unit (former B8) uses becoming Class E, alongside other town centre
uses. This enables buildings to have a number of flexible uses and changes to a use within the
same class do not require planning permission. Therefore, in general, the change of use from B8
to smaller units of offices/ artist studios/ workshops (Class E(g)) would not be considered
development as they are both now within the same use class. The proposed tattoo artists studios
(sui generis) is considered to be in keeping with the industrial nature of the site and with the
Development Plan policies for promoting flexibility and a good economy and as such is considered
Page 28
acceptable.
P-RPT-COM-Main

11.2

The proposed external alterations involving the new metal roof and roof lights are considered to
preserve the visual appearance and historic character of the locally listed building and wider
Hillmarton Conservation Area, and acceptable in design terms.

11.3

The proposal is considered not to result in any significant loss of amenity to occupiers of
neighbouring properties, given the conditions recommended by the Council’s Environmental Health
Pollution Officers.

11.4

In accordance with the above assessment, it is considered that the proposed development is
consistent with the policies of the New London Plan, the Islington Core Strategy, the Islington
Development Management Policies and associated Supplementary Planning Documents and
should be approved accordingly.
Conclusion

11.5

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out in Appendix
1 - RECOMMENDATIONS.

Page 29
P-RPT-COM-Main

APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following:
List of Conditions:
1
Commencement
CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 4th February
2022.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter
5) and to achieve consistency with enforcement requirements.
2

Approved Plans List
DRAWING AND DOCUMENT NUMBERS: The development hereby approved shall be
carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:
Dwg 354-P-1-02-Rev A - Existing Ground Floor Plan
Dwg 354-P-1-03-Rev A - Existing Mezzanine Plan
Dwg.354-P-0-00 – Location Plan
Dwg.354-P-1-01 – Existing Site]Plan
Dwg.354-P-0-01 – Pre Existing Site Plan
Dwg.354-P-0-02 – Pre Existing Ground Floor Plan
Dwg.354-P-0-03 – Pre Existing Roof Plan
Dwg.354-P-0-10 – Elevations As Existing – Rear Warehouse
Dwg.354-P-0-10 – Pre Existing Section AA
Dwg.354-P-0-11 – Pre Existing Side Elevation
Dwg 354-P-2-01-Rev A - Proposed Site Plan
Dwg 354-P-2-03-Rev B - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Dwg 354-P-2-04 - Proposed Mezzanine Plan
Dwg 354-P-2-02-Rev A - Proposed Roof Plan
Construction Management Plan by South Downs Safety dated February 2019
Energy Statement by NRG Consulting dated June 2019
Desk Study by Ground & Water dated March 2019
Travel Plan Rev A by Markides Associates dated July 2021
Arboricultural Impact Assessment by Trevor Heaps Arboricultural Consultancy dated
February 2019
Delivery and Servicing Plan Rev A by Markides Associates dated July 2021

REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 as amended
and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper
planning.
3

Materials (Compliance)
CONDITION: The development shall be constructed in accordance with the schedule of
materials noted on the approved plans and within the application form. The development shall
be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and shall be maintained as
such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the resulting
appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard.

4

Operational Hours (Compliance)

Page 30
P-RPT-COM-Main

CONDITION: The hereby approved office / workshop/ artist studio/ tattoo artist use (and any
other use within Class E(g)) shall only operate between the hours of:


Mondays to Sundays 08:00 to 19:00 hours only.

REASON: To protect the amenities of surrounding residents.
5

Noise Levels (Compliance)
CONDITION: The design and installation of new items of fixed plant shall be such that when
operating the cumulative noise level LAeq Tr arising from the proposed plant, measured or
predicted at 1m from the facade of the nearest noise sensitive premises, shall be a rating
level of at least 5dB(A) below the background noise level LAF90 Tbg. The measurement
and/or prediction of the noise should be carried out in accordance with the methodology
contained within BS 4142: 2014.
REASON: In order to protect the amenities of surrounding occupiers.

6

7

Roof Lights (Details)
CONDITION: Full details of the proposed roof lights shall be submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority prior to substantial completion of the roof. The proposed roof
lights shall be flush against the new metal roof slope and shall not protrude beyond the vertical
plane of the roof slope by more than 150 mm. The development shall be carried out strictly
in accordance with the details so approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the resulting
appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard.
Cycle Storage (Compliance)
CONDITION: Within 3 months the hereby approved development storage for a minimum of
20 no. cycle spaces shall be provided and retained thereafter into perpetuity.
REASON: To promote sustainable forms of transport.

8

Class E and Sui Generis Uses (Compliance)
CONDITION: All commercial units within the application site hereby approved as Class E (g)
of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Class) Order 1987 as amended 2020
(or the equivalent use within any amended/updated subsequent Order) shall be limited to
those uses only and for no other purpose whatsoever, without first obtaining planning consent
from the Local Planning Authority.
The tattoo artist studio (sui generis) shall not be used for live/ work or any other sui generis
use without first obtaining planning consent from the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: In the interest of maintaining the function and capacity of the Employment Growth
Area in accordance with Development Management Policy DM5.1, DM5.2, London Plan
Policy E4 and emerging Local Plan Policy B1 and B2 and to protect the amenities of
surrounding residential occupiers.

9

Delivering and Servicing (Compliance)
CONDITION: For the hereby approved development, delivery and servicing vehicles shall
ensure that they do not obstruct the footway or carriageway of Camden Road or Hillmarton
Road and comply with the requirements of the existing Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ).
REASON: To ensure there is no conflict with the existing users of the footways and
carriageways of a TLRN road

Page 31
P-RPT-COM-Main

List of Informatives:
1

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is liable to pay the London Borough of
Islington Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the Mayor of London's Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL).
The Council will issue a CIL Liability Notice stating the CIL amount that will be payable on the
commencement of the development. Failure to pay CIL liabilities when due will result in the
Council imposing surcharges and late payment interest.
Further information and all CIL forms are available on the Planning Portal at
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil, and the Islington Council website at www.islington.gov.uk/cil.
CIL guidance is available on the GOV.UK website at www.gov.uk/guidance/communityinfrastructure-levy.

2

Advertisement Consent
It is advised that a separate application would be required for advertisement consent for any
alterations to the signage.

3

Transport for London Licence
Should the applicant wish to install scaffolding or a hoarding on the footway whilst undertaking
this work, separate licences may be required with TfL, please see, https://www.tfl.gov.uk/infofor/urban-planning-and-construction/highway-licences.

4

Footway and carriageway of Camden Road
It is advised that the footway and carriageway on Camden Road should not be blocked during
the construction works, including skips or materials and temporary obstructions during the
works must be kept to a minimum, and vehicles should comply with the existing parking
controls.

Page 32
P-RPT-COM-Main

APPENDIX 2:

RELEVANT POLICIES

This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the
determination of this planning application.
1

National Guidance

The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that effectively
balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF is a
material consideration and has been taken into account as part of the assessment of these proposals.
2.

National Planning Policy Framework 2019

Development Plan

The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2016, Islington Core Strategy 2011,
Development Management Policies 2013, and Site Allocations 2013. The following policies of the
Development Plan are considered relevant to this application:
A) The New London Plan 2021 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London

B)

-

Policy D4 Delivering good design

-

Policy E2 Providing suitable business space

-

Policy E4 Land for industry, logistics and services to support London’s economic function

-

Policy GG2 Making best use of land

-

Policy GG5 Growing a good economy

-

Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth

-

Policy D13 Agent of Change

Islington Core Strategy 2011
-

C)

Islington Development Management Policies 2013
-

3.

Policy CS3 Nags Head & Holloway
Policy CS8 Enhancing Islington’s character
Policy CS9 Protecting and enhancing Islington’s built and historic environment
Policy CS13 Employment spaces

Policy DM2.1 – Protection of Amenity
Policy DM2.2 – Inclusive Design
Policy DM2.3 – Heritage
Policy DM4.3 – Location and Concentration of Uses
Policy DM5.1 - New business floorspace
Policy DM8.2 – Transport Impacts
Policy DM8.4 – Walking and cycling
Policy DM8.6 – Delivery and servicing

Designations
-

Nags Head & Upper Holloway Core Strategy
PageKey
33Area
P-RPT-COM-Main

-

Hilmarton (Article 4) Conservation Area
Major Cycle Route
Employment Growth Area
392a and 394 Site Allocation
Within 100m of SRN and TLRN Road
Article 4 Direction A1-A2 (rest of Borough)

Page 34
P-RPT-COM-Main

Islington SE GIS Print Template
Chy

30.1m

33.3m

Play Area

TCB

CA

MD

EN

RO

AD

31.6m

A
ST

IG
KE

34.1m

37.8m

CL

OS

XX

XX
XX
X
XX
X
X
X
IG

HL

EY

CL

X

RO

AD

X
X
X

36.5m

OV

E

43.4m

X

X

NN

AD

Bo

ro

Co

ns

t&

X

37.0m

PE

RO

Bd
Wa

CR

y

38.7m

E

X

X

40.2m

rd

OS

X

TCB

FR

EE

GR

41.1m

BE

AC

CA

ON

MD

HIL

L

EN

RO

AD

37.2m

HI
43.4m

LL

M

AR

TO

N

RO

AD

37.3m

42.8m

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.
P2018/4071/FUL

Page 35

CL

OS

E

PE

37.2m

XX
X
X

Y

E

KE

X

X

EY

LE

X

35.6m

X
X X

HL

VE

NN

RO

AD

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B2
Development Management Service
Planning and Development Division
Community Wealth Building
Department
Town Hall
LONDON N1 2DU

COMMITTEE REPORT

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Date:
27th July 2021

AGENDA ITEM NO: B2

Application number
Application type
Site Address
Proposal

P2020/3313/S73
Application for minor-material amendment
Park View Estate, Collins Road, London, N5
Application for a minor-material amendment under S73 to vary
condition 2 (approved Drawings) and condition 11 (Energy
Statement) following a grant of planning permission Ref:
P2017/2444/FUL dated 28/11/2017 for the construction of 40
new dwelling units comprising 8 x 1B2P units, 3 x 2B3P units,
27 x 2B4P units, 2 x 3B5P units with associated amenity space
and 41.8sqm community use floorspace, provided in six new
residential blocks ranging from 2 to 6 storeys in height, along
with bicycle storage, improvements to the public realm, and the
demolition of existing garages and storage units
The amendments sought are: Increasing affordable housing
provision to 100% social rented housing; amendments to the
landscaping plan, removal of an additional tree, swapping a 2bedroom wheelchair accessible home in Block B with a 3bedroom home from Block G, amendments to design and layout
and relocation of cycle parking spaces.

Ward
Listed building
Conservation area

Highbury East
N/A
A small section of the site is within Highbury New Park
Conservation Area
Local cycle route (adjacent to the site)
Adjacent to the Highbury New Park Conservation Area

Development Plan Context
Licensing Implications

None

Page 37

P-RPT-DEL-Main

Case Officer
Applicant
Agent
1.

Joseph Hennessy
London Borough of Islington Housing New Build
Sarah Eley – HTA Design

RECOMMENDATION
The committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission;
1. Subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1; and
2. Conditional upon the completion of a Deed of Variation to the Directors Agreement securing the
heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1.

2.

SITE PLAN / PHOTOS OF SITE

Figure 1 - Site Location Plan

Page 38

Figure 2 - Aerial view of the site – site boundary in red
3.

SUMMARY

3.1

The application seeks to make a number of minor amendments to the approved planning permission
ref: P2017/2444/FUL, dated 28/11/2017. Foremost among the amendments include changing the
housing tenure to provide 100% social rented housing. The application also includes an updated Energy
Strategy, the relocation of a wheelchair accessible home, the relocation of six cycle parking spaces,
various amendments to the design and layout of the approved buildings, and amendments to the
approved landscaping strategy, changes to the tree planting including additional trees and the removal
and relocation of the mulberry tree at the north of the site.

3.2

The design changes include a minor increase in the footprint of all blocks, a decrease in the parapet
height of Block E, revisions to the fenestration of blocks A, B, D, and G, revisions to the materiality of

Page 39

Blocks A, D, and G, and revisions to the size and location of private amenity spaces. As a result of the
various design amendments, the internal layouts and private amenity spaces have been affected,
however, all units continue to meet minimum space standards.
3.3

The proposed design updates are considered to maintain the design intent as the previously approved
development and deliver high quality design. The proposal continues to preserve the character and
appearance of the adjacent Highbury New Park Conservation Area.

3.4

The applicant proposes a number of amendments to the landscaping strategy. Changes to the
approach taken to replace the roads and kerbs on the estate would not change their general
appearance or usability. It is proposed to remove the mulberry tree at the north of the site, which had
was previously detailed to be retained. The tree proposals are required to deliver the proposed scheme
and proposed mitigation includes the replacement of the mulberry tree with an early mature mulberry
tree and the planting of another 12 trees, resulting in an uplift in tree canopy cover from the approved
development. The proposals are thus considered to be in accordance with the Core Strategy Policy
CS15 and Development Management Policy DM6.5. In addition to this an attempt to relocate the
existing mulberry tree on the estate is now proposed which would add to the mitigation planting.

3.5

The application seeks to swap a 2-bedroom wheelchair accessible (M4(3)) home in Block B with a 3bedroom home (non-wheelchair accessible, M4(2)) from Block G. The proposed amendment does not
result in any change to the quantum of units proposed, the quality of the provision or the number of
wheelchair accessible dwellings provided. In order to facilitate this relocation, the applicant also seeks
to relocate 6 cycle parking space from Block G to Block D. Blocks D and G would continue to have
access to cycle parking spaces in line with Development Management Policy DM8.4 and the
development would still provide cycle parking spaces in excess of the policy requirement.

3.6

The application proposes to increase the provision of affordable housing within the development to
100%. This represents an increase of 18 social rented units and achieves the aspiration of 100%
affordable housing for council own development detailed in policy CS12. This represents a significant
planning benefit of the proposal.

3.7

The application also includes further amendments to photovoltaic panels, sustainable drainage, the
Energy Strategy and landscaping. The details submitted are considered to be acceptable.

3.8

The planning application is considered acceptable and in accordance with adopted planning policy,
subject to the recommended planning conditions and deed of variation to the extant Directors’
Agreement detailed in Appendix 1.

4.

SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

4.1

The Park View Estate is located within Highbury East Ward, on the borough’s eastern boundary with
Hackney Council. The Highbury New Park Conservation Area, which is characterised by large Victorian
Villas in generous plots, runs alongside the site’s western and southern boundaries. To the north of the
estate is the Highbury Quadrant estate, which consists of 5- to 6-storey apartment buildings surrounded
by large areas of green space and mature trees. On its eastern boundary, the estate backs onto the
rear gardens of residential properties on Green Lanes.

4.2

The estate itself is characterised by apartment buildings, between 4 and 8 storeys in height, set within
generous areas of green space. Like many post-war estates, the buildings are turned away from the
street, with entrances at the rear, and poorly defined green spaces surrounding the buildings. There is
a large amount of car parking in the heart of the estate and a vehicular circulation route which runs
through the site.

Page 40

4.3

While a small section of the application site is within the Highbury New Park Conservation Area and a
local cycle route runs along Highbury New Park adjacent to the site, there are no other site-specific
designations of relevance to the subject site or proposal. Nos 120-126 Highbury New Park, which are
located immediately adjacent to the application site, are locally listed.

5.

PROPOSAL (IN DETAIL)

5.1

The applicant proposes to vary conditions 2 (approved Plans) and 11 (Energy Strategy), and the
Directors’ Agreement of planning permission ref: P2017/2444/FUL dated 28th November 2017 for:
The construction of 40 new dwelling units comprising 8 x 1B2P units, 3 x 2B3P units, 27 x 2B4P units,
2 x 3B5P units with associated amenity space and 41.8sqm community use floorspace, provided in six
new residential blocks ranging from 2 to 6 storeys in height, along with bicycle storage, improvements
to the public realm, and the demolition of existing garages and storage units.

5.2

The proposed amendments comprise:
-

Amending the housing tenure to provide 100% social rented housing;
Amended Energy Strategy;
Relocation of a wheelchair accessible dwelling from Block B to Block G;
Relocation of 6no. cycle parking spaces;
Amendments to the design and layout of blocks comprising:
o an increase in building footprints;
o updates to the external cladding of Blocks A, D and G;
o amendments to internal layouts;
o amendments to the size and location of balconies, green roofs and terrace areas across
Blocks A, D and G;
o Decreasing the parapet height for Block E, and;
o amending the scale and position for a number of windows and glazed doors across Blocks
A, B, D and G.
- Removal (and relocation) of an additional tree (mulberry tree at north of site);
- Amendments to the proposed landscaping comprising;
o identification of kerbs to be replaced and repaired;
o new tarmac treatment applied;
o resurfacing of existing roads; and
o changes to the tree planting resulting in a total of 13 additional trees (an increase of 4
trees from the original application)
5.3

Detailed information is also being submitted with this application pursuant to landscaping and
sustainable drainage conditions on the original planning permission.
Amendments to Proposal

5.4

During the application revised plans and updated Arboricultural Method Statement and
Daylight/Sunlight Assessments were received on 29th April 2021 to address concerns raised by officers
relating to design and the proposed tree mitigation.

5.5

Further revisions were made to the plans, Arboricultural Method Statement and Daylight/Sunlight
Assessments, and an updated Energy Strategy (inclusive of Overheating Analysis) were received 12th
July 2021.

Page 41

6. RELEVANT HISTORY
6.1

The most relevant planning history related to the site is as follows:
P2017/2444/FUL: The construction of 40 new dwelling units comprising of 8 x 1B2P units, 3 x 2B3P
units, 27 x 2B4P units and 2 x 3B5P units with associated amenity space and 41.8sqm of community
use floor space, provided in six new residential blocks ranging from 2 to 6 storeys in height, along with
bicycle storage, improvements to the public realm, and the demolition of existing garages and storage
units. Granted Permission subject to conditions and a Directors Agreement (28/11/2017).
P2018/2161/AOD: Approval of Details pursuant to Condition 7 (Solar Photovoltaic Panels) of planning
permission ref: P2017/2444/FUL. Approved (05/10/2018).
P2018/2159/AOD: Approval of Details pursuant to Condition 4 (CEMP) of P2017/2444/FUL. Approved
(29/10/2018)
P2019/0236/AOD: Approval of Details pursuant to Condition 13 (Tree Protection Plan and
Arboricultural Method Statement) and 14 (Supervision and Monitoring of Arboricultural Protection
Measures) of planning permission ref: P2017/2444/FUL. Approved (14/02/2019).
P2019/0235/AOD: Approval of Details pursuant to Condition 10 (Sustainable Urban Drainage System)
of planning permission ref: P2017/2444/FUL. Approved (22/07/2019).
P2019/1902/AOD: Approval of Details pursuant to Condition 11 (Energy Strategy) of planning
permission ref: P2017/2444/FUL. Approved (22/07/2019).
P2019/1416/AOD: Approval of details pursuant to Condition 16 (Community Rooms) of planning
permission ref: P2017/2444/FUL. Approved (25/10/2019).
P2020/2778/COL: Certificate of Lawfulness (Existing) to confirm implementation of planning
permission ref. P2017/2444/FUL. Certificate Granted (28/11/2017).

7. CONSULTATION
Public Consultation
7.1

Letters were sent to occupants of 638 adjoining and nearby properties on Park View Estate, Catherall
Road, Highbury Quadrant Estate, Collins Road, Highbury New Park, Green Lanes, Petherton Road
and Balfour Road on the 22nd December 2020. Site notices and a press advert were also displayed on
24th December 2020.

7.2

Following the receipt of amended plans and documents as detailed below, the application was
reconsulted on 29th April 2021 for a period of 14 days. The public consultation on the application
therefore expired on 13th May 2021. However, it is the Council’s practice to continue to consider
representations made up until the date of a decision.

7.3

At the time of the writing of this report 284 letters of objection and 1 letter of support have been received
from the public in response to the consultation on this planning application. A petition has also been
received which raises objection to the proposal and includes 1,814 signatures. A related online petition
has 6,038 signatories at the date of writing this report.

7.4

The issues raised can be summarised as follows (with the paragraphs in brackets indicating where in
the report the respective points have been addressed):
Support:
-

This area is currently under-utilised and the homes are sorely needed.

Page 42

Objections:
-

Park View Estate has progressive subsidence issues, and proposal will exacerbate this [9.135];

-

The New River runs under the estate and tree removal risks impacts to water table [9.135];

-

Concerns regarding disturbance from additional residents [9.117];

-

Community/ Stakeholder engagement set out in the submission has not taken place and
consultation was not extensive enough [9.136];

-

Residents were not informed that the development would be car free [9.117];

-

Concern regarding details within proposal description [9.115];

-

Additional housing adds pressure to local services [9.117];

-

The Construction and noise implications have yet to be assessed but the development has been
mobilised [6.1];

-

Mulberry trees are not native to England and only a few thousand exist in the UK. Veteran trees
such as this are even more scarce [9.60-9.66];

-

Previous planning permission was granted on basis of the mulberry tree being retained [9.53 –
9.55];

-

The mulberry tree has significance to the local community and have great symbolic value as
survivors of lost history and cannot be replaced by a 10 year-old sapling [9.60-9.66];

-

An independent tree expert found the Mulberry Tree to be in a good condition with a long life
expectancy [9.64-9.66];

-

Replacing mature trees with young trees does not replace like-for-like and has been discredited
as a means of carbon reduction in the short to medium term [9.67];

-

Objection to loss of greenspace [9.12];

-

Block D will reduce privacy to surrounding properties, reduce light and impact the conservation
area [9.117];

-

The development would impact the outlook and amenity of the residents of the estate, and
surrounding properties through the loss of views of the conservation area and the church [9.117];

-

Permission P2017/2444/FUL expired in November 2020 [6.1].

-

The scale, size and design of Block D is inappropriate for its location [9.117];

-

No conservation officer’s report has been made public relating to Block D in the original
application [9.117];

-

The submitted design for Block D is unlawful under party wall rules [9.118];

-

Windows and balconies of Block D provide direct views into 114/116 Highbury New Park [9.117];

Page 43

-

Block D occupies land that could provide public gardens and children’s play areas for the
residents of the Park View Estate [9.117];

-

The applicant failed to disclose that the land on which Block D is located had been excluded from
Islington’s Brownfield Land Register [9.117].

Petition:
-

The petition calls for the retention of the mulberry tree in line with the original planning permission.

External Consultees
7.5

London Fire Brigade: No comments received.

7.6

Metropolitan Police – Secure by Design Officer: No objections.

7.7

Islington Swifts Group: The two hedgehog domes are not well targeted. Further swift bricks would be
welcome.
Internal Consultees

7.8

Access and Inclusive Design Officer: Initially raised concern regarding the layout of the wheelchair
accessible unit in Block G. Amended plans were submitted to address the concerns. The Access and
Inclusive Design Officer has reviewed these and raises no further comments.

7.9

Biodiversity Officer: Raises no objection to the further landscaping details. Requested an increased
number of swift bricks. The applicant has provided an updated Ecological Report, which the Biodiversity
Officer found sufficient.

7.10

Design and Conservation Officer: The modest increases in the building footprint of Blocks A, B, C and
G and the amendments to the size and location of balconies, green roofs and terrace areas across
various blocks are supported. A number of design concerns were raised regarding certain elements of
the amendments to the internal layouts of the proposed homes and in the method of construction which
resulted in changes to the consented elevations and visual appearance. These concerns were
discussed, and alternative solutions arrived at during the application period. The amended design
proposals are considered to conform sufficiently to the design intent of the consented scheme and
Design and Conservation find them acceptable.

7.11

Energy Officer: Advises that the energy proposals are acceptable.

7.12

Highways Officer: No objections.

7.13

Public Protection Officer: Initially raised concerns that the CEMP did not address all of the necessary
points. An updated CEMP was submitted which Public Protection have confirmed is now acceptable.

7.14

Sustainability Officer: Initially raised concerns regarding the reduction of soft landscaping, runoff rates,
the lack of raingardens and waterbutts, and the permeability of the proposed tarmac path. The applicant
provided further information to address these concerns, which the Sustainability Officer has reviewed
and found acceptable.

7.15

Tree Officer: No objections. Raised questions regarding success of translocation of mulberry tree.

Page 44

7.16

Building Control: Changes have been made to the development in response to comments from the
Council’s Building Control Team. Further details will be required to be submitted as part of compliance
with the Building Regulations.

8.

RELEVANT POLICIES

8.1

Islington Council Planning Committee, in determining the planning application has the following main
statutory duties to perform:


To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application and
to any other material considerations (Section 70 Town & Country Planning Act 1990);



To determine the application in accordance with the development plan unless other material
considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004) (Note: that the relevant Development Plan is the London Plan and Islington’s Local Plan,
including adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance.);



As the development is within a conservation area(s), the Council also has a statutory duty in that
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area (s72(1)); and



As the development is within close proximity to or adjacent to a statutory listed building(s) or its
setting, the Council also has a statutory duty in that special attention shall be paid to the desirability
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest
which it possesses (s66(1)).

8.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, Paragraph 11 states: “at the heart of the NPPF is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development which should be seen as a golden thread running
through both plan-making and decision-taking. For decision-taking this means: approving development
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay...”

8.3

At paragraph 8 the NPPF states: “that sustainable development has an economic, social and
environmental role”.

8.4

Further, the NPPF states that sustainable development has an economic, social and environmental
role; “these objectives should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of plans and
the application of the policies in this Framework; they are not criteria against which every decision can
or should be judged. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding development
towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect
the character, needs and opportunities of each area.”

8.5

Since March 2014 Planning Practice Guidance for England has been published online.

8.6

In considering the planning application account has to be taken of the statutory and policy framework,
the documentation accompanying the application, and views of both statutory and non-statutory
consultees.

8.7

The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the key articles of the European Convention on Human Rights
into domestic law. These include:


Article 1 of the First Protocol: Protection of property. Every natural or legal person is entitled to the
peaceful enjoyment of his possessions. No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the

Page 45

public interest and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of
international law;


Article 14: Prohibition of discrimination. The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms set forth in this
Convention shall be secured without discrimination on any ground such as sex, race, colour,
language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, association with a national
minority, property, birth, or other status.

8.8

Members of the Planning Committee must be aware of the rights contained in the Convention
(particularly those set out above) when making any Planning decisions. However, most Convention
rights are not absolute and set out circumstances when an interference with a person's rights is
permitted. Any interference with any of the rights contained in the Convention must be sanctioned by
law and be aimed at pursuing a legitimate aim and must go no further than is necessary and be
proportionate.

8.9

The Equality Act 2010 provides protection from discrimination in respect of certain protected
characteristics, namely: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or beliefs and sex and sexual orientation. It places the Council under a legal duty to have due regard
to the advancement of equality in the exercise of its powers including planning powers. The Committee
must be mindful of this duty inter alia when determining all planning applications. In particular, the
Committee must pay due regard to the need to: (1) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; (2) advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and
(3) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it.
Development Plan

8.10

The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011,
Development Management Policies 2013. The policies of the Development Plan that are considered
relevant to this application are listed at Appendix 2 of this report.

8.11

The new London Plan was adopted on the 2nd March 2021. The adopted London plan has now full
weight and is it is considered a material consideration. The adopted London Plan policies have been
fully taken into account.
Emerging Policies
Draft Islington Local Plan 2019

8.12

The Regulation 19 draft of the Local Plan was approved at Full Council on 27 June 2019 for consultation
and subsequent submission to the Secretary of State for Independent Examination. From 5 September
2019 to 18 October 2019, the Council consulted on the Regulation 19 draft of the new Local Plan.
Submission took place on 12 February 2020 with the examination process in progress. As part of the
examination consultation on pre-hearing modifications took place between is taking place from 19
March to and 9 May 2021. The Matters and Issues have now been published with hearings set to take
place from 13 September 2021 to 5 October 2021.

8.13

In line with the NPPF Local Planning Authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to:
·

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the greater
the weight that may be given);

Page 46

·
·

8.14

the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant the
unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this Framework (the
closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight
that may be given).

Emerging policies relevant to this application are set out below and in Appendix 2.
Policy H1: Thriving communities
Policy H2: New and existing conventional
housing
Policy H3: Genuinely affordable housing
Policy H4: Delivering high quality housing
Policy H5: Private outdoor space
Policy H7: Meeting the needs of vulnerable
older people
Policy SC2: Play space
Policy G1: Green Infrastructure
Policy G2: Protecting open space
Policy G4: Biodiversity, landscape design and
trees
Policy G5: Green roofs and vertical greening

Policy S1: Delivering sustainable design
Policy S2: Sustainable design and construction
Policy S3: Sustainable design standards
Policy S4: Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
Policy S5: Energy infrastructure
Policy S6: Managing heat risk
Policy S7: Improving air quality
Policy S8: Flood risk management
Policy S9: Integrated water management and
sustainable drainage
Policy T5: Delivery, servicing and construction
Policy DH1: Fostering innovation while protecting
heritage
Policy DH2: Heritage assets

Site Allocation - OIS11: Park View Estate, Collins Road
Designations
8.15

-

The site has the following designations under the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011 and
Development Management Policies 2013.
Local Cycle Routes
Highbury New Park Conservation Area
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD)

8.16

The SPGs and/or SPDs which are considered relevant are listed in Appendix 2.

9.

ASSESSMENT

9.1

Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 concerns ‘Determination of applications to
develop land without compliance with conditions previously attached.’ It is colloquially known as
‘varying’ or ‘amending’ conditions. Section 73 applications also involve consideration of the conditions
subject to which planning permission should be granted. Where an application under S73 is granted,
the effect is the issue of a fresh grant of permission and the notice shall list all conditions pertaining to
it. The application cannot be used to vary the time limit for implementation.

9.2

It is important to note that when assessing S73 applications the previously granted planning permission
is a significant material consideration, which impacts heavily on the assessment of the proposal. If the
original application has been implemented, or if the permission has not yet expired, the applicant may
go ahead and complete the original approved scheme if they wish.

9.3

In this case, the applicant could develop the site in accordance with the implemented 2017 planning
permission and this fall back position is a material consideration to which significant weight must be
given.

Page 47

9.4

Alterations to planning policy and other material considerations since the original grant of planning
permission are relevant and also need to be considered. However, these must be considered in light
of the matters discussed in the previous paragraphs and the applicant’s ability to complete the originally
approved development.

9.5

A recent Court of Appeal decision (5th November 2019 - Case No: C1/2018/2922) which concerned
the limits of the power under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to grant planning
permission for development without complying with conditions subject to which a previous planning
permission was granted. This Court of Appeal decision rules (inter alia) that the alteration of a condition
should not lead to a necessity to alter the application description and any such proposals that require
the original description of development to be changed sits outside of the power conferred by section
73.

9.6

The proposed amendments to the original planning permission are not considered to result in a change
to the description of development to the original application (P2017/2444/FUL).
Design and Appearance

9.7

The National Planning Policy Framework states that the Government attaches great importance to the
design of the built environment and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. All
proposals for development in Islington are expected to be of good quality design, respecting their urban
context in accordance with planning policy and guidelines.

9.8

London Plan Policy D3 states that development should: ‘enhance local context by delivering buildings
and spaces that positively respond to local distinctiveness through their layout, orientation, scale,
appearance and shape, with due regard to existing and emerging street hierarchy, building types, forms
and proportions.’ Policy D3 also states development should respond to the existing character of a place
by identifying the special and valued features and characteristics that are unique to the locality and be
of high quality, with architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives thorough consideration to the
practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building lifespan through appropriate construction methods and
the use of attractive, robust materials which weather and mature well.

9.9

Islington’s Core Strategy Policy CS8 states that the scale of new development will reflect the character
of a surrounding area. Policy CS9 states that high quality architecture and urban design are key to
enhancing and protecting Islington’s built environment, making it safer and more inclusive. Moreover,
where areas of Islington suffer from poor layout, opportunities will be taken to redesign them by
integrating new buildings into surviving fragments of historic fabric and by reconfiguring spaces based
on streets and perimeter blocks, particularly in housing estates. Finally, the aim is for new buildings to
be sympathetic in scale and appearance and to be complementary to the local identity.

9.10

Islington’s Development Management Policy DM2.1 requires all forms of development to be of a high
quality, incorporating inclusive design principles while making positive contributions to the local
character and distinctiveness of an area, based upon an understanding and evaluation of its defining
characteristics. All new developments are required to improve the quality, clarity and sense of space
around or between buildings, reinforce and complement local distinctiveness and create a positive
sense of place. Finally, Islington’s Urban Design Guide (2017) provides guidelines and principles for
good urban design.
Increase in Building Footprints

9.11

The proposed amendments to the footprint of the approved blocks would see these marginally increase.
The larger footprint has been proposed to address changes to the layout as a result of the relocation
of the accessible unit, updated circulation spaces and further updates to risers and entrance lobbies.

Page 48

The increased footprint also takes into account brick depths and minimum space standards, which
weren’t accounted for in the approved drawings. The proposed increases in building footprints are
detailed in the table below:

Block A
Block B
Block C
Block D
Block E
Block G
9.12

Approved building
Proposed building
Difference
footprint (sqm)
footprint (sqm)
(sqm)
182
192
+10
125
129
+4
44.7
46.3
+1.6
279.7
280
+0.3
151
152.5
+1.5
307.5
310
+2.5
Table 1 - Minor increases in building footprints

The increase to the building footprints are minimal, ensuring that the design, visual proportions and
massing of buildings would remain as approved. Furthermore, the additional footprint of each building
would be contained within areas of hardstanding, ensuring that there would be no further loss of green
space or amenity space (see ‘Landscape’ section below).
Materials to Blocks A, D, and G

9.13

Changes are proposed to the external materials on Blocks A, D, and G. These changes are assessed
in more detail below:
Block A

9.14

As approved, Block A incorporated bronze metal cladding to the ground floor on the northern elevation.
It is proposed to omit this cladding, with the resultant elevation comprising the same brickwork as the
rest of the façade. The resultant elevation is considered to have a simplified and less cluttered
appearance.

Figure 3 - Approved (left) and proposed (right) Black A North elevations (‘3’ and ‘k’ indicates where cladding
has been removed)

Page 49

Block D
9.15

The previously approved stone coping from below the textured brick on the top floor of Block D has
been omitted. Coping will remain at parapet level. The removal of the stone coping is considered to
create a less cluttered appearance whilst maintaining the design quality as previously approved.

Figure 4 - Approved (left) and proposed (right) Black D north elevations
9.16

Textural brickwork is proposed to be added to the northern façade of Block D where the window
arrangement has been revised. This would provide further visual interest to the elevation, provide
greater consistency across the fenestration and better articulate the façade.

Figure 5 - Approved (top) and proposed (bottom) Block D north elevation

Page 50

Block G
9.17

The approved development included separate oriel windows on each floor of the southern elevation.
Due to the need to provide appropriate insulation around these windows, it was found that this
arrangement was unachievable. For this reason, the applicant seeks to create a single oriel structure
with 70mm recesses at each floor level. Officers have worked with the applicant to ensure that a visual
break between each oriel window was provided. Whilst it is regrettable that the individual projections
are not achieved, the proposed structure is considered to bring a level of articulation to the elevation
and allows each floor to be read separately, which is considered acceptable.

9.18

The single oriel structures as initially proposed within this application included reduced window
openings, resulting in a number of rooms experiencing reductions in daylight levels from the originally
approved scheme, and below BRE guidance. A revised oriel structure design was submitted which
increased the size of the window openings, providing a more generous solid to void ratio. While the
amended oriel structures are a larger feature of the elevations than in the consented scheme, these
continue to be suitably proportioned in relation to the robust scale and massing of the building and
address previous concerns regarding the amenity of future occupiers.

9.19

The application also seeks to remove a cladding panel from the south east and west elevation at ground
floor level. The resultant elevation is considered to have a simplified and less cluttered appearance.

Page 51

Figure 6 - Approved (top) and proposed (bottom) south elevation Block G
The size and location of balconies and terrace areas
9.20

Amendments to the size and location of balconies and terraces are proposed across the development.
The proposed changes are considered in more detail below:
Block A

9.21

It is proposed that the secondary balconies to five of the units in Block A are removed after the
applicant’s Fire Safety Consultant advised that balconies cannot be placed in front of windows to the
corridor area. To ensure each unit would continue to have acceptable levels of amenity space, the
balconies on the southern elevation are proposed to be increased. The proposed amendments result
in a larger single amenity space, which is more useable.

9.22

The larger balconies on the southern elevation are not considered to change the original design intent
of the buildings and appear as a continuation of the previously approved balconies.

Page 52

Figure 7 - Approved (left) and proposed (right) south elevation Block A
9.23

The removal of the secondary balconies from the northern elevation has resulted in the stair core
becoming more visible. The initially submitted amendments altered the design of the stair core that
faces on to Collins Road, incorporating a high-level automatic opening vent window to each landing.
The amended proposal (shown below) provides a larger window with sill height set at a level to allow
views out of the stair core at each landing. The amended design will provide a more animated elevation
and higher quality communal areas to the building, better served by views in and out and natural light,
and an improved sense of safety and security in the communal parts of the building.

Page 53

Figure 8 - Approved (left) and proposed (right) Block A north elevation - loss of balcony and new fenestration
to stair core
Block D
9.24

As a result of the proposed increase in footprint and technical challenges such as the location of a substation, it is proposed to reduce the amenity areas for Units D1, D2, D5 and D6, while the approved
terraces at units D3 and D7 would be replaced with balconies. The terrace for Unit D4 would increase
in size as a result.

9.25

Though the balconies have reduced in size they still exceed the minimum standards for each unit,
provide a good quality amenity space and the internal living spaces of the units have been made larger.

9.26

The proposed changes to the Block D amenity areas are not considered to alter the design intent of
the originally approved building. The most noticeable change is the addition of a balcony to the eastern
elevation, which would be limited in scale and set over proposed building massing, such that it is
considered acceptable in this case.

Page 54

Figure 9 - Approved (top) and proposed (bottom) Block D north elevation
Block G
9.27

All the balconies on Block G have been marginally reduced in size but continue to meet or exceed the
minimum space standards. The smaller balconies are a result of the increased footprint of Block G. The
location of the balconies have not changed and considering the minimal change in scale these are
considered to be acceptable.
Block E parapet

9.28

It is proposed to reduce Block E’s parapet height by 115mm, from 45.06m to 44.945m.

9.29

The lower parapet height would not reduce the floor-to-ceiling height of the homes in the building, nor
would it affect the safety of those accessing the roof for maintenance purposes. It is not considered
that the proposed changes would have any noticeable impact on the design or appearance of the
scheme. The proposed changes are therefore considered to be acceptable.
Amendments to windows and doors

9.30

The applicant proposes to amend a number of windows and doors to the units within Blocks A, B, D,
and G. These changes, assessed in detail below, include changes to the location and size of several
windows, as well as the swapping of windows for doors/doors for windows to reflect changes in location
and access to amenity spaces.
Block D

9.31

The applicant seeks to revise the size and location of a number of windows on Block D following further
assessment of the specification of the proposed windows after the grant of planning permission.

9.32

The redesigned northern elevation originally submitted as part of this application was found
unacceptable due to it resulting in a less ordered elevation, with a significant change in the solid to void
ratio.

9.33

A revised northern elevation was submitted, with the windows detailed in the northern elevation now
providing a more balanced and rational elevation that is closer to the originally approved development.

Page 55

Block G
9.34

A bedroom window serving Unit G1 is proposed to be replaced with a door. This is to correct an
architectural error which meant that the flat’s private amenity space was previously inaccessible. The
proposed change is considered accessible.

9.35

Additionally, it is proposed that the previously approved oriel window to a bedroom in Unit G2 is
replaced with a larger standard window.
Quality of Accommodation

9.36

Islington Core Strategy policy CS12 identifies that to help achieve a good quality of life for Islington
residents, residential space and design standards will be significantly increased and enhanced from
their current levels. The Islington Development Management Policies DM3.4 sets out the detail of these
housing standards. In accordance with this policy, all new housing is required to provide functional and
useable spaces with good quality amenity space, sufficient space for storage and flexible internal living
arrangements.

9.37

The proposal includes the relocation of a wheelchair accessible unit and internal alterations to a number
of the approved units.
Internal Layouts

9.38

The applicant seeks to alter the kitchen layouts in Block G in order to optimise the use of space and,
where possible, improve the level of daylight and sunlight reaching them. The revised kitchen layouts
do not impact the overall design or appearance of the scheme and do not alter the quantum of
residential floor space or ceiling heights.

9.39

The applicant also seeks to relocate one of the wheelchair accessible homes from Block B to Block G.
This proposal is evaluated in further detail in the ‘Accessibility’ section below.

9.40

The proposed internal layout changes to Blocks A and E result in additional space within circulation
areas/hallways which can be designated as storage space to be used by residents.

9.41

The aforementioned amendments result in homes with improved internal living environments and, in
some instances, increases in floorspace. All proposed units continue to meet the minimum space
standards set out in Development Management Policy DM3.4. As such, these changes are considered
acceptable.
Revised Daylight and Sunlight Report

9.42

The proposed amendments do not result in the location or form of the approved blocks, with a reduction
in height of Block E. While the building footprints would be increased, the increases are marginal. As
such, the assessment of daylight and sunlight impact to neighbouring buildings is adequately
addressed within the original application assessment. However, the proposed amendments to internal
layouts and fenestration mean there is requirement to assess the daylight and sunlight received for
future occupiers of the proposed development.

9.43

In general, for assessing the daylight and sunlight impact, Building Research Establishment (BRE)
guidance (2011) is adopted. In accordance with both local and national policies, consideration has to
be given to the context of the site, the more efficient and effective use of valuable urban land and the
degree of material impact on neighbours. BRE Guidelines paragraph 1.1 states

Page 56

“People expect good natural lighting in their homes and in a wide range of non-habitable buildings.
Daylight makes an interior look more attractive and interesting as well as providing light to work or read
by”.
9.44

Paragraph 1.6 of the BRE guidance states:
“The advice given here is not mandatory and the guide should not be seen as an instrument of planning
policy; its aim is to help rather than constrain the designer. Although it gives numerical guidelines, these
should be interpreted flexibly since natural lighting is only one of many factors in site layout design…In
special circumstances the developer or local planning authority may wish to use different target values.
For example, in a historic city centre, or in an area with modern high rise buildings, a higher degree of
obstruction may be unavoidable if new developments are to match the height and proportions of existing
buildings”.
Daylight to Proposed Development

9.45

Paragraph 2.1.8 of The BRE guidance states that “daylight provision in new rooms may be checked
using the Average Daylight Factory (ADF). The ADF is a measure of the overall amount of daylight in
a space.” This document sets out minimum values of ADF of 2% for kitchens, 1.5% for living rooms
and 1% for bedrooms. For combined living rooms, kitchens and dining rooms (LKDs) the minimum ADF
that should be achieved is 2%.

9.46

In the originally approved application, 96% of the rooms in the approved development achieved the
minimum ADF values. As a result of the amendments to internal layout and windows necessary to build
out the project, an updated Daylight/Sunlight assessment has been carried out for the application. The
initially submitted amendments resulted in reductions in ADF values due to the inclusion of smaller
window openings to address overheating and insulation requirements. Following concern raised by
officers, amended plans have been received and the Daylight/Sunlight Assessment updated. The
amended proposal maintains and even marginally improves the high level of compliance achieved, with
99% of rooms now meeting or exceeding the BRE Guidelines. Only a single bedroom window in the
ground floor of Block B would fall under the required ADF value (1% for bedrooms), with localised
privacy constraints restricting additional windows for this bedroom. Improvements in the ADF of this
bedroom were still able to be achieved increasing the ADF from 0.48% in the original application to
0.6% as currently proposed.
Sunlight to Proposed Development

9.47

The BRE Guidelines (2011) state in relation to sunlight at paragraph 3.2.11:
“If a living room of an existing dwelling has a main window facing within 90° of due south, and any part
of a new development subtends an angle of more than 25° to the horizontal measured from the centre
of the window in a vertical section perpendicular to the window, then the sunlighting of the existing
dwelling may be adversely affected. This will be the case if the centre of the window:




9.48

Receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours (APSH), or less than 5% of APSH
between 21 September and 21 March and
Receives less than 0.8 times its former sunlight hours during either period and
Has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater than 4% of annual probable
sunlight hours.”

In relation to sunlight, the Daylight/Sunlight assessment shows that all Living/Kitchen/Dinging Rooms
(LKD) with a southerly aspect have access to good sunlight levels. While 7 of the 40 proposed LKDs
would fall below the BRE Guidelines for Annual APSH, this represents the same number as those in
the originally approved development.

Page 57

9.49

In summary the application improves the internal daylight conditions received by future residents of the
scheme, bringing the ADF compliance up from 96% to 99% of rooms. The proposed amendments also
maintain the generally good level of sunlight levels achieved in the original application. The overall
impact on sunlight and daylight is therefore considered acceptable.
Private Amenity Space

9.50

Policy DM3.5 of the Development Management Policies Document 2013 within part A identifies that ‘all
new residential development will be required to provide good quality private outdoor space in the form
of gardens, balconies, roof terraces and/or glazed ventilated winter gardens’. The policy in part C then
goes on to state that the minimum requirement for private outdoor space is 5 square metres on upper
floors and 15 square metres on ground floor for 1-2 person dwellings. For each additional occupant, an
extra 1 square metre is required on upper floors and 5 square metres on ground floor level with a
minimum of 30 square metres for family housing (defined as 3 bed units and above).

9.51

A number of changes to the size and location of balconies and terrace areas are proposed across the
development. Although the revised proposals result in a limited decrease to the amount of private
amenity provided to some units, all units would continue to meet required minimum private amenity
space provisions.
Trees

9.52

Policy DM6.5 of the Islington Development Management Policies 2013 states that development should
protect, contribute to and enhance the landscape, biodiversity and growing conditions of the
development site and surrounding areas. Developments are required to maximise provision of soft
landscaping, including trees, shrubs and other vegetation. Furthermore, developments are required to
minimise any impacts on trees, shrubs and other significant vegetation. At the same time any loss of
or damage to trees, or adverse effects on their growing conditions, will only be permitted where there
are over-riding planning benefits.
The quality of trees are categorised as follows: Category A

Trees of high quality with an estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 40 years

Category B

Trees of moderate quality with an estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 20
years

Category C

Trees of low quality with an estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 10 years,
or young trees with a stem diameter below 150 mm

Category U

Those in such a condition that they cannot realistically be retained as living trees in
the context of the current land use for longer than 10 years

9.53

The committee report and original Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) dated May 2017 for
approved planning permission P2017/2444/FUL detailed the loss of 10 trees (1 x Category B, 5 x
Category C and 4 x Category U) to facilitate the development. 9 new trees were proposed across the
estate as mitigating planting for the loss. The mulberry tree at the north of the site was to be retained
and protected during construction.

9.54

The Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) Revision A dated January 2019 approved pursuant to a
planning condition (application ref: P2019/0236/AOD), included the loss of a further Sycamore tree

Page 58

(Category B) owing to more detailed information on the construction of Block D and it not being possible
to retain it. This meant there would be a total loss of 11 trees (2 x Category B, 5 x Category C and 4 x
Category U trees). The 9 trees proposed to be planted across the estate remained and the mulberry
tree was again detailed to be retained.
9.55

The submitted AMS (Revision D dated May 2021) submitted with this application proposes the loss of
the mulberry tree at the north of the site. This details that the mulberry tree is required to be removed
following further development of construction details for Block A having been worked up. Following a
further site investigation it was found that the complexity of ground works; including the safe
construction of a piling mat, underground services and hard landscaping to create a level threshold to
the door at Block A meant that it would not be possible to retain the mulberry tree within the approved
design. The AMS details that the investigations found that the mulberry tree is shallow rooted and the
proposed foundation and associated piling mat would mean digging down beyond the mulberry tree
trunk, which it would not be able to survive.

9.56

With the proposed removal of the mulberry tree, the proposal would now result in a total loss of 12 trees
across the site (2 x Category B, 6 x Category C and 4 x Category U). The application proposes the
planting of 13 new trees across the estate, which includes an early mature mulberry tree.

9.57

It should be noted that the mulberry tree is identified as a Category C tree, which British Standard BS
5837:2012 details as ‘not a hindrance to development’. The proposed replacement early mature
mulberry tree, at a minimum of 3.5 meters in height, will be planted closer to Collins Road and further
away from Block A. The 12 other trees to be planted would be 3 x field maple, 1 x Turkish hazel, 1 x
crab apple, 1 x lime and 6 trees selected from the following native species: wild cherry, common
hornbeam and field maple.

9.58

The proposed mitigating planting of 13 trees, which represents an increase of four trees to those
originally secured and includes provision of an early mature mulberry tree, is considered to provide
acceptable mitigation and canopy cover replacement for the total loss of 12 trees (of which 10 are low
quality or unsuitable for retention – category C or U).

9.59

A further proposed amendment within the application is that three of the proposed new trees previously
approved are now detailed in different, more practical locations. This rearrangement of the proposed
tree planting locations would not affect the net increase in trees proposed on the estate.
Relocation of Mulberry tree

9.60

In addition to the mitigating planting noted above, the AMS (Revision D) confirms that the applicant will
seek to translocate the existing mulberry tree within the estate. This involves the removal of the tree
from its current location and the replanting of this. Notwithstanding the identification of a suitable
location for the mulberry tree detailed in the AMS, the submission details that consultation will be
undertaken with residents of the estate to inform the location of the relocated mulberry tree.

9.61

The Council’s Tree Officer has raised concern regarding the success of the translocation. To ensure
that the translocation method and aftercare arrangements ensure the most likely success of the
relocated mulberry tree, conditions (no. 24 and 25) are recommended requiring details to be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the translocation works taking place. Condition
24 also requires the submission of details of consultation undertaken with residents of the estate
regarding the location of the relocated Mulberry tree. An updated landscaping plan would also be
required to be submitted.

Page 59

9.62

While the proposed translocation of the mulberry tree would further enhance the mitigation proposed if
successful, it is considered that the 13 new trees proposed, inclusive of a new early mature mulberry
tree is sufficient to mitigate the proposed additional tree removal.

9.63

Conditions 13 (Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method Statement) and 14 (Supervision and
Monitoring of Arboricultural Protection Measures) of the original permission, which have previously
been discharged, will need to be amended in line with the submitted AMS Revision D dated May 2021.
Health of mulberry tree

9.64

A tree inspection took place on 16th February 2021 as part of routine triennial tree inspection by the
London Borough of Islington’s Tree Officers. The inspection found the decay fungus Ganoderma was
present on this tree. As stated in the submitted AMS “this fungus is associated with decay and in some
cases can lead to the tree falling in due course, depending on the rate of decay versus the ability of the
tree to put on compensatory extra wood in response to the decay. In this case the fungus has only been
recently found and decay is considered unlikely to have progressed far, although this presumption could
be tested by detailed investigations. Therefore, it is unlikely to be an immediate hazard.”

9.65

Residents commissioned an Arboricultural Report by Russell Miller Marbor A, MSc, BA (Econ) ABC
Tech Cert dated March 2021 which also identified the Gandoderma fungus and states that the tree is
in ‘good health’, ‘very unlikely to fail and is not a hazard’. This detailed and considered report concludes
that the tree is unlikely to fail structurally within 20 years (in the absence of extreme wind) and could
live for another 50 years.

9.66

Notwithstanding the details above relating to the health of the mulberry tree, it should be noted that the
tree is proposed to be removed to facilitate the development and not due to its health. The proposed
tree planting mitigation is considered to be sufficient and will increase the quality and quantum of trees
and increase canopy cover across the estate.
Summary

9.67

While it is regrettable that the mulberry tree is required to be removed to facilitate the development, it
is considered that suitable mitigating planting is proposed to address this loss. The proposed
translocation of the mulberry tree, in consultation with residents, and securing of a scheme for its
aftercare, would further enhance the mitigating planting. The tree removal would enable the delivery of
a high quality residential development that would deliver 100% affordable housing, which represents a
significant planning benefit of the proposal.
Landscaping

9.68

Policy G1 (Green Infrastructure) of the London Plan 2021 states that ‘green features in the built
environment, should be protected and enhanced’. Furthermore, Policy G5 (Urban Greening) states that
‘major development proposals should contribute to the greening of London by including urban greening
as a fundamental element of site and building design, and by incorporating measures such as highquality landscaping (including trees), green roofs, green walls and nature-based sustainable drainage’.
Policy G7 (Trees and Woodlands) states that ‘development proposals should ensure that, wherever
possible, existing trees of value are retained’ and that, if planning permission is granted that
necessitates the removal of trees there should be adequate replacement based on the existing value
of the benefits of the trees removed.

9.69

Islington’s Core Strategy Policy CS15 on open space and green infrastructure states that the council
will provide inclusive spaces for residents and visitors and create a greener borough by protecting all
existing local spaces, including open spaces of heritage value, as well as incidental green space, trees

Page 60

and private gardens. Policy DM6.5 states that development should protect, contribute to and enhance
the landscape, biodiversity and growing conditions of the development site and surrounding areas.
Developments are required to maximise provision of soft landscaping, including trees, shrubs and other
vegetation.
9.70

Regarding open space, Development Management Policy DM6.3 states that development is not
permitted on semi-private amenity spaces, including open space within housing estates and other
similar spaces in the borough not designated as public open space, unless the loss of amenity space
is compensated and the development has over-riding planning benefits. Moreover, both Development
Management Policies DM2.1 and DM8.4 encourage greater permeability by improving movement
through areas and seeking an improved pedestrian environment following Islington’s ‘Streetbook’ SPD.

9.71

This application proposes a number of changes to the landscaping scheme approved in permission
P2017/2444/FUL which are considered below:
Roads and kerbs

9.72

All existing roads on the estate will now be planed and resurfaced, rather than fully replaced as set out
within the approved application. In addition, existing kerbs will now be assessed in further detail once
construction has commenced to determine whether they can be repaired instead of being fully replaced.
Kerbs which only have minor damage or wear-and-tear, which can be easily repaired, will not be
replaced.

9.73

The new approach to road improvements will not impact the appearance or usability of the roads and
kerbs compared to if they were fully replaced under the original planning permission and as such is
considered acceptable.
Replacement of resin-bound gravel with tarmac

9.74

The approved planning permission included the use of resin-bound gravel to re-surface a footpath
which runs along the south of Block E. The applicant seeks to replace this resin-bound gravel with
tarmac. As the paths and surfaces across the estate are all tarmac it is considered that this change
would be in keeping with the appearance and approach taken across the site.

9.75

The proposed tarmac, and previously proposed resin-bound gravel, would both be installed directly
onto the existing tarmac. As such, the proposed use of tarmac would not result in any change to
drainage, with water draining to the existing soft landscaping.

9.76

Noting the above, the proposed use of tarmac will provide the same level of usability and drainage and
is in keeping with the existing materials used on the site.

Landscaping Condition
9.77

The amendments proposed and additional details submitted with the application are considered to
partially address Landscaping Condition 12 attached to the original permission.

9.78

The topographical survey and phasing of landscaping and planting have been addressed in full. The
landscaping has been split into two phases. Phase 1 covers the proposed new blocks within the estate
with respective areas of landscape around them. The remainder of the estate, with some car parking
spaces, stores, play areas and soft landscape form Phase 2.

9.79

Details for the proposed tree types and locations, soft planting, boundary treatment, hard landscaping,
inclusive design principles, all play space equipment and structures have been submitted for Phase 1

Page 61

but remain outstanding for Phase 2. Details of the existing and proposed underground services are still
to be submitted for both phases. The landscaping details have also been considered by the Council’s
Biodiversity Officer and are considered to be acceptable.
9.80

It is therefore recommended that Condition 12 be amended to ensure compliance with the submitted
details and ensure that further details are required to be submitted for Phase 2 and of the proposed
underground services.
Accessibility

9.81

In October 2015, the Deregulation Bill (March 2015) was implemented. It introduced a new National
Standard for Housing Design as an enhancement of Part M of the Building Regulations: Category 1
(Visitable Dwellings), Category 2 (Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings, similar to Lifetime Homes) and
Category 3 (Wheelchair Accessible dwellings, similar to Islington wheelchair accessible housing
standard).

9.82

Development Management Policy DM3.4 ‘Housing Standards’ provides various standards in housing
including for accessibility and inclusive design. The policy states that the overall approach to all
entrances should be logical, legible and level or gently sloping; and common entrances should be
visible from the public realm, clearly identified and illuminated and have level access over the threshold.
Moreover, the number of dwellings accessed from a single core must not be more than eight and
communal circulation corridors should be a minimum of 1200mm wide. Finally, in terms of circulation
within new homes, space for turning a wheelchair should be provided in living rooms, dining rooms and
in at least one bedroom and dwellings over more than one floor are required to provide space for a stair
lift.
Relocation of 1 wheelchair accessible home

9.83

A 2-bedroom wheelchair accessible (M4(3)) home in Block B is proposed to be swapped with a 3bedroom home (non-wheelchair accessible, M4(2)) from Block G. This amendment allows for the
provision of one more wheelchair accessible home in Block G, and one fewer in Block B. The total
number of wheelchair accessible units and habitable rooms on the scheme remains the same as in the
approved scheme.

9.84

The relocation of this unit does not result in any change to the housing quantum or mix as approved
under the extant planning permission.

9.85

The two homes in the revised Block G ground floor layout both meet policy regulations. The measures
which seek to ensure that the flat is accessible in line with the M4(3) regulations include but are not
limited to:







9.86

1500mm turning circles in front of the entrance doors
the width of the clear route ahead of the hallways ahead being at least 1200mm
meeting at least the minimum doors widths and bedroom widths
sufficient wheelchair storage and transfer space
sufficient general storage space
larger floorspace than required by national space standards

The proposed relocation of the wheelchair accessible dwelling to Block G does not result in any change
to the quality of the provision or the number of wheelchair accessible dwellings provided. The relocated
wheelchair accessible unit is compliant with Development Management policy DM3.4 and complies
with M4 (3) building regulations. As such, the proposed changes are considered acceptable.

Page 62

Sustainability, Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy
9.87

London Plan Policy SI2 stipulates that major developments should be net zero-carbon and that a
detailed energy strategy should demonstrate how the zero-carbon target will be met. SI2 also says that
major developments should achieve on-site carbon reductions of at least 35% beyond Building
Regulations and where the zero-carbon target cannot be fully achieved on-site, the shortfall should be
provided through a contribution to the borough’s carbon offset fund. Policy SI4 states that major
development proposals should demonstrate how they will reduce the potential for internal overheating
and reliance on air conditioning. Policy SI13 states that developments should aim to achieve greenfield
run-off rates and ensure that surface water run-off is managed as close to its source as possible. There
should be a preference for green over grey features and proposals for impermeable surfacing should
be resisted unless they can be shown to be unavoidable.

9.88

All development is required to demonstrate that it has minimised onsite carbon dioxide emissions by
maximising energy efficiency, supplying energy efficiently and using onsite renewable energy
generation (CS10). Developments should achieve a total (regulated and unregulated) CO2 emissions
reduction of at least 27% relative to total emissions from a building which complies with Building
Regulations 2013 (39% where connection to a Decentralised Heating Network in possible). Typically,
all remaining CO2 emissions should be offset through a financial contribution towards measures which
reduce CO2 emissions from the existing building stock (CS10).

9.89

The Core Strategy also requires developments to address a number of other sustainability criteria such
as climate change adaptation, SUDS, sustainable transport, sustainable construction and the
enhancement of biodiversity. Development Management Policy DM7.1 requires for development
proposals to integrate best practice sustainable design standards and states that the council will support
the development of renewable energy technologies, subject to meeting wider policy requirements.
Details and specifics are provided within Islington’s Environmental Design SPD. Development
Management Policy DM7.4 requires the achievement of BREEAM ‘Excellent’ on all non-residential
major developments. Major developments are also required to comply with Islington’s Code of Practice
for Construction Sites and to achieve relevant water efficiency targets as set out in the BREEAM
standards.
Energy Strategy and Photovoltaics Panels

9.90

The applicant has provided an updated Energy Strategy (Calford Seaden, 8th July 2021), along with
revised roof plans and elevation drawings for each building showing the updated locations of the PV
panels. The Energy Strategy was updated to reference the revised Daylight and Sunlight Assessment
and includes updated Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) calculations, which have been rerun
following updates to the construction methods and materials.

9.91

The Unregulated and Regulated CO2 emissions reduction above current Building Regulations achieved
under the original planning permission was 27.2%, marginally above the 27% policy target and a 51%
reduction in Regulated CO2 emissions, exceeding the 35% policy target.

9.92

The updated Unregulated and Regulated CO2 emissions reduction above current Building Regulations
for the proposed application now falls marginally under the policy target achieving a 25.81% reduction.
The application still far exceeds the London Plan target for reduction in Regulated carbon emissions
achieving a 49% reduction.

9.93

To address the reduction in emissions, the total kWp of the PV array has been improved compared to
the original application with an increase from 47.5kWp to 49.665kWp. There is an aspiration of
achieving 27% reduction of CO2 from Unregulated and Regulated emissions and as such, the applicant
is investigating the delivery of a further 9 PV panels. This will be subject to a feasibility assessment for

Page 63

the location of these on the estate, which will be secured in the Director’s Agreement. In order to
mitigate against the remaining CO2 emissions generated by the development a financial contribution
of £78,469 will be secured by way of Director’s Agreement. Should the development be able to install
the additional 9 PV panels the financial contribution required would be £77,210. The updated Energy
Strategy and PV details have been reviewed by the Council’s Energy Officer and are considered
acceptable. The marginal shortfall in CO2 reduction needs to be considered alongside the significant
planning benefit of delivering 100% affordable housing at the site and subject to a feasibility assessment
for additional PVs which will be secured in the Director’s Agreement. This approach is therefore
considered acceptable.
9.94

Conditions 7 (Photovoltaic Panels) and 11 (Energy Strategy) will therefore be amended to ensure
compliance with the updated details submitted with this application.
Overheating

9.95

Draft policy S6 states that all developments must demonstrate how the proposed design will reduce the
potential for overheating and reliance on air conditioning systems, and maximise the incorporation of
passive design measures.

9.96

An updated Overheating Analysis (8th July 2021) has been submitted as part of the application. This
report has assessed the proposed scheme in accordance with CIBSE TM59 requirements relating to
overheating. Results are provided which show how those dwellings, considered the most at risk of
overheating during the summer, perform against the thermal comfort standards for overheating. The
scheme has maximised passive design measures and the modelling results indicate that the scheme
is compliant with the overheating requirements.
Green Roofs

9.97

It is proposed to omit the second floor level Green Roof to Block D, due to its small size, at less than
2sqm, and associated maintenance issues.

Figure 10 – Approved (left) and proposed (right) floorplans for Block D (6 indicates where ‘green’ element is
removed)

9.98

When considered alongside the landscaping and biodiversity measures being carried out across the
estate, the removal of a minimal area of green roof would not significantly impact on biodiversity or
sustainability measures.

9.99

The revised SUDS assessment, submitted with this application, shows that the development still
achieves an acceptable level of drainage and pollution control without this small area of green roof on
Block D. Additionally, the Council’s Sustainability Officer has reviewed this document and raised no

Page 64

objections to its omission. The omission of the green roof on the second floor of Block D is therefore
considered to be acceptable.
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)
9.100 The applicant has submitted updated details relating to SUDS, which the applicant intends to supersede
previously discharged details (see Relevant Planning History). The updated SUDS and Drainage
Statement (MLM, 24/08/2021) takes into account the latest landscaping proposals. The submitted
details are considered to be acceptable.
9.101 Condition 10 (SUDS) will be amended to ensure compliance with the approved details.
Highways and Transportation
Relocation of cycle spaces
9.102 Policies T5 (Cycling) of the London Plan 2021 states that developments should provide cycle parking
at least in accordance with the minimum standards, which for residential dwellings is 1 space per 1
person 1 bedroom dwelling, 1.5 spaces per 2 person 1 bedroom dwelling, and 2 spaces for all other
dwellings.
9.103 Core Strategy Policy CS10 (Sustainable design), Part H seeks to maximise opportunities for cycling.
Development Management Policy DM8.4 (Walking and cycling), Part D requires the provision of secure,
sheltered, integrated, conveniently located, adequately lit, step-free and accessible cycle parking.
9.104 This application seeks to relocate 6no. cycle spaces from Block G to Block D, resulting in the same
number of cycle spaces as previously approved by planning permission P2017/2444/FUL. The below
table sets out the proposed distribution of cycle parking spaces for each block under the approved
scheme and as a result of the proposed amendments:

Block A
Block B
Block C
Block D
Block E
Block G
TOTAL

Approved
Proposed
development
development
16
16
2
2
0
0
54
60
8
8
56
50
136
136
Table 2 - Distribution of cycle spaces

Change
0
0
0
+6
0
-6
+/- 0

9.105 The residents in Blocks D and G would continue to have access to a sufficient number of cycle parking
spaces, exceeding the London Plan 2021 and the Development Management Policies 2013 standards.
The proposed changes are therefore considered acceptable.
Affordable Housing
9.106 The London Plan, under Policy H4, identifies that boroughs should set a target so that 50% of all new
homes built are genuinely affordable. Point 4) of this policy identifies that public sector land should
deliver at least 50% affordable housing on each site.
9.107 Policy CS12 of the Islington Core Strategy sets out the policy approach to affordable housing. Policy
CS12G establishes that “50% of additional housing to be built in the borough over the plan period
should be affordable" and that provision of affordable housing will be sought through sources such as

Page 65

100% affordable housing schemes by Registered Social Landlords and building affordable housing on
Council own land”. With an understanding of the financial matters that in part underpin development,
the policy states that the Council will seek the “maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing,
especially social rented housing, taking into account the overall borough wide strategic target. It is
expected that many sites will deliver at least 50% of units as affordable subject to a financial viability
assessment, the availability of public subsidy and individual circumstances of the site.”
The Affordable Housing Offer
9.108 The approved development at the site provided 55% affordable housing (by units) with the remaining
units proposed as open market sale. The affordable housing was secured as Social Rented units by a
Directors Agreement. The proposed amendment would increase the amount of Social Rented units at
the site to 100% (40 units).
Dwelling Type
Social Rented
1B-2P
8
2B-3P
1
2B-3P (Wheelchair) 2
2B-4P
25
2B-4P (Wheelchair) 2
3B-5P
2
TOTAL
40
Table 3 - Housing mix

Total
8
1
2
25
2
2
40

9.109 The increase in social rented housing provision is because private market housing is no longer required
to help cross-subsidise the affordable homes proposed. This change allows for the provision of 18
additional new affordable homes.
9.110 The NPPF states that where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify
the type of affordable housing required. Policy CS12 of the Islington Core Strategy, Policy H3 of the
Draft Islington Local Plan and policy H5 of the London Plan seek the maximum reasonable amount of
affordable housing on site, with policy CS12 identifying a specific need for social rented housing.
9.111 Policy CS12 states that to achieve the borough target of 50% of additional housing being affordable
over the plan period, schemes for affordable housing on the Council’s own land should seek to provide
100% affordable housing.
9.112 Policy CS12 of the Islington Core Strategy requires an affordable housing tenure split of 70% social
housing and 30% intermediate housing. The London Plan, under Policy H6, states that the tenure split
can be flexible when affordable home provision is above 35%, provided the homes are genuinely
affordable and take into account the need to maximise affordable housing provision. The proposal does
not include any shared ownership units as this form of housing is considered ‘unaffordable’ in this part
of the borough given excessively high property values.
9.113 Draft Policy H3 of the draft Islington Local Plan (2019) details that for sites in public sector ownership
must exhaust all potential options for maximising the delivery of on-site affordable housing in excess of
50%.
9.114 In accordance with the above policy aims, the development is located on publicly owned land and the
proposed amendment to provide 100% social rented units would maximise the affordable housing
provision at the site and specifically support the provision of Social Rented units. The provision of 100%
Social Rented units at the site is a significant benefit of the proposal and will be secured through a
Directors’ Agreement.

Page 66

Other Matters
9.115 A number of representations have been received questioning the consultation undertaken by both the
applicant and as part of the planning application. Notification of the planning application was undertaken
in accordance with statutory requirements and the Islington Statement of Community Involvement.
9.116 Representations have also been received regarding structural matters at existing buildings at Park
View Estate and the presence of underground watercourses. These are not relevant to the
assessment of the current application.
9.117 A number of representations were received which relate to matters which were considered in the
original application which have previously been addressed. These matters included concerns regarding
the impact of a car-free development and additional residents, the construction of Block D, and
questions regarding the publication of a conservation report being published.
9.118 Representations were received questioning the party wall act with regard to Block D. This is not a
material planning consideration.
Planning Conditions and Obligations
9.119 The previously approved planning application at the site was subject to a Directors’ Agreement which
secured a number of planning obligations to justify/mitigate the proposal. A Deed of Variation to this
legal agreement is required and will secure the uplift in Social Rented units at the site and the
requirement for a feasibility assessment should the CO2 emissions target not be met. It also ensures
that all of the obligations originally secured are still required.
9.120 A number of the conditions from the previous application have either been discharged or amended
through previous applications. As such, the schedule of conditions has been updated to reflect this, the
fact that the development has been implemented and to reflect the proposed amendments as set
above.
10. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Summary
10.1

The application seeks to make a number of minor amendments to the approved planning permission
ref: P2017/2444/FUL, dated 28/11/2017. Foremost among the amendments include changing the
housing tenure to provide 100% social rented housing. The application also includes an updated Energy
Strategy, the relocation of a wheelchair accessible home, the relocation of six cycle parking spaces,
various amendments to the design and layout of the approved buildings, and amendments to the
approved landscaping strategy, changes to the tree planting including additional trees and the removal
and relocation of the mulberry tree at the north of the site.

10.2

The design changes include a minor increase in the footprint of all blocks, a decrease in the parapet
height of Block E, revisions to the fenestration of blocks A, B, D, and G, revisions to the materiality of
Blocks A, D, and G, and revisions to the size and location of private amenity spaces. As a result of the
various design amendments, the internal layouts and private amenity spaces have been affected,
however, all units continue to meet minimum space standards.

10.3

The proposed design updates are considered to maintain the design intent as the previously approved
development and deliver high quality design. The proposal continues to preserve the character and
appearance of the adjacent Highbury New Park Conservation Area.

Page 67

10.4

The applicant proposes a number of amendments to the landscaping strategy. Changes to the
approach taken to replace the roads and kerbs on the estate would not change their general
appearance or usability. It is proposed to remove the mulberry tree at the north of the site, which had
was previously detailed to be retained. The tree proposals are required to deliver the proposed scheme
and proposed mitigation includes the replacement of the mulberry tree with an early mature mulberry
tree and the planting of another 12 trees, resulting in an uplift in tree canopy cover from the approved
development. The proposals are thus considered to be in accordance with the Core Strategy Policy
CS15 and Development Management Policy DM6.5. In addition to this an attempt to relocate the
existing mulberry tree on the estate is now proposed which would add to the mitigation planting.

10.5

The application seeks to swap a 2-bedroom wheelchair accessible (M4(3)) home in Block B with a 3bedroom home (non-wheelchair accessible, M4(2)) from Block G. The proposed amendment does not
result in any change to the quantum of units proposed, the quality of the provision or the number of
wheelchair accessible dwellings provided. In order to facilitate this relocation, the applicant also seeks
to relocate 6 cycle parking space from Block G to Block D. Blocks D and G would continue to have
access to cycle parking spaces in line with Development Management Policy DM8.4 and the
development would still provide cycle parking spaces in excess of the policy requirement.

10.6

The application proposes to increase the provision of affordable housing within the development to
100%. This represents an increase of 18 social rented units and achieves the aspiration of 100%
affordable housing for council own development detailed in policy CS12. This represents a significant
planning benefit of the proposal.

10.7

The application also includes further amendments to photovoltaic panels, sustainable drainage, the
Energy Strategy and landscaping. The details submitted are considered to be acceptable.

10.8

The planning application is considered acceptable and in accordance with adopted planning policy,
subject to the recommended planning conditions and deed of variation to the extant Directors’
Agreement detailed in Appendix 1.
Conclusion

10.9

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions as set out in Appendix 1
– RECOMMENDATION.

Page 68

APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS
RECOMMENDATION A
That planning permission be granted subject to a Directors’ Agreement between Housing and Adult
Social Services and Environment and Regeneration or Planning and Development in order to secure the
following planning obligations to the satisfaction of the Head of Law and Public Services and the Service
Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management:


On-site provision of affordable housing in line with submission documents including a provision
of 100% affordable housing. All measured by habitable rooms.



The repair and re-instatement of the footways and highways adjoining the development. The cost
is to be confirmed by LBI Highways, paid for by the applicant and the work carried out by LBI
Highways. Conditions surveys may be required.



Compliance with the Code of Employment and Training.



Facilitation, during the construction phase of the development, of 2 work placements with each
placement lasting a minimum of 13 weeks. London Borough of Islington Construction Works
Team to recruit for and monitor placements. Developer/ contractor to pay wages (must meet
London Living Wage).



Compliance with the Code of Construction Practice, including a monitoring fee (£4,050) and
submission of site-specific response document to the Code of Construction Practice for approval
of LBI Public Protection, which shall be submitted prior to any works commencing on site.



A contribution towards offsetting any projected residual CO2 emissions of the development, to be
charged at the established price per tonne of CO2 for Islington (currently £920). The figure is
£78,469. A feasibility assessment will be secured demonstrating how the applicant has exhausted
all options to bring the total CO2 emissions reductions to 27% compared with the most recent
building regulations.



Connection to a local energy network, if technically and economically viable (burden of proof will
be with the developer to show inability to connect).



Submission of a Green Performance Plan.



The provision of 4 accessible parking bays;



Removal of eligibility for residents’ on-street parking permits for future residents.



Submission of a draft framework Travel Plan with the planning application, of a draft Travel Plan
for Council approval prior to occupation, and of a Travel Plan for Council approval 6 months from
first occupation of the development or phase (provision of travel plan required subject to
thresholds shown in Table 7.1 of the Planning Obligations SPD).



Council’s legal fees in preparing the Directors Agreement and officer’s fees for the preparation,
monitoring and implementation of the Directors Agreement.

That, should the Director Level Agreement not be completed prior to the expiry of the planning performance
agreement the Service Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development
Management may refuse the application on the grounds that the proposed development, in the absence
of a Directors’ Level Agreement is not acceptable in planning terms.

Page 69

RECOMMENDATION B
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following:
List of Conditions:
1

Commencement (compliance)
CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than
28/11/2020, the expiration of three years from the date of the original permission,
ref: P2017/2444/FUL.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 (Chapter 5).

2

Approved plans list (compliance)
DRAWINGS: The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans and documents: Drawing Numbers: Existing
Plans BFF/1306 AL(0)100; AL(0)101.P1; AL(0)110; AL(0)111; AL(0)112; AL(0)113.
PARK_MCL_BA_ / 00_DR_A_3100 PL2; 01_DR_A_3101 PL3; 02_DR_A_3102
PL3; 03_DR_A_3103 PL3; 04_DR_A_3104 PL3; 05_DR_A_3105 PL3;
06_DR_A_3106 PL3; ZZ_DR_A_3200 PL4; ZZ_DR_A_3201 PL1;
ZZ_DR_A_3202 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3203 PL3; ZZ_DR_A_3204 PL3;
ZZ_DR_A_3300 PL2; ZZ_DR_A_3301 PL1
PARK_MCL_BB_ / 00_DR_A_3110 PL3; 01_DR_A_3111 PL2; 02_DR_A_3112
PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3210 PL2; ZZ_DR_A_3211 PL3; ZZ_DR_A_3310 PL1;
ZZ_DR_A_3311 PL1
PARK_MCL_BC_ / 00_DR_A_3120 PL1; 01_DR_A_3121 PL1; 02_DR_A_/3122
PL1; 03_DR_A_/3123 PL1; 04_DR_A_ /3124 PL1; 05_DR_A_3125 PL2;
ZZ_DR_A_3220 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3221 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3320 PL1;
ZZ_DR_A_3321 PL1
PARK_MCL_BD / 00_DR_A_3130 PL3; 01_DR_A_3131 PL4; 02_DR_A_3132
PL3; 03_DR_A_3133 PL1; 04_DR_A_3134 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3230 PL3;
ZZ_DR_A_3231 PL2; ZZ_DR_A_3232 PL4; ZZ_DR_A_3330 PL1;
ZZ_DR_A_3331 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3332 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3333 PL1;
ZZ_DR_A_3334 PL1.
PARK_MCL_BE / 00_DR_A_3140 PL2; 01_DR_A_3141 PL2; 02_DR_A_3142
PL2; 03_DR_A_3143 PL2; 04_DR_A_3144 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3240 PL2;
ZZ_DR_A_3241 PL3; ZZ_DR_A_3242 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3243 PL1;
ZZ_DR_A_3340 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3341 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3342 PL1.
PARK_MCL_BG / 00_DR_A_3150 PL6; 01_DR_A_3151 PL2; 02_DR_A_3152
PL2; 03_DR_A_3153 PL2; 04_DR_A_3154 PL2; 05_DR_A_3155 PL2;
ZZ_DR_A_3250 PL3; ZZ_DR_A_3251 PL2; ZZ_DR_A_3252 PL3;
ZZ_DR_A_3253 PL3; ZZ_DR_A_3254 PL4; ZZ_DR_A_3350 PL1;
ZZ_DR_A_3351 PL1; ZZ_DR_A_3352 PL1.
Survey Plans 915538 S1 Rev A; 915538 S2 Rev A; 915538US1; 915538US2;
Drainage Statement Revision 2 by MLM dated May 2017;
Flood Risk Assessment by MLM dated May 2017;
Planning Statement by HTA dated June 2017;
Design & Access Statement by Burrell Foley Fischer dated June 2017;

Page 70

Landscape Plan by Coe Design dated May 2017;
Arboricultural Impact Assessment by Sharon Hosegood Associates dated May
2021;
Transport Statement by Lime Transport dated June 2017;
Travel Plan by Lime Transport dated June 2017;
Sustainable Design & Construction Statement dated February 2017;
Energy Statement by Mulalley, dated 08.07.21, Revision 2
Overheating Assessment by Calford Seaden dated September 2017 Revision 1;
Green Performance Plan by Calford Seaden dated February 2017;
170222-ED-02a Ecological Report by Tim Moya Associates dated August 2018;
BREEAM-UK Pre-Assessment dated April 2017;
Internal Daylight and Sunlight Report by Waterslade dated August 2020;
Internal Daylight and Sunlight Report by Waterslade dated 7th July 2021;
Statement of Community Involvement dated June 2017;

3

REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 as
amended and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the
interest of proper planning.
Materials and Samples (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: Details and samples of all facing materials shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any
superstructure work of the relevant phase commencing on site. The details and
samples shall include:
a) Facing Brickwork(s); Sample panels of proposed brickwork to be used
showing the colour, texture, pointing and perforated brickwork and
boundary walls shall be provided;
b) Window details and balconies / balustrades;
c) Roof materials;
d) Zinc/Bronze cladding;
e) Perforated metal
f) Balcony detail;
g) Doors and access points;
h) Pre-patinated copper;
i) Canopies;
j) Green procurement plan; and
k) Any other materials to be used.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure
that the resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high
standard.

4

CEMP (Details)
CONDITION: A Construction Environmental Management Plan assessing the
environmental impacts (including (but not limited to) highways impacts, noise,
air quality including dust, smoke and odour, vibration and TV reception) of the
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to any works commencing on site. The report shall
assess impacts during the construction phase of the development on nearby
residents and other occupiers together with means of mitigating any identified
impacts. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
details so approved and no change therefrom shall take place without the prior
written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Page 71

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety and the free
flow of traffic on streets, and to mitigate the impacts of the development.
5

Obscured Glazing (Details)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, further details of
obscured glazing and privacy screens to prevent overlooking from Building D
and G to neighbouring properties on Highbury New Park and Green Lanes and
to other buildings within the estate shall be submitted and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing
on site.
The obscure glazing and privacy screens shall be installed prior to the
occupation of the relevant units and retained as such permanently thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of preventing undue overlooking between habitable
rooms within the development itself, to protect the future amenity and privacy
of residents.

6

Accessible Housing – Major Schemes (Details)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the Design and Access Statement and plans
hereby approved, 36 of the new residential units shall be constructed to meet
the requirements of Category 2 of the National Standard for Housing Design
as set out in the Approved Document M 2015 'Accessible and adaptable
dwellings' M4 (2) and 4 units shall be constructed to meet the requirements of
Category 3 of the National Standard for Housing Design as set out in the
Approved Document M 2015 'Wheelchair user dwellings' M4 (3).
A total of 2 x 2B3P, 2 x 2B4P units shall be provided to Category 3 standards.
The development shall be constructed strictly in accordance with the details so
approved.
REASON - To secure the provision of visitable and adaptable homes
appropriate to meet diverse and changing needs.

7

Solar Panels (Compliance)
CONDITION: Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved,
details of the proposed Solar Photovoltaic Panels shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall
demonstrate how Solar PVs have been maximised on site, and details shall
include but not be limited to:
 Location;
 Output of panels
 Area of panels;
 Design (including elevation plans)
REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and to secure sustainable
development.

8

Water Use (Compliance)
CONDITION: The development shall be designed to achieve a water use
target of no more than 95 litres per person per day, including by incorporating
water efficient fixtures and fittings.
REASON: To ensure the sustainable use of wate

Page 72

9

Green Roof (Details)
CONDITION: Prior to any superstructure work commencing on the development
details of the biodiversity (green/brown) roofs shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The green/brown roof shall:
a) Be biodiversity based with extensive substrate base (depth 80 -150mm);
b) Contribute towards a 50% reduction in surface water run-off; and
c) Be planted/seeded with a mix of species within the first planting season
following the practical completion of the building works (the seed mix shall be
focused on wildflower planting, and shall contain no more than a maximum of
25% sedum).
The biodiversity (green/brown) roofs should be maximised across the site and
shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of any kind whatsoever and
shall only be used in the case of essential maintenance or repair, or escape in
case of emergency.
The biodiversity roof(s) shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details
as approved, shall be laid out within 3 months of next available appropriate
planting season after the construction of the building it is located on and shall be
maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision
towards creation of habitats, valuable areas for biodiversity and minimise run-off.

10

SuDS (Compliance)
CONDITION: The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
hereby approved Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SuDS) and Drainage
Statement ref. 581319-MLM-ZZ-XX-RP-C-0001 Rev. 06 dated August 2020.
No building(s) hereby approved shall be occupied unless and until the approved
sustainable drainage scheme for the site has been installed/completed strictly in
accordance with the approved details.
The scheme shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance with the
approved details.
REASON: To ensure that sustainable management of water and minimise the
potential for surface level flooding.

11

Energy Strategy (Compliance)
CONDITION: Prior to the first occupation of the relevant phase of development,
energy efficiency measures as outlined within the hereby approved Energy
Strategy (by Calford Seaden dated July 2021) which shall provide for no less than
a 25.81% on-site total CO2 reduction in comparison with total emissions from a
building which complies with Building Regulations 2013 shall be installed and
operational.
Should there be any change to the energy efficiency measures within the approved
Energy Strategy, the following should be submitted and approved.
A revised Energy Strategy, which shall provide for no less than a 25.81% onsite
total CO2 reduction in comparison with total emissions from a building which
complies with Building Regulations 2013.

Page 73

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and to secure sustainable
development.
12

Landscaping (Details)
CONDITION: The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
hereby approved:










Report on Site Investigation (Ground Engineering Ltd, June 2018);
Factual Report on Additional Ground Investigation (Ground Engineering
Ltd, December 2018);
Report on Further Ground Investigation Work (Ground Engineering Ltd,
March 2019);
Factual Report on Static Cone Penetration Testing (Ground Engineering
Ltd, March 2019);
CCTV Inspection Review and Recommendations (MLM, 17/10/2019);
Dwgs. L8658-1, L8658-2, L8658-3, L8658-ES - Topographical drawings
(Laser Surveys, June 2021)
Ecological Report (Tim Moya Associates 08/03/2021);
Landscape Report Rev1 (Coe Design, August 2020);
Planting Schedule (Coe Design, August 2020)

Notwithstanding the submitted detail and the development hereby approved the
following further landscaping details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority in full:
a) existing and proposed underground services and their relationship to both hard
and soft landscaping;
Notwithstanding the submitted detail and the development hereby approved the
following further landscaping details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority for Phase 2 only:
b) proposed trees: their location, species, size and section showing rooting area;
c) soft plantings: including grass and turf areas, shrub and herbaceous areas;
d) enclosures and boundary treatment: including types, dimensions and
treatments of walls, fences, screen walls, barriers, rails, retaining walls and
hedges;
e) hard landscaping: including ground surfaces, kerbs, edges, ridge and flexible
pavings, unit paving, furniture, steps and if applicable synthetic surfaces;
f) inclusive design principles adopted in the landscaped features;
g) all playspace equipment and structures
All landscaping in accordance with the approved scheme shall be completed /
planted during the first planting season following practical completion of the
relevant phase of the development hereby approved in accordance with the
approved planting phase. The landscaping and tree planting shall have a two year
maintenance / watering provision following planting and any existing tree shown to
be retained or trees or shrubs to be planted as part of the approved landscaping
scheme which are removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five
years of completion of the development shall be replaced with the same species
or an approved alternative to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within
the next planting season. The development shall be carried out strictly in

Page 74

accordance with the details so approved and shall be maintained as such
thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, sustainability, playspace and to ensure
that a satisfactory standard of visual amenity is provided and maintained.
13

Trees (Compliance)
CONDITION: Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
the development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the scheme for the
protection of the retained trees, Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method
Statement detailed in the hereby approved Arboricultural Method Statement Report
and Site Supervision Schedule (ref: SHA 009 AMS Rev D, dated May 2021).
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, air quality, addressing climate change
and visual amenity.

14

Site Supervision (Compliance)
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the
development shall be strictly undertaken in accordance with the tree protection
monitoring and site supervision method detailed in the hereby approved
Arboricultural Method Statement Report and Site Supervision Schedule (ref: SHA
009 AMS Rev D, dated May 2021).
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, air quality, addressing climate change
and visual amenity.

15

Noise of Fixed Plant (Compliance)
CONDITION: The design and installation of new items of fixed plant shall be such
that when operating the cumulative noise level LAeq Tr arising from the proposed
plant, measured or predicted at 1m from the façade of the nearest noise sensitive
premises, shall be a rating level of at least 5dB(A) below the background noise level
LAF90 Tbg. The measurement and/or prediction of the noise should be carried out
in accordance with the methodology contained within BS 4142: 2014
REASON: To ensure that an appropriate standard of residential accommodation is
provided.

16

Community Rooms (Compliance)
CONDITION: Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
the development shall be carried out in accordance with the inclusive design, sound
insulation and noise control measures previously approved by the Local Planning
Authority by decision dated 25/10/2019 (application reference P2019/1416/AOD).
The inclusive design, sound insulation and noise control measures shall be
carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved, shall be
implemented prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved,
shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that an appropriate standard of residential accommodation
is provided.

17

Lighting Plan (Compliance)
CONDITION: The development hereby approved shall achieve a BREEAM ‘New
Construction’ (2018) rating of no less than ‘Excellent’.

Page 75

REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and to secure sustainable
development.
18

Nesting Boxes (Compliance)
CONDITION: The bird and bat boxes shown in the approved Landscape Report
shall be installed prior to the first occupation of the building to which they form
part, or the first use of the space in which they are contained, and shall be
maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible
provision towards creation of habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity.

19

No Plumbing (Compliance)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, no plumbing, down
pipes, rainwater pipes or foul pipes other than those shown on the approved
plans shall be located to the external elevations of buildings hereby approved
without obtaining express planning consent unless submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority as part of discharging this condition.
REASON: The Local Planning Authority considers that such plumbing and
pipes would potentially detract from the appearance of the building and
undermine the current assessment of the application.

20

Refuse and Recycling (Compliance)
CONDITION: The dedicated refuse / recycling enclosure(s) shown on the
approved plans shall be provided prior to the first occupation of the
development hereby approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
The refuse and recycling enclosures and waste shall be managed and carried
out at all times in accordance with the details of the approved 'servicing and
waste management plan'.
REASON: To secure the necessary physical waste enclosures to support the
development and to ensure that responsible waste management practices are
adhered to.

21

Cycle Parking (Compliance)
CONDITION: The dedicated bicycle storage areas shown on the approved
plans shall be provided prior to the first occupation of the building to which they
relate and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available and easily accessible
on site, to promote sustainable modes of transport and to secure the high
quality design of the structures proposed

22

Lifts (Compliance)
CONDITION: All lifts hereby approved shall be installed and operational prior to
the first occupation of the floorspace hereby approved.
REASON: To ensure that inclusive and accessible routes are provided throughout
the floorspace at all floors and also accessible routes through the site are
provided to ensure no one is excluded from full use and enjoyment of the site.

23

Roof Level Structures (Details)
CONDITION: Details of any roof-level structures (including lift over-runs,
flues/extracts and plant room) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by

Page 76

the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work commencing on site.
The details shall include a justification for the height and size of the roof-level
structures, their location, height above roof level, specifications and cladding.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so
approved and no change therefrom shall take place without the prior written
consent of the Local Planning Authority. No roof-level structures shall be installed
other than those approved.
REASON: In the interests of good design and also to ensure that the Local
Planning Authority may be satisfied that roof-level structures do not have a
harmful impact on the surrounding streetscene or the character & appearance of
the area in accordance with policies 3.5, 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan 2016,
policies CS8 & CS9 of Islington's Core Strategy 2011, and DM2.1 and DM2.3 of
Islington's DM Policies 2013.
24

Tree Translocation (Details)
CONDITION: Prior to the translocation of tree T2 identified on plan ref. SHA 009
TPP 1 B within the hereby approved Arboricultural Method Statement Ref: ref:
SHA 009 AMS Rev D, dated May 2021, full details of the translocation method
and siting of the relocated tree shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Details of consultation with residents of the estate
regarding the new location of the tree shall be required to be submitted. The
translocation method and location of tree T2 shall be in strict accordance with the
details so approved.
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, air quality, addressing climate change
and visual amenity.

25

Tree Translocation Aftercare (Details)
CONDITION: Prior to the translocation of tree T2 identified on plan ref. SHA 009
TPP 1 B within the hereby approved Arboricultural Method Statement Ref: ref:
SHA 009 AMS Rev D, dated May 2021, full details of the arboricultural aftercare
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure the chance of tree T2 establishing itself and thriving in its
new location are maximised. In the interest of biodiversity, air quality, addressing
climate change and visual amenity.

List of Informatives:
1

Planning Obligations

INFORMATIVE: You are advised that this permission has been granted
subject to the completion of a director level agreement to secure agreed
planning obligations.
2

Definition of ‘Superstructure and ‘Practical Completion’

INFORMATIVE: A number of conditions attached to this permission have the
time restrictions 'prior to superstructure works commencing on site' and/or
'following practical completion'. The council considers the definition of
'superstructure' as having its normal or dictionary meaning, which is: the part
of a building above its foundations. The council considers the definition of
'practical completion' to be: when the work reaches a state of readiness for use

Page 77

or occupation even though there may be outstanding works/matters to be
carried out.P-DEC-AP1
3

Community Infrastructure Levy

INFORMATIVE: Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), this
development is liable to pay the Mayor of London's Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL). This will be calculated in accordance with the Mayor of London's
CIL Charging Schedule 2012. One of the development parties must now
assume liability to pay CIL by submitting an Assumption of Liability Notice to
the Council at cil@islington.gov.uk. The Council will then issue a Liability
Notice setting out the amount of CIL that is payable.
Failure to submit a valid Assumption of Liability Notice and Commencement
Notice prior to commencement of the development may result in surcharges
being imposed. The above forms can be found on the planning portal at:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil
4

Car-Free Development

INFORMATIVE: All new developments are car free in accordance with Policy
CS10 of the Islington Core Strategy 2011. This means that no parking provision
will be allowed on site and occupiers will have no ability to obtain car parking
permits, except for parking needed to meet the needs of disabled people, or
other exemption under the Council Parking Policy Statement.
5

Groundwater
INFORMATIVE: A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water
will be required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge
made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under
the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We would expect the developer
to demonstrate what measures he will undertake to minimise groundwater
discharges into the public sewer.
Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water's Risk Management
Team
by
telephoning
02035779483
or
by
emailing
wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should be
completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality.

6

Water Pressure
INFORMATIVE: Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum
pressure of 10m head (approximately 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute
at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take
account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.

7

Surface Water Drainage
INFORMATIVE: In respect of surface water it is recommended that the
applicant should ensure that storm flows are attenuated or regulated into the
receiving public through on or off site storage. When it is proposed to connect
to a combined public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and
combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not
permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where the developer proposes to

Page 78

discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer
Services will be required. The contact number is 0800 009 3921.
8.

Working in a Positive Manner
INFORMATIVE: To assist applicants in a positive manner, the Local Planning
Authority has produced policies and written guidance, all of which are available
on the Council's website.
A pre-application advice service is also offered and encouraged.
The LPA and the applicant have worked positively and proactively in a
collaborative manner through both the pre-application and the application
stages to deliver an acceptable development in accordance with the
requirements of the NPPF.

9.

The LPA delivered the decision in a timely manner in accordance with the
requirements of the NPPF.
Materials
INFORMATIVE: In addition to compliance with condition 3 materials procured
for the development should be selected to be sustainably sourced and
otherwise minimise their environmental impact, including through
maximisation of recycled content, use of local suppliers and by reference to
the BRE's Green Guide Specification.

10.

Construction Management
INFORMATIVE: You are advised that condition 4 covers transport and
environmental health issues and should include the following information:
a. identification of construction vehicle routes;
b. how construction related traffic would turn into and exit the site;
c. details of banksmen to be used during construction works;
d. the method of demolition and removal of material from the site;
e. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
f. loading and unloading of plant and materials;
g. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;
h. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where
appropriate;
i. wheel washing facilities;
j. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during
construction;
k. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from
demolition and construction works;
l. noise;
m. air quality including dust, smoke and odour;
n. vibration; and
o. TV reception.

11

Sprinkler System
INFORMATIVE: While fire safety and floor layout will be further considered
though the building control process, you are strongly advised by the London

Page 79

Fire and Emergency Planning Authority to install sprinkler systems as these
significantly reduce the damage caused by fire and the consequential cost to
business and housing providers, and can reduce the risk to life.

APPENDIX 2: RELEVANT POLICIES
This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the determination
of this planning application.
National Guidance
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 is a material consideration which seeks to secure
positive growth in a way that effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and
future generations. Since March 2014 planning practice guidance for England has been published online.
Development Plan
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011 and
Development Management Policies 2013. The following policies of the Development Plan are considered
relevant to this application:
a) The London Plan (2021)
1 Planning London’s Future – Good
Growth
GG1 – Building strong and inclusive
communities
GG2 – Making the best use of land
GG3 – Creating a healthy city
GG4 – Delivering the homes Londoners
need
GG6 – Increasing efficiency and resilience

7 Heritage and Culture
HC1 – Heritage conservation and growth

3 Design
D3 – Optimising site capacity through the
design-led approach
D4 – Delivering good design
D5 – Inclusive design
D6 – Housing quality and standards
D7 – Accessible housing
D8 – Public realm
D11 – Safety, security and resilience to
emergency
D12 – Fire safety
D14 – Noise

8 Green Infrastructure and Natural
Environment
G1 – Green infrastructure
G4 – Open space
G5 – Urban greening
G6 – Biodiversity and access to nature
G7 – Trees and woodlands

4 Housing
H1 – Increasing housing supply
H4 – Delivering affordable housing
H5 – Threshold approach to applications
H6 – Affordable housing tenure

9 Sustainable Infrastructure
SI1 – Improving air quality
SI2 – Minimising greenhouse gas
emissions
SI3 – Energy infrastructure

Page 80

H7 – Monitoring of affordable housing

SI4 – Managing heat risk
SI13 – Sustainable drainage

5 Social Infrastructure
S4 – Play and informal recreation

10 Transport
T4 – Assessing and mitigating transport
impacts
T7 – Deliveries, servicing and construction

b) Islington Core Strategy 2011
Spatial Strategy
Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s
Character)

Infrastructure and Implementation
Policy CS18 (Delivery and Infrastructure)
Policy CS19 (Health Impact Assessments)

Strategic Policies
Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing
Islington’s Built and Historic Environment)
Policy CS10 (Sustainable Design)
Policy CS12 (Meeting the Housing
Challenge)
Policy CS15 (Open Space and Green
Infrastructure)
Policy CS16 (Play Space)
c) Development Management Strategies 2013
Design and Heritage
DM2.1 Design
DM2.2 Inclusive Design
DM2.3 Heritage
Housing
DM3.2 Existing housing
DM3.4 Housing standards
DM3.5 Private outdoor space
DM3.6 Play space
Health and Open Space
DM6.1 Healthy development
DM6.2 – New and improved public open
spaces
DM6.3 – Protecting open space
DM6.5 – Landscaping, trees and
biodiversity
DM6.6 – Flood prevention

Energy and Environmental Standards
DM7.1 – Sustainable design and
construction
DM7.2 – Energy efficiency and carbon
reduction in minor schemes
DM7.4 – Sustainable design standards
DM7.5 – Heating and cooling

Designations
The site has the following designations under the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011 and
Development Management Policies 2013:
-

Local Cycle Routes
Highbury New Park Conservation Area

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD)
The following SPGs and/or SPDs are relevant:

Page 81

Islington Local Plan
 Environmental Design
 Accessible Housing in Islington
 Inclusive Landscape Design
 Planning Obligations and S106
 Urban Design Guide 2017
 Conservation Area Design Guidelines

London Plan
 Affordable Housing & Viability
 Housing
 Play and Informal Recreation
 Planning for Equality and Diversity in
London
 Accessible London: Achieving an
Inclusive Environment
 The control of dust and emissions
during construction and demolition
 Character and Context

Page 82

Islington SE GIS Print Template
YQ

UA

DR

AN

T

LAN

UR

EEN

HB

GR

HIG

ES

29.4m
30.5m

Sports Court

El Sub Sta

FW

HIGHBURY

29.5m
SH
EL
FO
RD
PL

QU

AC

RA

HIGHBURY NEW PARK

E

AD

31.6m
NT

Statue

BP

36.7m

NT

CATHERAL

HIGHBURY QUADRA

L ROAD

38.0m

29.6m

34.5m
37.5m

33.3m

El
Sub Sta

X

X

S
W
ME
GO
IN

DI
d

s
den
nt Gar
tme
Allo

ace
n Terr
Ade

AD
A RO
BU

RM

29.6m

E RO

AD

TCB

SP

RIN

GD

AL

LB

27.7m

29.8m

LA
NE

26.8m

Und

GR
EE
N LA
NE

36.9m

CLISSOL

ER

X

St Augustine's Path
CP

26.2m

PP

31.5m

X

29.5m

CO

LB

AD

STRADBROKE ROAD

RO

X
X
X
X
X

T

BALFOUR ROAD

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X X

HIGHBURY NEW PARK

37.5m

X
X
X
X

32.2m

BALFOUR ROAD

X

26.8m

CR

ABERDEEN ROAD

HIGHBURY GRANGE

X

OR

38.8m

X

X
X
XX

X

a

SF

St

RY

ge

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

Def

b

CA

X

AD

33.1m

32.7m

NT

RO

Bdy

Su

CE

INS

Boro Const & LB

El

ES

LL

TCB

X
X
X
X

ARDILAUN ROAD

38.0m

LD

CO

34.5m

36.1m

SO

ssa

IS

Pa

Aden Terrace

ss

AM GROVE

lro

STATH

Ke

31.4m

GREEN LANES

X
X
X

CR

X

SOTHEBY ROAD

Posts

30.2m

X

X

NORTHOLME ROAD

X

CR

X

LB

CL

X

Un

WALK

KELROSS ROAD

29.3m

PETHERTON ROAD

ORE

LB

LB

30.6m

WALK

CHM

BIRCHMORE

BIR

BIRCHMORE WALK

BIRCHMORE WALK

31.9m

S

BP

CR

Ward Bdy

RO

KELVIN

29.3m

X

AD

CR

26.5m

BP

BALFOUR ROAD
LEC

ON

FIE

LD

RO

AD

29.8m
CW

26.5m

Bo
ro

LECONFIELD ROAD

FW

Co

30.9m

nst
& LB
Bd
y
De
f

35.6m

LB

KELVIN ROAD
BR

IDG

E GA

RD

EN

S

ABERDEEN PARK

LID

FI

EL

D

RO

AD

LB

10

Frogmore Industrial Estate

26

.2m

33.6m

ABER

DEEN

PARK
30.3m
29.8m

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.
P2020/3313/S73

Page 83

TCB

D CRESCEN

T

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B3
Development Management Service
Planning and Development Division
Environment and Regeneration
Department
Town Hall
LONDON N1 2DU

COMMITTEE REPORT

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Date:
27th July 2021

AGENDA ITEM NO:

Application number

P2021/0969/FUL

Application type

Full Planning Application

Site Address

Land at York Way Estate
York Way
London N7

Proposal

Demolition of existing community centre building and MUGA
and the erection of four blocks of between four and seven
storeys (Buildings A, B & C - part six and part seven storeys and
Building D - four storeys) to provide a total of 91 x Class C3 units
(17 x studios, 25 x 1-bed, 21 x 2-bed, 25 x 3-bed & 3 x 4-bed),
a community centre and estate office, estate-wide play space
and landscaping. Alterations to vehicular, service and
pedestrian access from North Road, York Way and Market
Road, pedestrian footpaths and ramps, car and cycle parking
and other associated works including landscaping; amenity
space; and refuse storage.

Ward
Listed building

Caledonian Ward
Adjacent to grade II listed ‘The Lion’ pub, 24 North Road
Adjacent to Caledonian Park’s grade II listed railing, gates and
walls
Within setting of grade II* listed ‘The Clocktower’ of Caledonian
Park.

Conservation area
Development Plan Context

Within setting of Camden Square Conservation Area
Local Cycle Route (Market Road)
King’s Cross and Pentonville Road Key Area
Listed Buildings (as above)

Licensing Implications

None

Case Officer
Applicant
Agent

Stefan Sanctuary
City of London Corporation
Stantec UK

Page 85

P-RPT-DEL-Main

1.

RECOMMENDATION
The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission:
1. Subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1; and
2. Conditional upon the prior completion of a Deed of Planning Obligation made under section 106
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 securing the heads of terms as set out in Appendix
1.

2.

SITE PLAN / PHOTOS OF SITE

Application Site
Application Site

Birdseye View 1 looking east

Page 86

Application Site

Birdseye View 2 looking north

Photo 1: View of Site looking north from York Road

Photo 2: Looking north-west from Market Road

Page 87

Photo 3: View of Site from York Way looking south

Photo 4: View of Site from North Road looking south-west

Photo 5: Looking south down York Way

Photo 6: Looking south-east across the Site

Page 88

Photo 7: Looking north across the podium

Photo 8: looking north-west towards existing community centre

Photo 9: looking west from Caledonian Park

Page 89

3.0

SUMMARY

3.1

The application is for full planning permission for the redevelopment of the site involving the demolition
of existing community centre building and MUGA, and the erection of four blocks of between four and
seven storeys (Buildings A, B & C - part six and part seven storeys and Building D - four storeys) to
provide a total of 91 x Class C3 residential units (17 x studios, 25 x 1-bed, 21 x 2-bed, 25 x 3-bed and
3 x 4-bed), a community centre and estate office, and estate wide play space and landscaping.
Alterations are proposed to vehicular, service and pedestrian access from North Road, York Way and
Market Road, pedestrian footpaths and ramps, car and cycle parking and other associated works
including landscaping; amenity space; and refuse storage.

3.2

The principle of the proposal, in delivering new residential accommodation for social rent, is
considered acceptable. The reprovision of social infrastructure in the form of the the new community
centre is also supported. The development involves building on existing green space, whilst also
reproviding open space of an improved quality and biodiversity. As such, in land use terms, the
proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and is consistent with the aims and
objectives of the NPPF as well as London Plan Policies GG2, GG4, S1 and H1, Islington Core Strategy
Policy CS12 and emerging Local Plan Policies H1, G2 and SC1.

3.3

The proposal is considered to introduce well-designed and contextual buildings that would enhance
the surrounding townscape. The development has been sensitively designed to conserve the setting
of neighbouring heritage assets. Moreover, the proposal includes a well-considered landscape
strategy that would increase the site’s Urban Greening Factor. The application is considered to be
acceptable in terms of design, appearance and heritage in accordance with Development
Management Policies DM2.1, DM2.3, DM2.4 and DM2.5, Islington Core Strategy CS8 and CS9,
London Plan Policies D1, D3, D4 and G5 as well as emerging Local Plan Policies G2, DH1, DH2 and
DH3.

3.4

The proposed development is considered to have been designed to minimise impacts on residential
amenity but would nonetheless result in some adverse impacts in terms of loss of daylight and sunlight
on neighbouring residential properties. However, the adverse impacts are considered to be
outweighed by the overall benefits of the proposal. Other impacts on neighbouring amenity such as
overlooking, outlook, sense of enclosure, noise / disturbance and transport impacts are considered to
have been successfully mitigated and minimised, subject to appropriate conditions as detailed in
Appendix 1. As such, the application is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with London
Plan 2021 policies and Islington Development Management Policies DM2.1.

3.5

The proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development on brownfield land in a sustainable
location. The application proposes a number of energy efficiency measures, a reduction in carbon
emissions and on-site renewable energy in accordance with adopted policy. Moreover, inclusive
design measures have been incorporated into the scheme as well as landscape features and
biodiversity measures, in accordance with planning policy.

3.6

Finally, the application includes a section 106 agreement with suitable planning obligations and
financial contributions in order to mitigate the impacts of the development; thus, the planning
application is considered acceptable and in accordance with adopted planning policy, subject to the
planning conditions and planning obligations listed in Appendix 1.

4.0

SITE & SURROUNDINGS

4.1

The application site is an existing housing estate, known as the York Way Estate, which is owned and
managed by City of London. The site is roughly triangular in shape and some 2 hectares in size. The
estate has three main street frontages, Market Road to the south, York Way to the west and North
Road to the north. The estate’s eastern boundary is formed by Caledonian Park and Drovers Way,
which forms the western boundary of the neighbouring Market Road Estate.

4.2

The estate itself consists of four residential blocks separated by relatively large areas of open
grassland and hardstanding. Three of the existing buildings (Penfield, Lambfold and Kinefold House)
are 9-storey slab blocks, which run parallel to, but are set back from, York Way. The fourth building is
Shepherd House, which is 4-storeys in height and runs perpendicular to York Way. The estate
currently includes 275 dwellings with a range of unit sizes and tenures.

4.3

There is a large area of hardstanding in the centre of the estate under which is an extensive area of
car parking with space for up to 205 cars. Areas of hardstanding also characterise the three vehicular
entrances from the south, west and north. Pedestrian and cycle access to the site is from York Way,
North Road and Market Road with ramped footpaths provided across the estate due to site level
differences from north to south.

Page 90

4.4

While the estate is characterised by large areas of openness, much of the existing landscaping
consists of grassed areas with limited amenity or biodiversity value. There are large grassed areas of
open space to the north and south of Kinefold House, to the south of Shepherds House and to the rear
of Lambfold House and Penfields House, with large areas of hardstanding on the eastern and western
podiums either side of Kinefold House. The western podium also provides a play area and MUGA,
which are securely fenced off, and is accessible to residents only. There are trees of more significant
value within the estate as well as around the estate’s perimeter.

4.5

The site is not within a conservation area and does not contain any designated heritage assets. There
is however a grade II listed building (the old ‘The Lion’ pub) adjacent to the site at its north-eastern
corner and some of the features of the adjacent Caledonian Park, including railings, walls and brick
piers are also grade II listed, while the historic clocktower is grade II* listed. The Kings Cross &
Pentonville Road Key Area and the Vale Royal / Brewery Road Locally Significant Industrial Site (LSIS)
lie to the immediate south of the estate. There are no other site-specific policy designations related to
the site.

4.6

The site’s public transport accessibility level (PTAL) is 4, meaning that the estate has relatively good
public transport connections. There are several bus routes, which run along York Way in front of the
site, and Caledonian road tube station is within walking distance to the site.

5.0

PROPOSAL (IN DETAIL)

5.1

The development proposal involves the demolition of the existing community centre building and
MUGA and the erection of four blocks of between four and seven storeys (pentagon-shaped buildings
A, B & C - part six and part seven storeys and building D - four storeys) to provide a total of 91 x Class
C3 residential units (17 x studios, 25 x 1-bed, 21 x 2-bed, 25 x 3-bed & 3 x 4-bed), a community centre
and estate office, estate wide play space and landscaping. Alterations to vehicular, service and
pedestrian access from North Road, York Way and Market Road, pedestrian footpaths and ramps, car
and cycle parking and other associated works including landscaping, amenity space and refuse
storage are also proposed.

Proposed Site Plan
5.2

Block A is proposed in the north-western edge of the site on the corner of York Way and North Road
and is part 6-, part 7-storeys in height. The ground floor level includes an entrance lobby, a lift/stair
core, refuse and bike storage, plant room as well as a 1-bed dwelling. The upper floors each contain
4 dwellings (1x studio unit, 2x 1-bed and 1x 2-bed) and the uppermost floor with a set-back contains
a larger 3-bed dwelling. All units would have access to private amenity space in the form of inset
balconies or terraces.

Page 91

5.3

Block B is proposed along the site’s western boundary with a frontage onto York Way and would be
part 6-, part 7-storeys in height. The ground floor includes an entrance lobby, a lift/stair core, refuse
and bike storage, a substation, plant room and a studio apartment. The upper floors each contain 4
dwellings (2x studios and 2x 2-bed) and the set-back uppermost storey contains two further units (a
studio and a 1-bed). All residential accommodation would have access to private amenity space in the
form of inset balconies or private roof terraces in the case of the top floor apartments.

View of Proposed Blocks A-C along York Way
5.4

Block C is located adjacent to Kinefold House fronting York Way on the site of the existing community
centre. The proposed 6/7-storey building is the southern-most of the three pentagon-shaped villa style
buildings along York Way. The ground floor has a larger footprint than the upper floor as it includes
the reprovided community centre (306sqm) alongside the estates office, the entrance lobby, lift / stair
core as well as 1x 2-bed and 1x 4-bed dwelling. Lift and stair access is provided to a lower ground
floor area, which has bicycle and mobility scooter storage as well as refuse storage and direct access
to underground car parking. The upper floors of this building each contain 5 dwellings (2x 1-bed, 1x 2bed and 2x 3-bed) all with access to private amenity space in the form of inset balconies. The
uppermost storey includes 2x 4-bed dwellings with access to private roof terraces. The 10 wheelchair
accessible dwellings proposed would all be provided in this building.

5.5

The final proposed building is Block D, which is proposed at four storeys in height on the eastern
boundary of the estate between Lambfold and Penfield House on the site of the existing MUGA. The
building is entered from the north-west corner, sheltered by an inset corner balcony. The entrance
terminates the east-west pedestrian route from York Way and is paired with the southern entrance of
Lambfold House. The proposed building is a terrace block and provides a total of 17No dwellings
consisting mainly of family-sized maisonettes with three smaller flats. The ground floor maisonettes all
have their own individual access off the eastern podium. A third floor external gallery provides deck
access to the upper floor maisonettes. The proposed ground floor maisonettes would have access to
a rear garden and the upper floor maisonettes would have access to roof terraces.

Page 92

View of Proposed Eastern Podium and Block D
5.6

An extensive landscape strategy is proposed as part of the application involving an improved
pedestrian experience throughout the estate, increasing urban greening, biodiversity and horticultural
interest as well as enhanced amenity, recreation and playspace. The character of much of the existing
open lawns would be maintained, with the application proposing to supplement existing areas with
additional trees and plants to mediate the threshold with the new buildings.

5.7

A new space is proposed on the podiums at the centre of the estate, defined by play and fitness
opportunities, meeting and social spaces and new planting and trees. The existing MUGA and play
area would be replaced by two play areas on the eastern and western podium. On the eastern podium,
the proposals create a formal play space for younger children (up to 5 years) with seating and
socialising opportunities for adults. The western podium is focused on play equipment for older children
as well as outdoor gym equipment. A new play street from the northern entrance is also proposed.

Page 93

Landscape Plan
5.8

Pedestrian paths lead around all four sides of the central play space and vehicular access (refuse
collection only) occurs along the northern edge of the podium. Raised planters with seating define
edges and add greening and biodiversity. Additional buffer planting is introduced along the private
patios of the ground floor of the existing and proposed flats around the play spaces on the podium.
Further soft landscaping interventions also provide structure to the open space, creating a buffer
between the activities of the play and fitness area and the residents of Kinefold House and Block C. A
further play area is proposed to the south of the community centre.

5.9

To the southeast, the current car park area would be converted to a green landscaped garden and as
an orchard for residents. Responding to challenging conditions along Market Road, hedges and a low
fence line are proposed to create a sense of privacy. To the south of Shepherd House, and to the east
of Lambfold and Penfield House, three additional areas are proposed for community gardening. All
street trees along York Way would be retained, while five trees within the site have been identified for
removal and 74 new trees are being introduced as part of the proposals.

6.0

RELEVANT HISTORY

6.1

The most relevant planning history related to the site is as follows:
960050: An application for the erection of two fences: one diamond mesh to east piazza boundary and
one low steel panel fence set to low existing wall, was approved on the 14th March 1996.

Page 94

971843: An application for the erection of a boundary fence to create a play space on the estate was
approved on the 1st December 1997.
P021429: An application for the erection of an enclosed, hard surface games court was approved on
the 17th October 2002.
P023063: An application for the erection of a single storey extension to existing nursery building was
approved on the 19th February 2003.
P050381: An application for proposed alterations to the estate office including the conversion of an
existing vacant garage into a new office and w.c. area was approved on the 13th May 2005.
Pre-Application
6.2

The applicant approached the Council at pre-application stage and had a series of formal meetings at
which the following points were raised and discussed:
- A successful proposal for development on the estate will need to be informed by a thorough analysis
of the site and its surroundings including an assessment of views into and from within the estate,
an understanding of pedestrian movements, the character and nature of existing green space and
an analysis of existing architecture on the estate and the its surroundings.
- Proposed buildings will need to preserve and enhance the setting or adjacent heritage assets,
including the listed Lion public house, Caledonian Park and the listed clocktower.
- The street trees along York Way should be retained and given sufficient space for canopy and root
growth.
- The loss of existing open space will only be permitted if it is replaced in quality and quantity and
there are overriding planning benefits that outweigh any losses, in accordance with relevant
policies.
- Successful proposals will need to increase the amenity, biodiversity and sustainability of the
landscaped areas.
- Proposals will need to minimise impacts on neighbouring amenity in terms of daylight, sunlight,
privacy and increased sense of enclosure.
- New residential accommodation will need to meet minimum standards including space standards,
access to daylight, private amenity space and floor-to-ceiling heights.
- Interventions on the existing blocks would help create a more integrated whole and a more
harmonious aesthetic.
- A good mix of affordable housing including family-sized dwellings is supported.
- The proposal will need to meet inclusive design standards and will need to be in line with Islington’s
Inclusive Design SPD.
- A planning application for development will need to be accompanied by energy and sustainability
measures which comply with adopted policy.
It is considered that the matters raised at the pre-application stage have either been adequately
addressed or are no longer considered to be material to the application.
Design Review Panel

6.3

The proposal was presented to the Design Review Panel three times during the pre-application
process before finally being presented at a DRP Chair’s Briefing on the 19th May 2021. The following
comments were made, with the full DRP response provided as Appendix 3:
-

-

Following submission of a full detailed planning application, the focus of the review was to address
the extent to which outstanding design concerns previously identified by the Panel had been
addressed. These include the detailed resolution of the architecture, energy strategy and
landscape design.
The panel remain of the view that, at seven storeys, block A at the north of the site is too high in
relation to the adjacent listed former Lion public house on North Road.
The Panel identified several areas of concern raised previously regarding landscape and external
works. These include neglecting to incorporate visual improvements to the utilitarian garage doors
and to the imposing security fences to the rear of Penfield and Lambfold.
The entrance and threshold space to homes on the ground floor of Block D should be designed to
better support those residents in making use of the space and taking responsibility for its upkeep.
Concerns also remain about the sense of safety and legibility of the pedestrian experience in a
key nodal point of the estate around the southern core and undercroft space of Kinefold, at the
intersection of ramps up to the podium from the south. This is identified as a critical area of the
estate that deserves careful thought and attention in the development of the hard landscape and
lighting proposals. Improvements to the communal entrances of the existing buildings in general
would also serve to improve legibility and would help to integrate the old with the new.

Page 95

-

-

-

The panel were satisfied by the further development of the detailed architectural design and
consider it to be generally well resolved and of high quality. In particular, it was felt that the design
of the community centre has developed well to address the concern that its expression was too
understated to fulfil its role as a welcoming focal point for the community.
The panel are disappointed to learn that units facing west onto York Way will require mechanical
cooling. Alternative means of avoiding overheating are encouraged such as allowing for external
blinds to be fixed to balconies for shading. The concern was also expressed that the fenestration
pattern neither reflects internal room function nor has the modulation of window size been
developed to support a passive cooling strategy. The elevation design of the block A south east
facing units were identified for review because they are not dual aspect and should be re-designed
to accommodate an additional window to optimise passive cross-ventilation.
The panel acknowledge that it is currently difficult to find alternatives to the use of concrete and
that seeking to minimise its carbon content is a suitable carbon reduction target. Each different
type of concrete could be separately targeted for carbon reduction. Consideration of embodied
energy should also inform the selection of bricks given their extensive use within the proposal.

6.4

The DRP comments are addressed in the ‘Design, Conservation and Heritage Considerations’ section
of this report.

7.0

CONSULTATION
Public Consultation

7.1

Letters were sent to occupants of 952 adjoining and nearby properties on York Way, North Road,
Market Road, Drovers Way, Clock View Crescent, Chris Pullen Way, City of London Point, Marquis
Road, Camden Park Road, St Augustine’s Road, Cliff Villas, Hungerford Road and Goodinge Road
and the properties within the estate in Kinefold, Lambfold, Shepherd and Penfields House on the 9th
April 2021. A site notice and press advert were displayed on the 15th April 2021. The public consultation
of the application expired on the 9th May 2021, though it is the Council’s practice to accept comments
and objections up until the day of Committee.

7.2

A total of 36 letters of objection were received from the public in response to consultation on this
planning application and 2 letters were received providing comment or support for the application. The
following points of objection were made [with the paragraphs in brackets indicating where in the report
the respective points have been addressed]:

















The proposal would result in loss of daylight and sunlight to surrounding residential occupiers
[paragraphs 9.109 – 9.123];
The development would result in unacceptable overlooking and a loss of privacy for existing
residents [9.128 – 9.133];
The development would result in a loss of open green space [9.8 – 9.12 & 9.88 – 9.100];
The construction impacts such as noise, dust and pollution will be considerable and would
affect the lives of residents as well as the local schools [9.138 – 9.139];
The proposal would result in the loss of a view to the clocktower, the park and the surrounding
townscape [9.52 – 9.59];
The incongruous design of the proposal will result in highlighting the dated design of the existing
blocks on the estate [9.46 – 9.49 & 9.62 – 9.65];
The increased housing density will result in increased noise, disturbance and anti-social
behaviour [9.134 – 9.142] ;
The height, scale and mass of the buildings is unacceptable [9.30 – 9.40];
Tall buildings are not the right design solution for the site and surroundings, resulting in a sense
of enclosure and overshadowing [9.124 – 9.127] ;
Most of the built form of the proposal is in the northern part of the estate which results in a poor
balance across the estate with the most significant impacts concentrated in one area [9.29 –
9.32];
The proposal will result in unacceptable impacts on the highway network and parking [9.147 –
9.160];
The increase in residents will result in increased noise and pollution [9.134 – 9.136 and 9.143
– 9.144];
The small community gardens proposed do not compensate for the loss or overshadowing of
grassland across the estate [9.98 – 9.100 and 9.27];
Investment should also go into the existing blocks to create a more harmonious overall design
and avoid ill-feeling [9.62 – 9.63 and conditions 34 and 35];
The proposed increase in homes and residents will increase social problems and crime and
reduce the quality of life of existing residents [9.140 – 9.142];
The proposals will result in making entrances and routes less visible, creating narrow walkways
and enclosed spaces, thereby removing passive surveillance [9.38 - 9.39 and 9.92 – 9.95] ;

Page 96














The existing buildings are in a state of disrepair and resources should be used to bring them
back up to a good standard rather than building new homes [9.63 – 9.64];
The proposal will result in the loss of mature trees [9.83 – 9.87];
There will be a negative impact on the health of residents as a result of the development
proposals [9.138 – 9.145];
The buildings proposed should be made out of sustainable and environmentally friendly
materials that are less disruptive to the surrounding area and the environment at large [9.62 –
9.64 and 9.177 – 9.178 and condition 3];
The proposal should include improvements to the entrances of the existing blocks in order to
integrate the ground floor more successfully with the new buildings [9.62 – 9.63 and conditions
34 and 35];
More residents on the estate will cause a strain on existing services in the area [9.185 – 9.186];
The proposal will be be imposing and would have an unacceptable impact on 135 York Way
which is a locally listed building [9.50 – 9.60];
The view of the grade II* listed clocktower from York Way will be partly lost [9.50 – 9.60];
The removal of the MUGA which is used by youths on the estate is unacceptable [9.88 – 9.100];
The size and number of buildings will have a detrimental impact on the character of the area
[9.35 – 9.60];
Some of the benches proposed on the landscaping proposals are too close to existing
residential windows [9.92 – 9.99 and condition 22];
The impacts of Block C on the residents on the lower floors of Kinefold House will be
considerable [9.109 – 9.123];

The letters of support:





The proposal seems to be well thought through and sympathetically designed;
The provision of additional affordable housing is supported;
Improvements to the gardens and communal spaces will bring huge improvements to the
estate;
The improved biodiversity and ecology across the estate is welcome.

External Consultees
7.3

Thames Water: Thames Water has raised no objection to the proposal subject to standard conditions
and informatives on piling methods, groundwater, sewerage infrastructure, waste, water and surface
water.

7.4

London Fire & Emergency Planning Authority: No formal comments received, but recommend that
sprinklers are considered for new developments.

7.5

Historic England: No objections raised to the proposal.

7.6

Designing Out Crime
-

Would advise against the access point through to the neighbouring estate on Drovers Way in an
attempt to join the two and create permeability as this would provide an extra route through which
would contribute to the estate becoming a ‘rat run’ for those using the area for illegitimate purposes.
Welcome the omission of this route from the proposal. [Officer comment: this has been omitted
from the proposal in line with security advice];

-

There are concerns about the proximity of ground floor windows to communal spaces. This allows
anyone to get within close distance to the residences without any firm deterrent. There should
always be a good level of defensible space between residences and areas the public have access
to. This can be achieved by using defensive planting or fencing [Officer comment: Defensible
planting has been proposed in front of all ground floor windows – further details required by
recomended condition 23];

-

The community centre also needs careful consideration, as the garden could be an attractive place
to gather and cause anti-social behaviour out of office hours. This can be achieved by enclosing
the space with fencing or, alternatively, having it completely open so that surveillance into the area
is unrestricted [Officer comment: boundary treatment will be permeable, but further details will be
reserved by condition];

The following other recommendations:
-

In the residential blocks, a security rated ‘airlock’ lobby is requested to a minimum rating of
LPS1175 SR2 or STS202. This should be self-locking and self-closing with audio-visual entry
system and encrypted fob access control.

Page 97

-

Within this secure lobby should be the post banks which should be rated to TS008 or TS009
depending on whether they are stand alone or through the wall.
There should be destination control on the lifts as well as access control on each stairwell door in
order to ‘compartmentalise’ the floors. All flat entrance doors and accessible opening windows
should be a minimum of PAS24 2016 with P1A glazing.
Bike and bin stores should also have encrypted fob access, be self-closing and self-locking, and a
minimum security rating of PAS24 2016.
Any CCTV present should cover entry and exit points, be at a height, which captures clear facial
images, and work in collaboration with a lighting strategy so images are not distorted and of
evidential value.
Lighting should be bulkhead or column and bollard lighting should be avoided. Recesses and dark
spots should be highlighted and there should be no building recesses deeper than 600mm to avoid
misuse.

It is asked that this development is conditioned to achieve Secured by Design accreditation to ensure
that security is addressed adequately on the site. [Officer comment: the applicants have confirmed
their intention to apply for Secured by Design accreditation and this would be conditioned
(recommended condition 31) in the event of planning permission being granted].
7.7

Camden Council: The site borders the London Borough of Camden to the west. The neighbouring
Council’s Local Planning Authority were consulted, responding as follows:
The application site is located in close proximity to the London Borough of Camden, on the opposite
side of York Way. The Camden Square Conservation Area sits to the west of the site, bounded by
York Way, Camden Park Road, and Cliff Road. The area between the Camden Park Road / York Way
junction and the Cliff Road / York Way junction is excluded from the Conservation Area, and would
partly block views of the proposed development from within the Conservation Area. It is noted that the
bulk of the new development would be located opposite this non-designated land, and given the fact
that the site is already characterised by large residential blocks, the development is not considered to
harm the character or appearance of the Conservation Area.
In respect of impact on the amenity of residents within Camden and Camden's transport network, given
the siting of the development in relation to Camden it is considered it would not unduly impact on the
amenity of residents. It is recommended that a Construction Management Plan is secured if permission
is granted to ensure the construction of the development does not harm residential amenity or the local
transport network.
Camden would encourage a development of a high quality design and a development of the highest
sustainability standards which would have minimal impact on the transport network.
It is advised that London Borough of Camden raises no objections and the application should be
assessed under LB of Islington Council planning policies.
Internal Consultees

7.7

Design and Conservation: The Design & Conservation Team’s comments are summarised as follows:
-

-

-

7.8

The proposed development will add 91 new homes to the estate of a high standard of design
quality in four new buildings that promise to complement and enhance the existing character and
identity of the estate.
Three new villa blocks will provide renewed definition to the York Way edge of the estate and act
as counterpoints to the existing built form whilst allowing for the sense of space and openness that
characterises the estate to be maintained. A fourth building will be located to provide enclosure to
a new public space at the centre of the estate. The existing community centre and estate office
will also be re-provided.
The application is supported by a comprehensive landscape strategy, which is important to
mitigating the impact of the loss of open space, integrating the new and existing community
through the shared use of communal amenity and play provision, and addressing inclusive access
issues and resident concerns regarding antisocial behaviour.
The project promises transformative estate improvements for all and its bold reimagining of the
original estate buildings and extensive landscape works will have a beneficial townscape impact
on both the character of the site and its surroundings. The proposal complies fully with London
Plan policy D1 and D2 and HC1 (Part C), the Core Strategy policy CS8 and CS9 and the DM
policies 2.1, 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5.

Planning Policy: A number of comments have been made by the planning policy team. These can be
summarised as follows:
Housing mix:

Page 98

With regards to the housing mix, refer to the latest research on housing needs by tenure, which is
reflected in emerging policy H2, table 3.2. For social rented tenure, which is the category proposed
in the application, the higher demand is for 2 bedroom units. Followed by 3 and 1 bedroom. This
assessment is slightly different from adopted policy DM3.1, in which table 3.1 showed a higher
demand for 4 bedroom units, followed by 3 bedroom.
A high proportion of studio flats proposed (19%). The emerging policy, in paragraph 3.34 is clear
that studio and bedsit units are not a priority housing size mix across any affordable or market
tenures, and will not be permitted unless specific exceptional circumstances are demonstrated,
including demonstrating that studio/bedsit units form a very small proportion of the housing mix of
a development proposal, both overall and/or in any constituent market or affordable element. It is
noted that there is a particular City of London scheme providing accommodation for existing
tenants which results in the need for this high percentage of studio units.
Community infrastructure:
Both adopted (DM4.12) and emerging (SC1) policy don’t permit loss or reduction in social
infrastructure uses, unless this is replaced and in the council’s view, meets the needs of the local
population in the area. The replacement of the community centre is supported.
Play space:
It is understood that the existing MUGA won’t be replaced due to concerns related to anti-social
behaviour, and that two different play areas will be provided instead one for children and another
for younger adults and adults in general. This is in line with adopted policy DM3.6, which requires
all major residential development to make provision for play areas. As per requirements in the
adopted policy DM3.6 and emerging policy SC2, the size of the play areas should be based on
anticipated child, teenage and adult population increase as a result of the development. In addition,
all developments (including large-scale public realm schemes) must provide playable public space
where possible, in addition to any formal play space provision. This play space should encourage
children and young people to move around freely and safely through streets and footpath networks
that connect to more formal play provision, green spaces and parks.
Urban Greening and landscaping:
There is loss of open space for the provision of new housing. Where development is proposed on
open spaces on housing estates, on-site re-provision of the same quantum of space of an improved
quality is encouraged. Full loss of open space on housing estates will be resisted. Proposals which
will lead to a net loss but which will re-provide a quantum of on-site open space which is both
functional and useable may be acceptable where: (i) the lesser amount of space is of a higher
quality; (ii) multi-functional use of the space is encouraged, for example use as play space and/or
climate change mitigation.
7.9

Access & Inclusive Design: The applicant was involved at pre application stage and have hired an
access consultant. A number of constructive meetings have taken place.
Ten wheelchair accessible units are proposed with larger family sized units (3 bed+ units) concentrated
in Building C. 5 x 1 bedroom, 5 x 2 bedrooms – the 2 bedroom units are a preference and must be
maximised on site.
10 accessible parking spaces in the car park – this conversion is welcome.
Cycle parking provided at entrance of each building except building C – basement, which is accessible
via a platform lift.
The provision of the accessible kitchen, accessible toilet and separate baby-changing unit in the
community centre is welcomed, as is the demarcation kerb along the play street.
Additional requirements:
The bin stores must be accessible to all. This entails strep free access, must also that the doors
are automated if heavier than 30N
For Cat 2 and 3 homes, sliding doors are problematic, their spec varies greatly and they have
the potential to become inaccessible over time.
For Cat 2 homes, it must be demonstrated that 750mm is achieved on all three sides on the
bed in the main bedrooms. In single bedrooms, there should be a route clear of obstacles from
the door to the window. The unconventional shapes of the buildings make this challenging.
Winding treads in building D are inaccessible to people who are ambulant disabled.

Page 99

-

For duplex flats, a soft spot in the ceiling (1000x1500mm) must be shown on plans for future
installation of through the floor lifts.
Seating areas must provide options of back and arms rests.
The community planting area should incorporate at detailed design stage areas that are fully
wheelchair accessible, with beds at difference heights to be enjoyed by everyone.
The removal of the MUGA can be highly problematic – but I welcome the provision of fitness
facilities on the podium. In spite of this, there should be no assumption that residents will
instead use park facilities. I would welcome the opinion of park and leisure colleagues on
whether the proposal suffice to accommodate the need for sports facilities.

The development should follow the inclusive design strategy for the estate. A condition for detailed
play provision should also comply with the inclusive landscape design SPD.
The applicants have so far demonstrated goodwill to integrate inclusive design in their proposals.
Further details would be required through conditions 15, 19 and 22.
7.10

Public Protection: The following points were made in response to the application:
-

-

-

-

-

The application includes a comprehensive noise report where the applicant liaised with the Council
prior to the report. It includes reference to the ANC’s Acoustics, Ventilation and Overheating
guidance and the ProPG guidance. It should be noted that the design does include balconies
facing onto York Way and will be exposed to high noise levels, in excess of the WHO / BS8233
guidance. It’s a decision for Planning to consider in the balance with the amenity of the spaces but
at the very least any balconies should be designed to maximise screening and absorption and this
should be included by way of AOD. To control external noise ingress for the proposed residential,
condition 11 is recommended.
The report does highlight the noise from the existing lift plant on Kinefold House. This needs
considerable work to reduce the noise at source to mitigate the impact for the residents of the
proposed units. The report recommends further work in investigating the noise and condition 12
is advised to minimise the impacts for potential receptors.
The development has a community hub and estates office at ground floor with residential directly
above the office and adjacent to both on the ground floor. The report assumes a maximum sound
level within the space of 85dBA and outlines a potential sound insulation scheme with that figure.
It is noted that this would mean amplified music for private hire events and parties would not be
sustainable. The applicant is reminded of this and the subsequent management of the space in
line with that. Condition 13 is recommended for this purpose.
The development has been designed for ground source heat pumps rather than a CHP/boiler and
with no increase in parking, it is advised as Air Quality Neutral. The predicted concentrations for
the main pollutants for the site are below the AQ objectives and no further work is expressly
required.
The development includes the demolition of the MUGA and no direct replacement on the
site. These areas can lead to complaints about noise and ASB and the lack of the re-provision
certainly addresses that.
The lighting report considers the impact of the current design. Although it doesn’t directly carry
out an ILP type assessment of the lighting impacts for existing and new receptors, it is referred to
and suggests compliance. The plan sets out luminaire type, number and position.
The ground investigation report includes sampling at the site with elevated levels of lead and PAHs
found. This requires a full remediation strategy to be compiled for the site to deal with any potential
pollution linkage and condition 14 is recommended for this purpose.
This is a major development on the estate and there will be inevitable impacts from the
construction. The submission includes a CMP but this needs further work and the contractor has
not been confirmed yet. Again a CMP condition (5) and S106 CoPCS response document is
advised.

7.11

Energy Team: The Energy Team noted the requirement for further detail on sustainability and energy,
which have now all been addressed. The proposal would now be future-proofed for future DHN
connection and proposes a significant reduction in carbon emissions. Energy is considered in
subsequent sections of this report and relevant conditions are included in Appendix 1.

7.12

Sustainability:
Drainage
•

The reduction in runoff rates are policy compliant in accordance with the minimum policy
requirement of reducing runoff rates to 50 l/s/ha, however we would recommend the applicant
explores ways of reducing these further. [Officer comment: the applicant has responded with
further details and suitable justification – the sustainability officer has confirmed that the 1.5l/s
water run-off rate cannot be reduced any further but that other catchment areas should also be
included in the SUDS strategy – more detail required by condition 7].

Page 100

•

Consideration should be given to the incorporation of blue roof attenuation storage. This has not
been discussed in the Surface Water Management Strategy despite this being requested in
correspondence with Stantec during the application process. As this development involves the
construction of new buildings blue roofs can be incorporated into the design to reduce runoff
rates further. Both the London Plan and emerging Islington Local Plan require blue roof
attenuation to be considered before below ground attenuation tanks. [Officer comment: the
applicants have confirmed that a blue roof can be incorporated on Block C and have provided
justification as to why blue roofs on the other blocks would not be feasible. Further details
required by condition (conditions 7 and 15) in the event of planning permission being granted].

•

The proposed green roofs, dry basin and permeable paving are welcomed. Further attenuation
as part of the landscape should also be considered, for example through tree pits, rain gardens
and bio-retention areas. This was requested during correspondence with Stantec. Particular
consideration should be given to whether SUDS as part of the landscape are possible in
Catchment 2. [Officer comment: this would be reserved by condition 24].

Biodiversity
•

The ecological enhancements detailed on page 18 of the Ecological Report should be followed,
including the incorporation of integrated bat boxes and swift bricks, wildlife friendly planting, and
dense thicket or shrub planting. The Ecological Report also recommends the use of water
features or raingardens within the drainage solution for the site as part of providing ecological
enhancements (condition 24).

•

Swift bricks should be installed as advised by an ecologist and in accordance with CIEEM
guidance. Best practice guidance for larger developments is for one swift brick per 6 m2 of wall,
mounted near the roof, in clusters of three or more (condition 23).

Water efficiency
•

Consideration should be given to the incorporation of rainwater recycling, for example, for toilet
flushing. Water butts should be used for irrigation of the soft landscaped areas (condition 7).

Some of the points raised have been addressed while others will be addressed by condition. As such,
the proposal is considered to be policy-compliant subject to relevant conditions (7, 17, 22, 23, 24).
7.13

Transport: The Delivery and Servicing Plan does not provide sufficient information on the
development’s ability to accommodate the cumulative demands for deliveries and servicing and further
information is sought. Without this information an Objection must be raised. It is however hoped that
the receipt of further information may clarify the potential impacts and allow for a more positive
comment.
For the reasons below, the proposals should be supported by measures to encourage more active
travel given that the proposals are within an area in which not all journeys can be conveniently made
by public transport. The Healthy Streets approach is welcomed but a firm and prioritised commitment
to the interventions within Table 4.1 of the Transport Assessment should be reflected in Table 4.3. A
sum of £182,000 would enable some interventions to be taken forward and support more sustainable
local travel.
An increase in the proposed number of electric charging points may be beneficial.
A suitable Condition or Obligation is sought addressing demolition and construction impacts, with the
trigger date being pre-demolition.

7.14.1 Tree Officer: The proposal includes the retention of all trees of value, especially the street trees along
York Way. The proposal also includes a well-considered tree replacement strategy in terms of quantity
and quality. However, the following more detailed points need to be addressed:
-

-

The swept paths for vehicle deliveries as per construction management plan – on soft areas
appropriate temporary surfacing is required to protect tree root compaction etc. some routes
appear very close to retained trees (especially north side) – substantial protection required. This
needs detailing in the TPP/AMS. [Applicant’s comment: The swept paths as included in the TA and
draft CMP utilise the existing northern vehicular and service entrance to the estate and do not cross
over existing soft ground areas].
There appear to be several conflicts with proposed lamp columns and existing and proposed trees.
This would be unacceptable due to the inevitable post-development pressure to remove or
excessively prune trees, in order to allow adequate lighting. This issue has cropped up several
times with other developments and results in significant maintenance issues in the long-term. In
finding a solution to this issue, I would state that we would not agree to any reduction in
the tree planting currently proposed [Applicants comment: Lamps along the eastern boundary are

Page 101

-

-

-

-

existing lights to be refurbished and the ones to the west are located beyond the canopies of
existing trees. The positions of four of the new column lightings to the south and on the podium
could be amended at the condition stage to avoid the proposed trees].
I note the following for this scheme: 50.4% increase in tree canopy cover; 49.8% decrease in hard
standing areas. Urban Green Factor - existing 0.23; proposed 0.32; target 0.4
The significant tree canopy cover increase is welcomed but there is a missed opportunity to provide
further tree planting/Green infrastructure incorporated into the actual structural design of the
proposed new buildings with green walls/roofs and/or vertical tree planting [Applicant’s comment:
Green roofs and blue roofs are proposed to the new buildings. The UGF has been updated to
achieve 0.35. The shortfall from 0.4 is due to the retention of the open lawns, which are considered
important assets by residents. Their retention was also encouraged by the DRP and officers during
pre-application discussions. The inclusion of additional SUDS, tree pits, rain gardens etc or for
example, new species-rich grassland in the areas south of Shepherds House, east of Penfield's
House, and east of Lambfold House would significantly restrict the usability of these areas for
resident activities]
I note that tree planting above this basement car park is all in proposed raised planters – significant
detail is required for these, especially drainage and soil volumes – Whilst we would not be
completely opposed to raised planters at these locations as presumably the infrastructure of the
basement level car park would not support ground level planting, we would however, suggest that
large planters containing several trees are preferable to small planters containing individual trees.
[Applicant’s comment: The detail for the planters is shown in the DAS and landscape drawings and
could be further conditioned as part of the hard and soft landscaping details].
Further landscape detailing, generally, is required prior to approval. This was stated in preapplication comments, so that we can ensure landscaping proposals are viable. This is particularly
important with regard to any tree planting above the basement levels so that adequate soil depth
and other growing conditions can be achieved to sustain the proposed trees. We want the final
landscaping to be submitted up front, we don’t really want the details to be submitted as per
conditions [Applicant’s comment: A detailed landscaping scheme, AIA and method statement is
submitted as part of the applications. Some landscaping conditions are considered appropriate to
co-ordinate the detailed design post -permission with consultee feedback on various issues].
No underground utility service plans have been detailed. These are required prior to approval to
ensure there is no conflict with the proposed tree planting [Officer comment: underground service
plans have now been provided].

Further detail of landscaping and tree planting is requested and this would be required through
conditions 9, 22 and 28 in the event of planning permission being granted.
8.0

RELEVANT POLICIES
National Guidance

8.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that
effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. The
NPPF and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) are material considerations and have
been considered as part of the assessment of these proposals.
Development Plan

8.2

The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011 and
Islington Development Management Policies 2013. The following policies of the Development Plan
are considered relevant to this application:

8.3

The London Plan 2021 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London
Policy GG1 Building strong and inclusive
communities
Policy GG2 Making the best use of land
Policy D1 London’s form, character and capacity
for growth
Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through designled approach
Policy D4 Delivering Good Design
Policy D5 Inclusive Design
Policy D6 Housing quality & standards
Policy D7 Accessible housing
Policy D8 Public Realm
Policy D10 Basement Development
Policy D11 Fire safety

Policy S1 Developing London’s Social
Infrastructure
Policy G4 Open Space
Policy G5 Urban Greening
Policy G6 Biodiversity & access to nature
Policy G7 Trees and Woodlands
Policy SI2 Minimising greenhouse emissions
Policy SI4 Managing heat risk
Policy SI5 Water infrastructure
Policy SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the
circular economy
Policy SI12 Flood risk management
Policy SI13 Sustainable drainage
Policy T2 Healthy Streets

Page 102

Policy D13 Agent of Change
Policy D14 Noise
Policy H1 Increasing housing supply
Policy H4 Delivering affordable housing
Policy H7 Affordable housing tenure
Policy H10 Housing size mix

8.4

8.5

Policy T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and
safeguarding
Policy T4 Assessing and mitigating transport
impacts
Policy T5 Cycling
Policy T6 Car parking
Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction

Islington Core Strategy 2011
Spatial Strategy
Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s
Character)

Policy CS14 (Retail and Services)
Policy CS15 (Open Space and Green
Infrastructure)

Strategic Policies
Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing
Islington’s Built and Historic Environment)
Policy CS10 (Sustainable Design)
Policy CS11 (Waste)
Policy CS12 (Meeting the Housing Challenge)

Infrastructure and Implementation
Policy CS18 (Delivery and Infrastructure)
Policy CS19 (Health Impact Assessments)
Policy CS20 (Partnership Working)

Development Management Policies 2013:
Policy DM2.1 (Design)
Policy DM2.2 (Inclusive design)
Policy DM2.3 (Heritage)
Policy DM2.4 (Protected Views)
Policy DM3.1 (Mix of housing sizes)
Policy DM3.4 (Housing standards)
Policy DM3.5 (Private outdoor space)
Policy DM3.6 (Play space)
Policy DM3.7 (Noise and Vibration)
Policy DM4.12 (Social and strategic infrastructure
and cultural facilities)
Policy DM6.1 (Healthy development)
Policy DM6.3 (Protecting Open Space)
Policy DM6.5 (Landscaping, trees & biodiversity)
Policy DM6.6 (Flood prevention)

8.6

Policy DM7.1 (Sustainable design & construction)
Policy DM7.3 (Decentralised Energy
Networks)
Policy DM7.4 (Sustainable design
standards)
Policy DM7.5 (Heating and cooling)
Policy DM8.2 (Managing transport
impacts)
Policy DM8.4 (Walking and cycling)
Policy DM8.5 (Vehicle parking)
Policy DM8.6 (Delivery and servicing
for new developments)
Policy DM9.1 (Infrastructure)
Policy DM9.2 (Planning obligations)

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD)
Islington SPD
Environmental Design (Oct 2012)
Inclusive Design (Feb 2014)
Inclusive Landscape Design (Jan 2010)
Planning Obligations (S106) (Dec 2016)
Urban Design Guide (Jan 2015)
Streetbook SPD (Oct 2012)

London Plan
Accessible
London:
Achieving
an
Inclusive Environment SPG (adopted
October 2014)
Planning for Equality and Diversity in
London (October 2007)
Play and Informal Recreation (September
2012)
Housing (March 2016)
Social Infrastructure SPG (May 2015)
Character and Context SPG (adopted
June 2014)
Sustainable Design and Construction
SPG (adopted April 2014)

Draft Islington Local Plan 2020
8.7

The Regulation 19 draft of the Local Plan was approved at Full Council on 27 June 2019 for consultation
and subsequent submission to the Secretary of State for Independent Examination. From 5 September
2019 to 18 October 2019, the Council consulted on the Regulation 19 draft of the new Local Plan.
Submission took place on 12 February 2020 with the examination process in progress. As part of the
examination consultation on pre-hearing modifications took place between is taking place from 19 March

Page 103

to and 9 May 2021. The Matters and Issues have now been published with hearings set to take place
from 13 September 2021 to 5 October 2021.
8.8

In line with the NPPF Local Planning Authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to:
·
·
·

8.9

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the greater the
weight that may be given);
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant the
unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this Framework (the closer
the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may
be given).

Emerging policies relevant to this application are set out below and in Appendix 2:
Policy H1 Thriving Communities
Policy H2 New and existing conventional
housing
Policy H3 Genuinely affordable housing
Policy H4 Delivering high quality housing
Policy H5 Private outdoor space
Policy
SC1
Social
and
Community
Infrastructure
Policy SC3 Health Impact Assessments
G2 Protecting Open Space
G4 Biodiversity, Landscaping and Trees
G5 Green Roofs and Vertical Greening
Policy S1 Delivering sustainable design
Policy
S2
Sustainable
design
and
construction
Policy S3 Sustainable design standards
Policy S4 Minimising greenhouse emissions
Policy S6 Managing Heat Risk
Policy S6 Improving Air Quality
Policy S7 Flood Risk Management

Policy S8 Flood risk management
Policy S9 Integrated water management and
sustainable design
Policy T1 Enhancing the public realm and sustainable
transport
Policy T2 Sustainable transport choices
Policy T3 Car-free development
Policy T4 Public Realm
Policy T5 Delivery, servicing and construction
Policy DH1 Fostering innovation while protecting
heritage
Policy DH2 Heritage Assets
Policy DH3 Building Heights
Policy DH4 Basement Development
Policy DH5 Agent of Change, noise and vibration
Policy ST2 Waste
Policy ST4 Water and wastewater infrastructure

Page 104

9.0

EVALUATION

Land use
9.1

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing community centre building and MUGA and the
erection of four blocks of between four and seven storeys in height to provide a total of 91No selfcontained residential units a community centre and estate office, estate wide play space and
landscaping. As such, policies related to the provision of housing and social infrastructure are of
greatest relevance.

9.2

The London Plan supports the building of more homes through Policy GG4, which promotes the
delivery of genuinely affordable homes and the creation of mixed and inclusive communities, with
good quality homes that meet high standards. Policy GG2 requires development proposals to make
the best use of land by enabling development on brownfield land well-connected by public transport
and by applying a design-led approach to determine the optimum development capacity of sites.

9.3

The London Plan also supports increasing housing supply and optimising housing potential through
Policy H1, which states that the potential for housing delivery on all suitable and available
brownfield sites should be optimised. The retention or reprovision of social infrastructure uses,
particularly in areas of idenitifed need is supported through Policy S1 ‘Developing London’s Social
Infrastructure’, which states that development proposals that provide high quality, inclusive social
infrastructure that addresses a local or strategic need and supports service delivery strategies
should be supported.

9.4

Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy states that Islington will meet its housing challenge, to provide
more high quality, inclusive and affordable homes by seeking to meet and exceed the borough
housing target, seeking the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing, especially social
rented housing. Development Management policy DM4.12 (part A) states that the Council will not
permit any loss or reduction in social infrastructure uses unless a replacement facility is provided
on site which would, in the council’s view, meet the needs of the local population for the specific
use. As the applicant plans to reprovide a community centre on site, part (ii) of policy DM4.12 part
A, which is concerned with circumstances in which the social infrastructure is no longer required
on site, does not apply.

9.5

In terms of emerging local policy, strategic and development management policy H1 supports the
delivery of genuinely affordable housing that is integrated and inclusive, providing places where
people of different incomes, tenures and backgrounds can live in mixed and balanced communities,
which are economically, environmentally and socially healthy and resilient. Emerging Local Plan
Policy SC1 part D: states that the Council will not permit any loss of social and infrastructure uses
unless a replacement facility is provided on-site, which is at least equivalent quality, quantity and
accessibility to that of the existing facility, and must, in the Council’s view, ensure that the needs
of the local population will continue to be met to at least the same level as the existing use. Finally,
emerging Site Allocation OIS27 identifies the site for additional genuinely affordable housing, which
can be accommodated on new blocks within the estate, alongside improved play space provision,
improvements to communal facilities and enhanced landscaping.

9.6

The proposal involves the creation of 91 new homes for social rent across the estate. As outlined
above, delivery of genuinely affordable housing is a key priority of the Local Plan as well as the
London Plan. The overarching strategic target over the plan period is for 50% of all new housing
to be genuinely affordable and housing proposals are expected to deliver the maximum reasonable
amount of affordable homes, especially social rented tenure. Moreover, the affordable housing
tenure split on all schemes must prioritise forms of affordable housing which are genuinely
affordable for those in need, particularly social rented housing. As such, the delivery of genuinely
affordable housing across the estate, by ensuring that 100% of the new residential units would be
for social rent, is supported in principle.

Page 105

P-RPT-DEL-Main

9.7

In terms of the Council’s Policy DM4.12 and the equivalent emerging policy SC1 of the emerging
Local Plan, the proposal is considered to meet the requirements by providing new and improved
social infrastructure uses, in this case a new community centre, that is conveniently located for the
communitiy that it serves, providing shared facilities as much as is appropriate as well as flexible
facilities that meet the needs of intended occupants. Other requirements of the policies such as the
inclusive design aspects, the impacts on character and amenity as well as the provision of drop-off
bays will be considered in subsequent sections of the report.

9.8

The application site does not include any designated open space, though the application does
propose new buildings on semi-private estate open space. The application site is not in an area of
open space deficiency; it is nonetheless crucial that any loss of open space is suitably justified as
well as adequately compensated with overriding planning benefits to support the proposal. The
total site area is 19,792sqm, of which 3,069sqm is currently built on and 8,722sqm is hardstanding.
The majority of green open space on the estate, some 5,596sqm is grassland, while 2,212sqm is
tree cover and 194sqm of shrubs.

9.9

Policy G2 of the emerging Local Plan protects open space on housing estates. Where development
is proposed on open spaces on housing estates, on-site re-provision of the same quantum of space
of an improved quality is encouraged. Proposals which will lead to a net loss but which will reprovide a quantum of on-site open space which is both functional and useable may be acceptable
in a number of circumstances including if the lesser amount of space is of a higher quality. Multifunctional use of the space is encouraged as well as greater permeability and connectivity within
and between. These policy objectives are discussed in more detail in subsequent sections of the
report.

9.10

The proposal involves building on existing hardstanding as well as on existing green spaces, while
at the same time providing new green and open spaces for residents including species-rich
grassland, new trees and planted areas with higher biodiversity value. The resulting change in
open space, including green spaces and hardstanding, private and communal, as well as building
footprint is as follows:
Description
Existing
Proposed
Amenity
5,596sqm
3,391sqm
Grassland
Shrubs
/
194sqm
2,045sqm
Planted Areas
Tree Cover
2,212sqm
3,777sqm
Green Space
8,002sqm
9,211sqm
Hardsurface
8,722sqm
5,068sqm
(sealed)
Hardsurface
0sqm
605sqm
(permeable) &
Raingardens
Built Footprint
3,068sqm
4,452sqm
(sealed surface)
Built footprint
0sqm
454sqm
(green roofs)
Total
Estate
19,792sqm
19,792sqm
Area
Table of existing and proposed buildings and open space

9.11

Change
- 2,205sqm
+ 1,851sqm
+ 1,564sqm
+ 1,209sqm
- 3,654sqm
+605sqm
+ 1,255sqm
+454sqm

The table above shows there to be a significant reduction in amenity grassland as some of these
areas will be built on. At the same time, there is considerable increase in shrubs, planted areas
and tree cover leading to an overall increase in green space on the estate. The loss of grassland
is thus compensated for by an increase in species-rich shrubs, planted areas and tree cover. The
landscaped areas would be planted with trees and plants with ecological value and the proposed

Page 106

buildings will be provided with green roofs. As such, the estate’s Urban Greening Factor will be
enhanced as a result of the proposal and this will be considered in more detail in the landscape
section of this report.
9.12

Whilst the potential of converting existing hardstanding to useable green space should not be
dismissed, it remains a Council priority to deliver affordable housing. It also remains a Council
priority to reduce car parking and the reliance on the car, particularly in areas of high public
transport accessibility. As such, the replacement of hardstanding and car parking for high quality
housing and landscaping is a clear planning benefit.

9.13

In land use terms, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle, subject
to a further assessment of the other more detailed aspects of the proposal, and thus would be
consistent with the aims and objectives of NPPF as well as London Plan Policies GG2, GG4, S1
and H1 Islington Core Strategy Policy CS12 and emerging Policies H1 and SC1. The proposal
would deliver new genuinely-affordable housing and a replacement community centre.

Design, Conservation and Heritage Considerations
Policy Context
9.14

The following requirements are necessary for Local Planning Authorities when considering
planning applications which affect the setting of a listed building or the character and appearance
of a conservation area. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 requires that: ‘In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which
affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses’.

9.15

Section 72(1) of the Act states: ‘In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a
conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of any of the provisions mentioned in
subsection (2), special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area”. The effect of the duties imposed by section 66(1) and 72(1)
of the Planning (Listed buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is, respectively, to require
decision-makers to give considerable weight and importance to the desirability of preserving the
setting of listed buildings, and to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of a conservation area.

9.16

In terms of the NPPF it addresses the determination of planning applications affecting designated
and non-designated heritage assets at paragraphs 128-135 which state, inter alia, that:

‘In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the
significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The
level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum, the relevant
historic environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using
appropriate expertise where necessary…
Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage
asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They
should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage
asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of
the proposal…’

Page 107

9.17

Relevant Development Plan Guidance is provided by London Plan Policy HC1, which is concerned
with heritage assets and states, inter alia, that ‘Development proposals affecting heritage assets,
and their settings, should conserve their significance, by being sympathetic to the assets’
significance and appreciation within their surroundings.’

9.18

Equally, the Council also attach great importance to design and heritage impacts. Policy DM2.3 on
heritage encourages development that makes a positive contribution to Islington’s local character
and distinctiveness. Moreover, Policy DM2.4 requires protected views to be considered and
enhanced. Finally, in terms of heritage, Policy DM2.5 states that the views of well-known local
landmarks will be protected and stringent controls over the height, location and design of any
building, which blocks or detracts from important or potentially important views will be exercised.

9.19

In terms of design of the built environment, the National Planning Policy Framework confirms that
the Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment, and notes that
good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and
should contribute positively to making places better for people. London Plan Policy D3 (Optimising
site capacity through the design-led approach) is concerned with good quality and contextual
design and states, inter alia, that developments should: ‘enhance local context by delivering
buildings and spaces that positively respond to local distinctiveness through their layout,
orientation, scale, appearance and shape, with due regard to existing and emerging street
hierarchy, building types, forms and proportions.’

9.20

The London Plan Policy D3 also states developments should respond to the existing character of
a place by identifying the special and valued features and characteristics that are unique to the
locality and be of high quality, with architecture that pays attention to detail, and gives thorough
consideration to the practicality of use, flexibility, safety and building lifespan through appropriate
construction methods and the use of attractive, robust materials which weather and mature well.
Furthermore, London Plan Policy D4 (Delivering Good Design) expects the design of development
proposals to be thoroughly scrutinised by borough planning, urban design, and conservation
officers, utilising local evidence, and expert advice where appropriate. In addition, boroughs and
applicants should make use of the design review process to assess and inform design options early
in the planning process.

9.21

Islington’s Core Strategy Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s character) states that the scale of new
development will reflect the character of a surrounding area. Policy CS9 (Protecting and enhancing
Islington’s built and historic environment) states that high quality architecture and urban design are
key to enhancing and protecting Islington’s built environment, making it safer and more inclusive.
Moreover, where areas of Islington suffer from poor layout, opportunities will be taken to redesign
them by integrating new buildings into surviving fragments of historic fabric. All development will
need to be based on coherent street frontages.

9.22

Development Management Policy DM2.1 (Design) requires all forms of development to be of a high
quality, incorporating inclusive design principles while making positive contributions to the local
character and distinctiveness of an area, based upon an understanding and evaluation of its
defining characteristics. All new developments are required to improve the quality, clarity and sense
of space around or between buildings, reinforce and complement local distinctiveness and create
a positive sense of place. Point vii specifically states that buildings should respect and respond
positively to existing buildings, the streetscape and the wider context.

9.23

Islington’s Urban Design Guide (2017) provides guidelines and principles for good urban design,
e.g. how buildings look and fit into their setting, the layout and organisation of public spaces and
the appearance of street frontages. Of particular significance is paragraph 5.67 which states that
‘new development should create a scale and form of development that relates to the existing built
form and provides a consistent and coherent setting for the space or street that it defines or
encloses’. Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 (The
Setting of Heritage Assets), the council’s Urban Design Guide SPD and the Mayor of London’s
Character and Context SPG are also relevant to the consideration of this application.

Page 108

Site Context
9.24

The York Way Estate was built in 1969 on a truncated triangular-shaped site bounded by York Way
to the west and Caledonian Park to the east on its long edges and by North Road and Market Road
to north and south. It contains 275 households in four high density, small footprint buildings typical
of post-war modernism in the prioritisation of extensive areas of communal open space on the
estate. The large communal green spaces and object buildings in a landscape setting are identified
as defining features of the estate’s character. The presence of mature trees, particularly those
defining the York Way edge to the estate, are also important to its character.

9.25

The estate was built on land that was formerly the sheep pens of the Metropolitan Cattle Market
that operated to the east of the estate from 1855-1939. It broadly follows the topography of York
Way in sloping from north to south but with a raised central podium over basement parking that
divides it into a narrower upper and wider lower section. The north-south alignment of the three
largest buildings, Lambfold, Penfield and Kinefold, accentuates the sense of space and openness
of the estate by allowing for expansive city views out to the south.

9.26

The architecture of the estate is highly distinctive with the strong horizontality of the long, narrow
building forms reinforced by expressed floor slabs of white banding contrasting with dark brown
brick wrapping around the gable ends, and continuous bands of windows with raised sills between
spandrels.

9.27

The townscape character of the surrounding area is varied but contains a number of heritage
assets, many of which relate directly to the nineteenth century cattle market function of the adjacent
Caledonian park. The most important of these in relation to the proposals are identified and
discussed in the Heritage Impact section below.
Assessment
Layout

9.28

The position of the new infill buildings on the estate has been arrived at through an extensive
process of site selection and testing. The identification of potential development plots was first
identified through a 6-month resident consultation process. The plots were selected firstly with the
objectives of minimising the impact of the new infill buildings on the amenity of existing residents
with respect to daylight and sunlight, outlook and privacy. A second set of objectives concerns
minimising the extent of the impact on the open green spaces and trees of the estate, which are
highly valued by residents.

9.29

Following appointment of the design team, the concept of two point blocks on the York Way site
boundary, a further pavilion type building on the site of the former Black Bull pub and a long deck
access block sitting between and aligned with the existing blocks on the eastern site boundary
were proposed. Further technical investigation and testing of this layout ultimately led to the
removal of the plot in the south east corner on the site of the former Black Bull pub and introduction
of a further point block on the York Way edge north of Kinefold House. The DRP identified the
sense of openness of the estate as its essential character and so supported the principle of infill
development in the form of relatively high density point blocks with minimal footprints.

9.30

The rationale for the plot selection process is documented in the Design and Access Statement.
The brief for the project appears to be resident-led and, in the initial stages of scheme development,
the DRP felt that views and townscape analysis, and an understanding of heritage impacts, had
not been given adequate weight in determining the proposed layout. These concerns were later
addressed but proposals that would require changes to existing buildings - such as the extension
or replacement of Shepherd House, the lower density block that occupies the southern part of the
estate – were nonetheless ruled out as they could not be achieved without a lengthy consultation
process that would extend the project programme beyond the funding timeframe. Moreover, it was

Page 109

considered that the retention of Shepherd’s House with its relatively low-rise form would prevent
some of the amenity spaces from being overshadowed.
9.31

The DRP and officers had requested full investigation of the potential of the southern section of the
site to contribute to optimising new housing delivery and ease the townscape and heritage impacts
of development in other parts of the estate. Whilst ultimately accepting the reasons for excluding
these areas from the project, it is important to recognise the compromises made in balancing
housing delivery with townscape and heritage impact and the role of the design of the proposed
landscape and buildings in mitigating those impacts.

Proposed Site Layout

Scale and Massing
9.32

The group of three point blocks, A to C, that occupy the plots on the York Way edge stand at six
storeys with inset seventh to give an articulated roof line and reduce the overall perceived height.
They are roughly equivalent in height to the three nine-storey existing estate buildings although
they are situated closer to the lower scale and finer grain of terraced houses on the west side of
York Way. Shepherd House, the one existing building that is located in a more direct relationship
with the street edge and surrounding terraces, stands at only four storeys. Nonetheless, the
proposed height of the three York Way blocks is broadly accepted in principle and their form and
massing and positioning on the site are important considerations in this.

9.33

The proposed buildings have been pushed back from the York Way site boundary during design
development to allow the retention of all street trees. The scale and presence of these mature trees
is particularly important to the character and identity of the estate, strongly reinforcing the York
Way edge. The trees also serve an important townscape role in softening the visual effect of the
change in scale between the proposed seven storey estate buildings and their surroundings on
York Way, particularly helping to mediate the abrupt shift in scale where block B faces a locally
listed terrace on York Way and around block C which reads as eight storeys in views from the south
due to its raised ground floor and semi-basement.

Page 110

9.34

The three buildings all take a 5-sided plan form but are irregular in size and shape and are sculpted
to the specific conditions of their locations – to allow views into the estate from York Way so that
the large greens are still visible, maintaining the estate’s sense of openness, and to avoid direct
overlooking and reduce overshadowing of existing buildings. The shape of the buildings also allows
for all new units to be dual aspect.

9.35

Buildings A and B both have a relatively small footprint with 4 residential units per floor clustered
around a compact central core with a single lift. Building C is larger on plan and its core has two
lifts serving 5 flats per floor. All three present a façade of consistent width and height to York Way,
which is a compositional device, intended to establish a formal regularity and order to the group
and narrow their frontages to reduce the perception of excessive bulk and from York Way. The
semi-inset corner balconies help to articulate the building form and reduce the sense of bulk and
width. They are expressed with equal emphasis around the buildings so that there are no formal
‘fronts’ and ‘backs’.

9.36

Building C has the most substantial and imposing mass of the three proposed point blocks. This is
in part enabled by the widening of the site to the south, and the use of the change of level at the
edge of the podium. The building’s merging with the low-rise split-level community centre and
estate office help to accommodate the building within the surrounding landscape.

9.37

Building D, the family terrace, would sit on the eastern side of the estate on the central raised
podium. It is a linear block on the north-south alignment between the gable ends of Lambfold and
Penfields House and parallel with Kinefold on the site of the existing MUGA and playground. At
four storeys, it has a more modest scale than existing neighbouring buildings, partly due to urban
design and environmental considerations, and also as a result of structural loading limitations.
Public Realm, Access and Movement

9.38

Movement and circulation around the estate has been carefully considered with new building
entrances positioned to maximise their benefit to addressing existing problems of legibility and sight
lines, a lack of passive surveillance in some parts of the estate and inclusivity of access.

Page 111

9.39

A key decision in the siting and layout of the new buildings has been about finding the balance
between co-locating their entrances close to those of the existing buildings to help integrate and
strengthen the sense of community while at the same time providing active frontage to the streets
at the estate edges. The design of the new entrance lobbies has the potential to play a part in
helping to reduce opportunities for anti-social behaviour by providing increased passive
surveillance and upgraded lighting and surfacing at key locations around the estate. As proposed,
each building has a different entrance strategy responding to the unique conditions of each and to
acheive the optimal means of addressing all objectives.

Block A Entrance & Ground Floor Layout

9.40

The entrance to block A is important in defining a new northern entrance to the estate. A new
diagonal route on axis with the clocktower view wraps around the building from the corner of North
Road/York Way along an extended frontage that maximises the degree of natural surveillance and
draws pedestrians through the site into the main north–south spine along a colonnaded walkway.
Block B Entrance & Ground Floor Layout

9.41

The entrance to building B establishes a close relationship with the existing northern core of
Kinefold House and, like block A, has a narrow elongated lobby providing a well-lit area for postal
collection that is intended to maximise frontage and natural surveillance of the public realm outside
of the building.

Page 112

9.42

Block C has the most complex entrance arrangement because its main lobby can be accessed
both directly from York Way to the west and from the north at the podium level a half storey higher.
This gives it a very generous double height split-level entrance sequence that will significantly
improve the active frontage to York Way and create a more legible and welcoming entrance to the
estate on its western edge. The semi-basement bike storage also has direct access via double
doors and an external ramp to the south of the building allowing bikes to be wheeled directly into
the store without the need to use a lift. This level of ease and convenience of access should support
the uptake of cycling.
Block C Entrance & Ground Floor Layout

9.43

The proposed new community centre adjacent to block C is also accessed at two levels with linked
internal lobbies, one at podium level to the north and one relating to the entrance facing the
southern green. The new facility would provide improved spaces for community use as well as
mediating the level change across the estate to give an improved sense of permeability and flow.
The gradient of the current external ramp between the podium and southern part of the estate is
too steep to comply with Building Regulations but the landscape proposal for the southern green
delivers a fully inclusive alternative route to negotiate the level change. The community centre
entrances are announced by large portals in response to DRP advice that they were rather too
understated and should be more prominent.
Landscape

9.44

The landscape design has an important role in integrating the new buildings into the existing estate
layout, mitigating the loss of existing play provision and open space and providing renewed shared
external amenity space that will benefit all residents. The play strategy provides for a variety of
types of play for different age groups and a range of social meeting and gathering spaces. There
has been a particular focus on introducing planting as part of the landscape improvements to the
large, hard surfaced podium areas, which currently have a bleak and uninviting character in
contrast to the greens to north and south.

9.45

The proposals also take advantage of the opportunity to repurpose what is currently a wide strip of
tarmac on York Way that it beyond the low boundary wall but within the estate ownership. Reproviding it as a substantial green edge with attractive, dense planting serves firstly to help meet
biodiversity and urban greening requirements and compensate for loss of estate open space.
Second, it provides a streetscape benefit to the surrounding area by improving the visual amenity
of the estate on York Way. Thirdly, it serves as a privacy buffer to the ground floor apartments in
the new blocks located adjacent to York Way and provides an attractive edge to the buildings in
the absence of active frontage. The details of the proposed kerbs, edges and planting to this
element of the landscape proposals remain unresolved and will be subject to a condition (22)
requiring further information to ensure its delivery given its importance to the acceptability of the

Page 113

scheme, especially given that the buildings themselves will offer little activation of the public realm
at ground level.
Materiality and Design
9.46

The language of the proposed buildings is rooted in the materials and expression of the existing
estate in order to establish a collective identity and continuity whilst still allowing the new and
existing buildings to be read as distinct phases of the estate’s development. The horizontality,
bands of contrasting colour, consistent raised window cill heights and simplified expression of the
existing estate buildings are identified as defining aspects of character to be replicated in the
proposed new buildings.

View of Block C from within Estate

9.47

Proposed blocks A to C are primarily faced in wide bands of a variegated brownish-red brick,
responding to the colour of the brick of the existing estate, and alternating narrower, contrasting
accent bands of white/buff brick above the windows and aligned with exposed precast concrete
balcony slabs. The limited palette also applies to the pre-cast corner columns to balconies to
achieve a robustness and simplicity in materials and detailing. A similar treatment applies to block
D but with the brick colours inverted. Brick is also the material predominantly used in the buildings
surrounding the estate so is a logical choice as a response to context.

View of Block D looking north

9.48

Windows are of regular repeating size throughout on the upper floors. The repetition is considered
important to bring order, rhythm and a sense of unity to the irregular facetted forms. The pre-cast
balconies are part inset and in the same tonal range as the bands of white/buff brickwork that they

Page 114

are set within. The DRP expressed concern during design development that the degree of contrast
in the coloured banding of the elevations could be overpowering and overly simplistic. They were
ultimately satisfied that the fine tuning of the palette and detailing could overcome this concern.
The unusually highly resolved level of design detail that accompanies the application gives
confidence that the buildings will provide continuity with the existing estate, will be extremely robust
and of high quality in themselves, and will age well.
9.49

The specification of materials and typical window and balcony details, bay studies, and other key
details in the application documents are an important record of architectural design intent that
underscores the care and consideration given to the detailed architectural resolution and
commitment to delivering buildings of high quality. This is considered to assist in ensuring that the
quality of design is carried through to the delivery of the development post planning. Nonetheless,
further detail of materials will be required by condition (3) in the event of planning permission being
granted. There is a similar level of detail and quality evident in some elements of the landscape
proposals, such as the ‘carpet’ of coloured paving patterns defining the entrance to each new
building, but overall, the landscape proposals are not resolved to the same level of detail as the
architectural package and a more landscaping details would be required by condition (23).
Heritage Impact

9.50

The area of green space adjacent to the northern entrance in the north west corner of the estate is
least constrained by the amenity impact on existing residents, but is also in the narrowest part of
the site which, in combination with the absence of trees on the site boundary screening the
proposed infill development, make it visually prominent and brings it into a more immediate
relationship with the surrounding townscape. The neighbouring buildings here are two of the
heritage assets of greatest relevance to the site - the grade II listed former Lion Pub at 24 North
Road and the locally listed former Crown pub at 135 York Way. Therefore, the site of Block A
presents the greatest challenges with respect to the need for a contextually sensitive response to
the estate’s surroundings.

9.51

The section of York Way to the north of Brecknock School is a distinct character area from the finegrained terraces in residential use further to the south. The land uses, both historic and modern,
are commercial and educational, and the buildings reflect this in their larger scale and coarser
grain. The two former public house buildings are typical of this scale and grain in their robust form
and bold architectural expression.

View of Block A with the locally listed Crown (in the background) and listed Lion (in foreground)

9.52

The Lion is one of four pavilion buildings of matching design and all with public house/hotel function
that marked the corners of the former Metropolitan Cattle Market - two of the other three survive,
the Lamb and White Horse, although also now converted to residential use. The fourth, the Black
Bull, now demolished, was located on what is now a car parking area in the south east corner of

Page 115

the estate. The locally listed former Crown public house hotel at 136 York Way was also designed
in the same Italianate style by James Bunstone Bunning in 1855 and its retained facade terminates
the view up North Road from the east.
9.53

A detailed commentary on the evolution of the design of block A is provided in the Design and
Access Statement. The early proposal positioned the building according to townscape convention
with facades defining the street edges of North Road and York Way, in order to ‘hold’ the corner,
although set back 2m from the alignment of the north elevation of the Lion. It was identified that the
building obstructed the last remaining view of the Grade II* listed Clocktower from York Way, an
important historic landmark structure, views to which are protected by Development Management
policy DM2.4 and DM2.5. The impact on the setting of the Lion was also raised as a concern by
the DRP along with a lack of ground floor active frontage.

9.54

The building was re-modelled by angling away the façade aligned to North Road to allow the
retention of a partial view to the Clocktower. The proposal now allows a ‘glimpsed’ view available
from a single point on York Way rather than the 15m section from which the Clocktower can
currently be viewed. Nonetheless, the partial retention of the view is welcome and the loss of the
extent of the view is part compensated by the minor positive effect of the way that Block A serves
to frame the view and draw attention to it through the orientation of the building and landscape to
reinforce the view path.

Retained view of Clocktower alongside Block A
9.55

The remodelling of the proposed building creates an acute angled form that also changes its spatial
relationship to North Road and to the two former pub buildings that it sits between. Following the
final Chair’s review, the DRP remained of the view that at six storeys with set-back seventh, the
height of block A, was excessive. Officers have given careful consideration to this view in applying
the advice set out in the Historic England advice GPA3, The Setting of Heritage Assets in order to
arrive at an understanding of the extent to which the proposal enhances or detracts from the
significance of the heritage asset and the ability to appreciate it.

9.56

The significance of the four corner pavilion buildings of which The Lion is one, lies in the historic
relationship to the Clocktower that marked the centre of the market - a designed setting which
includes intended lines-of-sight. The principal facades of the Lion face north and east indicating
that the views of the corner pavilions as orientating marker points seen from within the market were
important. The assessment that the height of the proposed block A is harmful to the setting of The
Lion and the ability to appreciate its significance derives from the view that placing a building of
greater height in its vicinity diminishes its prominence in relation to its surroundings and thus, its
role as a marker building. In this view, the removal of an intermediate storey would make block A

Page 116

correspond more closely in height and massing to The Lion and would respond to the datum of its
heavy cornice line, so maintaining the dominance of the Lion’s scale in the view from York Way.
9.57

There are a number of other considerations that need to be considered in relation to the heritage
impacts of the proposed Building A. The position of Block A at a distance of 15m from the Lion at
its closest point, allows the listed building to be read as a separate and distinct entity. This relative
generosity of space maintains the existing sense of permeability and porosity around it. Block A is
itself an object building that breaks away from the street-based surrounding townscape so defining
a different spatial relationship with its neighbours compared to, for example, the modern
development to the east of The Lion on North Road. For this reason, it is not considered to encroach
on the setting of the listed building to a harmful degree.

9.58

The re-modelling of block A to create an acute angled form that cuts away from North Road to
maintain a view to the Clocktower also creates a deferential relationship to The Lion. Block A is set
back circa 12m from the street, at its closest point to the Lion, revealing the western elevation in
this view. The view along North Road from the east demonstrates that the set back of block A from
the street is also sufficient to avoid it impinging on the appreciation of the reciprocal relationship
between the robust Italianate design of The Lion and The Crown that is most evident in this view.

9.59

As previously noted, the DRP had raised concern that the proposed architectural treatment of the
three villas may be too overpowering and strident. Whilst they agreed that the proposed new
buildings should relate clearly to the existing modernist architecture of the estate, the DRP also felt
that the new infill buildings present an opportunity to moderate its uncompromising rigidity at its
edges where a greater acknowledgement of the wider townscape is required. As such, there is a
softening of the degree of contrast between the darker and lighter brick bands of the palette of the
proposed new buildings relative to the starkness of contrast in the existing estate buildings. The
proposed buildings also feature windows as a regular array of punched openings in the brickwork,
mediating between the language of the estate and historic buildings.

9.60

There is perhaps an assertiveness to the architectural expression to Block A that sits awkwardly
between The Lion and The Crown but overall, the robustness in expression of the historic buildings
and strength of the reciprocal relationship between them stands up to the rigour and purposefulness
of the proposed new building. The distinctiveness of the treatment of block A also has the beneficial
effect of reinforcing its reading as part of a group of new buildings that are of the estate and distinct
from the surviving group of nineteenth century buildings.

9.61

In conclusion, whilst the presence of block A may detract to a degree from the visual dominance of
The Lion, the effect is counterbalanced by the fact that, in its form and placement on the site, which
is reinforced by the landscape proposals, and in its complimentary architectural treatment, the new
development is considered to support the interpretation and promotion to the public of the heritage
asset as a focal point building, adding to the public experience of the asset.
Response to DRP

9.62

Many of the points raised by the DRP have been addressed in the sections above as part of the
design and heritage assessment. Some of the outstanding points not addressed above are
considered here. The Panel identified several areas of concern regarding landscape and external
works. These include neglecting to incorporate visual improvements to the utilitarian garage doors
and to the imposing security fences to the rear of Penfield and Lambfold. While the security fences
will be maintained for safety reasons with further consideration as part of the Secured by Design
accreditation (condition 31), improvements to the aesthetic of the garage doors would be required
through the submission of further details as part of condition (35).

9.63

A further point raised by the Panel concerned the entrance and threshold space to homes on the
ground floor of Block D which should be designed to better support those residents in making use
of the space and taking responsibility for its upkeep. Further details would be required through the
landscape condition (22). Concerns also remained about the sense of safety and legibility of the

Page 117

pedestrian experience in a key nodal point of the estate around the southern core and undercroft
space of Kinefold, at the intersection of ramps up to the podium from the south. This is identified
as a critical area of the estate that deserves careful thought and attention in the development of
the hard landscape and lighting proposals. Improvements to the communal entrances of the
existing buildings in general would also serve to improve legibility and would help to integrate the
old with the new. Some indicative proposals for improvements to the entrances have been
submitted with the application but further details would be required by condition (34) in the event
of planning permission being granted.
9.63

The applicant has also confirmed that the a number of major works to existing blocks are proposed,
though these fall outside of the scope of the application. These include a new district heating
system, a new front entrance and communal fire doors, ventilation system works, replacement of
existing roofs, upgrade of the common parts (flooring, lighting, decorations, ceilings), landlord’s
electrical remedial works and lift refurbishment works. The applicant has confirmed that whilst the
ambition for most of these works is that they are completed in 2021-2022, due to the volume of
work planned and delays associated with the COVID pandemic and funding, some of these may
slip to 2022-2023.

9.64

The Panel also raised concerns about the need for mechanical ventilation to dwellings fronting York
Way. This is mainly due to the limitations of opening windows to a busy road and this has been
considered by the Council’s Public Protection and Energy Teams. While some mechanical
ventilation may be required to prevent overheating, conditions 11 and 14 are recommended to
address potential noise impacts on future residents. The elevation design of the south-east facing
units of Block A were also identified for review because they are not dual aspect and should be redesigned to accommodate an additional window to optimise passive cross-ventilation. This has
now been incorporated into an amended design.

9.65

Finally, the panel acknowledge that it was currently difficult to find alternatives to the use of concrete
and that seeking to minimise its carbon content is a suitable carbon reduction target. Each different
type of concrete could be separately targeted for carbon reduction. Consideration of embodied
energy should also inform the selection of bricks given their extensive use within the proposal. This
would be considered in more depth as part of the Green Procurement Plan by requiring further
detail to be submitted as part of condition 3.
Conclusion

9.66

The application proposes well-designed new buildings that are considered to mediate successfully
between the architecture of the existing estate and the built-form of the surrounding streetscape.
The proposal makes a positive contribution to the townscape and public realm while suitably
protecting surrounding heritage assets. In terms of design and appearance, heritage and
conservation, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with London Plan Policies D1, D2
and HC1, Islington Core Strategy Policies CS8 and CS9, Development Management Policies 2013
DM2.1, 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5 and emerging Local Plan DH1, DH2 and DH3 as well as Islington’s Urban
Design Guide (2017) and Historic England advice GPA3 (The Setting of Heritage Assets).
Housing Mix and Quality of Accommodation

9.67

Development Management Policy DM3.1 and emerging Local Plan Policy H2 provides
recommendations on housing mix for social rented accommodation. The latest research on housing
needs by tenure, which is reflected in emerging policy H2, stipulates that for social rented tenure,
which is the category proposed in the application, the higher demand is for 2-bed units with slightly
less demand for 1- and 3-bed dwellings. This assessment is slightly different from adopted policy
DM3.1, in which table 3.1 showed a higher demand for 4 bedroom units, followed by 3 bedroom.

9.68

A high proportion of studio flats are proposed (19%). The emerging policy, in paragraph 3.34 is
clear that studio and bedsit units are not a priority housing size mix across any affordable or market
tenures, and will not be permitted unless specific exceptional circumstances are demonstrated,

Page 118

including demonstrating that studio/bedsit units form a very small proportion of the housing mix of
a development proposal, both overall and/or in any constituent market or affordable element. It is
noted that there is a particular City of London scheme providing accommodation for existing
tenants, which results in the need for this high percentage of studio units. The predominant housing
types are 1-, 2- and 3-bed units, for which there is an identified need.
9.69

The proposed housing mix is as follows:

9.70

London Plan Policy D6 requires housing development to be of high-quality design and provide
adequately-sized rooms (in accordance with Table 3.1 in the London Plan) with comfortable and
functional layouts, which are fit for purpose and meet the needs of Londoners without differentiating
between tenures. The policy also requires qualitative aspects of a development to be addressed to
ensure successful sustainable housing. Moreover, housing development should maximise the
provision of dual aspect dwellings and normally avoid the provision of single aspect dwellings.
Finally, the design of development should provide sufficient daylight and sunlight to new and
surrounding housing that is appropriate for its context, whilst avoiding overheating, minimising
overshadowing and maximising the usability of outside amenity space.

9.71

Islington’s Core Strategy policy CS12 advises that to help achieve a good quality of life for Islington
residents, residential space and design standards will be significantly increased and enhanced from
their current levels. Development Management Policy DM3.4 sets out the detail of these housing
standards. Policy DM3.4 (part D (i)) states that ‘new residential units are required to provide dual
aspect accommodation, unless exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated.

9.72

The Design and Access Statement, area schedules and Inclusive Access Strategy set out in detail
the layout and size of proposed units and accessibility across the new buildings and the wider
estate. All units are set out in accordance with national space standards as well as space standards
specified in the London Plan and Development Management Policies. The studio units exceed
40sqm, the 1-bed units exceed 50sqm, the 2-bed units exceed 70sqm, the 3-bed units exceed
86sqm and the maisonettes and 4-bed units generally exceed 100sqm. All units are dual-aspect to
provide appropriate daylight and sunlight within the proposed units and consideration has been
given to the location and detail of proposed fenestration and glazing across the new buildings to
reduce overheating and where required, external shutters are proposed on upper level apartments.

9.73

Policy D7 of the London Plan expects at least 10% of dwellings to be Part M(3) ‘wheelchair user’
dwellings, with the remaining 90% to be Part M(2) ‘accessible and adaptable’ dwellings. The
proposals accord with Policy D7 of the London Plan by providing 10 wheelchair-accessible units in
Block C which equates to 11% of proposed units. The remaining units in the proposed blocks would
be compliant with Part M(2) ‘accessible and adaptable’ dwellings. It is proposed that 2 electric
charging points are provided, which amounts to 20% of the provision from the outset, and the
remainder of the 8 Blue Badge spaces will be capable of electric vehicle charging to be installed in
the future.

9.74

London Plan policy D6 advises that a minimum of 5 sqm of private outdoor space should be
provided for 1-2 person dwellings and an extra 1 sqm should be provided for each additional
occupant, and it must achieve a minimum depth and width of 1.5m. Policy DM3.5 (Amenity Space)
of the Development Management Policies Document states in part A that all new residential
development will be required to provide good quality private outdoor space in the form of gardens,

Page 119

balconies, roof terraces and/or glazed ventilated winter gardens. The policy in part C then goes on
to state that the minimum requirement for private outdoor space is 5 square metres on upper floors
and 15 sqm on the ground floor for 1-2 person dwellings. For each additional occupant, an extra 1
sqm is required on upper floors and 5 square metres on ground floor level with a minimum of 30
sqm for family housing. These standards are higher than the London Plan requirements.
9.75

Policy DM3.5 acknowledges that there may be exceptional circumstances where external amenity
space may not be practical and advises that this can be offset by various mitigating factors such
as the quality of the proposed development, access to communal amenity space and wider
planning benefits. Private amenity space has been provided for all units in the form of a garden for
the ground floor units and balconies and roof terraces for the upper floors. All private amenity space
exceed the standards set out in the London Plan.

9.76

Typical balconies are inset and positioned on the corners of each building to provide dual aspect
amenity and are proportioned to exceed to the 1500mm width as required in the London Plan. The
sixth floor of blocks A, B and C are setback to breakdown the overall massing and perception of
height. As a result, the units at this level benefit from access to large roof terraces. Within Block D,
the ground floor maisonettes will have access to rear gardens overlooking Caledonian Park. The
upper floor maisonettes will have access to roof terraces.

9.77

However, due to the constraints of the site, the amenity space for the ground floor units falls slightly
below the standards detailed in Policy DM3.5. To provide the additional ground floor amenity space
of 15 sqm and 30 sqm for family houses is considered to be a challenge here as at Block A this
would result in the loss of communal open lawn area and at Block B this would result in the loss of
an existing tree of value. Therefore, in order to protect existing amenity space and trees, two
proposed ground floor units would have slightly reduced amounts of private amenity space.
Moreover, the proximity and quality of communal amenity space immediately in front of these units
contribute to the acceptability of this shortfall.

9.78

At Building D, the additional space requirement for 30 sqm would require the building to be moved
further forward and closer to Kinefold House which could result in the loss of amenity for existing
residents from overlooking. The shortfall is considered offset by the extensive communal amenity
space provided with the Estate and the close proximity and accessibility of alternative amenity
space at Caledonian Park. Accordingly, it is considered that a balanced approach has been taken
to private amenity space, which meets London Plan standards whilst ensuring extensive communal
space is provided and the open character of the existing Estate is maintained with the proposals.
Play space

9.79

Policy DM3.6 requires all housing development of more than 10 dwellings to make provision for
play based on anticipated child yield. The London Plan sets a benchmark standard of minimum of
10 sqm of suitable child playspace per child for new developments, with Islington’s Development
Management Policy DM3.6 setting a minimum of 5 sqm. An existing MUGA area and playground
totalling 553 sqm will be redeveloped as part of the provision of Building D. In accordance with
Policy DM3.6 the existing quantum of play space should be reprovided as well as additional play
space needed to accommodate child yield and space requirements for the new units.

9.80

Based on the proposed unit mix, the GLA chield yield calculator suggests that 90.9 children are
expected. Applying the London Plan standard of 10qsm per child, the proposals should provide a
minimum of 908.7 sqm of informal and formal playspace as well as the existing 553sqm that will
be lost through redevelopment. The proposal seeks to provide a total of 1444.78sqm of formal play
space. Taking into account informal opportunities for play including the lawns, the proposed play
street and incidental play features across the site, as well as private garden and terrace spaces,
the standards for play space required by the London Plan are met by the proposed play strategy
and significantly exceed DM3.6 requirements.

Page 120

9.81

The MUGA is not reprovided as these tend to attract predominantly male users and the existing
MUGA is the subject of many complaints about anti-social behaviour. Residents are instead
encouraged to use the free of charge multi-games pitch, which is located within Caledonian Park
adjoining the south eastern corner of the estate. Additionally other MUGAs and sports pitches within
800m of the site include: Market Road 3G Pitches, Goodinge Road MUGA, Market Road Gardens,
Roman Way MUGA, Bingfield Park MUGA, Camden Square Gardens MUGA, Cantelowes Gardens
3G Pitches, Torriano Estate MUGA, Hilldrop Lane MUGA, Belmore Lane MUGA and the Maiden
Lane Estate MUGA.

9.82

To address the loss of the MUGA, two alternative play areas are provided as part of the play space
provision including a playspace for younger children on the eastern podium and a larger play area
suitable for older children, teens and all ages on the western podium. Overall, it is considered that
the proposed private amenity space and play space is in compliance with development plan policies
whilst maximising the provision of the affordable housing on the site. The proposal provides an
acceptable housing mix and good quality residential accommodation for future occupiers, in
accordance with relevant policies, in particular DM3.1, DM3.4, DM3.5 and DM3.6, emerging Local
Plan Policy H2 and London Plan Policies D6 and D7.

Trees and landscaping
9.83

Development Management Policy DM6.3 protects open space by not permitting development on
semi-private amenity spaces, including open space within housing estates and other similar spaces
in the borough not designated as public open space, unless the loss of amenity space is
compensated and the development has over-riding planning benefits. Moreover, trees, shrubs and
vegetation are protected by policy, specifically Policy DM6.5 which states that any loss of or
damage to trees, or adverse effects on their growing conditions, will only be permitted where there
are over-riding planning benefits, must be agreed with the council and suitably reprovided.
Moreover, that the council will refuse permission or consent for the removal of protected trees (TPO
trees, and trees within a conservation area) and for proposals that would have a detrimental impact
on the health of protected trees.

9.84

Emerging Local Plan Policy G2 also protects open space on housing estates. Where development
is proposed on open spaces on housing estates, on-site re-provision of the same quantum of space
of an improved quality is encouraged. Proposals which lead to a net loss but which will re-provide
a quantum of on-site open space which is both functional and useable may be acceptable where:
(i) the lesser amount of space is of a higher quality; (ii) multi-functional use of the space is
encouraged, for example use as play space and/or climate change mitigation; (iii) permeability and
connectivity within and between spaces is improved, ensuring that the space remains substantially
undeveloped and open, and that accessibility to the general public is improved; (iv) rationalisation
of estate car parking has been fully explored, in order to offset the loss of open space as far as
possible and in accordance with the Council’s car-free policy. Where the existing estate car parking
has not been rationalised as part of the proposal, robust justification must be provided to explain
why.

9.85

London Plan Policy G5 is also of relevance. The policy requires for major development proposals
to contribute to the greening of London by including urban greening as a fundamental element of
site and building design, and by incorporating measures such as high-quality landscaping
(including trees), green roofs, green walls and nature-based sustainable drainage to increase the
overall urban greening factor of sites.

9.86

As discussed in the land use section of this report, there is a considerable amount of open space
on the estate, the vast majority of which is hardstanding and grassland of limited biodiversity value.
While these spaces have amenity value for residents, the development provides the opportunity to
increase the biodiversity and ecological value of the estate while also providing new and improved
amenity areas including play space and growing gardens. The proposed landscape design is
formed on the principles of maintaining views along York Way, improving pedestrian experience
throughout the York Way Estate and increasing urban greening, biodiversity and horticultural

Page 121

interest on the site. The character of the existing open lawns would be maintained, supplemented
with additional trees and plants to mediate the threshold with the new buildings. A new social heart
is proposed on the podiums at the centre of the estate, defined by play and fitness opportunities,
meeting and social spaces and new planting and trees.
9.87

In terms of tree planting, the landscape strategy is well-considered and developed with 74 new
trees being planted to mitigate against the loss of 6 existing trees. The proposed scheme seeks to
provide a net gain in biodiversity through a planting strategy that includes the provision of new
native trees with a variety of specifies as detailed in the planting strategy to replace the existing
trees in accordance with the right tree, right place principles. Further details around tree species
would be required by condition (23).

9.88

The proposed landscape strategy is shown on plan below:

Existing Estate
9.89

Landscape / Planting Strategy

Given the size of the estate and the open space around it, the landscaping can be separated into
various areas of distinct character and function. The northern entrance to the site is characterised
by the new Building A adjacent to the former Lion public house. To reinforce the view of the listed
clocktower, a path leading into the estate from York Way follows the direction of the view. A second
pedestrian pathway off North Road runs parallel to the delivery and service vehicle entrance.
Planting alongside the paths lead the way and is considered to provide a green and pleasant
pedestrian environment. The line of tree planting along York Way is continued onto North Road
framing the pedestrian entrances, as shown below:

Page 122

Northern Entrance into Estate

9.90

The northern end of York Way Estate is currently characterised by a large open lawn to the west
of Lambfold House with a service road running along its edge. Vehicular access for servicing and
to the garages below Lambfold House is retained. Expected vehicle movements on this street will
be down to 21 cars per day only and it is therefore proposed the service road will be reduced in its
width, acting as shared surface with pedestrians and transformed into a ‘play street’ with playful
patterns and adjacent play incidents to activate this otherwise under-used space. This extends the
open lawns eastwards, maximising green cover and flexible amenity lawn.

Proposed Play Street and Northern Lawn

9.91

Playful patterns would allow for games along the length of the street. At its northern end, a raised
table acts as a signal to vehicles to slow and acknowledge a pedestrian priority. Play stations would
be nestled in planting along the edge of the lawns, with further details required by condition (23).
Heath planting holds picnic and seating areas at the perimeter of the open landscape, which is
otherwise left to maintain its open character and flexible use. Planting adds biodiversity and
interest, encouraging use and dwelling in the space. Buffer planting with robust hedges and mixed

Page 123

perennials will be used to create privacy thresholds to Buildings A and B towards the lawns. The
‘play’ street then leads to the ‘heart’ of the estate on the two central podiums.
9.92

Proposals for the western podium seek to activate this hard landscaped space for use by all
residents. There are two important east-west connections from York Way to into the estate, which
are retained. Cycle parking is provided by the entrances. The podium enjoys passive surveillance
from Buildings B and C, including the estate office, as well as Kinefold House. It also benefits from
good levels of sunlight throughout the day. Therefore, a portion of the formal play provision required
for juniors and teens, as well as fitness features for all ages is proposed here.

9.93

Pedestrian paths lead around all four sides of the central play space and vehicular access (refuse
collection only) occurs along the northern edge of the podium. Raised planters with seating define
edges and add greening and biodiversity. Additional buffer planting is introduced along the private
patios of the ground floor of the existing and proposed flats around the play spaces on the podium.
Further soft landscaping interventions also provide structure to the open space, creating a buffer
between the activities of theplay and fitness area and the residents of Kinefold House and Block
C. Colourful play surface materials and play features are integrated to give further animation and
character to the space. A further play areas is proposed to the south of the community centre.

Western Podium Plan & Section

9.94

As part of the natural ventilation strategy for the underground car park below the podium, openings
in the slab are proposed in selected locations with in-ground tree planters emerging through.
Growing in very large planters these trees have the opportunity to become large, giving a special
character to the space. Further details would be required as part of the landscaping condition in
the event of planning permission being granted.

9.95

The proposals for the eastern podium would create a formal play space for younger children (up to
5 years) with seating and socialising opportunities for adults. Careful consideration has been given
with regards to play activity and sunlight. Pedestrian paths lead around all four sides of the play
space. The space provides integrated doorstep play space under excellent passive surveillance.
Raised planters with seating define edges and add much needed greening. These planted edges
provide security for younger children, whilst avoiding fences and maintaining visual openness. Four
non-gated entrance points provide access to the central play area. Additional buffer planting is
introduced along the private patios of ground floor Kinefold House flats and the new maisonettes.

Page 124

Eastern Podium Plan & Visual

9.96

The southern lawn between Shepherds House and Building C would retain its open character, with
planting of trees and heath-inspired species predominantly at the edges. The most significant
development is the introduction of an accessible route (1:21 gradient) linking the lawn area to the
podium at a higher level. Presently the ramp to the podium has a 1:17 gradient and is not building
regulation compliant without handrails or landings.

Southern Lawns
9.97

The new route is integrated into the landscape and provides direct pedestrian access from the
southern entrance towards the Community Centre. Climbing and play features would be integrated
into the gentle bank providing recreation for all ages. New seating provides socialising opportunities
just outside the Community Centre. The new route is fully accessible and provides access into the
open lawn for wheelchair users. A rain garden has been proposed in the south western edge of the
lawns in coordination with the sustainable drainage strategy developed for the overall site. The rain
garden strengthens the edge of the lawn and diverts a potential desire line directly from York Way
to the podium.

9.98

To the south-east of the estate, the current car park area would be converted to a green landscaped
garden and as an orchard for residents. Responding to challenging conditions along Market Road,
hedges and a low fence line are proposed to suggest its private nature and use, only for the resident
of the estate. To the south of Shepherd House, and to the east of Lambfold and Penfield House,

Page 125

three additional areas are proposed for community gardening. In each, suggested location planters
will be located away from the ground floor residents and a privacy buffer created with boundary
planting.

Southern Lawns & Entrance

9.99

A number of points were raised by the Council’s Tree Officers and Sustainability Officer during the
consultation about the proposed landscaping. In particular, the increased canopy cover and tree
planting as well as the reduced hardstanding was commended. While the increased Urban
Greening Factor from the existing 0.23 to the proposed 0.35 was welcomed, it was questioned
whether more could be done to further increase biodiversity across the site. It is acknowledged that
in seeking to maximise biodiversity that there is also a balance to be struck in terms of maintaining
the open lawns, which although not contributing greatly towards biodiversity, are valued amenity
spaces on the estate. However, a condition is recommended (condition 37) to require the
developer to further investigate the potential to achieve an Urban Greening Factor of 0.4.

9.100 The Tree Officer also considered that the opportunity should not be missed to provide further tree
planting and green infrastructure into the actual structural design of the proposed new buildings
with green walls/roofs and/or vertical tree planting. It should be noted that green roofs and blue
roofs are proposed to the new buildings. It is considered that the inclusion of additional SUDS, tree
pits and rain gardens new species-rich grassland in the areas south of Shepherds House, east of
Penfield's House, and east of Lambfold House could restrict the usability of these areas for resident
activities. Notwithstanding this, further details would be required through conditions 7, 17 and 22
to ensure that biodiversity, ecology and water-retention are maximised across the estate.
9.101 It can be confirmed that the proposed landscaping and amenity space on the estate is of a higher
quality, with well-considered multi-functional use of the spaces proposed. The proposal also
includes improved permeability and connectivity within and between spaces and has been
developed alongside a rationalisation of estate car parking as required by policy. It can be
confirmed that the proposal is of the highest quality, providing a well-considered and contextual
landscape strategy with sufficient tree planting and well-designed garden space in accordance with
Development Management Policies DM6.3 and DM6.5 as well as emerging Local Plan Policy G2
and London Plan Policy G5.
Neighbouring Amenity
9.102 The Development Plan contains policies which seek to appropriately safeguard the amenities of
residential occupiers when considering new development. London Plan Policy D6 identifies that
the design of development should provide sufficient daylight and sunlight to surrounding housing

Page 126

that is appropriate to its context, whilst minimising overshadowing and maximising the usability of
outside amenity space. Policy DM2.1 of the Development Management Policies (2013) identifies
that satisfactory consideration shall be given to noise and the impact of disturbance, vibration, as
well as overshadowing, overlooking, privacy, direct sunlight and daylight receipt, over-dominance,
sense of enclosure and outlook.
Daylight/sunlight
9.103 In general, for assessing the sunlight and daylight impact of new development on existing buildings,
Building Research Establishment (BRE) Guidelines are adopted. In accordance with both local and
national policies, consideration has to be given to the context of the site, the more efficient and
effective use of valuable urban land and the degree of material impact on neighbours. BRE
Guidelines paragraph 1.1 states
“People expect good natural lighting in their homes and in a wide range of non-habitable buildings.
Daylight makes an interior look more attractive and interesting as well as providing light to work or
read by”.
9.104 Paragraph 1.6 states:
“The advice given here is not mandatory and the guide should not be seen as an instrument of
planning policy; its aim is to help rather than constrain the designer. Although it gives numerical
guidelines, these should be interpreted flexibly since natural lighting is only one of many factors in
site layout design…In special circumstances the developer or local planning authority may wish to
use different target values. For example, in a historic city centre, or in an area with modern high
rise buildings, a higher degree of obstruction may be unavoidable if new developments are to match
the height and proportions of existing buildings”.
9.105 Daylight: the BRE Guidelines stipulate that… “the diffuse daylighting of the existing building may
be adversely affected if either:



the VSC [Vertical Sky Component] measured at the centre of an existing main window is less
than 27%, and less than 0.8 times its former value
the area of the working plane in a room which can receive direct skylight is reduced to less
than 0.8 times its former value.” (No Sky Line / Daylight Distribution).

9.106 The BRE Guidelines state (paragraph 2.1.4) that the maximum VSC value achievable is almost
40% for a completely unobstructed vertical wall. At paragraph 2.2.7 of the BRE Guidelines it states:
“If this VSC is greater than 27% then enough skylight should still be reaching the window of the
existing building. Any reduction below this level should be kept to a minimum. If the VSC, with the
development in place is both less than 27% and less than 0.8 times its former value, occupants of
the existing building will notice the reduction in the amount of skylight. The area lit by the window
is likely to appear more gloomy, and electric lighting will be needed more of the time.”
9.107 At paragraph 2.2.8 the BRE Guidelines state:
“Where room layouts are known, the impact on the daylighting distribution in the existing building
can be found by plotting the ‘no sky line’ in each of the main rooms. For houses this would include
living rooms, dining rooms and kitchens. Bedrooms should also be analysed although they are less
important… The no sky line divides points on the working plane which can and cannot see the
sky… Areas beyond the no sky line, since they receive no direct daylight, usually look dark and
gloomy compared with the rest of the room, however bright it is outside”.
9.108 Sunlight: The BRE Guidelines (2011) state in relation to sunlight at paragraph 3.2.11:

Page 127

“If a living room of an existing dwelling has a main window facing within 90° of due south, and any
part of a new development subtends an angle of more than 25° to the horizontal measured from
the centre of the window in a vertical section perpendicular to the window, then the sunlighting of
the existing dwelling may be adversely affected. This will be the case if the centre of the window:

Receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours, or less than 5% of annual probable
sunlight hours between 21 September and 21 March and

Receives less than 0.8 times its former sunlight hours during either period and

Has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater than 4% of annual probable
sunlight hours.”
Analysis of Daylight Impact on Affected Properties:
9.109 A Daylight & Sunlight Report has been submitted by the applicant. The report considers the impact
on all the surrounding residential windows facing the application site, which include dwellings on
Drovers Way, North Road, York Way and properties within the estate itself in Lambfold House,
Kinefold House, Penfield House and Shepherd House. While some impacts would be experienced
in terms of loss of daylight to existing dwellings on the estate as well as some surrounding
dwellings, the impacts are considered to have been kept to an acceptable level. The axonometric
view below shows the proposed buildings in situ and their relationship with existing built-form and
consequently existing dwellings in the surrounding area.

Axonometric view of proposed development and surrounding properties
Drovers Way

Page 128

9.110 A number of residential properties on Drovers Way, within the Market Estate, face York Way Estate.
Those closest to Block D, which is the building along the estate’s eastern boundary closest to the
Market Estate, would be affected by the proposed development in terms of loss of daylight and
sunlight. The impacts on daylight of properties on Drovers Way have been assessed and are shown
below:
Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)

4.5

4.5

0%

R2/W2

LKD

5.91

3.79

36%

4.37

4.24

3%

R3/W1

Bedroom

9.31

6.80

27%

5.25

4.91

7%

25.6

22.61 12%

5.94

5.07

15%

R6/W11 LKD

26.25

21.78 17%

12.18 5.91

51%

R8/W13 Bedroom

27.2

22.25 18%
10.10 9.68

4%

R1/W1

Ground
Floor

R4/W4

Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor

R8/W14
R9/W15

Bedroom

Bedroom

25.08

24.0

Bedroom

34.58

33.97 1%

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Proposed sq ft

22.65 7%

Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor

Percentage
reduction
VSC

24.41

Room / Room use
Window

Proposed (%)

Bedroom

49-127
Drovers
Way

Existing (%)

Previous sq ft

in

Vertical
Component

4%

12.39 12.39 0%
R9/W16 Bedroom

34.94

34.41 0%

9.111 Only two of the windows in an apartment building in Drovers Way would experience noticeable
losses of daylight as measured by the VSC. However, the corresponding daylight distribution of
the rooms that they serve would not result in noticeable losses of daylight. One of the rooms in this
apartment building would however experience noticeable losses of daylight distribution, partly
because of the small size of the window relative to the deep floor plan of the room itself.
24 North Road (The old Lion pub)
9.112 The former Lion pub which has been converted to residential accommodation is in relatively close
proximity to proposed Block A and thus residential occupiers would experience some losses of
daylight as a result of the development, as detailed in the below table.

Page 129

34.64

34.64 0%

34.63

34.63 0%

Unknown

34.53

34.53 0%

Unknown

31.15

22.98 26%

Unknown

31.89

22.8

31.79

21.88 31%

Living
Room
Living
Room

32.88

21.30 35%

31.80

21.16 37%

KD

14.77

14.61 1%

KD

9

9

KD

66.34

56.99 N/A

R1/W1

Unknown

Ground
Floor

R1/W2

Unknown

Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor

R1/W3

Ground
Floor

R3/W7

Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor

R3/W8

R1/W4
R1/W5
R2/W6

R4/W9
R4/W10

3.98

29%
19.2

First Floor
First Floor
First Floor

R1/W1
R1/W2
R1/W3

Living
Room
Living
Room
Living
Room

12.95 33%

26.02 24.72 5%

0%

32.1

35.06

35.06 0%

35.11

35.11 0%

35.01

26.98 23%

Previous sq ft

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Proposed (%)

Existing (%)

24 North Room / Room use
Road (1st Window
floor)

17%

30.30 29.72 2%

in

R4/W11

Kitchen

4.81

27.09 16%

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Ground
Floor

24%

Proposed sq ft

7.44

Bedroom

Proposed sq ft

R3/W4

Previous sq ft

Proposed (%)

Basement

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Existing (%)
9.81

24 North Room / Room use
Window
Road

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)
in

Vertical
Component

30.13 29.78 2%

Page 130

R4/W7
R4/W8

Bedroom

34.92

24.99 28%

6.06

5.59

8%

34.77

24.05 31%

8.2

7.2

12%

34.51

23.24 33%
13.08 9.24

Bedroom

5.63

5.5

Second
Floor

R1/W1

Second
Floor

R1/W2

Second
Floor

R1/W3

Second
Floor

R1/W4

Second
Floor
Second
Floor
Second
Floor
Second
Floor

Living
Room

Previous sq ft

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Proposed (%)

Existing (%)

24 North
Room / Room use
Road
Window
(2nd
floor)

35.93

35.93 0%

Living
Room
Living
Room

35.99

35.99 0%

36.26

29.66 N/A

36.23

28.76 N/A

R2/W5

Living
Room
Kitchen

36.13

27.83 28%

6.06

5.71

6%

R3/W6

Bedroom

36.01

26.98 25%

8.19

7.42

9%

35.83

26.28 27%

R4/W7

30.08 29.75 1%

12.69 8.93
Bedroom

11.27

11.2

Third Floor
Third Floor
Third Floor

R1/W1
R1/W2
R1/W3
R1/W4

Living
Room

34

34

Living
Room
Living
Room

34.04

34.04 N/A

34.65

29.48 N/A

Living
Room

34.59

28.7

Previous sq ft

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Proposed (%)

Existing (%)

30%

1%
in

R4/W8

Bedroom

24 North Room / Room use
Road (3rd Window
floor)

Third Floor

29%

2%
in

First Floor

Bedroom

26.02 26%

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

First Floor

R3/W6

35.02

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

First Floor

R2/W5

Living
Room
Kitchen

Proposed sq ft

First Floor

R1/W4

Proposed sq ft

First Floor

N/A

27.82 27.21 2%

Page 131

N/A

Third Floor
Third Floor
Third Floor
Third Floor

R2/W5

Kitchen

R3/W6

Bedroom

R4/W7
R4/W8

Bedroom

34.52

27.91 N/A

5.97

5.04

16%

34.41

27.18 N/A

8.11

5.79

29%

34.28

26.58 22%
12.38 10.49 15%

Bedroom

14.68

14.64 0%

9.113 As can be seen from the results within the table, there are several windows that would be adversely
affected by the development, i.e. with a VSC of less than 0.8 of their former value. In most cases,
these windows serve rooms whose access to daylight as measured by the ‘no sky line’ would not
be adversely affected as they would retain at least 0.8 of the former value of their daylight
distribution. There are however three cases where both VSC and daylight distribution losses would
be slightly above the BRE guidance. As such, a ground floor kitchen and bedrooms at first and
second floor level would experience VSC and daylight distribution losses of slightly above 20% of
their former value. It should be noted that these rooms are all part of dwellings whose other rooms
would not be adversely affected.
Lambfold House
9.114 Dwellings within the existing estate buildings would also in some cases be affected by the proposed
development, in particular Lambfold House, given the relative proximity of proposed Block B. The
results of the daylight assessment on this property are shown in the table below:

First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor

R1/W2
R2/W3

Bedroom
Bedroom

R2/W4

Bedroom

R5/W5

LKD

R5/W6

LKD

R5/W7

LKD

R6/W9

Kitchen

R7/W10

Living Room

33.7

33.68 N/A

33.11

33.09 N/A

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Previous sq ft

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Proposed (%)

Existing (%)

Lambfold Room / Room use
Window
House

Proposed sq ft

Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)
in

Vertical
Component

12.88 12.88 0%

13.94 13.94 0%
29.42

24.85 16%

32.11

20.06 38%

35.43

24.5

35.39

27.42 N/A

35.62

29.79 N/A

8.4

35.54

29.85 N/A

22.83 22.83 0%

31%

Page 132

32.42 32.42 0%

8.4

0%

First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor
First Floor

R8/W11
R9/W12

Bedroom

33.23

21.76 35%

16.44 10.98 33%

Living Room 32.21

21.06 35%

21.69 18.86 13%

31.42

20.98 33%

9.13

5.41

41%

30.45

20.77 32%

9.12

7.10

22%

29.09

20.25 30%

21.2

20.96 1%

27.12

19.67 27%

22.18 22.18 0%

25.76

19.35 25%

R10/W13 Kitchen
R11/W14 Kitchen
R12/W15 Living Room
R13/W16 Living Room
R14/W17 Kitchen
R14/W18 Kitchen
R15/W21 Bedroom
R15/W22 Bedroom
R16/W23 Bedroom

9.19
15.07

14.98 1%

21.59

9.63

9.16

0%

55%
13.61 13.61 0%

34.06

31.48 N/A

34.16

32.62 N/A

12.91 12.91 0%

Lambfold House (Axonometric View)

9.115 The table above demonstrates that 3 rooms on the first floor of Lambfold House would be noticeably
affected in terms of natural daylight with retained levels of VSC below 27% and both VSC and
daylight distribution losses of more than 20%. One of these rooms is a bedroom, while the other
two are small kitchens. As you move up the building the impacts are similar though understandably
less the higher up you go until you get to the 4th floor at which point there are no noticeable impacts
on daylight to any of the habitable rooms. The vast majority of windows at this level have retained
levels of VSC above 27% and as such enough skylight is considered to be reaching the windows.
The table below shows the impacts at 3rd floor for reference and comparison:

Page 133

Third
Floor

R1/W2

Third
Floor
Third
Floor

R2/W3

Bedroom
Bedroom

R2/W4

Bedroom

Third
Floor

R4/W6

Kitchen

Third
Floor

R4/W7

37.28

37.27 N/A

36.88

36.88 N/A

12.24 12.24 0%

14.58 14.58 0%
33.41

29.73 N/A

35.14

24.38 N/A
9.41

Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor

R5/W8

Kitchen

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Previous sq ft

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Proposed (%)

Existing (%)

Lambfold Room / Room use
Window
House

Proposed sq ft

Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)
in

Vertical
Component

9.41

0%

37.39

27.88 N/A

Living Room 37.35

30.60 N/A

21.70 21.70 0%

37.54

33.04 N/A

8.40

37.47

33.12 N/A

22.83 22.83 0%

35.46

26.30 26%

16.44 11.22 32%

Living Room 34.59

25.63 26%

21.69 19.05 12%

33.91

25.59 25%

9.12

6.16

32%

33.09

25.36 23%

9.13

7.65

16%

31.91

24.83 22%

22.20 22.01 1%

30.26

24.33 20%

22.18 22.18 0%

29.15

24.12 17%

R6/W9

Kitchen

R7/W10

Living Room

Third
Floor

R8/W11

Bedroom

Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor
Third
Floor

R9/W12

R10/W13 Kitchen
R11/W14 Kitchen
R12/W15 Living Room
R13/W16 Living Room
R14/W17 Kitchen
R14/W18 Kitchen
R17/W21 Bedroom
R17/W22 Bedroom

9.19
16.90

16.85 0%

22.03

15.89 28%

8.40

9.19

0%

0%

13.61 13.61 0%
37.26

36.03 N/A

Page 134

Third
Floor

R18/W23 Bedroom

37.37

36.69 N/A

12.91 12.91 0%

9.116 Dwellings within Kinefold House would also be affected because of the proximity of proposed new
Block C as well as proposed Block D which would impact on access to daylight as show in the
image below.

Kinefold and Penfields House (Axonometric View)

9.117 Kinefold House has dwellings at ground floor level facing west as well as east towards Block D, so
these would experience losses of daylight, as shown in the table below. The most affected windows
and rooms are those facing east towards Block D.

R5/W6

35.21

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor

Living Room

Previous sq ft

R2/W3

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Ground
Floor

Proposed (%)

Room / Room use
Window

Existing (%)

Kinefold
House

Proposed sq ft

Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)
in

Vertical
Component

27.23 N/A

20.83 17.26 17%

23.11 22%

18.21 15.68 14%

31.36

23.70 24%

13.65 7.71

44%

Living Room 29.67

R7/W9

Bedroom

Ground
Floor

R8/W10

Bedroom

31.76

23.78 25%

11.88 6.86

42%

Ground
Floor

R9/W9

Bedroom

32.16

23.89 26%

14.51 7.53

48%

Living Room 32.12

23.65 26%

18.44 11.58 37%

23.58 26%

18.92 10.93 42%

Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor

R11/W14

R12/W15 Living Room

31.91

Page 135

Ground
Floor

R14/W18 Bedroom

Ground
Floor

R15/W19 Bedroom

Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor
Ground
Floor

R16/W20

Bedroom

R18/W23 Living Room
R21/W26 Living Room
R23/W29 Bedroom

31.00

23.38 25%

14.3

8.25

42%

30.13

23.01 24%

10.97 7.51

32%

29.40

22.71 23%

12.96 8.83

32%

27.01

21.44 21%

16.09 14.99 7%

34.90

33.50 N/A

20.82 20.45 2%

35.08

33.73 N/A

10.16 10.16 0%

9.117 Despite relatively high retained levels of VSC, a total of 6 bedrooms and 2 living rooms would be
noticeably affected in terms of loss of daylight. As you move up the building however, impacts
become considerably less to the extent that only two galley kitchens and one bedroom would
experience minor noticeable daylight impacts, while no habitable accommodation above 1st floor
level would be noticeably affected by the proposal in terms of loss of daylight. Dwellings within
Penfield House are least affected by the proposal given its position relative to proposed built form.
A number of bedroom windows in this building would experience noticeable losses of daylight,
however these are secondary windows in the building’s flank elevation which serve bedrooms
whose daylight distribution would not be affected by the proposal. Neither would any of the rooms
or windows within Shepherd House be affected by loss of daylight.

No 119 R1/W1
Ground
Floor
No 121 R1/W1
Ground
Floor
No 123 R1/W1
Ground
Floor

Percentage
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Proposed sq ft

Previous sq ft

Percentage
reduction
VSC

Room / Room use
Window

Proposed (%)

York
Way

Existing (%)

in

9.118 In general the proposed built form is a sufficient distance from other surrounding residential
properties, but there are a few isolated examples of daylight loss outside the estate on York Way.
As such, the ground floor living rooms at 119-123 York Way would be adversely affected in terms
of loss of daylight as a result of the proposed development. While none of the windows would result
in significant losses of VSC, the rooms they serve would experience noticeable losses of daylight
distribution as shown below:

Living Room

Living Room

29.72

24.57 17%

12.20 9.21

25%

30.10

24.56 18%

12.59 8.70

31%

30.42

24.88 18%

12.82 9.57

25%

Living Room

9.119 No other residential properties in the surrounding area would experience noticeable adverse
impacts in terms of loss of daylight as a result of the proposed development. The VSC test results
show that in total 839 windows (92%) of the 912 surrounding windows tested would adhere to the
BRE guidelines, whereas 631 (96%) of the 657 rooms tested would adhere to the BRE guidelines.
It is considered that despite the significant built form proposed, the design and location of the
proposed buildings is such that daylight impacts have been minimised.

Page 136

Affects on Sunlight
9.120 Given the orientation of the buildings involved, in particular that the most-affected windows have a
south-easterly orientation, one would expect sunlight losses to be of a similar magnitude. In fact
99% of the rooms, 330 out of a total of 332 rooms with south-facing windows, would pass the
annual sunlight test, with 98% (327 rooms) meeting the winter sunlight test.
9.121 As can be seen from the table below, losses of greater than 20% of annual probable sunlight hours
are experienced in two basement rooms. Moreover, in both cases the rooms would receive less
than 25% annual probable sunlight hours with a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year
greater than 4% of annual probable sunlight hours. As such, both rooms are considered to
experience adverse impacts as a result of the development in terms of loss of sunlight. All of the
other rooms within 24 North Road would meet BRE guidelines in terms of loss of sunlight.
24 North
Road (The
Lion Pub)
Basement
Basement
Ground Floor

Room
Use

Existing

Unknown 24
Bedroom 18
KD
59

Annual (APSH)
Winter (WPSH)
Proposed %
Existing
Proposed
%
Reduction
Reduction
16
11
35

33%
39%
N/A

2
0
7

0
0
1

100%
0%
86%

9.122 Lambfold House is the only other building in which rooms would experience adverse losses of
sunlight beyond the BRE guidelines. The results of the sunlight tests in the rooms that fail the test
are shown below:
Lambfold
House
1st Floor
2nd Floor

Room
Use
Bedroom
Kitchen

Existing
40
41

Annual (APSH)
Winter (WPSH)
Proposed %
Existing
Proposed
Reduction
28
N/A
9
2
31
N/A
9
1

%
Reduction
78%
89%

9.123 In both cases the rooms would retain good levels of annual sunlight hours, but the winter sunlight
hours would be affected more considerably beyond BRE guidelines. All other rooms tested within
the estate as well as in the surrounding area would meet BRE guidelines in terms of loss of sunlight.
Overshadowing
9.124 The proposal would result in the overshadowing of part of the external amenity space of 24 North
Road, which also needs to be taken into consideration. The BRE guidance recommends applying
the following test when assessing impacts on sunlight & overshadowing of gardens/amenity space:
“It is recommended that for it to appear adequately sunlit throughout the year, at least
half of a garden or amenity area should receive at least 2 hours of sunlight on 21 March.
If as a result of new development an existing garden or amenity area does not meet
the above, and the area which can receive 2 hours of sun on 21 March is less than 0.8
times its former value, then the loss of sunlight is likely to be noticeable. If a detailed
calculation cannot be carried out, it is recommended that the centre of the area should
receive at least 2 hours of sunlight on 21 March.”

Page 137

Overshadowing of gardens on 21st March Existing and Proposed
9.125 The two private amenity spaces shown above have been assessed for overshadowing using the
two hour sun on ground test explained above. These rear yard spaces are behind relatively high
walls and are party overshadowed by the former Lion pub itself; as such, the amount of sunlight
afforded to these private amenity areas is very modest in the existing situation. The site is located
directly to the south-west of the gardens and as a result there would be some additional shadowing
as a result of any form of redevelopment of the site. The area hatched in yellow is the area that
would receive at least 2 hours of sunlight on the 21st March, existing on the left and proposed on
the right.
9.126 In both cases, the area exposed to sunlight for more than 2 hours on the 21st March would be less
than 0.8 of its former value, i.e. there would be a reduction of more than 20%. No other amenity
spaces in surrounding properties would experience unacceptable overshadowing as a result of the
proposed development. Nonetheless, the losses experienced at 24 North Road need to be fully
considered when weighing up the planning balance for this planning application.
9.127 In terms of amenity space within the estate, the vast majority of the lawns and gardens would
receive at least 2 hours of sunlight on the 21st March and would meet the BRE guidelines in this
respect. The results of the sunlight / overshadowing assessment for the external spaces on the
estate is shown below.

Sunlight/Overshadowing of Amenity Space

Page 138

Overlooking
9.128 Development Management Policy 2.1 states that ‘to protect privacy for residential developments
and existing residential properties, there should be a minimum distance of 18 metres between
windows of habitable rooms. This does not apply across the public highway, overlooking across a
public highway does not constitute an unacceptable loss of privacy’.
9.129 Each of the 5-sided buildings face onto York Way to the west and thus overlooking in this direction
is not considered to be an issue. However, overlooking within the estate itself and to the residential
properties in the old lion pub (24 North Road) needs to be fully considered. Proposed Block A faces
adopted highway to the west and north and green space to the south, but looks onto existing
dwellings to the east and south-east. The distance between Block A and 24 North Road is some
15 metres at its closest which could potentially give rise to unacceptable overlooking. In
consideration of this, it is recommended that screening is installed on the eastern side of the
balcony facing this neighbouring property across all floors above ground floor of Block A.
Furthermore, it is recommended that two of the windows across all floors above ground floor on
the building’s eastern elevation, one of which serves a living room and one of which serves a
bedroom, would be fitted with a form of obscured glazing to protect privacy. Details of this would
be required by condition (32) in the event of planning permission being granted.

Windows to be obscured

Proposed Building A
9.130 Building A is also in close proximity, a distance of only 9 metres, to the existing estate building of
Lambfold House. The proposed building has been designed so that overlooking to this building is
suitably reduced and none of the proposed windows would face this neighbouring building directly,
though one kitchen window would do so at an acute angle. There is however a balcony in the
southern corner of the proposed building that would need to be suitably screened across all upper
floors to mitigate against overlooking. Details for this would be required by way of condition (32) in
the event of planning permission being granted.
9.131 Proposed Building B is also situated within 18 metres of Lambfold House; as such privacy and
overlooking needs to be fully examined. No windows or balconies are proposed at the building’s
closest point to Lambfold House, but the closest window-window distance is some 17 metres. Two
bedroom windows on the building’s eastern elevation would need to be suitably obscured to protect
privacy as shown on the plan below. Similarly, one side of the building’s southern balcony would
need to be screened to protect against overlooking to a window in the side elevation of Kinefold
House

Page 139

Windows to be obscured

Proposed Building B
9.132 With regard to proposed Block C, this is some 12 metres away from Kinefold House at its closest
point. At this point, however, any proposed windows face the stair core of Kinefold House so no
privacy issues would arise. Proposed windows within Block C are angled away from closest
windows serving habitable accommodation within Kinefold House and are sufficiently far away from
both Shepherd House and Penfield House. Nonetheless, one of the sides of the balconies in the
north-eastern corner of this building would need to be suitably screened in order to protect the
privacy of residents within Kinefold House. Further details would be required by condition (32) in
the event of planning permission being granted.

Proposed Building C
9.133 In terms of Block D, this is located on the rear (eastern) boundary of the estate and is positioned
at a suitable distance from both Kinefold House to the west and buildings on Drovers Way to the
east. To the north and south, the proposed building is within the 18m minimum distance to Lambfold
House and Penfield House respectively, but there are no windows in the flank elevations of existing
or proposed buildings which would give rise to overlooking issues.

Page 140

Proposed Block D
Noise & Disturbance
9.134 The application includes a comprehensive noise report which is informed by previous discussions
with the Council at pre-application stage about noise issues. It includes reference to the relevant
Acoustics, Ventilation and Overheating guidance as well as the ProPG (Professional Planning
Guidance) guidance. To control external noise ingress for the proposed residential, condition 11
is advised. It should be noted that the design does include balconies facing onto York Way and
these would be exposed to high noise levels, in excess of the WHO / BS8233 guidance. It is
recommended that further details (condition 14) would be required of the balconies facing York
Way so that they are designed in a way to maximise screening and absorption.
9.135 The report submitted with the application also highlights the noise from the existing lift plant on
Kinefold House. This needs considerable work to reduce the noise at source to mitigate the impact
for the residents of the proposed units. The report recommends further work in investigating the
noise and condition 12 is advised to minimise the impacts for potential receptors.
9.136 The development has a community hub and estates office at ground floor with residential directly
above the office and adjacent to both on the ground floor. The report assumes a maximum sound
level within the space of 85dBA and outlines a potential sound insulation scheme with that figure.
It is noted that this would mean amplified music for private hire events and parties would not be
appropriate. The applicant is reminded of this and the subsequent management of the space in
line with that. Condition 13 is recommended for this purpose.
Outlook
9.137 Outlook, sense of enclosure and over-dominance of buildings is often referred to and is in fact
cited within Policy DM2.1 as a material consideration. Given the relatively open nature of much of
the existing estate, the development of a series of 7-storey buildings along York Way and a further
4-storey building on the estate’s eastern boundary would undoubtedly affect neighbours’ outlook
from their properties. However, the proposed buildings are considered to be sympathetic in terms
of height and massing and relationship with surrounding townscape and their introduction is not
considered in this respect to create an unusual or unreasonable relationship to surrounding
properties in the estate or in the surrounding area.

Page 141

Construction Impacts
9.138 While construction impacts arising from a development are not on the whole a material planning
consideration, a number of residential occupiers residing in properties neighbouring the site have
raised concerns about the impacts on their lives from the demolition and construction impacts.
9.139 It is not considered to be a particularly challenging site to construct on, given its 3 frontages onto
adopted highway. Nonetheless, construction could indeed result in noise, disturbance, dust and
vibration impacts among other things which can be minimised if managed properly. Moreover, this
is a major development on the estate and there will be inevitable impacts from the
construction. The submission includes a CMP but this needs further work and the contractor has
not been confirmed yet. Again a CMP condition (5) and S106 CoPCS response document is
recommended in the event of planning permission being granted.
Safety & Security
9.140 In terms of safety and security, the Designing out Crime Officer of the Metrolpolitan Police was
consulted raising several issues that needed to be addressed. Concerns were raised about the
proximity of ground floor windows to communal spaces. Defensible planting has proposed to all
ground floor windows. In particular building D proposes a 1.7m zone which is considered to be
sufficient and exceeds Islington’s Local Plan 2019 requirement of 1.5m. Further details would be
required by the landscaping condition (22) to ensure that the defensible space and planting is
appropriate.
9.141 The community centre also needs careful consideration as the garden could be an attractive place
to gather and cause anti-social behaviour out of office hours. This can be achieved by enclosing
the space with fencing or, alternatively, having it completely open so that surveillance into the area
is unrestricted. Currently the application proposes a 1m high fence to enclose the area should the
space be used as a nursery, but low and permeable so that surveillance is not restricted. There
are no hidden spaces. In any case, further details would be required through detailed landscaping
condition.
9.142 Further security measures would be required to ensure that the safety of existing and future
residents is protected. These include security entrance doors to all buildings, access control of the
lifts and stairwells, security-rated glazing, encrypted fob access for the bike and bin stores,
appropriate CCTV and security lighting. These elements would form part of the Secured by Design
accreditation which would be required by condition (31) and additional lighting details would be
required through condition (9).
Other impacts
9.143 The development has been designed for ground source heat pumps rather than a CHP/boiler and
with no increase in parking it is advised as Air Quality Neutral. The predicted concentrations for
the main pollutants for the site are below the AQ objectives and no further work is expressly
required. The development includes the demolition of the MUGA and no direct replacement on the
site. These areas can lead to complaints about noise and ASB and the lack of the re-provision is
considered to address this.
9.144 The lighting report submitted with the application considers the impact of the current design. The
report refers to relevant guidance and assessment and suggests compliance. The plan sets out
luminaire type, number and position and is considered acceptable in principle subject to the
assessment and consideration of further details through condition 9.
9.145 The ground investigation report includes sampling at the site with elevated levels of lead and PAHs
found. This requires a full remediation strategy to be compiled for the site to deal with any potential
pollution linkage and condition 16 is recommended for this purpose.

Page 142

Conclusion
9.146 In conclusion, the proposed development is not considered to result in unacceptable impacts in
terms of loss of daylight and sunlight, privacy, outlook, construction, noise and disturbance, subject
to appropriate conditions to mitigate impacts as detailed in Appendix 1 of this report. As such, the
application is considered to be acceptable in this regard and in accordance with relevant London
Plan Policies and Islington Policy DM2.1 (Design).
Highways and Transportation
9.147 The site has a good PTAL (Public Transport Accessibility Level) of 4 and is served by several bus
routes within walking distance on York Way, Market Road and York Road. Caledonian Road
Underground station is also within walking distance. An east-west cycle route runs along the
southern boundary of the site and one runs north-south along York Way. The site is well-connected
by foot and bike and is considered to be accessible by public transport. The site is within the
Holloway West CPZ with restricted parking during weekday working hours.
9.148 Vehicular entrance to the estate is from Market Road to the south, North Road to the north and a
further emergency/delivery vehicle access point from York Way. There are several pedestrian
entrances to the estate along each of the three street frontages. There are currently 205 car parking
spaces and 30 garages on-site, of which 5 are used by the Estate for storage. The parking provision
on-site is generally underused so that 102 parking spaces are currently used, with 60 let to
residents on-site and 42 to private/commercial users.
9.149 Chapter 10 of the new London Plan (2021) sets out transport policies and locally, Core Strategy
policies CS10 and CS18 and chapter 8 of the Development Management Policies set out the
Council’s transport policies with chapter 7 setting out transport policies in the emerging Local Plan
Policies.
9.150 The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment which provides details of the existing
highways network and transport infrastructure as well as the existing and proposed delivery /
servicing arrangement, car parking, cycle parking and pedestrian movements. The application is
also accompanied by a Active Travel Zone audit with recommendations for improvements to the
highway network following the principles of Health Streets Indicators. Some of these improvements,
in particular those related to trips by bus and bike including benches and cycle parking stands
outside of the site itself, would be delivered as part of this application and financed by the applicant
through the section 106 agreement.
9.151 It is proposed to retain 30 garages and 100 car parking spaces for the existing development. There
would be 92 parking spaces in the basement and 8 spaces at ground floor level for existing users,
of which 4 are for maintenance vehicles and 4 for general users. A further 10 wheelchair accessible
parking bays would be provided in the basement for the future occupiers of the wheelchair
accessible (Category 3) housing. This is in accordance with relevant London Plan and Islington
policies. A management plan would be required by condition (36) to demonstrate how vehicle use
and car parking will be managed across the estate and the eligibility for new residents to apply for
on-street parking permits would be removed through the legal agreement.
9.152 In terms of cycle parking, a total of 170 spaces (166 short-stay and 4 long-stay) would be provided
across the development, in accordance with London Plan standards. A total of 34 cyle parking
spaces would be accommodated at ground floor level in each of Block A and B. Block C is the
largest of the proposed buildings would consequently accommodate 64 long-term spaces with a
further 34 spaces proposed in Block D. In addition, there would be space for non-standard cyle
spaces and 4 mobility scooter spaces in accordance with relevant guidance and policy.
9.153 Currently, a significant amount of the estate’s refuse/recycling arrangements takes place off-site
along York Way. The proposal would accommodate all refuse and recycling pick-up from within the

Page 143

estate as shown on plan below. This has been discussed and agreed with the Council’s Waste &
Recycling Operations.

Proposed Servicing Strategy
9.154 In terms of servicing and delivery, the application is accompanied by a Delviery and Servicing Plan
which outlines expected number of vehicles to and from the site as a result of the development. It
is anticipated that the development would result in an additional 10 larger good vehicles movements
on a daily basis. While the applicant has demonstrated how this could be accommodated on site,
the Council’s Highways Officer has raised some issues with the methodology and thus further
details would be required through condition (20) to ensure that servicing and delivery does not
prejudice highways and pedestrian safety.
9.155 The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of highways impacts and sustainable
transport options, subject to conditions on cycle parking (8), servicing/delivery (20) and construction
logistics/management (5). The application sets out adequate provision for waste storage,
accessibility, cycling, collections and deliveries, and includes some measures to promote
sustainable modes of transport. The Council’s Highways / Transport Officers raised issues that
have suitably addressed. The proposal would be acceptable in highways terms and would comply
with Islington Core Strategy (2011) Policies CS11 and CS13; Islington Development Management
Policies DM8.2, DM8.5 and 8.6.The proposal is therefore acceptable in terms of transport /
highways subject to conditions and S106 contributions.

Inclusive design
9.156 London Plan Policy D5 (previously Policy 7.2) requires all new development to achieve the highest
standards of accessible and inclusive design, and refers to the Mayor’s Accessible London SPG.
At the local level, Development Management Policy DM2.2 requires all developments to
demonstrate that they i) provide for ease of and versatility in use; ii) deliver safe, legible and logical
environments; iii) produce places and spaces that are convenient and enjoyable to use for
everyone; and iv) bring together the design and management of a development from the outset
and over its lifetime. Islington’s Inclusive Design SPD provide details of how inclusive design
principles should be met.
9.157 The applicant was involved at pre-application stage and a number of constructive meetings have
taken place previously which has fed into the detail of the planning application. The development
proposes 10 wheelchair accessible (Category 3) dwellings – focused on Buidling C - as well as 10
associated wheelchair accessible parking bays (condition 25) in accordance with adopted policy
and guidance. In terms of cycle parking, this is provided at the entrance of each of the new blocks

Page 144

except for Block C where it is provided in the basement which is accessible via a platform lift.
Further details of the storage layout and types of rack would be required by condition (19) in the
event of planning permission being granted.
9.158 The internal spaces, including corridor and door widths as well as bedroom and bathroom
dimensions have been designed with inclusivity in mind and would meet relevant standards. The
provision of the accessible kitchen, accessible toilet and separate baby changing unit in the
community centre is welcomed. In terms of the bin stores, these must be accessible to all. As such,
step-free access has been provided and the door specifications would be required by condition
(19) to ensure they meet inclusive design principles. Block D includes duplex apartments over two
levels with access provided by a staircase. These will need to include soft-spots for potential
adaptation (condition 19) and would need to meet Category 2 Housing standards (condition 15).
9.159 In terms of outdoor spaces, the seating areas should provide choice and comfort; and as such,
seating areas must provide options of back and arms rests which will be required by condition (22).
The demarcation kerb along the play street is welcome and supported. The community planting
area should incorporate at detailed design stage areas that are fully wheelchair accessible, with
beds at different heights to be enjoyed by everyone, with further details required through the
landscaping condition (22). The provision of fitness facilities on the podium is supported. Play
provision should also comply with the inclusive landscape design SPD, details required by
condition.
9.160 Further details are required to be submitted to demonstrate complicance with the requirements of
Policy DM2.2 and the Inclusive Design SPD. Recomended conditions 19, 22 and 36 would secure
these requirements.
Energy and Sustainability
9.161 The new London Plan Policy SI.2 stipulates for new developments to aim to be zero carbon with a
requirement for a detailed energy strategy to demonstrate how the zero-carbon target will be met
within the framework of the energy hierarchy. Policy SI.2 also requires all development proposals
to contribute towards climate change mitigation by reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 35%
through the use of less energy (be lean), energy efficient design (be clean) and the incorporation
of renewable energy (be green). Moreover, where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero carbon
figure can not be achieved then any shortfall should be provided through a cash contribution
towards the Council’s carbon offset fund. The new London Plan has only recently been adopted so
the applicant’s energy strategy has focused on meeting adopted local policies, which are broadly
in line with new London Plan Policies.
9.162 Policy SI.4 ‘Managing Heat Risk’ of the new London Plan requires for development proposals to
minimise adverse impacts on the urban heat island through design, layout, orientation, materials
and the incorporation of green infrastructure. Policy SI.7 ‘Reducing waste’ states that resource
conservation, waste reduction, increases in material reuse and recycling, and reductions in waste
going for disposal will be achieved by the Mayor, waste planning authorities and industry working
in collaboration to promote a more circular economy that improves resource efficiency and
innovation to keep products and materials at their highest use for as long as possible.
9.163 Core Strategy Policy CS10 requires it to be demonstrated that new development has been
designed to minimise onsite carbon dioxide emissions by maximising energy efficiency, supplying
energy efficiently and using onsite renewable energy generation. Developments should achieve a
total (regulated and unregulated) CO2 emissions reduction of at least 27% relative to total
emissions from a building which complies with Building Regulations 2013 (39% where connection
to a Decentralised Heating Network is possible). Typically, all remaining CO2 emissions should be
offset through a financial contribution towards measures which reduce CO2 emissions from the
existing building stock.

Page 145

BE LEAN (Energy efficiency standards)
9.164 Council’s Environmental Design SPD states ‘The highest possible standards of thermal insulation
and air tightness and energy efficient lighting should be specified’. ‘U values’ are a measure of heat
loss from a building and a low value indicates good insulation. The proposed U-values for the
development are: external walls = 0.15w/m²k, roof = 0.1 w/m²k, floors = 0.1 w/m²k and glazing =
0.8w/m²k. These U-values are consistent with (and improvements on) the values suggested in the
Council’s SPD. The air permeability would be 1.0³/m²/hr for the residential and 1.0³/m²/hr for the
non-residential element.
9.165 Low-energy lighting is proposed throughout the development, with efficacies specified for the nonresidential element alongside daylight sensors and presence detection. The residential element
achieves energy efficiency savings on regulated emissions of 30.3% and the non-residential
element achieves savings of 33.3%. Therefore, both elements achieve the GLA’s targets of 10%
for residential development and 15% for non-residential development.
BE CLEAN (Low-carbon Energy Supply)
9.166 Development Management Policy DM7.3(B) requires that proposals for major developments within
500m of an existing or planned District Energy Network (DEN) should be accompanied by a
feasibility assessment of connection to that network, to determine whether connection is
reasonably possible. The energy statement references connection to a heat network and the
London Heat map, but implicitly rules this out. There is no existing or committed network within
500m of the development, so this is accepted.
9.167 The development is to be designed with a shared ambient loop, served by a closed-loop ground
source heat pump system. This would also be linked to cooling coils within the MVHR system,
allowing potential reuse of this waste heat. Individual water-to-water heat pumps would be installed
into each residential unit, and these would upgrade the ambient heat to provide heating and hot
water to each unit. For the non-residential element, it is proposed that heating and cooling is
provided via a separate air source heat pump system. The proposed system is shared loop which
includes a network of bore holes connected to each other and serving individual heat pumps in
each dwelling with the advantage of comprehensive energy usage savings as well as no addition
service charges for residents.
BE GREEN (Renewable Energy Supply)
9.168 The Energy Statement includes a review of biomass, solar thermal, ground source heat pumps and
wind turbines which have been discounted for vaild reasons. Biomass heating has been discounted
due to the biomass/biofuel transportation impact. Adjacency to residential/commercial
developments with consequent flue implications also represents a potential constraint. Stand-alone
wind turbines and roof-mounted wind turbines have been discounted for valid reasons.
9.169 Ground and air source heat pumps are proposed, and these have been discussed
above. Solar PV arrays are also proposed for the development. This seems to cover much of the
available roof area and is supported. However, further information would need to be provided
covering square metre coverage and the anticipated kWp and kWh/yr outputs. As such, in the
event of planning permission being granted, further details would be required by condition (29) to
demonstrate how solar PVs have been maximised.
9.170 Green Performance Plan: Islington Development Management Policy DM7.1 (Sustainable design
and construction) part E requires provision of a Green Performance Plan (GPP) detailing
measurable outputs for the occupied development, with respect to energy consumption, CO2
emissions and water use, and setting out arrangements for monitoring the plan over the first years
of occupation.
9.171 An outline Green Performance Plan has been provided. The information provided so far is

Page 146

considered satisfactory; however, more detail should be given as per the guidance in the
Environmental Design SPD. In cases where information is not yet available, this should be provided
in the final GPP. Numerical targets, based on the modelled energy data, should also be set.
9.172 It is recommended that the s106 legal agreement includes the requirement for the submission of a
final GPP to include measurable water and energy targets and for a final post occupation Green
Performance Plan to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority following an agreed monitoring
period.
9.173 Carbon Emissions: Policy CS10A promotes zero carbon development by minimising on-site carbon
dioxide emissions, promoting decentralised energy networks and by requiring development to
offset all remaining CO2 emissions associated with the building through a financial contribution
towards measures which reduce CO2 emissions from the existing building stock.
9.174 Paragraphs 2.0.8 – 2.0.10 detail the Council’s energy hierarchy which should be followed in
meeting the Council’s CO2 emissions reduction target. The final stage of the hierarchy requires
developers to:
‘…offset all remaining CO2 emissions (Policy CS10) through a financial contribution, secured via
a Section 106 agreement, towards measures which reduce CO2 emissions from the existing
building stock (e.g. through solid wall insulation of social housing). For all major developments the
financial contribution shall be calculated based on an established price per tonne of CO2 for
Islington. The price per annual tonne of carbon is currently set at £920, based on analysis of the
costs and carbon savings of retrofit measures suitable for properties in Islington.’
9.175 The London Plan sets out a CO2 reduction target, for regulated emissions only, of 40% against
Building Regulations 2010 and 35% against Building Regulations 2013. Based
on SAP10 carbon factors, a regulated emissions saving of 55.1%, against a Part L 2013
baseline is predicted. This clearly exceeds the London Plan target. Based on SAP10 carbon
factors, a saving of 41.0% is predicted for the development. This exceeds the Council target
of 27%.
9.176 The energy statement quotes an offset contribution of £139,048. However, this calculation is
based on the London Plan methodology. Islington’s approach is not yet aligned with the London
Plan (although this will happen shortly). Therefore, based on the current Islington approach (91
tonnes of total remaining emissions at £920 per tonne), the offset contribution will amount
to £83,812.
9.177 Sustainability features: Through the incorporation of sustainable design and construction methods,
energy, water and waste saving measures the proposed development is considered to be
environmentally sustainable. The building has been designed to minimise the risk of overheating
and the consequent reliance on cooling or mechanical ventilation. The ecology of the site will be
enhanced through the protection of the most valuable ecological assets on site and the provision
of new well-chosen biodiversity features.
9.178 The application includes objectives to minimise waste generated on site during demolition and
construction and to maximise the use of recycled materials. Furthermore, building materials will be
sourced locally to reduce transportation pollution and support the local community. Materials will
be selected based on the environmental impacts as far as is practical (condition 3).
9.179 Overheating and Cooling: Policy DM7.5A requires developments to demonstrate that the proposed
design has maximised passive design measures to control heat gain and deliver passive cooling,
in order to avoid increased vulnerability against rising temperatures whilst minimising energy
intensive cooling. Part B of the policy supports this approach, stating that the use of mechanical
cooling shall not be supported unless evidence is provided to demonstrate that passive design
measures cannot deliver sufficient heat control. Part C of the policy requires applicants to
demonstrate that overheating has been effectively addressed by meeting standards in the latest

Page 147

CIBSE (Chartered Institute of Building Service Engineers) guidance.
9.180 It is noted that Brecknock Primary School – immediately opposite the York Way Estate site – is
likely to require its gas boilers to be replaced in the near future, and that the York Way development
offers the possibility for the ground source system to be extended to serve the school. This would
be subject to the system design and capacity and the technical challenge of bringing any
connection across York Way. However, this represents a clear opportunity for a shared energy
network and therefore, should be investigated thoroughly.
9.181 The applicants have confirmed however that the proposed development is part of the existing
residential estate and has limited space for additional bore holes within the site without significantly
impacting on site landscaping, attenuation and the basement level car park. There are some spare
boreholes proposed to be provided for future expansion of the site however it is unlikely to be
sufficient to serve the school as well. It is also considered that future connection of the school would
unlikely meet the conditions or obligations test of being necessary, relevant to the proposals or
reasonable in all other responses. A detailed heat balance and load review of the school’s need
and timings of the proposed works would be required to assess feasibility and is not currently
available to the applicant.
9.182 Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDS): Policy DM6.6 is concerned with flood prevention and
requires that schemes must be designed to reduce surface water run-off to a ‘greenfield rate’ (8
litre/sec/ha), where feasible. The London Plan requires that drainage run offs in new developments
be reduced by 50% including an allowance for climate change. The proposed development will
reduce the drainage run-off by use of a below-ground attenuation tank, permeable paving and blue
roofs.
9.183 Further detail in relation to the Drainage Strategy will need to be provided in order to ensure that
water-attenuation is maximised. In the event that planning permission is granted these details
would be required through conditions (7, 16 and 22) requiring further details of green roofs, SUDS
details and landscaping details to ensure water-retention is maximised.
Conclusion
9.184 The planning application includes a number of energy efficiency, renewable and green energy and
sustainability measures that would deliver a sustainable form of development subject to planning
conditions and appropriate planning obligations in accordance with London Plan Policies SI.2 and
SI.4, Islington Core Strategy Policy CS10 and Development Management Policies DM6.6, DM7.1,
DM7.3 and DM7.5.
Planning Obligations, Community Infrastructure Levy and local finance considerations
9.185 If the application is approved and the development is implemented, a liability to pay the Islington
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Mayor of London CIL will arise, unless an exemption
applies. CIL is intended to consolidate financial contributions towards the development’s local
infrastructure impacts, and additional separate contributions should not be sought towards the
same infrastructure unless there is an exceptional and demonstrable need as a direct result of the
proposed development. Any further planning obligations which are not covered by the CIL payment
should be sought through a legal agreement under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act,
(1990, amended) and need to comply with the statutory tests set out in the NPPF and CIL
Regulations 2010 (amended) to avoid unjustified double counting.
9.186 Islington’s CIL Regulation 123 infrastructure list (no longer in place, following recent legislative
changes) specifically excluded measures that are required in order to mitigate the direct impacts
of a particular development and if specific off-site measures are required to make the development
acceptable these should be secured through a s.106 agreement.
9.187 In order for the development to mitigate its own direct impacts, and to be acceptable in planning

Page 148

terms the following heads of terms are recommended, secured by a s.106 agreement.


















A bond/deposit to cover costs of repairs to the footway and for repairs to the highway. This
ensures funds are available for the repair and re-instatement of the footways and highways
adjoining the development (paid for by the developer). The bond must be paid before
commencement of works. Any reinstatement works will be carried out by LBI Highways (and
the cost met by the developer or from the bond). Conditions surveys may be required. If this
bond/ deposit exceeds the cost of the works as finally determined, the balance will be
refunded to the developer. Conversely, where the deposit is insufficient to meet costs then
the developer will be required to pay the amount of the shortfall to the Council.
Compliance with the Code of Employment and Training.
Facilitation, during the construction phase of the development, of the following number of
work placements: 2. Each placement must last a minimum of 26 weeks. The London Borough
of Islington’s approved provider/s to recruit for and monitor placements, with the
developer/contractor to pay wages. Within the construction sector there is excellent best
practice of providing an incremental wage increase as the operative gains experience and
improves productivity. The contractor is expected to pay the going rate for an operative, and
industry research indicates that this is invariably above or well above the national minimum
wage and even the London Living Wage (£10.55 as at 15/04/19). If these placements are not
provided, LBI will request a fee of: £10,000
Compliance with the Code of Local Procurement.
Compliance with the Code of Construction Practice, including a monitoring fee of: £1,788 and
submission of site-specific response document to the Code of Construction Practice for
approval of LBI Public Protection, which shall be submitted prior to works commencing.
A contribution towards offsetting any projected residual CO2 emissions of the development,
to be charged at the established price per tonne of CO2 for Islington (currently £920). Total
amount is £83,812.
Submission of a draft framework Travel Plan (for each building) with the planning application,
of a draft full Travel Plan for Council approval prior to occupation, and of a full Travel Plan for
Council approval 6 months from first occupation of the development or phase (provision of
travel plan required subject to thresholds shown in Table 7.1 of the Planning Oblgs SPD).
The submission of a Green Performance Plan.
Connection to a local energy network, if technically and economically viable (burden of proof
will be with the developer to show inability to connect). In the event that a local energy network
is not available or connection to it is not economically viable, the developer should develop
an on-site solution and/or connect to a neighbouring site (a Shared Heating Network) and
future-proof any on-site solution so that in all cases (whether or not an on-site solution has
been provided), the development can be connected to a local energy network if a viable
opportunity arises in the future.
Removal of eligibility for parking permits.
Contribution towards the improvements identified within the ATZ audit.
The provision of 3 accessible parking bays or a contribution of £6,000 towards accessible
transport measures.
Council’s legal fees in preparing the Section 106 agreement and officer’s fees for the
preparation, monitoring and implementation of the Section 106 agreement.

9.188 Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended), the Mayor of London’s and Islington’s Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL) will be chargeable on this application on grant of planning permission. This will be
calculated in accordance with the Mayor’s adopted Community Infrastructure Levy Charging
Schedule 2012 and the Islington adopted Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 2014.

Page 149

10.0

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION
Summary

10.1

The application is for full planning permission for the redevelopment of the site involving the
demolition of existing community centre building and MUGA and the erection of four blocks of
between four and seven storeys (Buildings A, B & C - part six and part seven storeys and Building
D - four storeys) to provide a total of 91 x Class C3 units (17 x studios, 25 x 1-bed, 21 x 2-bed, 25
x 3-bed & 3 x 4-bed), a community centre and estate office, estate wide play space and
landscaping. Alterations to vehicular, service and pedestrian access from North Road, York Way
and Market Road, pedestrian footpaths and ramps, car and cycle parking and other associated
works including landscaping; amenity space; and refuse storage.

10.2

The principle of the planning application, in delivering new residential accommodation for social
rent, is supported. The reprovision of social infrastructure in the form of the the new community
centre is acceptable. The development involves building on existing green space, while also
reproviding open space of an improved quality and biodiversity. As such, in land use terms, the
proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and thus would be consistent
with the aims and objectives of NPPF as well as London Plan Policies GG2, GG4, S1 and H1,
Islington Core Strategy Policy CS12 and emerging Policies H1, G2 and SC1.

10.3

The proposal is considered to introduce well-designed and contextual buildings that would enhance
the surrounding townscape. The development has been sensitively designed to conserve the
setting of neighbouring heritage assets. Moreover, the proposal includes a well-considered
landscape strategy that would increase the site’s Urban Greening Factor. The application is thus
considered to be acceptable in terms of design, appearance and heritage in accordance with
Policies DM2.1, DM2.3, DM2.4 and DM2.5, Islington Core Strategy CS8 and CS9, London Plan
Policies D1, D3, D4 and G5 as well as emerging Local Plan Policies G2, DH1, DH2 and DH3.

10.4

The proposed development is considered to have been designed to minimise impacts on residential
amenity but would nonetheless result in some adverse impacts in terms of loss of daylight and
sunlight on neighbouring residential properties, albeit the adverse impacts are considered to be
outweighed by the overall benefits of the proposals. Other impacts on neighbouring amenity such
as overlooking, outlook, sense of enclosure, noise / disturbance and transport impacts are
considered to have been successfully mitigated and minimised, subject to appropriate conditions
as detailed in Appendix 1. As such, the application is considered to be acceptable and in
accordance with London Plan 2021 policies and Islington Policy DM2.1.

10.5

The proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development on brownfield land in a
sustainable location. The application proposes a number of energy efficiency measures, a
reduction in carbon emissions and on-site renewable energy in accordance with adopted policy.
Moreover, inclusive design measures have been incorporated into the scheme as well as
landscape features and biodiversity measures, in accordance with planning policy.

10.6

Finally, the application includes a section 106 agreement with suitable planning obligations and
financial contributions in order to mitigate the impacts of the development; thus, the planning
application is condidered to be acceptable and in accordance with adopted planning policy, subject
to the planning conditions and planning obligations listed in Appendix 1.
Conclusion

10.7

The proposal is considered to comply with local, regional and national planning policy and
guidance. It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and s106
legal agreement heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1– RECOMMENDATIONS.

Page 150

APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS
RECOMMENDATION A
That planning permission be granted subject to the prior completion of a Deed of Planning Obligation
made under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 between the Council and all persons
with an interest in the land (including mortgagees) in order to secure the following planning obligations
to the satisfaction of the Head of Law and Public Services and the Service Director, Planning and
Development / Head of Service – Development Management or, in their absence, the Deputy Head of
Service.

















A bond/deposit to cover costs of repairs to the footway and for repairs to the highway. This
ensures funds are available for the repair and re-instatement of the footways and highways
adjoining the development (paid for by the developer). The bond must be paid before
commencement of works. Any reinstatement works will be carried out by LBI Highways (and
the cost met by the developer or from the bond). Conditions surveys may be required. If this
bond/ deposit exceeds the cost of the works as finally determined, the balance will be
refunded to the developer. Conversely, where the deposit is insufficient to meet costs then
the developer will be required to pay the amount of the shortfall to the Council.
Compliance with the Code of Employment and Training.
Facilitation, during the construction phase of the development, of the following number of
work placements: 2. Each placement must last a minimum of 26 weeks. The London Borough
of Islington’s approved provider/s to recruit for and monitor placements, with the
developer/contractor to pay wages. Within the construction sector there is excellent best
practice of providing an incremental wage increase as the operative gains experience and
improves productivity. The contractor is expected to pay the going rate for an operative, and
industry research indicates that this is invariably above or well above the national minimum
wage and even the London Living Wage (£10.55 as at 15/04/19). If these placements are not
provided, LBI will request a fee of: £10,000
Compliance with the Code of Local Procurement.
Compliance with the Code of Construction Practice, including a monitoring fee of: £1,788 and
submission of site-specific response document to the Code of Construction Practice for
approval of LBI Public Protection, which shall be submitted prior to works commencing.
A contribution towards offsetting any projected residual CO2 emissions of the development,
to be charged at the established price per tonne of CO2 for Islington (currently £920). Total
amount is £83,812.
Submission of a draft framework Travel Plan (for each building) with the planning application,
of a draft full Travel Plan for Council approval prior to occupation, and of a full Travel Plan for
Council approval 6 months from first occupation of the development or phase (provision of
travel plan required subject to thresholds shown in Table 7.1 of the Planning Oblgs SPD).
The submission of a Green Performance Plan.
Connection to a local energy network, if technically and economically viable (burden of proof
will be with the developer to show inability to connect). In the event that a local energy network
is not available or connection to it is not economically viable, the developer should develop
an on-site solution and/or connect to a neighbouring site (a Shared Heating Network) and
future-proof any on-site solution so that in all cases (whether or not an on-site solution has
been provided), the development can be connected to a local energy network if a viable
opportunity arises in the future.
Removal of eligibility for parking permits.
Contribution towards the improvements identified within the ATZ audit.
The provision of 3 accessible parking bays or a contribution of £6,000 towards accessible
transport measures.

Page 151



Council’s legal fees in preparing the Section 106 agreement and officer’s fees for the
preparation, monitoring and implementation of the Section 106 agreement.

That, should the Section 106 Deed of Planning Obligation not be completed within 13 weeks from
the date when the application was made valid or within the agreed extension of time, the Service
Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management or, in their
absence, the Deputy Head of Service may refuse the application on the grounds that the proposed
development, in the absence of a Deed of Planning Obligation is not acceptable in planning terms.
ALTERNATIVELY, should this application be refused (including refusals on the direction of The
Secretary of State or The Mayor) and appealed to the Secretary of State, the Service Director,
Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management or, in their absence,
the Deputy Head of Service be authorised to enter into a Deed of Planning Obligation under section
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure to the heads of terms as set out in this
report to Committee.

RECOMMENDATION B
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following:
List of Conditions:
1

Commencement (compliance)
CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004 (Chapter 5).

2

Approved plans list (compliance)
CONDITION: The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans and documents:
Existing Drawings 12199-MLUK-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-900100; ZZ-DR-A-900110; ZZ-DR-A900130; ZZ-DR-A-900131; 00-DR-A-900450;
12199-EREC-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-900800; 900801; 900802; 900803; 900804; 900820;
900821; 900822.
Proposed Drawings 12199-MLUK-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-901010; 901030; 901031; 901010;
901099-P01; 90100-P01; 901101-P01; 901102-P01; 901103-P01; 901104-P01;
901105-P01; 901106-P01; 901107-P01; 901200-P01; 901201-P01; 901202-P01;
901203; 901210; 901211; 901212; 901213; 901219; 901220; 901221; 901222; 901223;
901224; 901225; 901226; 901227; 901230-P01; 901231-P01; 901232-P01; 902100;
902101; 902102; 903100; 903101-P01; 903102; 903110; 903111; 903112; 903120;
903121; 903122; 903123; 903124; 903130-P01; 903131-P01; 903132; 903200;
903201; 903202; 903203; 903204-P01; 903205; 903250; 903251; 903252; 903253;
903254-P01; 903255.
12199-EREC-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-901800; 902800; 902801; 902802; 902803; 902804;
902830; 902831; 902832; 902833; 902834; 902835; 902836; 902837; 903820; 903821;
903822.
12199-MLMG-CX-RF-DR-ME-001500-P01-BLOCKC-LEVEL07
12199-MLMG-DX-04-ME-001500 P01 - BLOCK C - LEVEL 07
Accommodation Schedule 908001; Area Schedule 908002.
Air Quality Assessment (March 2021)
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement (March 2021)

Page 152

Tree Protection Plan (Drwg PRI22947-03)
Design and Access Statement (March 2021)
Inclusive Design Statement (March 2021)
Daylight & Sunlight - within Proposed Dwellings and Sunlight to Proposed Amenity
Space (March 2021)
Daylight & Sunlight - Properties Neighbouring the Proposed Development (March 2021)
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (March 2021)
Energy Strategy (March 2021)
Fire Strategy (March 2021)
Flood Risk Assessment & Surface Water Management Strategy (March 2021)
Detailed Unexploded Ordnance (UXO) Risk Assessment (July 2020)
Tier 2 Geoenvironmental Assessment (January 2020)
Health Impact Screening (March 2021)
Heritage Statement (March 2021)
External Lighting Statement (March 2021)
Noise Impact Assessment Report (March 2021)
Planning obligations statement (March 2021)
Planning Statement (March 2021)
Statement of Community Involvement (March 2021)
Sustainability Statement and Green Performance Plan (March 2021)
Healthy Streets Transport Assessment (March 2021)
Delivery and Service Plan (March 2021)
Construction Management Plan Proforma (March 2021)
Active Travel Zone Report (March 2021)
Underground Utility Survey (August 2020)
Archaeological desk- based Assessment (August 2020)
Planning Addendum 01 Report (June 2021)
Drainage Strategy Note - TN001 (June 2021)
Updated UGF calculation (June 2021)
Thermal Comfort Report (Commercial) (June 2021)
Overheating Report (June 2021)
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 as
amended and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the
interest of proper planning.
3

Materials and Samples (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: Detailed drawings and samples of all facing materials shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the relevant phase
commencing on site. The details and samples shall include:
a. Plan, elevation and section drawings, including jambs, head and sill, of all external
windows and doors at a scale of 1:10;
b. Samples and manufacturer's details at a scale of 1:10, of all main facing materials
including brickwork in both primary base bricks, accent bricks and brick clad soffits
and architectural pre-cast concrete balcony slabs, columns, copings, soffits, ground
floor sills and entrance signage;
c. Samples and manufacturer's details of all metalwork including PPC aluminium
window system, sills, canopies, ventilation grilles and soffits and rainwater goods
and bronze PPC steel balustrades, gates, shutters, soffits and gallery access
railings;
d. A full scale sample bay panel should be erected on-site to show a typical window
detail and should be approved by the Council before the relevant parts of the work
are commenced. This should demonstrate the exact facing brick blend and detail
demonstrating the proposed colours, texture, face-bond and pointing and include a
junction with a window opening. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approval given;

Page 153

e. Details of the green roof system
f. Green procurement plan; and
g. g. Any other materials to be used.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details and samples
so approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter and no change therefrom shall take
place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the
resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard
4

Plumbing (No pipes to outside of building) (Compliance)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, no plumbing, down pipes,
rainwater pipes or foul pipes other than those shown on the approved plans shall be
located to the external elevations of buildings hereby approved without obtaining
express planning consent unless submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority as part of discharging this condition.
REASON: The Local Planning Authority considers that such plumbing and pipes would
potentially detract from the appearance of the building and undermine the current
assessment of the application.

5

Construction Management Plan and Construction Logistics Plan (Details)
CONDITION: No construction works shall take place unless and until a Construction
Management Plan (CMP) and a Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The reports shall assess the impacts during the construction phase of the development
on surrounding streets, along with nearby residential amenity and other occupiers
together with means of mitigating any identified impacts. The CMP must refer to the new
LBI Code of Practice for Construction Sites.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved CMP and
CLP throughout the construction period.
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety, and the free flow of
traffic on streets, and to mitigate the impacts of the development.

6

Impact Piling (Compliance)
CONDITION: No piling shall take place until a PILING METHOD STATEMENT (detailing
the depth and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling
will be carried out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage
to subsurface sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with
Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the
approved piling method statement.
REASON: The proposed works will be in close proximity to underground sewerage utility
infrastructure. Piling has the potential to significantly impact / cause failure of local
underground sewerage utility infrastructure.

7

Sustainable Urban Drainage (Details and compliance)
CONDITION: Further details of SUDS features shall be submitted and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure works commencing on
site. The details shall include:

Page 154

• The calculation of the storm water storage required for the 1 in 100 year storm
plus climate change allowance. The calculation shall include all catchment areas
on the site and the surface water run-off rates for the entire site shall not be
higher than 50l/s/ha;
• The location and size of the attenuation tanks proposed to ensure the volume is
sufficient;
• A blue roof to Buiding C and details of blue roof design;
• Incorporation of blue roofs combined with the green roofs to provide irrigation for
the green roofs
• Details of rain gardens in catchments 2 and 5.
The details approved shall be installed and operational prior to occupation of the
development hereby approved and maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that sustainable management of water and minimise the potential
for surface level flooding.
8

Cycle Parking Provision (Compliance)
CONDITION: The bicycle storage areas, including the 166No. covered, secure and
accessible bicycle spaces shall be provided prior to the first occupation of each of the
buildings hereby approved.
Details of long-term cycle parking spaces associated with the community centre shall
be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
superstructure works commencing on site and shall be provided prior to the first
occupation of the development hereby approved.
All approved cycle parking spaces shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available and easily accessible on site
and to promote sustainable modes of transport.

9

Lighting (Details)
CONDTION: Details of any general / security lighting measures shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the superstructure works
commencing on site.
The details shall:
-

include the location and full specification of: all lamps; light levels/spill lamps and
support structures where appropriate and hours of operation;
demonstrate how the ecology of the site would not be adversely affected by the
proposed lighting.

The general lighting and security measures shall be carried out strictly in accordance
with the details so approved, shall be installed prior to occupation of the development
and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that any resulting general or security lighting is appropriately
located, designed to not adversely impact neighbouring residential amenity nor those
with visual impairments, contributes towards safety and security, does not adversely
impact biodiversity or ecology and is appropriate to the overall design of the building.
10

Refuse/Recycling Provided (Compliance)

Page 155

CONDITION: The dedicated refuse / recycling enclosure(s) shown on the approved
plans shall be provided prior to the first occupation of each of the buildings hereby
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To secure the necessary physical waste enclosures to support the
development and to ensure that responsible waste management practices are adhered
to.
11

Sound Insulation (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: A scheme for sound insulation and noise control measures shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any
superstructure works commencing on site. The sound insulation and noise control
measures shall achieve the following internal noise targets:
Bedrooms (23.00-07.00 hrs) 30 dB LAeq,8 hour and 45 dB Lmax (fast)
Living Rooms (07.00-23.00 hrs) 35 dB LAeq, 16 hour
Dining rooms (07.00 –23.00 hrs) 40 dB LAeq, 16 hour
The sound insulation and noise control measures shall be carried out strictly in
accordance with the details so approved, shall be implemented prior to the first
occupation of the development hereby approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter
and no change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that the amenity of residents is not adversely affected.

12

Noise from Lift (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: Prior to commencement of the superstructure for the development hereby
permitted, an acoustic report, prepared by an appropriately experienced and competent
person, which assesses the noise impact upon any nearby residential due to the
Kinefold House mechanical plant and, where necessary, recommends further mitigation
measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning. Any
further mitigation measures identified in the acoustic validation report shall be installed
and permanently retained thereafter within two months of approval.
REASON: To ensure that the amenity of residents is not adversely affected.

13

Noise from Community Space (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: Full particulars and details of a scheme for sound insulation between the
proposed community hub and estates office and the residential use of the building shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
superstructure works commencing on site.
The sound insulation and noise control and management measures shall be carried out
strictly in accordance with the details so approved, shall be implemented prior to the first
occupation of the development hereby approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter
and no change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that the amenity of residents is not adversely affected.

14

Noise to Balconies (Details)
CONDITION: Details of how balconies facing York Way in Blocks A, B and C hereby
approved have been designed to maximise screening and absorption shall be submitted
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure works
commencing on site.

Page 156

The balconies shall be built in accordance with details so approved, shall be
implemented prior to first occupation and shall maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that the amenity of residents is not adversely affected.
15

Accessible Housing (Details)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the Design and Access Statement and plans hereby
approved, 81 x of the residential units shall be constructed to Category 2 of the National
Standard for Housing Design as set out in the Approved Document M 2015 ‘Accessible
and adaptable dwellings’ M4 (2) and 10 units shall be constructed to Category 3 of the
National Standard for Housing Design as set out in the Approved Document M 2015
‘Wheelchair user dwellings’ M4 (3).
Building Regulations Approved Plans and Decision Advice Notice, confirming that these
requirements will be achieved, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by LPA
prior to any superstructure works beginning on site. The Approved Plans to show
furniture, key dimensions and manoeuvring allowances, as set out in the provisions of
the Approved Document M (Volume 1).
The development shall be constructed strictly in accordance with the details so
approved.
Reason: To secure the provision of visitable, adaptable and wheelchair accessible
homes appropriate to meet diverse and changing needs.

16

Land Contamination (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: Prior to the commencement of development the following assessment in
response to the NPPF and in accordance with CLR11 and S10175:2011+A2:2017
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
a) A remediation method statement of any necessary land contamination remediation
works arising from the land contamination investigation.
This statement shall detail any required remediation works and shall be designed to
mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved site investigation. The
development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the investigation and any
scheme of remedial works so approved and no change therefrom shall take place
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. If, during
development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site,
the Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report indicating the nature
of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is submitted to, and agreed in writing
by, the Council. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent
person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land
Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing
b) Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report, that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out,
must be produced which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning
Authority in accordance with part a). This report shall include: details of the remediation
works carried out; results of any verification sampling, testing or monitoring including
the analysis of any imported soil; all waste management documentation showing the
classification of waste, its treatment, movement and disposal; and the validation of gas
membrane placement. All works must be carried out in compliance with and by a
competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of

Page 157

Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and
testing.
REASON: To minimise the potential impacts from land contamination.
17

Green/Brown Biodiversity Roofs (Details)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, green/brown roofs shall be
maximised across the development, including the existing buildings. Details shall be
submitted to and approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority prior to
superstructure works commencing on site, demonstrating the following:
a)
how the extent of green/brown roof has been maximised
b)
that the green/brown roofs are biodiversity based with extensive substrate base
(depth 120 -150mm); and
c)
planted/seeded with a mix of species within the first planting season following
the practical completion of the building works (the seed mix shall be focused on
wildflower planting, and shall contain no more than a maximum of 25% sedum).
The biodiversity (green/brown) roof shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space
of any kind whatsoever and shall only be accessed for the purpose of essential
maintenance or repair, or escape in case of emergency.
The biodiversity roofs shall be installed strictly in accordance with the details as
approved, shall be laid out within 3 months or the next available appropriate planting
season after completion of the external development works / first occupation, and shall
be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In order to ensure the development maximises opportunities to help boost
biodiversity and minimise water run-off.

18

Energy Strategy (Compliance)
CONDITION: The energy efficiency measures/features and renewable energy
technology, as detailed within the revised ‘Energy Strategy’ shall be installed and
operational prior to the first occupation of each of the buildings hereby approved.
Should there be any change to the energy features/ measures within the approved
Energy Strategy, a revised Energy Strategy shall be submitted to and agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the development.
REASON: In the interest of sustainable development and to ensure that the Local
Planning Authority may be satisfied that C02 emission reduction targets by energy
efficient measures/features and renewable energy are met.

19

Inclusive Design (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: All inclusive design measures identified within the application submission
shall be installed and operational prior to the first occupation of the development hereby
approved.
Further details on the following points shall be submitted and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to the completion of the development hereby approved:
- the accessibility of bike and bin stores;
- details of the soft-spots in the duplex apartments;
- confirmation that corridors and lobbies meet relevant standards within Islington’s
Inclusive Design SPD.

Page 158

The inclusive design measures shall be retained as such in perpetuity.
REASON: In order to facilitate and promote inclusive and sustainable communities.
20

Final Servicing and Delivery Plan (Compliance)
CONDITION: A Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) detailing servicing arrangements
including the location, times and frequency shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the development hereby
approved.
The development shall be constructed and operated strictly in accordance with the
details so approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter and no change therefrom
shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that the resulting servicing arrangements are satisfactory
in terms of their impact on highway safety and the free-flow of traffic.

21

Green Procurement Plan (Details and Compliance)
CONDITION: Prior to the commencement of superstructure works, a Green
Procurement Plan for sourcing the proposed materials shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The Green Procurement Plan shall include details of how the carbon emissions of the
proposed materials has been minimised.
REASON: In the interests of securing sustainable development and to minimise the
environmental impacts of the development.

22

Landscaping (Details and Compliance)
LANDSCAPING: Notwithstanding the submitted detail and the development hereby
approved, a landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure works commencing on site. The
landscaping scheme shall include a minimum of 74No. new tree and the submission
shall include the following details:
a. an updated Access Statement detailing routes through the landscape and the facilities
it provides;
b. a biodiversity statement detailing how the landscaping scheme maximises
biodiversity;
c. existing and proposed underground services and their relationship to both hard and
soft landscaping;
d. proposed trees: their location, species, size and section showing rooting area; to
include trees planted below deck level with canopy to spread above podium level;
e. soft planting: including all buffer planting areas to buildings A, B,C,D and Kinefold
House, and the border to York Way, as well as to planters and all other grass and turf
areas, shrub and herbaceous areas;
f. topographical survey: including earthworks, ground finishes, top soiling with both
conserved and imported topsoil(s), levels, drainage and fall in drain types;
g. enclosures and boundary treatment: including types, dimensions and treatments of
walls, fences, screen walls, barriers, rails, retaining walls and hedges;
h. hard landscaping: kerbs, edges, steps, ridge and flexible paving, including patterned
coloured paving ‘entrance carpets’ to all buildings, unit paving, wet pour play safety
surfaces and furniture including bike racks, seating and planters;
i. wayfinding and signage;
j. phasing of landscaping and planting;

Page 159

k.all play equipment and structures to include table tennis table, climbing features, all
swings, fitness module, play sculptures, trampolines, slides and see saws; and
l. any other landscaping feature(s) forming part of the scheme.
All landscaping in accordance with the approved scheme shall be completed / planted
during the first planting season following practical completion of the relevant phase of
the development hereby approved in accordance with the approved planting phase. The
landscaping and tree planting shall have a two year maintenance / watering provision
following planting and any existing tree shown to be retained or trees or shrubs to be
planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme which are removed, die, become
severely damaged or diseased within five years of completion of the development shall
be replaced with the same species or an approved alternative to the satisfaction of the
Local Planning Authority within the next planting season. The development shall be
carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and shall be maintained
as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, sustainability, playspace and to ensure that a
satisfactory standard of visual amenity is provided and maintained.
23

Bird / Bat Boxes (Compliance)
CONDITION: Details of bird and bat boxes across all new buildings shall be submitted
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure works
commencing on site.
The details so approved shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development
and shall be maintained as such in perpetuity.
REASON: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision
towards creation of habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity.

24

Biodiversity / Ecology (Compliance)
CONDITION: Details of measures for ecological enhancement identified in the
submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal shall be submitted and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be constructed in accordance with the details so approved, shall
be maintained as such thereafter and no change therefrom shall take place without the
prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, sustainability, and to ensure that a satisfactory
standard of visual amenity is provided and maintained.

25

Wheelchair Accessible Parking
CONDITION: The ten (10) disabled parking bays hereby approved shall be constructed
and available for use by eligible occupants of the wheelchair accessible units approved
and existing blue badge holders within this development prior to the first occupation of
the development and shall be appropriately line-marked and thereafter kept available
for their intended use at all times if and when required.
The wheelchair accessible parking spaces shall be installed prior to the occupation of
units within Block C and retained as such permanently thereafter unless otherwise
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that the design and construction of the disabled parking bays are
appropriate and meet with the council's design criteria, furthermore that the new bays
are designed to a suitable standard which ensures that they are eligible for adoption.

Page 160

26

Roof-Level Structures (Details and Compliance)
CONDITION: Details of any roof-level structures (including lift over-runs, flues/extracts
and plant room) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to any superstructure work commencing on site. The details shall include
a justification for the height and size of the roof-level structures, their location, height
above roof level, specifications and cladding.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved
and no change therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority. No roof-level structures shall be installed other than those approved.
REASON: In the interests of good design and also to ensure that the Local Planning
Authority may be satisfied that any roof-level structures do not have a harmful impact
on the surrounding streetscene or the character and appearance of the area in
accordance with policies 3.5, 7.4, 7.6 and 7.8 of the London Plan 2016, policies CS8
and CS9 of Islington’s Core Strategy 2011, and policies DM2.1 and DM2.3 of Islington’s
Development Management Policies 2013.

27

Signage Details (Details and Compliance)
CONDITION: Details of all external signage for the development hereby approved shall
be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The agreed details shall be installed prior to the occupation of the development and
shall be maintained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the entrance approach is
both welcoming and inviting.

28

Tree Protection (Compliance and Details)
CONDITION: Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved
(including demolition and all preparatory work), a scheme for the protection of the
retained trees, in accordance with BS 5837:2012, including a tree protection plan(s)
(TPP) and an arboricultural method statement (AMS) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Specific issues to be dealt with in the TPP and AMS:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

f.

g.

Location and installation of services/ utilities/ drainage.
Methods of demolition within the root protection area (RPA as defined in BS
5837: 2012) of the retained trees.
Details of construction within the RPA or that may impact on the
retained trees.
a full specification for the installation of boundary treatment works.
a full specification for the construction of any roads, parking areas and
driveways, including details of the no-dig specification and extent of the
areas of the roads, parking areas and driveways to be constructed using a
no-dig specification. Details shall include relevant sections through them.
Detailed levels and cross-sections to show that the raised levels of surfacing,
where the installation of no-dig surfacing within Root Protection Areas is
proposed, demonstrating that they can be accommodated where they meet
with any adjacent building damp proof courses.
A specification for protective fencing to safeguard trees during both
demolition and construction phases and a plan indicating the alignment of the
protective fencing.

Page 161

h.
i.
j.
k.
l.
m.
n.
o.

a specification for scaffolding and ground protection within
tree protection zones.
Tree protection during construction indicated on a TPP and construction and
construction activities clearly identified as prohibited in this area.
details of site access, temporary parking, on site welfare facilities, loading,
unloading and storage of equipment, materials, fuels and waste as well
concrete mixing and use of fires.
Boundary treatments within the RPA.
Methodology and detailed assessment of root pruning
Reporting of inspection and supervision
Methods to improve the rooting environment for retained and
proposed trees and landscaping
Veteran and ancient tree protection and management

The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict accordance with the
approved details.
REASON: Required prior to commencement of development to satisfy the Local
Planning Authority that the trees to be retained will not be damaged during demolition
or construction and to protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site
and locality, in accordance with Policy DM 6.5, policies 7.19 and 7.21 of the London
Plan and pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
29

Solar PVs (Details and Compliance)
CONDITION: Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of
the proposed Solar Photovoltaic Panels shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. These submission shall demonstrate how Solar PVs
have been maximised on site, and details shall include but not be limited to: location;
area of panels; how the PV output has been maximised and design (including section
drawings showing the angle of panels in-situ, and elevation plans).
The solar photovoltaic panels as approved shall thereafter be installed prior to the first
occupation of each of the buildings and retained as such permanently thereafter.
REASON: In the interests of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the
resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard of
design.

30

Lifts (Compliance)
CONDITION: All lifts hereby approved shall be installed and operational prior to the
first occupation of each of the buildings hereby approved.
REASON: To ensure that inclusive and accessible routes are provided throughout the
floorspace at all floors and also accessible routes through the site are provided to
ensure no one is excluded from full use and enjoyment of the site.

31

Secured by Design (Details and Compliance)
CONDITION: Prior to the commencement of superstructure works of the development
hereby approved, a full and detailed scheme for the Secure by Design award scheme
shall be accreditation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
details so approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interests of safety and security.

32

Obscure Glazing and Privacy Screens (Compliance and Details)

Page 162

CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, details of obscured glazing
and privacy screens to prevent overlooking from proposed Blocks A, B and C to existing
residential properties in 24 North Road, Lambfold House and Kinefold House shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure
works commencing on site.
The obscure glazing and privacy screens shall be installed prior to the occupation of the
relevant units and retained as such permanently thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of preventing undue overlooking between habitable rooms
within the development itself, to protect the future amenity and privacy of residents.
33

Hours of Operation (Compliance)
CONDITION: The community centre shall be operational only between the following
hours
8am to 10pm (Monday to Saturday)
11am to 5pm (Sundays)
The restrictions shall be applied and permanently adhered to unless otherwise agreed
with the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: In the interests of protecting neighbouring residential amenity.

34

Main Entrance Improvements (Details)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, a programme of consultation
with residents to agree improvement works to the main entrances to the existing
buildings shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to superstructure works commencing on site. The programme should include
details of all efforts to consult with residents, and a programme for submission of further
details and implementation of the improvement works.
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details so approved and
shall be maintained as such.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the entrances to each of
the existing buildings are inviting and visually sympathetic

35

Garage doors (Details and Compliance)
CONDITION: Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved, details of visual
improvements to the ground floor of Lambfold House, in particular the garage doors,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to
superstructure works commencing on site.
The improvement shall create an enhanced aesthetic that is more sympathetic to the
surrounding landscaping and in particular the play street of which it forms a part.
The details so approved shall be implemented prior to occupation, and shall be
maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure a degree of visual integration
between the approved landscaping and the existing buildings.

36

Parking Management Plan (Details)
CONDITION: A Parking Management Plan detailing the parking arrangements across
the site, including how drop-off points are properly controlled, how traffic will be suitably

Page 163

managed at the estate entrancs and how future residents of the proposed dwellings
would be prevented of using the existing car parking arrangements, shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the
development.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of traffic safety and traffic management in accordance with
Islington Core Strategy Policy CS10.
37

Uban Greening Factor (Compliance/details)
CONDITION: The development hereby permitted shall achieve an Urban Greening
Factor of 0.4. Alternatively, a report shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted
which satisfactorily demonstrates that an Urban Greening Factor of 0.4 cannot be
achieved. The report shall give consideration to additional planting, intensive or semiintensive green roofs, and consultation with residents regarding the addition of
raingardens and planting.
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, sustainability and to ensure that green
infrastructure is maximised on the site.

List of Informatives:
1

Planning Obligations Agreement
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT
You are advised that this permission has been granted subject to a legal agreement under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development is liable to pay the London Borough of
Islington Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the Mayor of London's Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). These charges will be calculated in accordance with the London
Borough of Islington CIL Charging Schedule 2014 and the Mayor of London's CIL Charging
Schedule 2012. One of the development parties must now assume liability to pay CIL by
submitting an Assumption of Liability Notice to the Council at cil@islington.gov.uk. The
Council will then issue a Liability Notice setting out the amount of CIL payable on
commencement of the development.
Failure to submit a valid Assumption of Liability Notice and Commencement Notice prior to
commencement of the development may result in surcharges being imposed and the
development will not benefit from the 60-day payment window.
Further information and all CIL forms are available on the Planning Portal at
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil and the
Islington Council website at www.islington.gov.uk/cilinfo. Guidance on the Community
Infrastructure Levy can be found on the National Planning Practice Guidance website at
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/community-infrastructurelevy/

Page 164

3

Superstructure
DEFINITION OF ‘SUPERSTRUCTURE’ AND ‘PRACTICAL COMPLETION’
A number of conditions attached to this permission have the time restrictions ‘prior to
superstructure works commencing on site’ and/or ‘following practical completion’. The
council considers the definition of ‘superstructure’ as having its normal or dictionary
meaning, which is: the part of a building above its foundations. The council considers the
definition of ‘practical completion’ to be: when the work reaches a state of readiness for use
or occupation even though there may be outstanding works/matters to be carried out.

4

Thames Water (Waste Comments)
The proposed development is located within 15m of Thames Waters underground assets,
as such the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate measures are not
taken. Please read our guide 'working near our assets' to ensure your workings are in line
with the necessary processes you need to follow if you're considering working above or near
our pipes or other structures.https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-largesite/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes. Should you require
further
information
please
contact
Thames
Water.
Email:
developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 009 3921 (Monday to Friday, 8am to
5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, Clearwater Court, Vastern Road,
Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB

5

Thames Water (Mains Water Pressure)
Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx.
1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes.
The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed
development.

6

Highways Requirements (1)
Compliance with sections 168 to 175 and of the Highways Act, 1980, relating to
“Precautions to be taken in doing certain works in or near streets or highways”. This
relates, to scaffolding, hoarding and so on. All licenses can be acquired through
streetworks@islington.gov.uk. All agreements relating to the above need to be in place prior
to works commencing.
Compliance with section 174 of the Highways Act, 1980 - “Precautions to be taken by
persons executing works in streets.” Should a company/individual request to work on the
public highway a Section 50 license is required. Can be gained through
streetworks@islington.gov.uk. Section 50 license must be agreed prior to any works
commencing.
Compliance with section 140A of the Highways Act, 1980 – “Builders skips: charge for
occupation of highway. Licenses can be gained through streetworks@islington.gov.uk.
Compliance with sections 59 and 60 of the Highway Act, 1980 – “Recovery by highways
authorities etc. of certain expenses incurred in maintaining highways”. Haulage route to
be agreed with streetworks officer. Contact streetworks@islington.gov.uk.

7

Highways Requirements (2)
Joint condition survey required between Islington Council Highways and interested parties
before commencement of building works to catalogue condition of streets and drainage
gullies. Contact highways.maintenance@islington.gov.uk Approval of highways required
and copy of findings and condition survey document to be sent to planning case officer for
development in question.
Temporary crossover licenses to be acquired from streetworks@islington.gov.uk. Heavy
duty vehicles will not be permitted to access the site unless a temporary heavy duty
crossover is in place.

Page 165

Highways re-instatement costing to be provided to recover expenses incurred for damage
to the public highway directly by the build in accordance with sections 131 and 133 of the
Highways Act, 1980.
Before works commence on the public highway planning applicant must provide Islington
Council’s Highways Service with six month’s notice to meet the requirements of the Traffic
Management Act, 2004.
Development will ensure that all new statutory services are complete prior to footway
and/or carriageway works commencing.
Works to the public highway will not commence until hoarding around the development
has been removed. This is in accordance with current Health and Safety initiatives within
contractual agreements with Islington Council’s Highways contractors.
8

Highways Requirements (3)
Alterations to road markings or parking layouts to be agreed with Islington Council
Highways Service. Costs for the alterations of traffic management orders (TMO’s) to be
borne by developer.
All lighting works to be conducted by Islington Council Highways Lighting. Any proposed
changes to lighting layout must meet the approval of Islington Council Highways Lighting.
NOTE: All lighting works are to be undertaken by the PFI contractor not a nominee of the
developer. Consideration should be taken to protect the existing lighting equipment within
and around the development site. Any costs for repairing or replacing damaged equipment
as a result of construction works will be the responsibility of the developer, remedial works
will be implemented by Islington’s public lighting at cost to the developer. Contact
streetlights@islington.gov.uk
Any damage or blockages to drainage will be repaired at the cost of the developer. Works
to be undertaken by Islington Council Highways Service. Section 100, Highways Act 1980.
Water will not be permitted to flow onto the public highway in accordance with Section
163, Highways Act 1980 Public highway footway cross falls will not be permitted to drain
water onto private land or private drainage.

9

Fire Brigade Requests
The requirements of B5 of Approved Document B must be met in relation to access and
water supply whilst in construction phase and compliance with the Building Regulations
and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 once built and occupied.
If the building is taken over 18m the Fire Brigade would expect a fire fighting shaft is
provided. If approval is granted, it’s advised that a building control submission is carried
out as early as possible, to ensure any issues found around fire safety are addressed
sufficiently and quickly.
The Commissioner strongly recommends that sprinklers are considered for new
developments and major alterations to existing premises, particularly where the proposals
relate to schools and care homes. Sprinkler systems installed in buildings can significantly
reduce the damage caused by fire and the consequential cost to businesses and housing
providers, and can reduce the risk to life. The Commissioner’s opinion is that there are
opportunities for developers and building owners to install sprinkler systems in order to
save money, save property and protect the lives of occupier. Please note that it is our
policy to regularly advise our elected Members about how many cases there have been
where we have recommended sprinklers and what the outcomes of those
recommendations were. These quarterly reports to our Members are public documents
which are available on our website.

Page 166

The London Fire Brigade promotes the installation of sprinkler suppression systems, as
there is clear evidence that they are effective in suppressing and extinguishing fires; they
can help reduce the numbers of deaths and injuries from fire, and the risk to firefighters.
10

Roller Shutters
The scheme hereby approved does not suggest the installation of external roller shutters
to any entrances or ground floor glazed shopfronts. The applicant is advised that the
council would consider the installation of external roller shutters to be a material alteration
to the scheme and therefore constitute development. Should external roller shutters be
proposed, a new planning application must be submitted for the council’s formal
consideration.

Page 167

APPENDIX 2:

RELEVANT POLICIES

This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the
determination of this planning application.
1 National Guidance
The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that effectively
balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future generations. The NPPF is
a material consideration and has been taken into account as part of the assessment of these
proposals.
2 Development Plan
The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011,
Development Management Policies 2013, The following policies of the Development Plan are
considered relevant to this application:
The London Plan 2021 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London
Policy GG2 Making the best use of land
Policy D1 London’s form, character and
capacity for growth
Policy D2 Delivering Good Design
Policy D3 Optimising Site Capacity
Policy D4 Delivering good design
Policy D5 Inclusive design
Policy D7 Public Realm
Policy D9 Basement development
Policy D11 Fire safety
Policy D13 Noise
Policy H1 Increasing Housing Supply
Policy H4 Delivering Affordable Housing
Policy H6 Affordable Housing Tenure
Policy H10 Housing size mix
Policy S1 Delivery London’s social
infrastructure
Policy S4 Play and Informal Recreation

Policy HC1 Heritage and Growth
Policy G4 Open Space
Policy G5 Urban Greening
Policy G7 Trees and Woodlands
Policy SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas
emissions
Policy SI4 Managing heat risk
Policy SI5 Water infrastructure
Policy SI7 Reducing waste/supporting the
circular economy
Policy SI12 Flood risk management
Policy SI13 Sustainable drainage
Policy T2 Healthy Streets
Policy T4 Assessing/mitigating transport
impacts
Policy T5 Cycling
Policy T6 Car parking
Policy T7 Deliveries & servicing

Islington Core Strategy 2011
Spatial Strategy
Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s
Character)
Strategic Policies
Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing
Islington’s Built and Historic Environment)
Policy CS10 (Sustainable Design)
Policy CS11 (Waste)
Policy CS12 (Meeting the Housing Challenge)

Infrastructure and Implementation
Policy CS18 (Delivery and Infrastructure)
Policy CS19 (Health Impact Assessments)
Policy CS20 (Partnership Working)

Development Management Policies 2013:

Page 168

Policy DM2.1 (Design)
Policy DM2.2 (Inclusive design)
Policy DM2.3 (Heritage)
Policy DM2.4 (Protected Views)
Policy DM3.1 (Mix of housing sizes)
Policy DM3.4 (Housing standards)
Policy DM3.5 (Private outdoor space)
Policy DM3.6 (Play space)
Policy DM3.7 (Noise and Vibration)
Policy DM4.12 (Social and strategic
infrastructure and cultural facilities)
Policy DM6.1 (Healthy development)
Policy DM6.5 (Landscaping, trees &
biodiversity)
Policy DM6.6 (Flood prevention)

Policy DM7.1 (Sustainable design &
construction)
Policy DM7.3 (Decentralised Energy
Networks)
Policy DM7.4 (Sustainable design
standards)
Policy DM7.5 (Heating and cooling)
Policy DM8.2 (Managing transport
impacts)
Policy DM8.4 (Walking and cycling)
Policy DM8.5 (Vehicle parking)
Policy DM8.6 (Delivery and servicing
for new developments)
Policy DM9.1 (Infrastructure)
Policy DM9.2 (Planning obligations)

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD)
Islington SPD

London Plan

Environmental Design (Oct 2012)
Inclusive Design (Feb 2014)
Inclusive Landscape Design (Jan 2010)
Planning Obligations (S106) (Dec 2016)
Urban Design Guide (Jan 2015)

Accessible
London:
Achieving
an
Inclusive Environment SPG (adopted
October 2014)
Social Infrastructure SPG (May 2015)
Character and Context SPG (adopted
June 2014)
Sustainable Design and Construction
SPG (adopted April 2014)

Draft Islington Local Plan 2020
The Regulation 19 draft of the Local Plan was approved at Full Council on 27 June 2019 for consultation
and subsequent submission to the Secretary of State for Independent Examination. From 5 September
2019 to 18 October 2019, the Council consulted on the Regulation 19 draft of the new Local Plan.
Submission took place on 12 February 2020 with the examination process in progress.

Policy H1 Thriving Communities
Policy H2 New and existing conventional
housing
Policy H3 Genuinely affordable housing
Policy H4 Delivering high quality housing
Policy H5 Private outdoor space
Policy SC1 Social and Community
Infrastructure
Policy SC3 Health Impact Assessments
G2 Protecting Open Space
G4 Biodiversity, Landscaping and Trees
G5 Green Roofs and Vertical Greening
Policy S1 Delivering sustainable design
Policy S2 Sustainable design and
construction

Policy S8 Flood risk management
Policy S9 Integrated water management and
sustainable design
Policy T1 Enhancing the public realm and
sustainable transport
Policy T2 Sustainable transport choices
Policy T3 Car-free development
Policy T4 Public Realm
Policy T5 Delivery, servicing and construction
Policy DH1 Fostering innovation while protecting
heritage
Policy DH2 Heritage Assets
Policy DH3 Building Heights
Policy DH4 Basement Development
Policy DH5 Agent of Change, noise and vibration

Page 169

Policy S3 Sustainable design standards
Policy S4 Minimising greenhouse emissions
Policy S6 Managing Heat Risk
Policy S6 Improving Air Quality
Policy S7 Flood Risk Management

Policy ST2 Waste
Policy ST4 Water and wastewater infrastructure

Islington’s Draft Local Plan (2019) Site Allocations Schedule:
OIS27: York Way Estate: Additional genuinely affordable housing can be accommodated on
new blocks within the estate, improved play space provision, improvements to communal
facilities and enhanced landscaping.

Page 170

APPENDIX 3: DRP REPORT RESPONSE

Page 171

Page 172

Page 173

This page is intentionally left blank

Islington SE GIS Print Template
RD
FO

sly

ER

LA

Co

nst

NG

,G

&L

HU

nst

RO

EN
MD

Co

NE

CA

ro

LA

Bo

AD

49.0m

BB

dy

GO

LB

OD

49.5m

ING

46.4m

ER
D

SH

OA

EA
RLI

OA

D

Y

HR

WA

RT

NG

NO

JIM
VE
AL
IVE

WC

DR

NE
LO
CK
TO

48.3m

WE
LAC

LO

RK

WC

RP

NE

YO

E

CK
WE

Y

TO

WA

RP
LAC
E

50.4m

CL

CR

IF

F

RO

AD

CLOCK VIEW CRESCENT

CH
RIS

Play Area

PU
LLE
NW

Post

AY

FB

DR
OV
ER
SW
AY

CLIF

ES

VILL

CE

NT

F

CL

OC

K

VIE

W

AS

CR

DWs

CA

MD

EN

PA

RK

El
Sub Sta
RO

AD

DW

DW

DW

49.3m

Caledonian Park
DW

LB
DW

46.2m

46.7m

MA

R

T
KE

RO

AD
L Twr

CR

L Twr
47.4m
War

dB

dy

L Twr
46.1m

L Twr
L Twr

CR

L Twr
L Twr
45.7m

45.8m

L Twr

YORK

L Twr

WAY
L Twr

L Twr
L Twr

AU

GU

AD

ST

IN

E'S

UIS RO

RO

AD

MARQ

BP

ST

L Twr
L Twr

L Twr

L Twr

L Twr
Boro Con
st, GL
Asly Con

40.6m

st & LB

42.1m

43.1m

Bdy

41.1m

L Twr

L Twr

L Twr

L Twr

41.2m
41.7m
39.4m

CA

BLU
NT

EL

OW

ES

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.
P2021/0969/FUL
RO

AD

BR

Page 175

EW

ER

Y

RO

AD

38.8m

ND

ELL

STR

EE

T

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B4
PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

Development Management Service
Planning and Development Division

Community Wealth Building
Islington Town Hall
Upper Street
LONDON N1 2UD

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Date:
27 July 2021
Application number
Application type
Ward
Listed building
Conservation area
Development Plan Context
Licensing Implications
Site Address
Proposal

Case Officer
Applicant
Agent

1.

AGENDA ITEM NO:
NON-EXEMPT

B4

P2021/0616/FUL
Full Planning Application
Bunhill
Listed/unlisted & grade
Moorfields Conservation Area
e.g CAZ, town centre, primary frontage etc
Willen House, 8-26 Bath Street, London, EC1V 9DX
Extension, alteration and refurbishment of the existing
building to provide re-modelled student accommodation
comprising 212 student bedrooms (with 10% wheelchair
accessible) with ancillary amenity spaces and secure cycle
parking (sui generis use), together with retention and
extension of existing office units (Class E) at ground floor
and new landscaping at basement level, installation of
pavement lightwells, removal of access ramp and
replacement with platform lift
Nicholas Linford
Mr Steven Gardner
TP Bennett LLP

RECOMMENDATION
The Committee is asked to resolve to GRANT planning permission:
1. for the reasons for approval;
2. subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1;
3. conditional upon the prior completion of a Deed of Planning Obligation made under
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 securing the heads of terms
as set out in Appendix 1;
Page 177
P-RPT-COM-Main

2.

SITE PLAN (site outlined in red)

3.

PHOTOS OF SITE/STREET

Fig 1: Aerial image of Willen House, front elevation and local context.

Page 178
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 2: Aerial image of rear of Willen House with Lever Street to left hand side and Galway
Street to the right. Guinness Court estate situated to the bottom of image.

Fig 3: Willen House building in Bath Street at the junction of Galway Street with the
institute of ophthalmology associated with University College London.

Fig 4: Front elevation of Willen House, with access and existing commercial units.

Page 179
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 5: Front elevation to Willen House from Cayton Street junction.

Fig 6: Willen House at the junction of Bath Street and Lever Street.

Fig 7: Willen House viewed from City Road

Page 180
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 8: Willen House (L), 152 – 154 Lever Street with Merino Court on north side of Lever
Street, centre of image.

Fig 9: Lever Street with Willen House to the left and Merino Court at 152 - 154 Lever
Street to the right.

Page 181
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 10: Side and rear elevations of Willen House from Lever Street, with edge of
Guinness Court housing estate to the right.

Fig 11: View east along Lever Street with Willen House to the right and Merino Court to
the left. Guinness Court to the far right. Eagle Point on City Road in rear background.

Page 182
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 12: View of Willen House from western end of Galway Street.

Fig 13: View of Willen House from western end of Lever Street at junctions with
Ironmonger Row. Student accommodation is situated at this junction.

Page 183
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 14: View southeast towards Willen House from Mora Street with Gambier House
tower block to the left.

Fig 15: View from adjacent to the Royal Star PH close to the junction with Mora Street
and City Road through gap between Royal Star, Gambier House and Merino Court to
Willen House in background. St Luke’s estate tower to the rear.

Page 184
P-RPT-COM-Main

SUMMARY
3.1

The application is for full planning permission for extensions to the existing building,
internal and external refurbishment associated with an increase in the number of student
bedrooms within an existing student accommodation block. The application proposes an
upgrade to the characterful façade to the front elevations to Bath Street including new
fenestration as well as a much needed upgrade to the appearance of the rear elevation.

3.2

An additional two storeys would be added to the top of the existing building. This would
be carried out through a demolition of the existing roof top structures, the erection of an
additional floor to replicate the form, appearance and proportions of the original building
followed by a recessed element in similar style. Along Galway Street, the application
proposes a six storey rear side return extension in contrasting brick. A similar rear side
return extension was proposed for the Lever Street elevation however, this has been
reduced to a two storey structure. The existing centrally located projection would also be
extended further rearwards partly to accommodate a new stair and lift core.

3.3

The building currently accommodates 157 student bedrooms. The scheme would provide
an additional 57 student bedrooms within the building and include a refurbishment of the
existing accommodation within the building. The building also comprises two separate,
self contained office units either side of the main entrance. These will be retained within
the scheme. External space for occupants, including amenity and communal space
would be enhanced and improved.

3.4

The scheme has been modified by the applicant during the course of the application’s
lifetime. The daylight and sunlight assessment provided with the application
demonstrated a significant reduction in the quality of daylight and sunlight for residential
occupiers at 152 – 154 Lever Street. No mitigation or justification in association with the
originally proposed building was possible and as such, the rear side return extension on
Lever Street has been reduced from 6 storeys to 2 storeys and the extent of the roof
extension has been withdrawn away from the Lever Street end of the building. In a dense
urban grain within Bath Street and side streets, it is essential that the development
operates as a good neighbour, and subject to safeguards in relation to the use, imposed
by conditions, it is considered that the proposed development would achieve this.

3.5

The Adopted Local Plan incorporating the Core Strategy and the Development
Management Policies DPD, the emerging local plan and the Bunhill Local Plan combine
to restrict the development of new student accommodation in the Borough unless in
defined and designated locations. However, given that the existing building is currently in
student accommodation use, it is considered that this policy limitation would not be
applicable. The applicant has offered to provide student bursaries as well as provide 35%
of the student bedrooms as affordable bedrooms.

3.6

The proposal is considered to be a sustainable form of development on brownfield land
in a sustainable location. The application proposes a number of energy efficiency
measures, a reduction in carbon emissions and on – site renewable energy in
accordance with adopted policy. Moreover, inclusive design measures have been
incorporated into the scheme.

3.7

Finally, the application includes a section 106 agreement with suitable planning
obligations and financial obligations in order to mitigate the impacts of the development;
thus the planning application is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with
adopted planning policy, subject to the planning conditions and planning obligations
listed in appendix 1.

Page 185
P-RPT-COM-Main

4.

SITE AND SURROUNDING

4.1

The site comprises Willen House which is a 7 storey building (incorporating a basement)
on the western side of Bath Street. The building extends the full length of the street block
between the junctions of Bath Street with Galway Street and Lever Street. The site is a
short distance south of City Road and is to the west of the Old Street Roundabout. The
area is mixed in both character and use. To the north and east, close to City Road and
Old Street, the land use is predominantly commercial comprising employment and retail
floorspace. To the south and west, the predominant land uses are residential.

4.2

Commercial buildings to the north and east are generally six storeys in height and
constructed from brick with the exception of the Richard Desmond Children’s Eye
Hospital in Baldwin Street close by which is of modern construction. The residential land
uses to the south and west vary with low rise flats blocks of flats and tower blocks within
the Pleydell Estate which are set in spacious amenity space. Guinness Court which is
located to the immediate rear of the site comprises part four and part five storey
buildings. Part of the estate runs parallel to the rear of Willen House and therefore faces
the rear elevation of this building. The elevations are 23m apart.

4.3

While the building was originally designed and occupied as a headquarters building for
the Willen family ironmongery company, it was converted into student halls of residence
following planning consent in 2007 initially with 142 bedrooms. Planning consent for a
rear extension increased the bedrooms numbers to 157. The students are post graduate
students in attendance at City University.

4.4

The building is a non-designated heritage asset located within the Moorfields
Conservation Area to its southern edge. While the conservation area is primarily
characterised by an impressive array of late Victorian and Edwardian commercial and
institutional buildings lining City Road, it is a characterful building in a prominent location
in the conservation area. Willen House was one of the first post war building projects in
the Moorfields area. It is a sophisticated application of Bauhaus style.

4.5

The existing building is not situated within the setting of any designated listed or locally
listed buildings.

4.6

The original frontage building has a simple and regular form, symmetrical around a main
entrance fronting Bath Street, five storeys in height. Distinctive banding dressed in ridged
ceramic tile gives it a strong horizontal emphasis and large glazed area. The glazing over
five levels stretch uninterrupted across the frontage through the curved corners from
Galway Street to Lever Street. The building has been extended to the rear. The rear
elevations which includes a number of rear projections is significantly different with a grey
render and a series of small window openings. The rear additions to the building overlap
the roof of the building to create a set back storey from the side and front elevations.

4.7

At the basement layout the existing drawings indicate an area of building storage, cycle
storage and plant. An area is indicated as being dedicated to staff and management. At
the ground floor are two commercial units each with approximately 139sq.m either side of
the main entrance. There are a number of studio bedrooms also located at ground floor.
Some of the studios do not have access to natural daylight, sunlight or ventilation. There
are two small courtyards to the rear. The upper floors have approximately 31 studios per
floor including two wheelchair accessible units. There are 15 studio units on the recessed
floor.

4.8

There is no car parking within the curtilage of the site although on street parking is
available directly outside of the property, on Bath
Street.
Page
186
P-RPT-COM-Main

5.

PROPOSAL (IN DETAIL)

5.1

Planning permission is sought for the alteration and extension of the existing student
accommodation building to add an additional 50 student bedrooms. The proposals
involve the upgrade to the external fabric of the existing facades including stonework and
fenestration; an extension of an additional two floors above the existing building and the
erection of a part two storey, part six storey rear extension combined with upgrades to
the materiality of the existing rear elevation.

Fig 16: Shading in blue indicates additions to the building. view from southeast of front
elevation and the Galway Street elevation.

Page 187
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 17: Views of building additions showing roof, rear and Lever Street elevations.
5.2

The additional 50 student bedrooms – developed by Infrastructure Investments Ltd – will
support existing higher education institutions in the Borough. The 50 new units would be
arranged through an additional 1752sq.m (GIA) of student bedroom floorspace. The
additional accommodation would comprise 35% as affordable bedrooms through a longterm nominations agreement with City University London, with a proportion also subject
to access to bursaries. 10% of new bedrooms and 21 (or 10%) of bedrooms overall
within the scheme would be wheelchair units. Two separate self - contained commercial
units at ground floor would be retained as existing.

5.3

While the scheme provides 50 new and additional bedrooms, the scope of the
development also allows for the existing floorspace to be re-arranged to provide better,
more modern and better equipped fit for purpose bedrooms with improved internal
access and more effective use of space. The majority of rooms would have an internal
floor area of between 17.5sq.m and 19.5sq.m, although room sizes range from 16.5sq.m
to 31.5sq.m

5.4

The scheme provides the opportunity to improve the quality and setting of amenity space
both internally and externally. Externally within the basement lightwells, new landscaped
outdoor amenity areas will be provided and enhanced amenity space will be provided
internally at ground floor and first floor with 505sq.m.

5.5

Externally, the proposed development would consist of the erection of an additional
storey to replicate the form and proportions of the existing building, using a horizontal
banding of beige fluted stone. This will be supplemented by the matching smooth stone
for the projecting reveals, using the projection and textural differences to create
differentiation. Crittal style window frames and panelling in a graphite grey tone are
proposed for the windows to more effectively accentuate the banding. Perforated fluted
metalwork panels are proposed in a tone a shade darker than the stone to add a
lightweight filigree and subtle layering to the façade composition. The upper storey will
maintain the symmetrical appearance of the building and would consist of a sympathetic
recessed upper floor and would use materials of darker tones including darker beige
metalwork.

Pageas188
Fig 18: View along Bath Street towards Willen House
modified.
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 19: View towards rear along Lever Street with Merino Court on left and Guinness
Court on the right.

Fig 20: View along Galway Street towards rear of Willen House.

Page 189
P-RPT-COM-Main

5.6

The rear and side additions to the building will contrast with the form and materiality of
the original building. A grey brick will be used with dark grey and dark beige fluted
metalwork, stone cappings and crittal window frames.

5.7

At the rear the central and southern projections will be arranged overs six storeys while
the northern rear projection will be arranged over two storeys to preserve daylight,
sunlight and outlook amenity to the occupants of Merino Court in Lever Street.

5.8

Ground floor and basement will incorporate building facilities including cycle and
accessible cycle storage, refuse storage and accessible refuse storage, building plant
and residents’ storage. An element of landscaping has been proposed for the basement
external amenity areas. The roof level will prioritise biodiverse brown/green roofs and PV
panels and as a result, no amenity roof terrace access is proposed as a result of this
scheme.
Revision 1

5.9

Due to the negative impact the originally proposed development would have on the
amenity of occupants at Merino Court in Lever Street, the proposed development was
amended through the reduction of the scale and massing of the building and its
extensions at the northern end and to the rear. The implication of this was a loss of
symmetry of the building and its proposed extensions when viewed from the street which
would be harmful to the character and appearance of the conservation area.
Furthermore, the building when viewed from the west along Lever Street, appeared
cluttered featuring four architectural elements that were not cohesive within the
streetscene.
Revision 2

5.10

Whilst still maintaining acceptable levels of sunlight and daylight to the occupiers of
Merino Court, the upper level extensions to the main building were restored and the side
rear return extension to the building in Lever Street was reduced to ground floor plus one
storey. This maintains the primacy of the original Willen House building in Bath Street, it
removes the visual clutter from a complicated rear elevation, it allows for the rear
projection to sit comfortably with the building and roof lines of Guinness Court in Lever
Street and due to the width of the building and the lack of viewpoints, the rear projection
on the northern side would not be viewed easily in the same context as the central and
southern projections to the rear.

5.11

The second revision has been taken forward and is the scheme subject to the
recommendation to Committee and has been subject to consultation which is described
in more detail below.

6.

RELEVANT HISTORY:

6.1

The most relevant planning history related to the site is as follows:
25.10.1984 – Conditional planning permission granted for the change of use from offices with
storage space to use for education purposes (4463sq.m) (841159)
03.04.1997 – Condition planning permission granted for the construction of a concrete ramp
to facilitate wheelchair access to existing education facility (970386)

Page 190
P-RPT-COM-Main

29.07.1998 – Conditional advertisement consent for the installation of a non-illuminated
advertisement (971348).
08.06.2006 – Conditional planning permission granted for the change of use of existing
building, including associated ground floor rear alterations and extensions to existing building
to provide for 500sq.m of D1 floorspace, plant rooms and cycle store within basement,
273.6sq.m of B1 (office) floor space at ground floor space and student accommodation (142
one person rooms) at part ground and upper levels (P053035).
08.06.2006 – Conditional Conservation Area Consent for the partial demolition of existing
single storey rear extension and part rear first to fourth floor elevation of the existing building
in connection with the change of use, alteration and extension of existing building (P060766).
04.04.2007 – Conditional planning permission granted for the erection of a single storey roof
extension to provide for student accommodation (15 one person rooms) (P062870).

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE:
6.2

Following the first iteration in May 2020, the applicant has, in conjunction with their
consultants considered the Council’s concerns surrounding a proposal which would have
resulted in the demolition and rebuild of the existing student accommodation block to
provide significantly more intensive form of accommodation. In the new scheme which
proposes a number of extensions to the rear and to the roof, the scheme seeks to
overcome the conservation and design objections and the policy and land use objections.

6.3

In extending and intensifying an existing student accommodation block, the applicant is
not seeking to redevelop the site and is not seeking to provide student accommodation
outside of allocated sites. While it is recognised that the scheme does not provide for the
Council’s housing priorities, it is not a lost housing opportunity as the site has not
become available for housing redevelopment. The site would be linked to a named
institution, would provide for student bursaries and facilitate affordable accommodation
and has the potential to provide suitable accommodation for disabled students.

6.4

Nevertheless, while it can be demonstrated that the provision of new housing would be
compromised, the inability of the scheme to provide new employment floorspace is
regrettable.

6.5

In addition, the retention of the building along with a sympathetic extension through two
storeys above, extensions to the side and rear to 7 storeys and a comprehensive
redesign of the rear elevation would give rise to a proportionate form of development that
both preserves and enhances the character and appearance of the conservation area.
The extension of the building for student accommodation provides an incentive to
improve the external appearance of the rear elevation and on the basis of the planning
balance, it is considered that the scheme is acceptable on land use grounds.

6.6

There are concerns about the amenity impacts on a section of Guinness Court to the
west and to the possible amenity of future occupiers particularly at lower levels. These
impacts can be evaluated by appraisals and resolved by suitable mitigation measures.

6.7

The scheme provides a better response for inclusive design, however further provision
should be made in relation to the number of ready for occupation wheelchair units as well
Page 191
as distances from lifts to units.
P-RPT-COM-Main

7.

CONSULTATION
Public Consultation

7.1

Letters were sent to occupants of 530 adjoining and nearby properties at Bath Street,
Lever Street, Galway Street, Radnor Street, Mora Street and City Road on 10 March
2021. A site notice and press advert were displayed on 10 March 2021. The public
consultation of the application therefore expired on 31 March 2021, however it is the
Council’s practice to continue to consider representations made up until the date of a
decision.

7.2

At the time of the writing of this report a total of 12 responses had been received from the
public with regard to the application at the first consultation stage. The issues raised can
be summarised as follows (with the paragraph that provides responses to each issue
indicated within brackets):
-

-

7.3

The proposed development would have a material impact on the daylight of Merino Court
flats. The development would extend further past windows and would block out further
light (9.78 – 9.97)
Residents in the opposing rooms would have a clear view into apartments in Merino
Court causing a loss of privacy (9.99 – 9.102)
With Covid forcing people staying at home, such impacts on amenity are far more acute.
These proposals constitute a massive increase in the size of the structure and the
building as a whole within a single storey structure increasing in size from single storey to
seven storey. (9.27 – 9.61)
The proposed extension would have a massive impact on the level of light enjoyed by us
and other residents. Indeed this is reflected in the Daylight & Sunlight reports
commissioned by the development. (9.78 – 9.97)
Students using the outdoor space would risk the peace of the neighbourhood (9.110 –
9.113)
Reassurances should be given concerning the impact on amenity arising from
construction (9.118 – 9.126)
General lack of clarity within the developer’s pre-submission consultation with residents
in the area.
Some comments from residents were not seen to have been taken into account within
the submitted scheme.
Permanent adverse impacts on privacy for Merino Court occupants.
Sunlight is extremely important to the flats in Merino Court and significant enhances the
quality of amenity. The scheme would seriously reduce this (9.95 – 9.97)
The impact on the living area is extreme and would have severe negative impact on
quality of life.
It is clear that this development will cause severe disruption to existing residents of
Merino Court and have a significant negative impact on property values. The extent of
the new development is grossly disproportionate to the surrounding area both in scope
and character and well beyond the reasonable expectation of any owner on this street
Increased occupancy levels will give rise to more noise, disturbance and comings and
goings.

The second consultation period began on 18 May 2021 and lasted for another three
weeks. As set out in paragraph 5.9, this amendment responded to legitimate concerns
about sunlight and daylight which included reductions to the scope and scale of the
proposed extension above the existing building Page
and the192
height of the most northern rear
P-RPT-COM-Main

projection. This generated an improvement in daylight and sunlight but, in the view of
officers, this resulted in a negative impact on the appearance of the building, the
development and its subsequent impact on the character and appearance of the
conservation area.
7.4 The following objections have been received:
-

The building has already undergone a major refurbishment and change of use and is
extremely close to a residential estate. The works would create much inconvenience for
people living on the estate.
This remains an outrageous application. Impacts on privacy and daylight have not been
resolved.
Students are not a good neighbour and would constitute a significant disturbance for
neighbours in Merino Court.
Construction work will create traffic issues on Lever Street and might make the access to
Merino Court much more difficult
The colour scheme neglects any aesthetics that are sympathetic to the area or
neighbouring buildings.
External Consultees

7.5 Historic England (Greater London Archaeology Advisory Service): No comments
received
7.6 Metropolitan Police (Crime Prevention) No comments received.
7.7 Thames Water: No objections
7.8 Transport for London: No comments received
7.9 UK Power Networks: No objections
Internal Consultees
7.10

Conservation and Design Officer

-

The building makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the
conservation area. The building is a non-designated heritage asset within the
conservation area and is a well-designed post war building that sits well with Victorian
and Edwardian buildings which otherwise justify the designation of the conservation area.
The retention of the building is welcomed.

-

The building has been much altered through extensions above and to the rear. The rear
elevation has undergone a comprehensive rendering which gives rise to a bleak
appearance which would be removed as a result.

-

The scheme involves the erection of two storeys above the original building including a
recessed sixth storey to create a seven storey building. Given the extent of buildings in
the area of similar height and greater, the size and scale is deemed to be acceptable in
this context.

-

The extensions are considered proportionately responsive to the main building given the
height of the building. The proposed modifications to the rear would enrich the existing
building and will enhance the character and quality of the conservation area.

Page 193
P-RPT-COM-Main

-

The proposed elevational treatment is considered successful. This is because it is
inherently well designed as well as sensitively echoing the original fenestration patterns
and proportions. This while not exactly replicating the original fenestration, the proposed
fenestration maintains the richness and rhythm of the original façade whilst facilitating a
good quality of student accommodating within.

-

The fenestration pattern and the application of materials is also subtly different to this
new top floor compared to the floors below, further signifying and expressing its ancillary
nature. This is a successful design response that ensures that the extensions to upper
floors are neither overwhelming nor visually obtrusive.

-

The proposed rear façade adopts the same banding geometry as the front and flank
facades including using the same cream stonework. However the proposed bricks are of
a darker tone - a soft grey and with a pale grey pointing.

-

The existing building has heritage significance. It is a characterful building in a prominent
location in the conservation area. Willen House was constructed in 1948, making it one
of the first post-War building projects in the Moorfields area.

-

Its retention, refurbishment and extension is supported in that it maintains an active use
within the building, and preserves much of the original building including its key
characteristics which enrich and contribute to the character of the Moorfields
Conservation Area.

7.11

Energy Conservation Officer:

-

The application should provide SAP2012 calculations

-

Make further improvements to energy efficiency specifications

-

Provide cooling and overheating hierarchy modelling

-

Provide a Green Performance Plan

-

Identify the potential for additional Solar PV capacity.

7.12

The applicant has sought to respond to these comments and has done so with a
revised Energy and Sustainability Statement. At the time of writing, no comments have
been received and any relevant responses will be reported at Committee.

7.13

Public Protection Division (Air Quality)

-

The Air Quality report and the energy statement make reference to connections to the
Bunhill District Energy Network. This should be formalised through conditions and the
legal agreement.

7.14

Public Protection Division (Noise Team)

-

With the proposed uplift in rooms from 157 to 207 and students staying in the block there
is potential for disturbance from parties and comings and goings. It is noted that an
amenity area is marked at basement level. It is proposed that a condition relating to
sound insulation between the student accommodation and commercial units is advised.

-

The plans note a plant room at basement level with a lightwell for ventilation. The plant
isn’t confirmed but air source heat pumps are proposed. (Condition 12 has been
imposed to address and mitigate the potential noise transfer between uses).

Page 194

P-RPT-COM-Main

7.15
-

The site is in an area in close proximity to Moorfields Eye Hospital along with residential
and commercial office space and any construction work will need to be carefully
managed to mitigate impacts and coordinate the works with any other nearby
construction projects. There is an outline construction management plan but a full site
specific plan following Islington’s Code of Practice for Construction Sites is advised by
way of either condition or legal agreement.

7.16
-

Public Protection Division (Construction Management)

Public Protection Division (Land Contamination)

While there are no objections at present, it is possible that the land both prior to and
subsequent to construction may have resulted in ground contamination and as a result, a
contamination condition should be imposed (Condition 13).

7.17

Planning policy

-

Adopted policy DM3.9 states that student accommodation will only be acceptable where
the site has been allocated or designated for student accommodation or where there is
no likely adverse amenity impact.

-

Policy CS12 states that student accommodation would only be permitted in two
designated locations including Bastwick Street and Metropolitan University as the
oversupply of student accommodation can reduce the ability to provide balanced
communities and can prevent the supply of land for the development of housing.

-

However, the local plan is silent on the concept of an intensification of existing student
accommodation facilities. As this proposal constitutes an intensification of existing
student accommodation, it would not lead to harming the objective of providing balanced
and mixed communities and would not provide an overconcentration.

-

While it could be argued that the development could also accommodate other priority
land uses such as employment and conventional housing, it is considered that such uses
would be incompatible with student accommodation.

-

Emerging policy H6 states that the intensification of student accommodation would be
acceptable but when combined with policy BC1 which requires an element of
employment floorspace to be provided on schemes above a certain floor area threshold
the scheme would not comply, however this policy has insufficient weight prior to the EIP.

-

Policy CS7 recognises the wider strategic importance of City University which this
scheme would provide accommodation for through a nominations agreement.

-

The scheme would provide 35% affordable bedrooms and would provide bursaries for
the poorest students in accordance with London Plan policy.

-

A condition will be imposed to ensure that the existing E class floorspace is retained.

7.18

Inclusive economy: No objections

7.19

Street Environment Division: No comments received

7.20

Sustainability Officer

-

The Flood Risk Assessment document, however, states that attenuation storage will not
be possible as part of the development. In particular, the document states that blue roof
attenuation is not considered viable because
the additional load to the existing
Pageof195
P-RPT-COM-Main

structure. Further evidence should be submitted to demonstrate this. The structure
should evaluated to determine whether it can accommodate the weight of a blue roof

8.

-

Basement and below ground attenuation storage should also be considered.

-

Green roofs and green walls are welcomed, although concrete paviours in the lightwells
at basement level should be replaced with sustainable permeable options.

-

Bird and bat boxes should be installed as per CIEEM Guidelines.
RELEVANT POLICIES
Details of all relevant policies and guidance notes are attached in Appendix 2.
This report considers the proposal against the following development plan
documents.
National Guidance

8.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way
that effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and
future generations. The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into
account as part of the assessment of these proposals.
Development Plan
8.2

The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy
2011, Islington Development Management Policies 2013 and the Finsbury Local Plan
2013.

8.3

The following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this
application.
The New London Plan

8.4

The London Plan was finally adopted on 2 March 2021. The relevant London Plan
policies have been taken into account and are set out below.
Policy SD4 Central Activities Zone
Policy SD5 Offices, other strategic functions
and residential development in the CAZ
Policy GG1 Building strong and inclusive
communities
Policy GG2 Making the best use of land
Policy D1 London’s form, character and
capacity for growth
Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through
design-led approach
Policy D4 Delivering Good Design
Policy D5 Inclusive Design
Policy D8 Public Realm
Policy D10 Basement development
Policy D12 Fire safety
Policy D13 Agent of Change
Policy D14 Noise
Policy H1 Increasing housing supply
Policy H15 Purpose built student

Policy G5 Urban Greening
Policy G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
Policy SI1 Improving air quality
Policy SI2 Minimising greenhouse emissions
Policy SI3 Energy Infrastructure
Policy SI4 Managing heat risk
Policy SI5 Water infrastructure
Policy SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the
circular economy
Policy SI12 Flood risk management
Policy SI13 Sustainable drainage
Policy T2 Healthy Streets
Policy T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and
safeguarding
Policy T4 Assessing and mitigating transport
impacts
Policy T5 Cycling
Policy T6 Car parking

Page 196
P-RPT-COM-Main

Accommodation.
Policy E1 Offices
Policy E11 Skills and opportunities for all.
Policy HC1 Heritage and Growth

Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and
construction

8.5 Islington Core Strategy (2011)
Spatial Strategy

Policy CS15 (Open Space and Green
Infrastructure)

Policy CS7 Bunhill and Clerkenwell)
Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s
Character)
Strategic Policies
Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing
Islington’s Built and Historic Environment)
Policy CS10 (Sustainable Design)
Policy CS11 (Waste)
Policy CS12 (Meeting the housing
challenge)
Policy CS13 (Employment Spaces)

Infrastructure and Implementation
Policy CS18 (Delivery and Infrastructure)
Policy CS19 (Health Impact Assessments)
Policy CS20 (Partnership Working)

8.6 Islington Local Plan Development Management Policies (2013)
Policy DM2.1 (Design)
Policy DM2.2 (Inclusive design)
Policy DM2.3 (Heritage)
Policy DM2.4 (Protected Views)
Policy DM3.7 (Noise and Vibration)
Policy DM3.9 (House in multiple occupation,
hostels and student accommodation)
Policy DM6.1 (Healthy development)
Policy DM6.5 (Landscaping, trees &
biodiversity)
Policy DM6.6 (Flood prevention)
Policy DM7.1 (Sustainable design &
construction)
Policy DM7.3 (Decentralised Energy
Networks)

Policy DM7.4 (Sustainable design
standards)
Policy DM7.5 (Heating and cooling)
Policy DM8.2 (Managing transport
impacts)
Policy DM8.4 (Walking and cycling)
Policy DM8.5 (Vehicle parking)
Policy DM8.6 (Delivery and servicing
for new developments)
Policy DM9.1 (Infrastructure)
Policy DM9.2 (Planning obligations)

Islington Local Plan Examination in Public (2019)
8.7

The Regulation 19 Draft of the Local Plan was approved at Full Council on 27 June 2019
for consultation and subsequent submissions to the Secretary of State for independent
examination. From 5 September 2019 to 18 October 2019, the Council consulted on the
Regulation 19 draft of he new Local Plan. Submission took place on 12 February 2020
with examination process now in progress. As part of the examination consultation on
pre-hearing modifications took place between 18 March and 9 May 2021. The Matters
and Issues have now been published with hearings set to take place from 13 September
to 5 October 2021.

Page 197
P-RPT-COM-Main

8.8

In line with the NPPF, Local PLanning Authortiies may give weight to relevant policies in
emerging plans according to:



The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the
greater the weight that may be given).



The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given) and;



The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this Framework
(the closer the policies in the emerging polcies in the Framework, the greater the weight
that may be given).

8.9

Emerging policies that are relevant to this application are set out below in Appendix 2.

8.10

In Line with the NPPF Local Planning Authorities may give weight to relevant policies in
emerging plans according to:

-

the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the
greater the weight that may be given);
the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and
the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this Framework
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater
the weight that may be given).

8.11

Emerging policies relevant to this application are set out below:
Policy SP1: Bunhill and Clerkenwell
Policy H1 Thriving Communities (Limited
weight)
Policy H6 Purpose built student
accommodation (Limited weight)
Policy SC1 Social and Community
Infrastructure
Policy SC3 Health impact assessment
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy SC4 Promoting Social Value
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy B3 Existing business floorspace
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy B5 Jobs and training opportunities
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy G1 Green infrastructure
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy G4 Biodiversity, Landscaping and
Trees
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy G5 Green Roofs and Vertical
Greening
(Moderate weight)
Policy S1 Delivering sustainable design
(Limited weight)

Policy S3 Sustainable design standards
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy S4 Minimising greenhouse emissions
(Limited weight)
Policy S6 Managing Heat Risk
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy S8 Flood risk management
(Moderate weight)
Policy S9 Integrated water management and
sustainable design
(Moderate weight)
Policy T1 Enhancing the public realm and
sustainable transport
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy T2 Sustainable transport choices
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy T3 Car-free development
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy T4 Public Realm
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy T5 Delivery, servicing and construction
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy DH1 Fostering innovation while protecting
heritage (Limited to moderate weight)
Policy DH2 Heritage Assets (Limited to
moderate weight)
Policy DH3 Building Heights

Page 198

P-RPT-COM-Main

Policy S2 Sustainable design
construction
(Limited to moderate weight)

and

(Limited weight)
Policy DH4 Basement development
(Limited to moderate weight)
Policy DH5 Agent of Change, noise and vibration
Policy ST2 Waste
(Moderate weight)
Policy ST4 Water and wastewater infrastructure
(Moderate weight)

Finsbury and Bunhill Local Plan (2019)
Policy BC1: Prioritising office use
Policy BC7: Central Finsbury

8.12

Finsbury Local Plan (2013)

Policy BC1: Kings Square and St Luke’s
Policy BC8: Achieving a balanced mix of uses
Designations
8.13

The site has the following designations under the London Plan 2021, Islington Core
Strategy 2011, Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013
and Site Allocations 2013:
- Moorfields Conservation area
- Central Activities Zone

- Bunhill and Finsbury Area Action Plan

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD)
8.14

Islington Local Plan (2013)
Student Bursaries
Environmental Design
Accessible Housing in Islington
Conservation Area Design Guidelines
Inclusive Landscape Design
Planning Obligations and S106
Urban Design Guide

8.15

9.

London Plan (2021)
Accessible London: Achieving and Inclusive Environment
Housing
Sustainable Design & Construction
Planning for equality and diversity in London

ASSESSMENT
Land-use

Page 199
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.1

The Islington Core Strategy (adopted 2011) identifies this site as being located within the
Finsbury and Clerkenwell key area as illustrated in Map 2.1 of the Core Strategy. The site
is not located in either of the Employment Priority Areas (general or office) and is not
located in the City Fringe Opportunity Area but is within the Central Activities Zone.

9.2

The Finsbury Local Plan (2013) is broken down into policy and strategy areas. The site is
located within the Kings Square and St Luke’s policy area, although Bath Street as a whole
is located within the Old Street policy area. As such, in relation to townscape, streetscene,
servicing and public realm considerations, both designations should be applicable. The
site is not subject to a site allocation within the Finsbury Local Plan (Area Action Plan).

9.3

The Bunhill and Clerkenwell Area Action Plan (2019) is an emerging document as part of
the Local Plan Review and has been submitted to the Planning Inspectorate as part of the
Examination in Public. While the site is not subject to specific site allocations, the Area
Action Plan aims to bring forward area wide land use policy prioritising office use. The
spatial strategy sub area is Central Finsbury. Relevant policies highlight the existing mixed
– but predominantly residential – character of the area and the relationships between other
spatial strategy areas within the Area Action Plan. At this point in time, limited weight is
attributable to these policies.

9.4

Policy CS7 (Bunhill and Clerkenwell) states at Section A that employment development
within Bunhill and Clerkenwell will contribute to a diverse local economy. Employment led
development will be largely concentrated south of Old Street. Creative industries and
SMEs which have historically contributed significantly to the area will be supported and
encouraged. Part C states that a number of notable education and medical institutions
have a presence in the area including City University. The provision of non-residential
university uses in the area is supported. The expansion of City University including
additional student accommodation at Northampton Square and Bastwick Street which will
be designated for such uses.

9.5

Paragraph 3.3.23 acknowledges the importance of higher education in London as both an
employer and as a function. However, concern is raised at the growth of student
accommodation and its actions in threatening the provision of permanent residential
development in the Borough. The provision of student accommodation in the Borough has
exceeded targets to the disadvantage of providing market residential and genuinely
affordable residential development. Where student accommodation is to be provided the
Council will seek the provision of an element of affordable accommodation. Part J of policy
CS12 (Meeting the housing challenge) states that student accommodation developments
will help increase access to higher and further education by providing for bursaries. The
payments of bursaries will last for as long as a site is used for student accommodation.

9.6

Policy DM3.9 (Houses in Multiple Occupation, hostels and student accommodation) states
at sections H and I that student accommodation will only be approved where the site has
been allocated or designated for student accommodation uses or it can be demonstrated
that the proposal will not give rise to any significant adverse amenity impacts on the
surrounding neighbourhood and provide good quality accommodation and amenity for
occupiers. Any development deemed to be acceptable and policy compliant should be
supported by a legal agreement and conditions to secure bursaries, to secure the
accommodation for students and to secure an appropriate site management plan.

9.7

Policy BC8 (Achieving a balanced mix of uses) states at section E that within the City
University London sites designated on the Policies Map and shown on figure 16 university
uses will be prioritised. On the Bastwick Street site, this includes student accommodation.
Student accommodation is not appropriate outside of this site. It should be noted that
Willen House is not a designated site.
Page 200
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.8

Within the area wide policies in the Bunhill and Clerkenwell Area Action Plan (subject to
Examination in Public) Policy BC1 (Prioritising office use) states that all development
proposals providing 500sq.m or more net increase in floorspace (within any use class)
must comprise at least 80% office floorspace as a proportion of the total net additional
floorspace. Development proposals under the threshold must be office led. There may be
circumstances where these provisions do not apply and that the development should not
be office led. This includes situations where the existing use is protected by another local
plan policy where that use is to be the predominant land use. The other exceptions include
where it may be for an alternative form of employment floorspace, where it would be a
publicly funded use or would serve medical, educational or research institutions, or where
it is wholly residential or where the development is small scale where it would not be
practicable to provide office floorspace.

9.9

The emerging local plan states at Policy H6 (Purpose built student accommodation) that
proposals involving the development, redevelopment and/or intensification of purpose built
student accommodation will only be permitted on sites with existing purpose built student
accommodation subject to consistency with other Local Plan policies and additional
impacts of the development being acceptable. A range of compliance criteria are also set
out in the policy. It is also important to state at this stage however, that the emerging local
plan has been delayed entering the Examination in Public and as such, the policies have
limited weight.

9.10

Planning permission is sought for the erection of extensions to the existing building to
provide an additional 50 student bedrooms to the existing 157 bedrooms secured through
previous planning permissions. The application also proposes the re-arrangement of the
existing internal layout providing upgraded bedrooms and new circulation space above
ground floor, enhancing student amenity space at the basement and ground floor level,
providing enhanced external amenity space within the curtilage and protection and
retention without change, the existing commercial floorspace (Class E).

9.11

New purpose built student accommodation within the London Borough of Islington is
discouraged by both adopted and emerging Local Plan Policies as well as the local Area
Action Plan for Bunhill and Clerkenwell. The Council perceives that there has been an
oversupply of student accommodation within the current plan period and restrictions should
be introduced to limit the supply. The Council has been concerned that the oversupply
contributes to an imbalance of housing types in the Borough and purpose built student
accommodation on sites that have come forward for development prevent the supply of
much needed housing and associated opportunities for the provision of genuinely
affordable housing. To this end the Council will only permit purpose built student
accommodation on designated sites. This site is not one of these sites. While this site is
linked to the City University London, it is not a designated site in planning and site
allocation terms. Policy BC1 of the Draft Bunhill and Clerkenwell Area Action Plan (2019)
makes no provision in general terms for the development of new or the modification of
existing student accommodation and reference to this land use is only made within specific
site allocations, which this site is not included.

9.12

Nevertheless, policy DM3.9 of the existing local plan is silent on scenarios where
applications bring forward proposals to intensify or enlarge existing student
accommodation developments. The emerging local plan however recognises that
schemes might come forward to intensify existing student accommodation. It is therefore
reasonable to suggest that as the adopted local plan does not make reference to such
eventuality, there is no limitation against this in principle. Given that the emerging policy
H6 explicitly recognises the possibility of existing student accommodation blocks being
extended the scheme is supported in principle
by the emerging local plan.
Page 201
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.13

The London Plan states that there is an annual London wide target of 3500 student
bedrooms to be provided through the plan period. While this is not broken down into
Borough by Borough targets, as such demand and supply is generated by the needs of
individual higher education institutions throughout the plan period. To demonstrate that
there is an actual need, the student accommodation must either be operated directly by a
higher education provider or the development must have an agreement with higher
education institutions so that the accommodation is occupied by students for that institution
for as long as the development is used as student accommodation. A nominations
agreement should therefore be in place for students of the particular institution to be
accommodated within the development.

9.14

With respect to policy DM3.9 of the Local Plan, the policy requires the scheme not to have
any adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining neighbours, and provide suitable standard
of accommodation for occupiers. These matters will be considered in greater detail below.
However the policy also requires a connection to a specific higher education institution, the
use of student bursaries and the implementation of a relevant site management plan.
Emerging policy H6 reinforces these requirements and adds a commitment to providing
35% of bedrooms as affordable bedrooms.

9.15

Willen House is currently occupied exclusively by postgraduate students attending the City
University of London (CUL) under a long term lease between CUL and the landlord, EC1
Residences Limited. CUL has full control over lettings and each year, the University
provides the developer with a list of students wanting to take a room at Willen House. There
is regular liaison between the University Accommodation Services Team and Willen House
staff over lettings and ongoing management and welfare.

9.16

CUL will continue to have direct influence over the building in the future. CUL will enter into
a very long term nominations arrangement whereby it will be able to reserve rooms at its
discretion and only should it opt not to do so would rooms be let to the wider London
student market.

9.17

The website of the City University of London refers to Willen House as being a residence
exclusively for postgraduate City students and it is clear that there is a link between the
institution and the development.

9.18

With respect to policy DM3.9 of the Local Plan, the policy requires the scheme not to have
any adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining neighbours, and provide suitable standard
of accommodation for occupiers. These matters will be considered in greater detail below.
However the policy also requires a connection to a specific higher education institution, the
use of student bursaries and the implementation of a relevant site management plan.
Emerging policy H6 reinforces these requirements and adds a commitment to providing
35% of bedrooms as affordable bedrooms.

9.19

Policy H6 of the Draft Local Plan requires the provision of at least 35% of bedrooms to be
provided as affordable bedrooms. This reflects the London Plan Policy H15 which seeks
to secure affordable occupancy on the same basis as conventional housing. The applicant
has committed to providing 19 of the 50 new bedrooms as affordable bedrooms (38%)
which would therefore meet the requirement of this policy and also London Plan policy
H15. However, in securing new student accommodation, the emerging local plan also
seeks to secure student bursaries. This is a policy requirement set out in CS12 of the Core
Strategy, emerging policy H6 and the London Plan policy H15. In welcoming affordable
student bedrooms, the Council prioritises the securing of student bursaries over and above
the provision of affordable student bedrooms. Nevertheless, this scheme is able to provide
both in a way that meets the requirements of Page
the policy.
202As per the London Plan policy
P-RPT-COM-Main

H6, if 35% of units are not provided as such, then the scheme should be submitted for
testing in relation to the viability tested route. If the scheme provides at least 35%, the
scheme will be deemed as satisfying the viability fast track route. Given the commitment
to provide at least 35% the scheme satisfies the fast track route. The ‘affordability’ will be
secured through the Section 106 agreement.
9.20

The definition of an affordable student bedroom is purpose built student accommodation
(PBSA) bedroom that is provided at a rental cost for the academic year equal to below
55% of the maximum income that a new full time student studying in London and living
away from home could receive from the Government’s maintenance loan for living costs
for that academic year. The Mayor’s London Plan Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) outlines
the benchmark maximum annual rental cost for affordable student accommodation. The
most recent AMR was published in March 2021 and covers the year 2018/19. In it, sets
out that the annual rental cost for student accommodation should not exceed £6,606.

9.21

The priority for the Council in supporting student accommodation is the provision of student
bursaries. Core Strategy policy CS12 states that student accommodation developments
will help increase access to higher education by providing funding for bursaries for students
leaving council care and other Islington students facing hardship who are attending a
higher or further education establishment. The funding will be an annual payment
equivalent to the rent level charged for a percentage of the student bedrooms for as long
as the site is used as student accommodation.

9.22

The Council’s Student Accommodation Contributions for Bursaries (June 2013) states that
the Council will set the requirement to pay a financial contribution for student bursaries
equivalent to 2.4% of the total annual rental income from a development of student
accommodation for thirty years or as long as site is used for student accommodation
whichever is the shorter period of time.

9.23

The implementation of a bursary payment scheme and the provision of affordable student
bedrooms will apply only to the units contained in the uplift and not for the pre-existing
units. The initial annual payment for the first year of operation of a new student
accommodation development will become due on an agreed date at the end of the first full
year of operation. Successive payments will be due annually on this date for a period of
thirty years thereafter, or until the site ceases to be used for student accommodation,
whichever is the shorter period. The council will require the site owner, including
mortgagees, to enter into a legal Section 106 Agreement with the Council or submit a
unilateral undertaking to secure payment of 2.4% of annual rental income from student
accommodation developments towards student bursaries as explained in this SPD. The
applicant’s affordable housing statement makes the commitment to meet the requirement
set out in paragraph 3.106 of the Draft Local Plan requiring the annual payment of at least
2.4% of the annual revenue from student bedroom rentals. The applicant estimates that
this would amount to approximately £22,000 per annum.

9.24

As well as providing 157 student bedrooms, the existing building also provides two
separate self-commercial units formerly in B1 (a) use class but now in E use class. These
two units are accessible from the street at the front of the building but cannot be accessed
from any part of the student accommodation floorspace. The two units together measure
273.6sq.m and were secured through the grant of planning permission P053035 on 30
June 2006. This application retains the existing floorspace in the same format and layout.
As no floorspace is being lost or being reduced in quality, it is not necessary to require the
applicant to provide marketing evidence (Policy DM5.2). The scheme would comply with
Draft Policy B3 which requires the protection of existing business floorspace in the Bunhill
and Clerkenwell Area Action Plan area.

Page 203
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.25

Nevertheless, Policy BC1 of the Draft Bunhill and Clerkenwell Area Action Plan, which
prioritises office use, all development proposals providing 500sq.m or more net increase
in floorspace within any use class must comprise at least 80% office floorspace as a
proportion of the net additional floorspace proposed. This application proposes a net
increase of 1220sq.m of floorspace meaning that 976sq.m of office floor space should be
forthcoming in this scheme. However, part D of the policy provides for situations where this
requirement may not need to be fulfilled. For example, this may relate to a situation where
meeting the requirement might undermine the implementation of a site allocation, where
other employment uses may be more appropriate or where there may be a publicly funded
or public service within a particular site, where the development may be located in a wholly
residential area or where a scheme proposes a small scale extension to an existing
residential building where it is not practical or reasonable to introduce office uses.

9.26

It is considered that criterion (v) of Policy BC1 (D) is most appropriate. While not
constituting conventional housing, this remains a residential proposal for a residential
building. It is considered that given the nature of the existing use as student
accommodation and the requirements to facilitate separate access, circulation and
servicing that it would not be compatible to provide employment floorspace within the
building on the upper levels or within the rear extensions.

Design, Conservation and Heritage Considerations (including Archaeology)
9.27

The following requirements are necessary for Local Planning Authorities when
considering planning applications which affect the setting of a listed building or the
character and appearance of a conservation area. Section 72(1) Section 66(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that: ‘In
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed
building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary
of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses’.

9.28

Section 72(1) of the Act states: ‘In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other
land in a conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of any of the provisions
mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area”. The effect of the
duties imposed by section 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is, respectively, to require decision-makers to give
considerable weight and importance to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed
buildings, and to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance
of a conservation area.

9.29

In terms of the NPPF it addresses the determination of planning applications affecting
designated and non-designated heritage assets at paragraphs 128-135 which state, inter
alia, that:
‘In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to
describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made
by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and
no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their
significance. As a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been
consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where
necessary…

Page 204
P-RPT-COM-Main

Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the
setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary
expertise. They should take this assessment into account when considering the impact of
a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s
conservation and any aspect of the proposal…’
9.30

Relevant Development Plan Guidance is provided by London Plan Policy HC1 which is
concerned with heritage assets and states, inter alia, that ‘Development proposals
affecting heritage assets, and their settings, should conserve their significance, by being
sympathetic to the assets’ significance and appreciation within their surroundings.’

9.31

Equally the Council also attach great importance to design and heritage impacts. Policy
DM2.3 on heritage encourages development that makes a positive contribution to
Islington’s local character and distinctiveness. Moreover, Policy DM2.4 requires protected
views to be considered and enhanced. Finally, in terms of heritage, Policy DM2.5 states
that the views of well-known local landmarks will be protected and stringent controls over
the height, location and design of any building which blocks or detracts from important or
potentially important views will be exercised.

9.32

In terms of design of the built environment, the National Planning Policy Framework
confirms that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the built
environment, and notes that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better
for people. London Plan Policy D3 (Optimising site capacity through the design-led
approach) is concerned with good quality and contextual design and states, inter alia,
that developments should: ‘enhance local context by delivering buildings and spaces that
positively respond to local distinctiveness through their layout, orientation, scale,
appearance and shape, with due regard to existing and emerging street hierarchy,
building types, forms and proportions.’

9.33

The London Plan Policy D3 also states developments should respond to the existing
character of a place by identifying the special and valued features and characteristics
that are unique to the locality and be of high quality, with architecture that pays attention
to detail, and gives thorough consideration to the practicality of use, flexibility, safety and
building lifespan through appropriate construction methods and the use of attractive,
robust materials which weather and mature well. Furthermore, London Plan Policy D4
(Delivering Good Design) expects the design of development proposals to be thoroughly
scrutinised by borough planning, urban design, and conservation officers, utilising local
evidence, and expert advice where appropriate. In addition, boroughs and applicants
should make use of the design review process to assess and inform design options early
in the planning process.

9.34

Islington’s Core Strategy Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s character) states that the
scale of new development will reflect the character of a surrounding area. Policy CS9
(Protecting and enhancing Islington’s built and historic environment) states that high
quality architecture and urban design are key to enhancing and protecting Islington’s built
environment, making it safer and more inclusive. Moreover, where areas of Islington
suffer from poor layout, opportunities will be taken to redesign them by integrating new
buildings into surviving fragments of historic fabric. All development will need to be based
on coherent street frontages.

9.35

Development Management Policy DM2.1 (Design) requires all forms of development to
be of a high quality, incorporating inclusive design principles while making positive
contributions to the local character andPage
distinctiveness
205 of an area, based upon an
P-RPT-COM-Main

understanding and evaluation of its defining characteristics. All new developments are
required to improve the quality, clarity and sense of space around or between buildings,
reinforce and complement local distinctiveness and create a positive sense of place.
Point vii specifically states that buildings should respect and respond positively to
existing buildings, the streetscape and the wider context.
9.36

Islington’s Urban Design Guide (2017) provides guidelines and principles for good urban
design, e.g. how buildings look and fit into their setting, the layout and organisation of
public spaces and the appearance of street frontages. Of particular significance is
paragraph 5.67 which states that ‘new development should create a scale and form of
development that relates to the existing built form and provides a consistent and
coherent setting for the space or street that it defines or encloses’. Historic England’s
Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 (The Setting of Heritage
Assets), the council’s Urban Design Guide SPD and the Mayor of London’s Character
and Context SPG are also relevant to the consideration of this application.

Site Context
9.37

Willen House occupies the entire frontage of a street block on the eastern side of Bath
Street between Galway Street and Lever Street. The site is located a short distance from
the junction with City Road. Bath Street is characterised by institutional uses on the
eastern side related to health care and medicine while the western side of Bath Street is
predominantly characterised by residential development. Much of the surrounding
residential development is set within defined housing estates and provided either as
tower blocks within landscaped areas or low rise terraces.

9.38

Immediately opposite the site on the eastern side of Bath Street is the Moorfields Eye
Hospital and associated training facilities. Both buildings are six storeys in height. The
UCL Institute of Ophthalmology is a much newer building than Willen House and it is
behind this building which the main Hospital building is located. To the west of Bath
Street between Lever Street and City Road are slightly lower buildings which reflect the
lesser townscape significance and less important uses transitioning to more residential
uses and secondary frontages. It is within this context that Willen House also finds itself.
To the immediate north is Merino Court which has been converted and extended to
intensify the residential uses on the site. To the rear is the Guinness Court Estate which
is generally four to five storeys in height and is a relatively modern brick built housing
estate which has a principal frontage to Lever Street but wraps around a central private
landscaped courtyard on to which the estate has its primary outlook and aspect. There is
no corresponding frontage to Galway Street to the south which is dominated by two,
seven storey tower blocks known as Grayson House and Galway House in Galway
Street. A number of lower rise apartment blocks with significant footprint are situated at
the western end of the Lever Street, Galway Street, Bath Street and Ironmonger Row
street block where further heritage assets become apparent including St Luke’s Square,
St Luke’s Church and Ironmonger Baths. To the northwest of the site is the even more
oppressive Gambier House tower block which also dominates the setting of Willen House
and makes a negative contribution to the streetscene.

9.39

Application Site
The application site comprises a handsome, 5 storey, post war commercial building
designed in the late 1940’s in the ‘streamlined modern’ style. It fronts onto western edge
of Bath Street, between Galway Street to its south and Lever Street to its north in this
City Fringe location. The building occupies the entire frontage of this urban block and
presents a confident and expressive façade to the street, contributing to the richness and
character of the diverse Moorfields Conservation Area within which it is located.

Page 206

P-RPT-COM-Main

9.40

It has been significantly altered to both of its return frontages and its large imposing rear
elevation the latter having been completely rendered, substantially altered and as a
result, is visually bleak in its appearance. The very small windows spaced apart in an
exposed rear elevation further contributes to the poor quality streetscene attributed to
Galway Street and Lever Street. This is exacerbated by the high walls around the rear
and sides of the curtilage which enclose substations and servicing.

9.41

While the building was originally designed and occupied as a headquarters building for
the Willen family ironmongery company, it was converted into student halls of residence
following planning consent in 2007. A further extension was consented to add an
additional storey to the building providing 15 new bedrooms. This extension occupies
part of the roof space and is recessed from the front and sides but not to the rear thereby
adding further visual discord to the building when viewed from the streetscene in Bath
Street, Galway Street and Lever Street.

9.42

The building is a non-designated heritage asset located within the Moorfields
Conservation Area to its southern edge. While the Conservation Area is primarily
characterised by an impressive array of late Victorian and Edwardian commercial and
institutional buildings lining City Road, Willen House was one of the first post-War
building projects in the Moorfields area and “is a characterful building demonstrating a
sophisticated application of Bauhaus principles to a primarily C19th urban realm in a way
which allows for urban harmony”.

Proposal
9.43 Planning permission is now sought for extensions to the building and façade upgrades
that maintain and restore the elevational treatment to the original building as well provide
a significant and positive uplift in quality to the elevations at the rear.
9.44

This is a significant step forward with respect to the scheme as the initial proposals to the
Council comprised of its total demolition. The loss of the building would have been
harmful to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and to the historical
development of this part of the Borough. The importance of the existing building also
forms the basis of the comments from the Twentieth Century Society who have no
objection to the proposal to extend and refurbish the building in principle. The extensions
are well designed and respect the form and design of the building

9.45

The latter day roof top extension will be demolished and removed. This extension makes
no reference to the elevation details and its removal is supported. This will be replaced
with full width and depth extension that constitutes a continuation of the existing building.
It is proposed to replicate the floor below as a new sixth storey. The design of this
extension would reflect the proportions of the storey heights within the original building
and maintain the proportions of solid (built fabric) and light (fenestration strip). In order to
preserve the unique characteristics of the building it would maintain the curvature of the
street corners and incorporate architectural detailing and stylisation.

Page 207
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 21: Drawn front elevation of the resulting Willen House, showing continuity of design
and sympathetic extension to the original in respect of proportions.
9.46

The application also proposes a further storey above. This would be recessed from the
edge of the building to achieve subordination, thereby allowing the building to be
respectful and responsive of scale, size and massing. Despite being recessed from all
four edges of the building, the appearance of this upper storey would reflect the structural
proportions of the principal building and would appear as a cohesive addition to the
building. Like the storeys below, it would maintain a curvature around the frontal corners
to Galway Street and Lever Street.

Fig 22: Conjunction between old and new showing upgrade and enhancement on the Galway Street elevation.

9.47

In respect of materiality, the application acknowledges the intrinsic character of the main
facades of the building, which is characterised by the fluted stone banding between each
level along the façade and the crittal window detailing. The application proposes an
upgrade to this façade system and this detailing will be replaced on the existing facades
and added to the additional storeys. The existing fenestration will be upgraded in design

Page 208
P-RPT-COM-Main

and appearance terms and also in its thermal appearance. New structural columns would
be constructed to the existing facades and new thermal insulation would be added too.

Fig 23: Materiality on the proposed front elevation
9.48

The existing building has a height of 18.2m from street level to the existing roof and
approximately 22m to the roof of the more recent upper floor extension. The proposed
extension to create the sixth floor would give a building height of 21.4m and the upper
storey would have a height of approximately 24.5m. Taking into account plant and lift
overrun, the proposed total height of the building would be approximately 26.5m in
height. The building would not exceed 30m in height and as such, the structure would not
constitute a tall building the context of the Local Plan or the London Plan.

9.49

On the southern, Galway Street elevation, the application proposes a six storey side
return rear extension. A vertical shadow gap will allow the extension to be distinguishable
from the original building. Its substantive height would reach the same height as the new
sixth storey and the proposed seventh storey would overlap the roof of the rear
extension. The proposed extension would maintain the horizontal banding pattern and
vertical columns contained within the horizontal banding. The extension would sit above
the existing substation accessible from Galway Street and which retains its autonomy.
Also within the ground floor level of this rear projection, there would be openings from the
street serving cycle and refuse storage.

9.50

It is considered that the proposed development albeit modified from the original
submission provides for an appropriate and high quality addition that enhances the
building and preserves the character and appearance of the conservation area.

9.51

The proposed roof top extension comprising two additional storeys, provides a
complementary form that replicates the existing form, design and appearance of the
existing building below. The proposed extensions would continue the form, proportions
and architectural detailing of the existing building and the width of the block easily
accommodates the height of the two storeys albeit with the recessed upper storey. Views
along Bath Street demonstrate a roof form and building height that is consistent with
building heights along Bath Street including those expressed by Merino Court at 152-154
Lever Street at the junction with Bath Street and the adjoining 6 Bath Street. The
proposed building height is also considered to be consistent with those on the eastern
side of Bath Street that make up collectively the various elements of Moorfields and the

Page 209

P-RPT-COM-Main

Institute of Ophthalmology. Within an area dominated by the tall residential apartment
blocks in Galway Street and Lever Street, the proposed modest height of no more than
25m above ground level would be dominant despite the largely exposed rear aspect.
9.52

The rear elevation itself has been modified to account for necessary improvements to the
quality of sunlight and daylight amenity for the occupiers of Merino Court. The proposed
rear elevation would remove the bleak rendered rear elevation detail and replace it with a
predominantly brick elevation maintaining the horizontal pattern of fenestration enhanced
by the use of the fluted banding. The rear elevation consists of three projecting sections.
One each along Galway Street and Lever Street and a central projection. Part of the roof
extension to existing building will overlap the rear extensions. The northern projection
along Lever Street however, has been reduced considerably from the first submitted
scheme and now consists of a ground floor plus one storey element that demonstrates
considerable improvements to the daylight, sunlight and outlook for Merino Court over
and above the first scheme. It is considered that the lack of symmetry on the rear
elevation does not give rise to an unsuccessful building as the adjoining street context
and the building’s width prevent all three projections from being properly appreciated.

9.53

The reduced height of the Lever Street projection does allow the building to transition
more effectively within the streetscene to the Guinness Court which is of three to four
storeys in height. In addition, given the narrow width of the street (in direct contrast to the
pattern of development at the junction of Bath Street and Galway Street), the reduced
height creates a less cramped streetscene at this junction.

9.54

The scheme presents a range of materials which seek to preserve the positive
contribution that the building makes to the character and appearance of the conservation
area. Key attributes of the building include the rounded corners to the junctions, the
horizontal fluted banding and the crittal windows. These are preserved and enhanced
within the existing building and references to the original design and materiality are made
within the extensions. The rear elevation of the development significantly improves the
quality of townscape and streetscene through the use of brick and the continuation of the
fenestration into the rear elevation allows for a development that successfully addresses
the locality.

9.55

The proposed elevational treatment is considered successful. This is because it is
inherently well designed as well as sensitively echoing the original fenestration patterns
and proportions. This while not exactly replicating the original fenestration, the proposed
fenestration maintains the richness and rhythm of the original façade whilst facilitating a
good quality of student accommodating within.

9.56

The proposed extended 6th floor replicates exactly those of the floors below which is
acceptable, save for a recessed element to the northern Lever Street return, while the
new 7th floor has a subtle set back to the front and primary returns and a substantial set
back from the rear and recessed flank elements with no protrusion at this top level to the
northern Lever Street wing.

9.57

The fenestration pattern and the application of materials is also subtly different to this
new top floor compared to the floors below, further signifying and expressing its ancillary
nature. This is a successful design response that ensures that the extensions to upper
floors are neither overwhelming nor visually obtrusive.

9.58

The proposed materials palette is also considered acceptable. Specifically, the front and
flank facades respond to the original materials with a light palette to include cream fluted
stone panels to the banding, smooth cream stone panels, buff brickwork, and glazed

Page 210
P-RPT-COM-Main

terracotta sills. A condition will be attached to secure samples and additional details to be
approved.
9.59

The new powder coated aluminium windows, with their successful and deliberate ‘Crittall
window’ referencing, are coloured white as are the existing columns. These are also to
be painted (remain) white given they are viewed through, as well as against, the new
windows.

Fig 24: Proposed materiality on the rear elevation
9.60

Perforated fluted metalwork panels are proposed in a tone a shade darker than the
cream stone to add a lightweight filigree pattern to the façade and to help obscure some
of the internal columns that would still be otherwise visible through the glazing.

9.61

The proposed rear façade adopts the same banding geometry as the front and flank
facades including using the same cream stonework. However the proposed bricks are of
a darker tone - a soft grey.

Landscaping
9.62

The existing site offers little opportunity to provide or contribute to landscaping in the
public realm. The building envelope extends to the pavement edge and at the rear is
dominated by substations, loading areas and boundary walls. While there is some
existing external amenity space within the development, this is dominated by hard
landscaping mainly in the form of concrete slabs. Soft landscaping is restricted to
moveable planters and trellis for climbing plants.

9.63

Within the wider area beyond the site are open spaces and residents’ gardens, however
these are mainly limited to the existing housing estates to the south and west.

Page 211
P-RPT-COM-Main

Fig 25: Proposed ground floor layout showing landscaping at the rear (accessed at lower ground floor level).

9.64

While the existing footprint of the building is proposed to be extended rearwards,
opportunities exist to provide an element of improved landscaping within the communal
courtyards that will be retained within the scheme. Two landscaped and accessible
courtyards will be provided either side of the central projection. They would be accessed
from the student amenity area at the lower ground floor area. The submitted Design and
Access Statement indicates areas of planting and hard landscaping combined with
aggregates to provide a less utilitarian landscape for external amenity. Any plants will
need to be shade tolerant to accommodate the lower ground floor location. The proposed
landscaping will be reserved by condition. The gardens would be supplemented by living
walls, however, given the sheltered location for these, careful design will be required to
secure their long term maintenance and preservation.

Impact on heritage assets
9.65

The application is accompanied by a detailed Heritage Statement that appropriately
assesses the impacts arising of the scheme on nearby heritage assets together with the
significance and characteristics of each of the assets.

9.66

The site lies within the Moorfields Conservation Area. The character value derives
principally from the Victorian and Edwardian commercial buildings fronting City Road.
Willen House represents a much later phase of the development in the area. The
conservation area designation excludes the building directly opposite and any other
buildings to the west or south. There are no listed buildings within the setting of Willen
House. Indeed, there are no listed buildings visible from the site nor is Willen House
visible from the closest listed buildings. Although there are locally listed buildings in the
vicinity of the site, related principally to Moorfields Eye Hospital, again, these are not
within the setting of Willen House. Only two locally listed buildings – 186/188 City Road
and Moorfields Eye Hospital are visible with Willen House and this is only facilitated by
views along Clayton Street to City Road.

9.67

As such, the only relevant heritage asset is the Conservation Area. The Moorfields
Conservation Area primarily consists of an unusual and impressive collection of late
Victorian and Edwardian commercial and institutional buildings fronting the City Road. It

Page 212
P-RPT-COM-Main

is considered that the proposed development responds well to the Conservation Area
(CA), improving the buildings appearance and presence within the CA.
9.68

The existing building has heritage significance. It is a characterful building in a prominent
location in the conservation area. Willen House was constructed in 1948, making it one
of the first post-War building projects in the Moorfields area. This early phase of post-War
reconstruction is expressed in the architectural language of Willen House, which speaks
of an inter-War aesthetic somewhere between Bauhaus functionalism and the
commercial works of Joseph Emberton and Wells Coates. Although the architect of
Willen House has not yet been identified, the building demonstrates a sophisticated
application of Bauhaus principles to a primarily C19th urban realm in a way which allows
for urban harmony.

9.69

Its retention, refurbishment and extension is supported in that it maintains an active use
within the building, and preserves much of the original building including its key
characteristics which enrich and contribute to the character of the Moorfields
Conservation Area. The most recent amendments to the scheme to address issues of
sunlight/daylight are not considered to have changed the impact to the conservation area
and are deemed to preserve the building’s key attributes.

Accessibility
9.70

London Plan policy D5 requires all new development to achieve the highest standards of
accessible and inclusive design and refers to the Mayor’s Accessible London SPG. At
the local level, Development Management Policy DM2.2 requires all developments to
demonstrate they i) provide for east of and versatility in use; ii) deliver safe, legible and
logical environments; iii) produce places and spaces that are convenient and enjoyable
to use for everyone; and iv) bring together the design and management of a development
from the outset and over its lifetime.

9.71

The LB Islington has adopted the Inclusive Design in Islington SPD (February 2014).
This sets out design standards for inclusive student accommodation in the Borough. It
makes reference back to policy DM3.9 of the Local Plan that requires HMOs, hostels and
student accommodation to be built to Islington’s flexible home standards and 10% of
bedspaces must be designed to be wheelchair accessible ad must be fully fitted from
completion.

9.72

Accessibility requirements set out within the SPD require considerations of accessibility
to shared kitchen and dining facilities, accessibility of circulation within cluster units,
visitability and adaptability of bedrooms, accessibility to ensuite facilities and general
capacity. Sufficient provision should be made for parking, accessible cycle parking and
facilitation of access to accessible public transport. A range of standards are outlined
within the SPD relating to internal specification of communal and private space.

9.73

The existing building is accessed from the street by way of a wheelchair ramp to the front
entrance threshold which is raised above the street. The existing communal amenity
areas and the external amenity courtyards are also accessible for people with mobility
impairments. There is car parking to the frontage within a layby in Bath Street which
would permit disabled car parking where necessary.

9.74

The application acknowledges that the existing ramp to the front façade is non-compliant
with BS8300 due to the gradient. While the scheme initially proposed a platform lift to the
front of the property to achieve access to the threshold which is 0.4m above street level,
this is has now been replaced with a compliant ramp. Fire exit routes and access to
Page
213 and southern ends of the building.
refuse and cycle storage are located on
the northern
P-RPT-COM-Main

Internal stair and lift cores provide direct access to street level in the event of an
evacuation. The submitted floor plans and access audit demonstrates satisfactorily that
circulation spaces and corridors are sufficiently wide, that bedrooms contain sufficient
internal circulation turning spaces. Bedrooms have been designed to be both ready for
occupation by people in wheelchairs and flexible for future use as well as visitable by all.
9.75

The Council’s inclusive design officer has considered the proposal and has observed that
the scheme is largely satisfactory however, they have sought for the applicant to
demonstrate that doors facilitate easy access – avoiding sliding doors and that doors
have appropriate weight and pressure so that they can be opened easily by disabled
people. The applicant has committed to providing for these measures set out in the
officer response. In addition, the fire escape strategy must be developed further to cover
the evacuation of residents who may be in a wheelchair. This will be secured through
condition for discharge prior to the commencement of development.

Conclusion
9.76

The proposal is considered a well designed scheme, that carefully maintains the existing
form and proportions of the original design detail. As a building that makes a significant
impact within its immediate context, it is essential that the existing external fabric is
upgraded and improved. The scheme achieves this with sensitive rear extensions and
material improvements to the rear façade. Necessary modifications to part of the rear
elevation to mitigate the impact on Merino Court properties has not degraded the
scheme. The chosen palette of materials is sympathetic to the building and are of high
quality. There is no harmful impact on the setting of any listed or locally listed buildings
and the character and appearance of the conservation area is not depreciated. The
building as an undesignated heritage asset within the conservation area is significantly
improved.

9.77

As such, in relation to design, appearance and heritage, the planning application is
considered to be in accordance with relevant London Plan policies D3 and D4, Islington
Core Strategy CS8 and CS9, Development Management Policies DM2.1, DM2.3, DM2.4
and DM2.5 as well as Islington’s Urban Design Guide.
Neighbouring Amenity

9.78

The Development Plan contains policies which seek to appropriately safeguard the
amenities of residential occupiers when considering new development. London Plan
Policy D6 identifies that the design of development should provide sufficient daylight
and sunlight to surrounding housing that is appropriate to its context, whilst minimising
overshadowing and maximising the usability of outside amenity space. Policy DM2.1
of the Development Management Policies Document 2013 identifies that satisfactory
consideration shall be given to noise and the impact of disturbance, vibration, as well
as overshadowing, overlooking, privacy, direct sunlight and daylight receipt, overdominance, sense of enclosure and outlook.
Daylight/sunlight

9.79

In general, for assessing the sunlight and daylight impact of new development on
existing buildings, Building Research Establishment (BRE) Guidelines are adopted. In
accordance with both local and national policies, consideration has to be given to the
context of the site, the more efficient and effective use of valuable urban land and the
degree of material impact on neighbours. BRE Guidelines paragraph 1.1 states:

Page 214
P-RPT-COM-Main

“People expect good natural lighting in their homes and in a wide range of nonhabitable buildings. Daylight makes an interior look more attractive and interesting as
well as providing light to work or read by”.
9.80

Paragraph 1.6 states:
“The advice given here is not mandatory and the guide should not be seen as an
instrument of planning policy; its aim is to help rather than constrain the designer.
Although it gives numerical guidelines, these should be interpreted flexibly since
natural lighting is only one of many factors in site layout design…In special
circumstances the developer or local planning authority may wish to use different target
values. For example, in a historic city centre, or in an area with modern high rise
buildings, a higher degree of obstruction may be unavoidable if new developments are
to match the height and proportions of existing buildings”.

9.81

Daylight: the BRE Guidelines stipulate that… “the diffuse daylighting of the existing
building may be adversely affected if either:



9.82

the VSC [Vertical Sky Component] measured at the centre of an existing main
window is less than 27%, and less than 0.8 times its former value
the area of the working plane in a room which can receive direct skylight is reduced
to less than 0.8 times its former value.” (No Sky Line / Daylight Distribution).

The BRE Guidelines state (paragraph 2.1.4) that the maximum VSC value achievable
is almost 40% for a completely unobstructed vertical wall. At paragraph 2.2.7 of the
BRE Guidelines it states:
“If this VSC is greater than 27% then enough skylight should still be reaching the
window of the existing building. Any reduction below this level should be kept to a
minimum. If the VSC, with the development in place is both less than 27% and less
than 0.8 times is former value, occupants of the existing building will notice the
reduction in the amount of skylight. The area lit by the window is likely to appear more
gloomy, and electric lighting will be needed more of the time.”

9.83

At paragraph 2.2.8 the BRE Guidelines state:
“Where room layouts are known, the impact on the daylighting distribution in the
existing building can be found by plotting the ‘no sky line’ in each of the main rooms.
For houses this would include living rooms, dining rooms and kitchens. Bedrooms
should also be analysed although they are less important… The no sky line divides
points on the working plane which can and cannot see the sky… Areas beyond the no
sky line, since they receive no direct daylight, usually look dark and gloomy compared
with the rest of the room, however bright it is outside”.

9.84

Sunlight: The BRE Guidelines (2011) state in relation to sunlight at paragraph 3.2.11:
“If a living room of an existing dwelling has a main window facing within 90° of due
south, and any part of a new development subtends an angle of more than 25° to the
horizontal measured from the centre of the window in a vertical section perpendicular
to the window, then the sunlighting of the existing dwelling may be adversely affected.
This will be the case if the centre of the window:



Receives less than 25% of annual probable sunlight hours, or less than 5% of
annual probable sunlight hours between 21 September and 21 March and
Page
215 hours during either period and
Receives less than 0.8 times its former
sunlight
P-RPT-COM-Main



Has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year greater than 4% of annual
probable sunlight hours.”

Analysis of Daylight Impact on Affected Properties:
9.85

A daylight and sunlight report has been submitted to support the application. The
report considers the impact of the proposed development on a range of adjoining
residential buildings including Merino Court (Lever Street), 152 Lever Street, 6 Bath
Street, Galway House (Galway House), Radnor House (Radnor Street) and Guinness
Court (Lever Street). The locations of Willen House in relation to the relevant buildings
is set out below in the following image:

Fig 26: Willen House and neighbouring properties relevant to daylight and sunlight.
9.86

The information set out in this report concerning sunlight and daylight assessment
appraises the impacts relating to the revised scheme which was received for
consultation in June 2021. The amendments were specifically made to improve the
daylight and sunlight conditions for occupants primarily within Merino Court which in
the originally submitted application were critically and unacceptably poor. As described
above, the proposed development modifications that are now being considered
removes the full height rear extension of six storeys to the rear on the Lever Street
side of the building in lieu of a two storey rear projection.

9.87

As a result of the modifications, the daylight and sunlight assessment presents the
following results in summary which are to be extrapolated in more detail below:

Page 216
P-RPT-COM-Main

Vertical Sky Component
Building address

BRE Compliant
Yes

No

Total percentage
BRE compliant

1 – 27 Guinness Court

31

26

5

84%

Galway House

25

23

2

92%

1 – 5 Radnor House

10

10

0

100%

Merino Court

79

42

22

66%

6 Bath Street

5

5

0

100%

152 Lever Street

1

1

0

100%

151

120

31

79%

Total

9.88

No of
windows
analysed

The table below shows the summary and breakdown of BRE compliance for Daylight
Distribution across the same buildings
Daylight distribution
Building address

No of
windows
analysed

BRE Compliant
Yes

No

Total percentage
BRE compliant

1 – 27 Guinness Court

28

10

18

36%

Galway House

21

19

2

90%

1 – 5 Radnor House

10

10

0

100%

Merino Court

40

39

1

97%

6 Bath Street

3

3

0

100%

152 Lever Street

1

1

0

100%

103

82

21

80%

Total

1 – 27 Guinness Court
9.89

Guinness Court comprises a compact housing estate situated to the west of Willen
House. It forms a rectangular layout around a central courtyard which is not accessible
or visible from the street. The estate includes a terrace fronting Lever Street which
terminates in a gable end approximately 8m from the rear of the curtilage and the
lower two storey rear extension. The taller existing building rising to 7 storeys is
situated 21m away. Much of the key elevation facing Willen House consists of decked
access within the building and below an overhang. This elevation consists mainly of
front doors and associated windowsPage
that are217
likely to be kitchens, bathrooms or WCs
P-RPT-COM-Main

as opposed to bedrooms and living rooms which are more likely to overlook the
landscaped courtyard in the centre of the estate.
The applicants’ daylight and sunlight appraisal has assessed 31 windows in this
building and determined that the 26 would continue to either meet or exceed BRE
criteria for VSC. The relevant information is set out below in relation to the fails at
Guinness Court in relation to VSC and daylight distribution.

Second
Second

9.91

Proposed sq ft

Second

Previous sq ft

First

W2/R2

Room use

Percentage
reduction in VSC

Ground floor

Room /
Window

Proposed (%)

1-27
Guinness
Court

Unknown

0.15

0.05

66%

2.0

0.2

88%

0.31

0.16

47%

0.8

0.31

69%

0.69

0.19

72%

16.1

16.1

0%

Unknown

0.42

0.17

60%

15.9

13.2

16%

Unknown

0.28

0.14

48%

1.6

0.49

51%

W2/R2

Unknown

W2

Unknown

W3
W4

Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)

Existing (%)

Vertical
Component

%reduction
Daylight
Distribution

9.90

These five windows all fail the VSC and daylight distribution tests outlined in the BRE
guidance. These windows are all located in the east elevation facing Willen House.
They are all beneath overhanging deck access walkways and are either doors or nonhabitable room windows, given that the habitable rooms within Guinness Court face
either on to the landscaped courtyard or north onto Lever Street. It is considered that
given these circumstances, the discrepancies in accordance with the BRE would not
be harmful to residential amenity.

Galway House
9.92

Galway House is a 17 storey residential apartment tower block situated on the
southern side of Galway Street to the west of the application property. The building
has inset balconies running up the full height of the western elevation facing Bath
Street. The balconies overhang the fenestration within the balconies which are split
between two flats. The balconies feature one door along with what appears to be three
windows. On the northeastern corner are a series of four windows flush within the
elevation of the building. It is assumed that these windows serve habitable rooms.

9.93

The appraisal has confirmed that two windows are not BRE compliant for both the
VSC and daylight distribution assessments which are set out below.

Page 218
P-RPT-COM-Main

First floor

W6/R5

Second

W6/R5

Unknown
habitable
room
Unknown
habitable
room

%
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

Proposed sq ft

3.75

2.73

27%

3.1

2.2

30%

4.19

3.25

22%

3.4

2.6

24%

Previous sq ft

Room use

Percentage
reduction in VSC

Room /
Window

Proposed (%)

Galway
House

Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)

Existing (%)

Vertical
Component

Fig 27: Room Map for Galway House
9.94

The failing openings appear to be the doors accessing the balconies which are
situated under overhanging building structure. This is the only opening to the room
and there are no other windows serving these two specific rooms. Nevertheless, it is
considered that the discrepancy is marginal with the difference post development
being no less than 0.7 times the former value.

9.95

Given that Radnor House, 6 Bath Street and 152 Lever Street have an acceptable
level of daylight for all tested rooms and windows through VSC and daylight
distribution, the report moves on to consider the impact on Merino Court. The planning
history earlier in this report outlines the nature of development that has taken place
within this building including change of use to residential, change of use to live/work,
the addition of extensions to the building at roof and rear and the installation of
mezzanine levels. Given the building’s initial purpose as commercial the residential
has been accommodated through amendments to the building such as the installation
of obscuring vinyls to windows at the lower levels to prevent views from the street.
This may have an impact in some instances on the ability of daylight to enter into the
property. The assessment has been made on the basis that the glazing is transparent.

9.96

It is emphasised that the scheme has been significantly, but not harmfully, amended to
accommodate an acceptable daylight and sunlight condition for Merino Court. The
values presented to the Council at the point of initial submission in March 2021 were
demonstrably unacceptable given that the units are single aspect. It was suggested to
the applicant that the daylight and sunlight
Page should
219 be tested in relation to the removal
P-RPT-COM-Main

of the six storey rear extension to the building in Lever Street (mirroring that in Galway
Street) to determine whether it was the two storeys above the original building or the
six storeys to the rear of the building, extending the façade directly opposite Merino
Court along the view spectrum from facing windows. It was determined that the two
storeys above the building had limited impact due to the height and profile above
ground and that it was the extension that posed the most significant harm.
9.97

The modifications to the scheme have resulted in tangible improvements, however, 22
out of 79 rooms remain non-compliant in relation to the VSC, however, just two
windows are non-compliant in relation to the daylight distribution.

9.98

The full list of windows shown to be non-compliant for VSC are set out below.

W2/R2
W1/R1

W2/R1

W3/R2

W4/R2

W1/R1

W1/R1

W2/R1

W3//R2

LKD

%
reduction
Daylight
Distribution

8.87

6.5

27%

10.9

10

9%

8.32

6.36

24%

9.2

8.9

4%

13.63

10.78 21%
11.2

10.9

3%

9

8.7

3%

13.3

12.5

7%

12

11.3

6%

9.5

8.7

8%

Proposed sq ft

Previous sq ft

W1/R1

Room use

Percentage
reduction in VSC

6
Merino
Court
Mezzanine
6
Merino
Court
Mezzanine
10 Merino
Court
First Floor
10 Merino
Court
First Floor
10 merino
Court
First Floor
10 Merino
Court
First Floor
13 Merino
Court
second floor
14 Merino
Court
Second
floor
14 Merino
Court
Second
Floor
14 Merino
Court
Second
Floor

Room /
Window

Proposed (%)

Merino
Court

Sky No Sky Line (Daylight
Distribution)

Existing (%)

Vertical
Component

Bedroom

LKD

LKD

Bedroom

Bedroom

bedroom

13.03

10.08 23%

12.56

9.70

23%

13.33

10.53 21%

18.55

14.28 23%

17.53

12.77 27%

LKD

LKD
17.01

12

29%

16.67

11.73 30%

Bedroom

Page 220
P-RPT-COM-Main

14 Merino
Court
Second
Floor
15 Merino
Court
Second
floor
17 Merino
Court
Third floor
17 Merino
Court
Third Floor
17 Merino
Court
Third Floor
17 Merino
Court
Fourth Floor
18 Merino
Court
Third floor
18 Merino
Court
Third floor
18 Merino
Court
Third floor
18 Merino
Court
Third floor
18 Merino
Court
Fourth floor
18 Merino
Court
Fourth floor
19 Merino
Court
Third Floor
19 Merino
Court
Third Floor

9.99

W4/R2

W4/R2

W1/R1

W2/R1

W3/R2

W1/R1

W1/R1

W2/R1

W3/R2

W4/R2

W1/R1

W2/R1

W3/R2

W4/R2

Bedroom
17.41

12.61 28%

19.02

14.84 22%

22.75

15.7

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

LD

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

Bedroom

LKD

LKD

Bedroom

Bedroom

12.9

12.6

3%

13.9

12.4

11%

31%

23.7

17.25 27%

26

19.52 22%

17.1

17.1

0%

31.75

24.84 22%

46

42.3

8%

21.69

13.86 36%
12.6

10.8

14%

11.4

9.8

14%

41.3

40.9

1%

13.5

12.5

7%

21.41

13.06 39%

21.24

12.92 39%

21.85

13.79 37%

31.21

23.53 25%

31.45

23.1

23.26

17.54 25%

22.36

27%

15.75 30%

The results of the appraisal demonstrate where there is a failure in relation to VSC
within Merino Court, each room (or window) is counterbalanced by a daylight
distribution result that meets or exceeds the BRE guidelines. It should be noted that
where VSC fails the margins are generally minimal especially at the lower floors. At
third floor and above, Merino Court apartments are affected by the additional height to
the existing building. However daylight losses do not depart significantly from the
guideline 20% set out within the BRE guide. The only window to fail for daylight
distribution is 7 Merino Court at the Mezzanine level. However, the VSC for 7 Merino
Court shows a value of 0.82 of its former value.

Page 221

P-RPT-COM-Main

9.100 It is clear that the negotiated modifications demonstrate a significant improvement for
occupiers of Merino Court following the first and second consultation stages in April
and May 2021 where the significant bulk of objections arose. The following table
contains an indication of the impacts on Merino Court from the initial design scheme.

9.101 Whilst the daylight impacts (in particular for VSC) slightly depart from the BRE
guidance of 20% maximum loss, the height, scale and layout of the development has
been amended to better protect in particular Merino Court properties. The height and
scale fronting Bath Street is appropriate in townscape terms and the guidelines are
stipulated to be applied flexibly to enable development that is commensurate to the
surrounding built form to be accommodated. In this regard the proposal is considered
to appopriately safeguard daylight whilst achieving an appropriate townscape
response for the urban location of the site.
Sunlight
9.102 In relation to sunlight, this assessment is carried out only for windows which are
located within 90 degrees of due south and may therefore be affected by the proposed
development. Given the site and surroundings, Merino Court, 6 Bath Street, 152 Lever
Street and Guinness Court all have south facing windows and must therefore be
tested and appraised for the potential loss of annual probable sunlight hours and
winter probable sunlight hours.
9.103 Failures are to be found at 9 & 10, 13 & 14 and 17 & 18 Merino Court. For all of these
units with the exception of 10 Merino Court, the Annual Probable Sunlight Hours
(APSH) exceeds a value of 25 and therefore, irrespective of the reduction, the room or
window would remain well disposed to sunlight across the year and it is the winter
sunlight hours that do not achieve minimum required values. In addition, these are all
bedrooms where direct sunlight is less important as regards their room use function.
9 Merino Ct
1st Floor
10 Merino Ct
1st floor
13 Merino Ct
2nd floor
14 Merino Ct
2nd floor

Room
Use
Bedroom
Room
Use
bedroom
Room
Use
Bedroom
Room
Use
bedroom

Annual (APSH)
Proposed %
Reduction
36
26
28%
Existing Proposed %
Reduction
33
22
33%
Existing Proposed %
Reduction
47
31
34%
Existing Proposed %
Reduction
45
28
38%
Existing

Existing
3
Exist
ing
4
Exist
ing
6
Exist
ing
5

Winter (WPSH)
Proposed
% Reduction
2
Propo
sed
2
Propo
sed
3
Propo
sed
3

33%
% Reduction
50%
% Reduction
50%
% Reduction
40%

Page 222
P-RPT-COM-Main

17 Merino Ct
3rd floor
18 Merino Ct
3rd floor

Room
Use
Bedroom
Room
Use
bedroom

Existing
60
Existing
59

Proposed %
Reduction
42
30%
Proposed %
Reduction
39
38%

Exist
ing
11
Exist
ing
9

Propo
sed
4
Propo
sed
4

% Reduction
64%
% Reduction
40%

9.104 However, given the comprehensive achievement in excess of the required 25 APSH
throughout Merino Court and the other relevant buildings, it is considered that the
likely impact on sunlight would be acceptable.
Overshadowing
9.105 There are no neighbouring external public or private amenity spaces surrounding the
development with a potential to be affected by the proposed development and as such
further testing has not been required.
Overlooking
9.106 Development Management Policy 2.1 states that ‘to protect privacy for residential
developments and existing residential properties, there should be a minimum distance
of 18 metres between windows of habitable rooms. This does not apply across the
public highway, overlooking across a public highway does not constitute an
unacceptable loss of privacy’.
9.107 In respect of overlooking and loss of privacy, there are two potential sensitive
receptors consisting of Guinness Court and Merino Court. Starting with Guinness
Court, the nearest part to the subject development is the flank wall of the north facing
terrace to Lever Street. The distance between the terrace and the red line curtilage
which is also the termination point of the two storey rear element is 8m. It is 14m to the
rear elevation of the six storey rear elevation of Willen House. Due to the layout of
Guinness Court, the development would be 22m from the rear elevation of the central
rear projection of Willen House to the rear access deck walkways.
9.108 Taking into account the relationship between the end of terrace at Guinness Court and
the proposed development, there are four windows at first floor and above facing
Willen House. At the ground floor rear there is no overlooking towards Guinness
Court. At first floor one bedroom has a window facing Guinness Court and the second
has a secondary window facing Guinness Court. This distance is 8m. It is assumed
that the windows in the flank elevation of Guinness Court are windows serving
habitable rooms albeit that they are secondary windows. As a result, the windows
facing Guinness Court should be obscured glazed at the first floor level through
planning condition. At second floor and above, the distance from rear wall to flank wall
is 14m. Each of the two flats at these levels have two window walls and as such, those
facing Guinness Court can be obscure glazed through planning condition.
9.109 Merino Court directly to the north of the site is in residential use with primarily single
aspect southwards towards the site. While the lowest levels above pavement level
have obscure glazed windows facing Willen House, the upper levels are the most
sensitive due to the width of the street which is single lane width into Bath Street.
None of the student bedrooms in the flank elevation facing Merino Court are currently
obscure glazed and no condition was put in place at the time that change of use to
student accommodation was granted planning permission in 2006 (P053035). The
adjoining service core has obscure glazed windows. Within the proposed scheme, the
stair core is modified so that it is situated internally away from the building edge. This

Page 223

P-RPT-COM-Main

allows an additional window on floors 2 to 6 to be installed facing Merino Court along
with the ground and first floor windows facing Merino Court within the rear extension.
Within the re-arranged layouts of the original Willen House there is no change to the
existing approved situation where windows in Willen House face on to Merino Court,
however, where the intensified use as student accommodation is being provided and
where additional opportunities for overlooking are to be provided, it is prudent to
mitigate against this impact and as per the Guinness Court a condition will be imposed
on the planning permission requiring that new windows facing Merino Court will also
be obscure glazed.
9.110 The proposed obscure glazing condition is at condition 30.
Noise and vibration
9.111 Noise generated by the development will arise from three principal sources. The first is
from the operation of plant within the building and the second will relate to the
consented use of the building which in this case is student accommodation. Noise,
disturbance and other climate and environmental impacts will also arise through
construction. The measures taken by the applicants to address this is set out in the
next sections.
9.112 The basement level of the existing building currently features plant and other building
facilities across the floor plan as set out in the image below. The principal plant rooms
are situated at the northern end of the site. The existing layout indicates that with the
exception of the substations operated by UK Power Networks at street level, all plant
is situated at basement level only. In maximising the basement level for student
amenity, both internal and external, the layout at basement level will be altered with
principal plant consolidated solely at the northern end of the basement floor plan.
224sq.m of plantroom floorspace is indicated. In relation to the impacts for residents
living in adjoining buildings, it is considered that the internal plant will not give rise to
impacts for occupiers in Merino Court or Guinness Court.
9.113 At roof level, the scheme introduces a plant enclosure which has a floor area of
66sq.m and is situated centrally on the roof of the building. Its positioning at roof level
would give it a spatial distance of 15m to the nearest sensitive receptor point on the
southern elevation of the Lever Street terrace of Guinness Court, 21m to the access
decks to the eastern elevation of Guinness Court and 32m from the southern elevation
of Merino Court.
9.114 The specification of the plant is not yet known. Furthermore, the scheme seeks to
provide the capacity and ability to connect to the district heating network which would
add to the standard level of plant within such a building and as such, details will be
sought through condition as to the levels of building cooling, heating and other related
M&E will be necessary.
9.115 The applicants have set out a position in their supporting documents that the scheme
relies on historic baseline data concerning existing background noise levels in the
immediate locality taking into account the fact that COVID19 renders it difficult to both
undertake testing and to procure results of such testing that would align with a likely
post-pandemic noise climate for background noise levels. This has been made clear in
the application submission. The Council’s EH officer has been advised of these
circumstances and has accepted this provision subject to the caveat that fully detailed
(background) noise reports along with mitigation measures to be put in place are
submitted for approval prior to the commencement of construction.

Page 224
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.116 The derived existing background noise levels have been analysed to provide external
plant noise limits in accordance with BS4142:2014. Plant specifications are to be
chosen and designed to meet these requirements as the design progresses. The
report goes on to define appropriate acoustic design standards. It sets out the
measured acoustic data and presents the assessment of potential noise impacts in
relation to the development. A range of ventilation strategies and mitigation measures
is provided to demonstrate how appropriate internal ambient noise levels can be
achieved across the proposed development in relation to façade fabric and glazing,
including consideration of overheating and natural or mechanical ventilation. These
are indicative and will be confirmed once a detailed noise survey of the site can be
undertaken following pandemic restrictions at the detailed design stage.
9.117 An outline construction management plan has been submitted with the application.
The document sets out the key stages of the construction work on the site which
includes limited demolition and excavation, followed by superstructure construction,
internal alterations and fit out and external façade upgrades. Taking into account the
internal floor plan re-arrangements, and the limited curtilage without built form, the
CMP indicates that site welfare, offices and storage will be located within the
basement area. A pavement closure is anticipated to the front of the site where an
oversailing crane will be located. With the building frontage being included within the
hoarding zone, it is considered that this location would be where much of the building
activity would take place which is away from the most sensitive receptors for noise and
other construction related amenity impacts. The outline management plan sets out
commitments to control and limit noise and vibration levels. The EH officer, has in the
course of their expressions of support for this application required the provision of a
full construction management plan to be secured through a planning condition which
will be required to be discharged prior to the commencement of construction (condition
5)
Student management
9.118 Living in close proximity to students is often a worry to established residents
particularly in relation to noise and anti-social behaviour. Policy DM3.9(H)(ii) states
that student accommodation will only be granted in locations where it can be
demonstrated that the proposal will not give rise to any significant adverse impacts on
the surrounding neighbourhood.
9.119 The premises are already in use as student accommodation with 157 bedrooms. The
application proposes an additional 50 bedrooms. The student accommodation is
already subject to an effective student management plan which has raised no
significant concerns with the environmental health officer.
9.120 The applicants have submitted a suite of documents which (combined) constitute the
student management plan. These documents include the student handbook and
accommodation induction programme. The former includes the buildings’ noise and
complaints policy, details of the night time, ‘curfew’ and the disciplinary procedure that
will be initiated if the overnight staff establish that there is undue noise. There is also a
policy relating to visits, visitors and overnight guests which are controlled by staff
reception. Finally a set of terms and conditions which inter alia include guidelines for
visitors and noise control is also provided. No day visitors are allowed on the premises
before 0700 and after 2200. The student management plan states that all visitors
overnighting must be booked in to reception and must be accompanied at all times.
They should also vacate the premises by 1200 the next day or otherwise attract a
further charge for the occupiers of the particular bedroom. Guests are limited to ten

Page 225
P-RPT-COM-Main

stays per month per occupant. Condition 25 prevents the use of any flat roof for
external amenity terrace use by any occupier or guest.
9.121 It is considered that the submitted documents – which are already in operation – are
appropriate and effective and can be incorporated as a planning obligation within the
accompanying legal agreement.
Quality of Resulting Student Accommodation
9.122 Policy H15 of the London Plan (2021) states that the local and strategic need for
student accommodation should be identified and met by the Boroughs. In providing
this student accommodation, the decision maker should also seek to ensure that the
accommodation provides adequate functional living space and layout. Policy
DM3.9(H)(iii) of the Local Plan Development Management Policies Document states
that all proposed units should provide a decent standard of accommodation and
amenity. Policy H6 of the emerging local plan (2019) provides greater emphasis for
amenity and quality of accommodation. The policy states that:
All proposals involving the development, redevelopment and/or intensification of
purpose-built student accommodation must ensure a high standard of amenity for
future occupiers of the development and residents in the surrounding area and must
meet all the following criteria:
(i) Provide high quality accommodation in line with policy H4, including the provision of
good-sized rooms and communal space in line with relevant space standards. General
needs units must be designed to be ‘visitable’ and shared facilities must be accessible.
A high level of amenity must be provided, including limiting noise impacts and
providing good levels of daylight and sunlight, and natural ventilation;
9.123 DMP Policy DM3.4 requires all forms of accommodation to meet a range of criteria,
though not all are relevant to this proposal. Importantly, the Development will vastly
improve the size and layout of the student rooms, improving the utilisation of space
and with improved environmental performance in terms of heat, daylight and
ventilation (DM3.4(A)i). The quality of amenity space will be improved, including the
refurbishment of the external courtyards at basement level (DM3.4(A)ii). Within the
constraints of the existing building (originally built for offices), the floor to floor heights
are 3.424m which will enable the 2.6m floor to ceiling height required by DM3.4(C) to
be easily achieved.
9.124 The applicant has provided daylight and sunlight analysis for all the rooms within the
development taking into account the alterations that are proposed to be made to the
internal layouts and floor plans. As stated above, the inclusive design in Islington SPD
(2014) sets out requirements and standards for inclusive student accommodation. The
scheme adheres to these standards.
9.125 The predominant bedroom size exceeds 17sq.m with some as large as 24sq.m. The
smallest unit is 15sq.m. All units therefor exceed the minimum size standards for
bedrooms insofar as if they were treated as standard housing development.
Noise and vibration for residential occupiers
9.126 Where dwellings are adjacent to plant rooms, adequate noise control measures will be
designed into the structure to limit airborne and structure borne noise and vibration
affecting the dwellings. A scheme of sound insulation and mitigation measures will be
sought through planning condition 11.

Page 226
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.127 The development contains a Student Amenity at basement level and two commercial
units at ground floor. These are to be provided to shell and core and it is not the
purpose of this application to provide specifications. At shell stage, sound insulation
between the commercial and residential units will be provided in accordance with the
requirements of Approved Document E. Additional sound insulation measures will be
provided, if required, by the tenants of the commercial units. This will be managed
through appropriate wording in tenancy lease documentation.
Air Quality
9.128 In regards to impacts during construction, a qualitative assessment on the construction
phase activities has been carried out following the relevant guidance. It was found that
there is ‘Low to Medium Risk’ of dust soiling impacts and ‘Negligible to Low Risk’ of
increases in particulate matter concentrations that could affect human health due to
demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout activity. Nonetheless, through good
site practice and the implementation of suitable mitigation measures, the effect of dust
and particulate matter releases would be significantly reduced. The residual effects of
construction phase dust are considered to be ‘Negligible’.
9.129 Construction related transport, Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) and construction
plant have the potential to increase pollutant concentrations over the duration of the
construction works at nearby sensitive receptors. NRMM and construction plant should
meet the relevant emissions standards and a travel plan should be implanted for all
construction workers accessing the site. The air quality impacts from the Proposed
Development during the construction phase would be ‘Not Significant’.
9.130 Regarding the suitability of air quality at the Site for its intended use, pollutant
concentrations are predicted to be below the relevant health-based air quality
objectives. On that basis, no additional mitigation measures are recommended, as the
future occupants of the Proposed Development would not be exposed to unacceptable
air quality and the Site is deemed suitable for its proposed future use in this respect.
9.131 A screening assessment of the operational phase was undertaken, in line with the
applicable guidance. For traffic, the maximum daily vehicle trips would increase from
the existing 28 (23 delivery and servicing trips, five taxi trips) to 38 (31 delivery and
servicing trips, seven taxi trips). This does not exceed guidance criteria for detailed
assessment of additional development traffic on local roads. Replacement options for
the energy plant are currently being considered, although combustion sources are not
being considered. Based on the qualitative assessment undertaken, air quality impacts
from the Proposed Development during the operational phase would be ‘Not
Significant’.
9.132 An Air Quality Neutral Assessment was compiled to support the planning application
for the Proposed Development. The assessment of transport emissions demonstrated
air quality neutrality. Nonetheless, cycle spaces are included in the design which will
further limit emissions. For building emissions, replacement options for the energy
plant are currently being considered, although combustion sources are not being
considered. Overall, the Proposed Development was considered to be ‘Air Quality
Neutral’.
9.133 The air quality effect of the Proposed Development is considered to be ‘Not
Significant’. The Proposed Development does not, in air quality terms, conflict with
national, regional or local policies. On implementation of the recommended mitigation
measures, there are no constraints to the Proposed Development in the context of air
quality.

Page 227

P-RPT-COM-Main

9.134 The EH officer comments that there are no objections on air quality in association with
the proposed development.
Energy efficiency and Sustainability
9.135 The NPPF confirms that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the
achievement of sustainable development, and policies relevant to sustainability are set
out throughout the NPPF. Further planning policies relevant to sustainability are set
out in chapter 5 of the London Plan, Core Strategy policy CS10 and chapter 7 of the
Development Management Policies. Islington’s Environmental Design SPD is also
relevant.
9.136 The New London Plan Policy SI.2 stipulates for new developments to aim to be zero
carbon with a requirement for a detailed energy strategy to demonstrate how the zero
carbon target will be met within the framework of the energy hierarchy. Policy SI.2 also
requires all development proposals to contribute towards climate change mitigation by
reducing carbon dioxide emissions by 35% through the use of less energy (be lean),
energy efficient design (be clean) and the incorporation of renewable energy (be
green). Moreover, where it is clearly demonstrated that the zero carbon figure cannot
be achieved then any shortfall should be provided through a cash contribution towards
the Council’s carbon offset fund. The new London Plan has only recently been
adopted so the applicant’s energy strategy has focussed on meeting adopted local
policies which are broadly in line with the policies of the new London Plan.
9.137 Policy SI.4 ‘Managing Heat Risk’ of the new London Plan requires for development
proposals to minimise adverse impacts on the urban heat island through design,
layout, orientation, materials and the incorporation of green infrastructure. Policy SI.7
‘Reducing waste’ states that resource conservation, waste reduction, increases in
material reuse and recycling, and reductions in waste going for disposal will be
achieved by the Mayor, waste planning authorities and industry working in
collaboration to promote a more circular economy that improves resource efficiency
and innovation to keep products and materials at their highest use for as long as
possible.
9.138 Core Strategy Policy CS10 requires it to be demonstrated that new development has
been designed to minimise onsite carbon dioxide emissions by maximising energy
efficiency, supplying energy efficiently and using onsite renewable energy generation.
Developments should achieve a total (regulated and unregulated) CO2 emissions
reduction of at least 27% relative to total emissions from a building which complies
with Building Regulations 2013 (39% where connection to a Decentralised Heating
Network is possible). Typically, all remaining CO2 emissions should be offset through
a financial contribution towards measures which reduce CO2 emissions from the
existing building stock.
Thermal performance
9.139 The Council’s Environmental Design SPD states, the highest possible standards of
thermal insulation and air tightness and energy efficient lighting should be specified. U
Values are a measure of heat loss from a building and a low value indicates good
insulation. Since Willen House is part refurbishment and part new construction, there
is a mixture of fabric thermal performance that can be achieved with higher standards
more achievable in the new construction elements. As a result, fabric thermal
performances beyond Part L minimum standards for the new construction elements
have been applied. For the existing elements Part L2B compliant U-values have been
implemented as it is unknown whether improving
upon
these U-values will be
Page
228
P-RPT-COM-Main

technically achievable. Enhancing these U-values beyond Part L2B standards will be
investigated at detailed design. The proposed U values for the development are:
external walls: (0.15), roof: (0.1), doors (1.6) windows (1.2) existing floors (0.25) and
existing walls (0.3). These values are consistent with the required U value thermal
performance indicators set out in the revised energy statement provided by the
applicant. Whole building air permeability meets the requirements set out in the
building regulations in relation to a limiting value perpetuated by a part refurbishment
and part new construction. This equates to 10m3/hr/m2.
9.140 Natural ventilation is proposed for the bedroom areas, alongside mechanical extract
ventilation, and mechanical ventilation with heat recovery for other internal areas.
Lighting controls include absence detection in bedrooms and sensors in circulation
spaces.
Thermal modelling (heating and cooling)
9.141 The CIBSE TM52 Overheating Analysis has been prepared to support the detailed
planning application for the Willen House refurbishment and extension development at
Willen House.
9.142 Dynamic thermal modelling has been completed in accordance with the requirements
of Policy 5.9 (Overheating and Cooling) of the London Plan 2016 and Policy DM7.5
(Heating and Cooling) of the Islington’s Local Plan Development Management Policies
(Adopted June 2013). The thermal modelling has applied the cooling hierarchy
process outlined within both policy requirements of minimising internal heat gains,
apply passive measures, and implement mechanical ventilation and finally active
cooling. The thermal modelling has been completed in accordance with CIBSE TM 52
(The Limits of Thermal Comfort: Avoiding Overheating in European Buildings) and the
modelling software IES VE user manuals for completing thermal analysis
assessments.
9.143 The results from the thermal modelling confirm that under the London climate change
weather files (including urban heat island effects), a representative sample of student
bedrooms all comply with the CIBSE TM52 overheating criterion.
9.144 This has been achieved by implementing passive cooling strategies that minimises
summertime overheating risk. This includes replacing the existing windows with solar
control glass to reduce unwanted and excessive solar heat gains into the building. The
opportunities for thermal mass have also been applied such as the opportunity to use
the buildings heavy weight structure to trim high internal air temperatures. Natural
ventilation will also be applied as the primary cooling method for the building via
openable windows. As the bedrooms will also have mechanical extract ventilation to
serve end-suite bathrooms and kitchenette areas, this mechanical extract will also
provide an element of purge ventilation when internal air temperatures exceed 22°C.
9.145 It can therefore be concluded that the passive cooling strategies outlined in this report
for Willen House achieve compliance with CIBSE TM52 and planning policy criteria,
without the requirement for active cooling system.
District heating (be clean)
9.146 Development Management Policy DM7.3(B) requires that proposals for major
developments within 500m of an existing or planned District Energy Network (DEN)
should be accompanied by a feasibility assessment of connection to that network, to
determine whether connection is reasonably
possible.
Page 229
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.147 The development is identified as being within 50m of the Bunhill Heat Network – and
therefore, it is proposed that the development will connect to the network. This is
welcomed and strongly supported. Heating will be served through a radiator system,
and hot water via a plate heat exchanger and thermal storage. It is currently proposed
that space heating and cooling will be provided to the commercial units via an air
source heat pump VRF system.
Carbon emission reductions (Be green)
9.148 Policy CS10A promotes zero carbon development by minimising on site carbon
dioxide emissions promoting decentralised energy networks and by requiring
development to offset all remaining CO2 emissions associated with the building
through a financial contribution towards all measures which reduce CO2 emissions
from the existing building stock.
9.149 Paragraphs 2.0.8 – 2.0.10 details the Council’s energy hierarch which should be
followed in meeting the Council’s CO2 emissions reduction target. The final stage of
the hierarch requires developers to:
‘…offset all remaining CO2 emissions (Policy CS10) through a financial contribution,
secured via a Section 106 agreement, towards measures which reduce CO2 emissions
from the existing building stock (e.g. through solid wall insulation of social housing). For
all major developments the financial contribution shall be calculated based on an
established price per tonne of CO2 for Islington. The price per annual tonne of carbon is
currently set at £920, based on analysis of the costs and carbon savings of retrofit
measures suitable for properties in Islington.’
9.150 The Energy Statement proposes the installation primarily of solar PV panels for the
residential element and heat pumps for the limited commercial. Air source heat pumps
are proposed for the commercial units, and these are discussed elsewhere in these
comments. A solar PV array covering an area of ~100m2 area and of 10.7kWp output
is proposed. The proposed solar PVs cover a large proportion of the roof and the
Council’s energy team have confirmed they are satisfied that renewable energy
measures have been optimised. In line with new emerging and adopted policy
however, it is considered that there may be further opportunities to maximise solar
PVs. As such, in the event of planning permission being granted, further details would
be required by condition (19) to demonstrate how solar PVs have been maximised. It
should be noted that the alterations to the building– apart from the roof top plant room
and lift overrun pop up structures - now provide a better environment for their use
combined with the functional biodiverse brown green roof that is also now proposed.
9.151 Taking into account all the measures outlined above, the application would be able to
achieve a reduction of 42% from the 2013 target which exceeds the threshold set out
in policy CS10 of the Core Strategy. In the context of zero carbon development the
scheme will be required to offset the remaining carbon demand generated by the
scheme in relation to regulated and unregulated emissions. The revised energy
statement increases the savings identified from 33% to 42% and on this basis, it is
considered that the proposed offset payments would reduce. The original expectations
of the energy officer was that £254,877 would be needed to be paid incorporating

Page 230
P-RPT-COM-Main

£195,040 for regulated emissions and approximately £60,000 for unregulated
emissions.
9.152 Following the extra efficiency savings, a payment in lieu of regulated and unregulated
emissions approximating 58% must be identified at a rate of £920 per ton.
9.153 The applicant has therefore identified a shortfall of 204 tons of regulated emissions
and 27 tons of unregulated emissions. This equates to a payment of £187,680 for
regulated emissions and £25557 for unregulated emissions. This combines to make
an offset payment of £213,237 for the development which will be secured through a
legal agreement associated with this recommendation.
Sustainable design and construction plan
9.154 In response to the scheme modifications that were made through the lifetime of the
application, the applicant has updated the Sustainable Design and Construction Plan.
This responds to the requirements set out in policy to ensure that building operation,
building construction, waste, heating, power and materials amongst other key factors
are low or net zero impact in their use, fabrication, transportation, installation and
operation.
9.155 The statement seeks to minimise the generation of emissions, the minimisation of U
(thermal) values and to maximise the adoption of passive and active measures to
lessen the burden on mechanical heating and cooling. Lighting and occupancy and
activity control switching will be used throughout the building. The statement commits
to light activated operation to ensure that lighting is not used during daylight hours.
9.156 To safeguard water supply and usage, the scheme will utilise water efficient
connections, fittings and pipework. Opportunities for the recycling of rainwater and
greywater will be provided. Water shut down systems will be employed to prevent the
unnecessary usage of water. Landscaping and green roof specifications will also be
carefully selected to minimise the requirement for irrigation.
9.157 The proposed development is principally a retain and refurbish scheme with some
partial extensions. While some limited demolition and stripping out of old materials
internally and externally will occur, the scheme will allow for retention of embodied
carbon which would otherwise be released in a demolition scheme. Materials will be
prescribed as being low carbon and commitments to use materials from suppliers with
low impact credentials will be upheld. Responsibly sourced materials will be key to the
scheme. The intent of the scheme is to select suppliers who can provide an
environmental management system certificate. Finally in respect of materials,
durability and longevity is critical and materials will be used that have a long life cycle
and that combined will extend the life cycle of the building.
9.158 Details of the Sustainable Design and Construction Plan are sought through condition
15.
9.159 The proposals make provision for a biodiverse green roof which will benefit from
planting to attract fauna including birds and insects. The green roof will also facilitate
SUDS which will allow for attenuation to reduce peak flows to water and drainage
networks. Details of this are to be conditioned.
9.160 Waste reduction measures are proposed to be put into place for both the construction
phase and the operational phase with a site wide waste management strategy to
Page
231 will be used where appropriate.
minimise construction waste. Recycled
materials
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.161 The scheme also seeks to introduce health and wellbeing measures, based on good
quality daylight, natural ventilation, safety and securing from crime, minimised
overheating, effective sound insulation and noise mitigation, materials without harmful
inbuilt toxins or properties and internal and external lighting designed for user comfort.
9.162 A BREEAM pre-assessment has also been completed following a BREEAM workshop
with the project team. This has demonstrated that a BREEAM Excellent rating is
achievable with an overall targeted BREEAM score of 76.04% (70% is required for
Excellent). BREEAM details are sought in condition 14.
9.163 Taken into accumulation, it is considered that the proposed development contribute to
the Council’s and the wider strategic London Plan policy role to maximise sustainable
development for the benefit of residents, building users and the environment.
Green performance plan
9.164 Islington Development Management Policy DM7.1 (Sustainable design and
construction) part E requires provision of a Green Performance Plan (GPP) detailing
measurable outputs for the occupied development, with respect to energy
consumption, CO2 emissions and water use and setting out arrangements for
monitoring the plan over the first years of occupation. This is to be secured within the
legal agreement.
Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDS)
9.165 Policy DM6.6 is concerned with flood prevention and requires that schemes must be
designed to reduce surface water run-off to a ‘greenfield rate’ (8 litre/sec/ha), where
feasible. The London Plan requires that drainage run offs in new developments be
reduced by 50% including an allowance for climate change. The proposed
development will reduce the drainage run-off by use of a below-ground attenuation
tank and permeable paving. The proposed run-off rate for the site would equate 1.4l/s,
which is considered to comply with policy.
9.166 Further detail in relation to the Drainage Strategy will need to be provided in order to
ensure that water-attenuation is maximised. These details shall include: (i) the
calculation of the storm water storage required for the 1 in 100 year storm plus climate
change allowance; (ii) the location and size of the attenuation tank to ensure the
volume is sufficient; (iii) consideration of the use of SUDS as part of the landscape
design where possible, through bioretention areas and tree pits as well as rainwater
harvesting in the form of water butts to irrigate soft landscaping areas; (iv) the use of
blue roofs combined with the green roofs to provide irrigation for the green roofs.
These details would be required by conditions in the event that planning permission is
granted.
Contamination

9.167 Prior to becoming offices and student accommodation, the building was used in
relation to ironmongery manufacture. The applicant has provided a contamination
assessment which has been reviewed by the EH officer. Although the scheme
features only limited construction and no excavation which would disturb ground
conditions, there is substantial internal re-arrangement and an intervention into
external courtyards. The EH officer has requested a standard condition to be imposed
in relation to ground conditions.

Page 232
P-RPT-COM-Main

Highways and Transportation
9.168 The site has an excellent PTAL (Public Transport Accessibility Level) of 6a and is
served by several bus routes within walking distance of City Road and Old Street.
Several railway and underground stations, including Old Street are also within walking
distance. The closest London Underground station is Old Street which is 400m away.
An east-west major cycle route runs along Lever Street and then into Bath Street
southbound and a local cycle route runs from the same junction northwards to City
Road. Local cycle routes also run east west along Radnor Street. The site is wellconnected by foot or on bike and is considered to be very accessible by public
transport. The site is within a Controlled Parking Zone.
9.169 There is no meaningful on-site car parking, although dropped kerbs are located
outside a gated enclosure into the site and into a substation on Galway Street. On
Bath Street – which is one way northbound towards City Road – nine metered car
parking spaces within a layby. Casual motorbike and cycle parking is also located
directly in front of the building entrance.
9.170 Chapter 10 of the new London Plan (2021) sets out transport policies and locally, Core
Strategy policies CS10 and CS18 and chapter 8 of the Development Management
Policies set out the Council’s transport policies with chapter 7 setting out transport
policies in the emerging Local Plan Policies.
9.171 The applicants have submitted a Transport Assessment (which has been subject to
addenda to address the modifications to the building and the subsequent reductions in
unit numbers.
9.172 A Travel Plan has been submitted which recognises that the site is for student
accommodation, many of whom may be from abroad without a car or a bike. This is an
updated Travel Plan has one has been in place for many years, (previously secured
through a legal agreement under P053035). The measures set out therein are
acceptable and are applicable to the extended and enlarged student accommodation
scheme. As student accommodation, the scheme and the plan also recognises the
particular travel patterns, modal split and journey times and distances that would arise
from this development. Clearly, the increase in the number of students residing on the
site from 157 to 207 (in addition to occasional overnighting visitors) will lead to an
incremental demand in cycle storage on site. The building will have its own Travel
Plan Coordinator to promote walking, car-sharing and cycling to reduce car use. The
Travel Plan would need to be monitored for a period of five years. If the application
were acceptable, this would be secured as part of a section 106 agreement.
9.173 The proposal would not result in the gain of any on site vehicle parking. Access to the
substation will remain the same for UKPN to monitor and maintain. The area is
controlled by a CPZ which limits parking during working hours to resident permit
holders only. The existing parking for vehicles and motorbikes will remain in situ on
Bath Street.
9.174 Development Management Policy DM8.6 (Delivery and servicing for new
developments), Part A states that for commercial developments over 200sqm,
delivery/servicing vehicles should be accommodated on-site, with adequate space to
enable vehicles to enter and exit the site in forward gear (demonstrated by a swept
path analysis). While this is not a commercial development per se, the policy
requirement can also be applied to other uses such as medical facilities with
considerable servicing and delivery requirements.

Page 233
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.175 The development proposals have been amended to now provide a total of 207 student
accommodation units, a reduction of 5 student accommodation units from the previous
application. The scheme will now provide an increase of 50 student accommodation
units. The amended scheme will retain the two ground floor commercial units and will
remain car free.
9.176 The previous scheme provided cycle parking numbers in line with the New London
Plan 2021 cycle parking standards. The cycle parking on the lower ground floor will be
retained. Therefore the amended development proposals will now provide cycle
parking numbers slightly in excess of the New London Plan 2021 cycle parking
standards. The scheme layout indicates 156 spaces for standard cycles and 8 for
accessible cycles.
9.177 It is acknowledged that the current levels of cycle use at the site are low. The Travel
Plan submitted alongside the application outlined a number of measures to increase
the cycle mode share (1: Provision of Travel Information such as Travel Information
Packs which includes cycle maps, 2: appointing a Travel Plan Co-ordinator who will
encourage cycling, 3: the provision of cycle parking facilities in line with London Plan
2021 standards and 4: the offer of the cycle to work scheme for staff).
9.178 As the student accommodation is targeting post-grad students, it is expected that
many of the students could currently reside in locations across the UK or be overseas
students and therefore are unlikely to have the means or find it impractical to bring a
bicycle with them to the student accommodation. The proximity of City University of
London Northampton Square Campus (850m, or a 8-10 minute walk from the site)
where the majority of students are expected to study, means students are likely to
walk rather than cycle to their lectures. The close proximity of recreational areas such
as Shoreditch/Old Street, which have numerous bars/restaurants, would make
students more likely to walk than cycle. The relatively low use of cycling for traveling
by students in accommodation in Central London is common for the reason outline
earlier. Students living in Central London are also likely to make use of the London
Cycle Hire facilities.
9.179 An increase of 55 student accommodation units was expected to generate a total of 5
and 7 total person trips in the AM and PM peaks respectively, plus approximately 9
vehicle trips associated with taxi movements, delivery and servicing throughout the
day. The small number of trips during the peak periods being primarily due to Willen
House being close to City University’s main campus meaning that students wouldn’t
have to walk far to get to the campus and so could avoid travelling during the peaks,
especially in the morning to get to lectures, most of which start after 9am.
9.180 The amended scheme, which will result in an increase of 50 student accommodation
units is expected to generate the same, if not fewer, person and vehicle trips
compared to the previous application (P2021/0616/FUL). Given the site’s car-free
nature and location within an area with ‘excellent’ accessibility to public transport, it is
expected the trips generated by the proposals will be distributed across the transport
network via sustainable modes of transport.
9.181 The proposed changes to the scheme and reduction in proposed student
accommodation units from 212 to 207 at Willen House are anticipated to have a
negligible impact upon the local highway network. Therefore the conclusions within the
Transport Assessment previously prepared will still be relevant for the proposed 207
unit student accommodation scheme.

Page 234
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.182 A log of the existing deliveries was undertaken by the Willen House site management
over a 5 day period in December 2020. It was noted that the existing site only had 57
of the 157 units occupied when the log was undertaken. Therefore the number of
deliveries (including maintenance visits) recorded has been uplifted to reflect if the site
was operating at peak capacity. This shows that there would currently be a total of 23
daily deliveries (including maintenance visits). This was seen as the most robust
prediction of the existing trips at the site.
9.183 The existing daily delivery and servicing trips have been uplifted to reflect the
proposed 50 unit extension, which would generate a total of 29 daily deliveries
(including maintenance visits). The proposed development would therefore generate
an additional 6 deliveries (including maintenance visits) daily.
9.184 This assessment represents the worst case, since in practice multiple parcels are
often delivered at the same time and therefore the additional online shopping demand
by the additional students is unlikely to result in a proportional increase in the number
of deliveries.
9.185 In addition, the existing sites refuse collection arrangement is undertaken by Islington
and private waste contractors and is collected approximately four times a week. The
proposed future collection arrangements for both the student accommodation and
commercial units will involve using Islington waste collection services. This means the
number of weekly refuse collection trips will reduce from four to two (assuming
separate collection for residual and recyclable waste).
9.186 Given the car free nature of the site, vehicle trips have been evenly distributed across
other travel modes. There is currently no demand for disabled/mobility parking at the
existing site and it is anticipated that the potential need to provided disabled parking
will remain low in the future. Hence there has been no formal provision of
disabled/mobility parking. In addition the site is located in a highly accessible location,
and has good quality walking routes to key destinations (outlined in the Active Travel
Zone assessment within the TA) which are suitable for pedestrians with mobility
issues.
9.187 In the event demand arises for disabled/mobility parking, one of the eight parking bays
fronting the site on Bath Street or one of the additional ten parking bays provided
nearby on Bath Street could be temporarily converted to a disabled parking bays
during the period when the blue badge holder student is living at the development.
Fire Safety
9.188 LP policy D12 states that in the interests of fire safety and to ensure the safety of all
building users, all development proposals must achieve the highest standards of fire
safety. All major development proposals should be submitted with a Fire Statement,
which is an independent fire strategy, produced by a third party, suitably qualified
assessor.
9.189 The applicant has submitted a concept Fire Strategy Report to demonstrate that the
design of the proposal has been informed by a qualified fire consultant during the
process. This is considered to be acceptable.
Planning Obligations, Community Infrastructure Levy and local finance
considerations

Page 235
P-RPT-COM-Main

9.190 If the application is approved and the development is implemented, a liability to pay
the Islington Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Mayor of London CIL will arise,
unless an exemption applies. CIL is intended to consolidate financial contributions
towards the development’s local infrastructure impacts, and additional separate
contributions should not be sought towards the same infrastructure unless there is an
exceptional and demonstrable need as a direct result of the proposed development.
Any further planning obligations which are not covered by the CIL payment should be
sought through a legal agreement under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act,
(1990, amended) and need to comply with the statutory tests set out in the NPPF and
CIL Regulations 2010 (amended) to avoid unjustified double counting.
9.191 Islington’s CIL Regulation 123 infrastructure list (no longer in place, following recent
legislative changes) specifically excluded measures that are required in order to
mitigate the direct impacts of a particular development and if specific off-site measures
are required to make the development acceptable these should be secured through a
s.106 agreement.
9.192 In order for the development to mitigate its own direct impacts, and to be acceptable in
planning terms, the following heads of terms are recommended secured by a Section
106 agreement.













Financial contribution of £22000 towards student bursaries equal to 2.4% of
income from the development over a 30-year period (on 50 additional units)
A minimum of 35% of 50 additional student rooms to be affordable.
Student accommodation management plan
Compliance with the code of construction and training.
Compliance with the Code of Construction Practice, including a monitoring fee of
£2500 and submission of LBI Public Protection, which shall be submitted prior to
any works commencing on site.
Facilitation, during the construction phase of the development, of the following
number of work placements: 2. Each placement must last a minimum of 26 weeks.
The London Borough of Islington’s approved provider/s to recruit for and monitor
placements, with the developer/contractor to pay wages. Within the construction
sector there is excellent best practice of providing an incremental wage increase
as the operative gains experience and improves productivity. The contractor is
expected to pay the going rate for an operative, and industry research indicates
that this is invariably above or well above the national minimum wage and even
the London Living Wage (£10.55 as at 15/04/19). If these placements are not
provided, LBI will request a fee of: £10,000.
Compliance with the Code of Local Procurement
A contribution towards offsetting any projected residual CO2 emissions (regulated
and unregulated emissions) to be charged at the established rate of £920 per ton.
This combined cost is £213,237.
Submission of a draft full Travel Plan prior to occupation and a full travel plan for
Council approval 6 months from fist occupation of the development.
The submission of a Green Performance Plan.
Connection to a local energy network, if technically and economically viable
(burden of proof will be with the developer to show inability to connect). In the
event that a local energy network is not available or connection to it is not
economically viable, the developer should develop an on-site solution and/or
connect to a neighbouring site (a Shared Heating Network) and future-proof any
on-site solution so that in all cases (whether or not an on-site solution has been
provided), the development can be connected to a local energy network if a viable
opportunity arises in the future.

Page 236

P-RPT-COM-Main





Council’s legal fees in preparing the Section 106 agreement and officer’s fees for
the preparation, monitoring and implementation of the Section 106 agreement.
Works to the highway in association with the construction of lightwells under the
highway.
A bond/deposit to cover costs of repairs to the footway and for repairs to the
highway. This ensures funds are available for the repair and reinstatement of the
footways and highways adjoining the development (paid for by the developer).
The bond must be paid before commencement of works. Any reinstatement works
will be carried out by LBI Highways (and the cost met by the developer or from the
bond). Conditions surveys may be required. If this bond/ deposit exceeds the cost
of the works as finally determined, the balance will be refunded to the developer.
Conversely, where the deposit is insufficient to meet costs then the developer will
be required to pay the amount of the shortfall to the Council.

9.193 Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), the Mayor of London’s and Islington’s
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will be chargeable on this application on grant of
planning permission. This will be calculated in accordance with the Mayor’s adopted
Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 2012 and the Islington adopted
Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 2014.
10.

CONCLUSION
Conclusion

10.1

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and s106
legal agreement heads of terms as set out in Appendix 1 - RECOMMENDATIONS.

Page 237
P-RPT-COM-Main

APPENDIX 1 – RECOMMENDATIONS
RECOMMENDATION A
That planning permission be granted subject to the prior completion of a Deed of Planning
Obligation made under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 between the
Council and all persons with an interest in the land (including mortgagees) in order to secure
the following planning obligations to the satisfaction of the Head of Law and Public Services
and the Service Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development
Management or, in their absence, the Deputy Head of Service.

















Financial contribution of £22000 towards student bursaries equal to 2.4% of
income from the development over a 30-year period (on 50 additional units)
A minimum of 35% of 50 additional student rooms to be affordable.
Student accommodation management plan
Compliance with the code of construction and training.
Compliance with the Code of Construction Practice, including a monitoring fee of
£2500 and submission of LBI Public Protection, which shall be submitted prior to
any works commencing on site.
Facilitation, during the construction phase of the development, of the following
number of work placements: 2. Each placement must last a minimum of 26 weeks.
The London Borough of Islington’s approved provider/s to recruit for and monitor
placements, with the developer/contractor to pay wages. Within the construction
sector there is excellent best practice of providing an incremental wage increase
as the operative gains experience and improves productivity. The contractor is
expected to pay the going rate for an operative, and industry research indicates
that this is invariably above or well above the national minimum wage and even
the London Living Wage (£10.55 as at 15/04/19). If these placements are not
provided, LBI will request a fee of: £10,000.
Compliance with the Code of Local Procurement
A contribution towards offsetting any projected residual CO2 emissions (regulated
and unregulated emissions) to be charged at the established rate of £920 per ton.
This combined cost is £213,237.
Submission of a draft full Travel Plan prior to occupation and a full travel plan for
Council approval 6 months from fist occupation of the development.
The submission of a Green Performance Plan.
Connection to a local energy network, if technically and economically viable
(burden of proof will be with the developer to show inability to connect). In the
event that a local energy network is not available or connection to it is not
economically viable, the developer should develop an on-site solution and/or
connect to a neighbouring site (a Shared Heating Network) and future-proof any
on-site solution so that in all cases (whether or not an on-site solution has been
provided), the development can be connected to a local energy network if a viable
opportunity arises in the future.
Council’s legal fees in preparing the Section 106 agreement and officer’s fees for
the preparation, monitoring and implementation of the Section 106 agreement.
Works to the highway in association with the construction of lightwells under the
highway.
A bond/deposit to cover costs of repairs to the footway and for repairs to the
highway. This ensures funds are available for the repair and reinstatement of the
footways and highways adjoining the development (paid for by the developer).
The bond must be paid before commencement of works. Any reinstatement works
will be carried out by LBI Highways (and the cost met by the developer or from the
Page
238
bond). Conditions surveys may be required.
If this
bond/ deposit exceeds the cost
P-RPT-COM-Main

of the works as finally determined, the balance will be refunded to the developer.
Conversely, where the deposit is insufficient to meet costs then the developer will
be required to pay the amount of the shortfall to the Council.
That, should the Section 106 Deed of Planning Obligation not be completed within 13 weeks /
16 weeks (for EIA development) from the date when the application was made valid, the
Service Director, Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management
or, in their absence, the Deputy Head of Service may refuse the application on the grounds
that the proposed development, in the absence of a Deed of Planning Obligation is not
acceptable in planning terms.
ALTERNATIVELY should this application be refused (including refusals on the direction of The
Secretary of State or The Mayor) and appealed to the Secretary of State, the Service Director,
Planning and Development / Head of Service – Development Management or, in their
absence, the Deputy Head of Service be authorised to enter into a Deed of Planning Obligation
under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure to the heads of terms
as set out in this report to Committee.
RECOMMENDATION B
That the grant of planning permission be subject to conditions to secure the following, and
that there is delegated to each of the following: the Head of Development Management , the
Team Leader Major Applications and the Team Leader Planning Applications to make minor
changes ( additions removals or amendments ) to the conditions:
List of Conditions:
1

Commencement
The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91(1)(a) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
(Chapter 5).

2

Approved plans list
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved plans:
A11849-F0099 rev I2; A11849-F0100 rev I2; A11849-F0101 rev I1; A11849-F0105 rev I1;
A11849-F0106 rev I1; A11849-F0201 rev I2; A11849-F0202 rev I2; A11849-F0301 rev I2;
A11849-F0302 rev I1; A11849-D0099 rev I2; A11849-D0100 rev I5; A11849-D0101 rev I3;
A11849-D0103 rev I2; A11849-D0105 rev I2
A11849-D0106 rev I3; A11849-D0107 rev I4; A11849-D0201 rev I4; A11849-D0202 rev I3;
A11849-D0301 rev I4; A11849-D0302 rev I2; A11849-D0001 rev I1
Tier 1 Contamination Risk Assessment (MLM Group); Student Management Documents:
Willen House Moving in procedures; Willen House Handbook; Extracts from City University
Licence Agreement; Statement of Community Involvement (TP Bennett); Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal (The Ecology Consultancy); Planning And Heritage Statement (TP
Bennett); Outline Fire Strategy (BB7); Outline Construction Management Plan (Wates);
Noise Impact Assessment Report (MLM Group); Flood Risk Assessment (Walsh); Express
Preliminary UXO Risk Assessment (1st Line Defence for MLM Group); Energy and
sustainability statement (Atelier Ten); Design and access statement (TP Bennett); Daylight
and sunlight report (Hollis); Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (TPP); Travel Plan
(TPP); Transport Assessment (TPP); Air Quality Assessment (MLM Group); Archaeological
Desk Based Assessment (RPS); Affordable Housing Statement (TP Bennett);
Accommodation Schedule (A11849-S0002);
Page Revised
239 Energy and Sustainability Statement
P-RPT-COM-Main

in response to Council Comments (June 2021 - Atelier Ten); Revised highways statement in
response to Council Comments (June 2021 - TPP)
REASON: To comply with Section 70(1)(a) of the Town and Country Act 1990 as amended
and the Reason for Grant and also for the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper
planning

3

Materials
Details and samples of all facing materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure work commencing on site. The
details and samples shall include:
a)
solid brickwork (including brick panels and mortar courses)
b)
render (including colour, texture and method of application);
c)
window treatment (including sections and reveals);
d)
roofing materials;
e)
balustrading treatment (including sections);
f)
green procurement plan;
g)
cladding and
h)
any other materials to be used.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and
shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of securing sustainable development and to ensure that the
resulting appearance and construction of the development is of a high standard.

4

Plumbing and pipes (compliance)
Other than those indicated on the plans no plumbing, down pipes, rainwater pipes or foul
pipes shall be located/fixed to the elevation(s) of the building hereby approved.
REASON: The Local Planning Authority considers that such plumbing and pipes would
detract from the appearance of the building.

5

Construction Management Plan
No construction works shall take place unless and until a Final Construction Management
Plan (CMP) and a Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The reports shall assess the impacts during the construction phase of the development on
surrounding streets, along with nearby residential amenity and other occupiers together with
means of mitigating any identified impacts.
The CMP must refer to the new LBI Code of Practice for Construction Sites. The
development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved CMP and CLP
throughout the construction period.
REASON: In the interests of residential amenity, highway safety, and the free flow of traffic
on streets, and to mitigate the impacts of the development.

6

Piling Method Statement
No piling shall take place until a PILING METHOD STATEMENT detailing the depth and
type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried out,
including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to subsurface
sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the works) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with Thames Water. Any
piling must be undertaken in accordance with the terms of the approved piling method
statement.

Page 240
P-RPT-COM-Main

REASON: The proposed works will be in close proximity to underground sewerage utility
infrastructure. Piling has the potential to significantly impact / cause failure of local
underground sewerage utility infrastructure.

7

SUDS
Details of surface drainage works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on site. The details shall
be based on an assessment of the potential for disposing of surface water by means of
sustainable drainage system in accordance with the principles as set out in London Plan
policies: 5.13 and 5.15. The submitted details shall include the scheme's peak runoff rate
and storage volume and demonstrate how the scheme will achieve at least a 50%
attenuation of the undeveloped site's surface water run off at peak times. The drainage
system shall be installed/operational prior to the first occupation of the development.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and
shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure that sustainable management of water.

8
Details of the layout, design and appearance (shown in context) of the bicycle storage
area(s) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
any superstructure works commencing onsite. The storage shall be covered, secure and
provide for no less than 164 cycle spaces.
The bicycle storage area(s) shall be provided strictly in accordance with the details so
approved, provided/erected prior to the first occupation of the development, and maintained
as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available and easily accessible on site and
to promote sustainable modes of transport.

9

Refuse and recycling provision
The dedicated refuse / recycling enclosure(s) shown on drawing no. A11849 D 0100 I5 shall
be provided prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and shall be
maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To secure the necessary physical waste enclosures to support the development
and to ensure that responsible waste management practices are adhered to.

10

Waste Management Strategy
Details of the site-wide waste strategy for the development shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure works
commencing onsite. The details shall include:
a)
the layout, design and appearance (shown in context) of the dedicated refuse /
recycling enclosure(s);
b)
a waste management plan
The development shall be carried out and operated strictly in accordance with the details
and waste management strategy so approved. The physical enclosures shall be
provided/erected prior to the first occupation of the development and shall be maintained as
such thereafter.
REASON: To secure the necessary physical waste enclosures to support the development
and to ensure that responsible waste management practices are adhered to.

11

Noise from plant

Page 241
P-RPT-COM-Main

The design and installation of new items of fixed plant shall be such that when operating the
cumulative noise level LAeq Tr arising from the proposed plant, measured or predicted at
1m from the facade of the nearest noise sensitive premises, shall be a rating level of at least
5dB(A) below the background noise level LAF90 Tbg. The measurement and/or prediction
of the noise should be carried out in accordance with the methodology contained within BS
4142: 2014.
REASON: To secure an appropriate internal residential environment.

12

Noise insulation between uses.
Full particulars and details of a scheme for sound insulation between the proposed ground
floor commercial units and student use of the building shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to superstructure works commencing on site.
The sound insulation and noise control measures shall be carried out strictly in accordance
with the details so approved, shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the
development hereby approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter and no change
therefrom shall take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority
REASON: In the interest of protecting future residential amenity against undue noise and
nuisance arising from non-residential uses.

13

Contamination
Prior to the commencement of development the following
assessment in response to the NPPF and in accordance with CLR11 and
BS10175:2011+A2:2017 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority
a) A land contamination investigation.
The investigation shall be based upon and target the risks identified in the
approved preliminary risk assessment and shall provide provisions for, where
relevant, the sampling of soil, soil vapour, ground gas, surface and groundwater. All
works must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who
conforms to CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination
(Defra 2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing.
Following the agreement to details relating to point a); details of the following
works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on site:
b) A remediation method statement of any necessary land contamination
remediation works arising from the land contamination investigation.
This statement shall detail any required remediation works and shall be designed to
mitigate any remaining risks identified in the approved site investigation. The
development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the investigation and
any scheme of remedial works so approved and no change therefrom shall take
place without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. If, during
development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the
site, the Council is to be informed immediately and no further development (unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Council) shall be carried out until a report
indicating the nature of the contamination and how it is to be dealt with is submitted
to, and agreed in writing by, the Council. All works must be carried out in compliance
with and by a competent person who conforms to CLR 11: Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra 2004) or the

Page 242

P-RPT-COM-Main

current UK requirements for sampling and testing
c) Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation
scheme a verification report, that demonstrates the effectiveness of the
remediation carried out, must be produced which is subject to the approval in
writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with part b). This report shall
include: details of the remediation works carried out; results of any verification
sampling, testing or monitoring including the analysis of any imported soil; all waste
management documentation showing the classification of waste, its treatment,
movement and disposal; and the validation of gas membrane placement. All works
must be carried out in compliance with and by a competent person who conforms to
CLR 11: Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination (Defra
2004) or the current UK requirements for sampling and testing.
14

REASON: To ensure risks associated with land contamination are minimised
BREEAM
The development hereby approved shall achieve a BREEAM “New Construction” (2018)
rating of no less than “Excellent”.
REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and to secure sustainable
development

15

Sustainable design and construction statement
The energy efficiency measures/features and renewable energy technology, as detailed
within the revised Sustainable Design & Construction Statement? (SDCS) shall be installed
and operational prior to the first occupation of the development.
Should there be any change to the energy features/ measures within the
approved SDCS, a revised SDCS shall be submitted to and agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the development.
REASON: In the interest of sustainable development and to ensure that the
Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that C02 emission reduction targets
by energy efficient measures/features and renewable energy are met.

16

17

Inclusive design
Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved, prior to commencement of any
works above ground level, details (including plans and sections) of the
development against all relevant requirements of Islington’s Inclusive Design SPD
and other relevant policies and guidance shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
strictly in accordance with the details so approved and no change therefrom shall
take place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure the development is of an inclusive design.
Delivery and Servicing
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted
Delivery & Servicing Plan.
The development shall be constructed and operated strictly in accordance with the details
so approved, shall be maintained as such thereafter and no change therefrom shall take
place without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.
REASON: To ensure that the resulting servicing arrangements are satisfactory in terms of
their impact on highway safety and the free-flow of traffic.

18

Roof top plant

Page 243
P-RPT-COM-Main

Details of any roof-top structures/enclosures shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on site. The
details shall include the location, height above roof level, specifications and cladding and
shall relate to:
a)
b)
c)

roof-top plant;
ancillary enclosures/structure; and
lift overrun

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and
shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of good design and also to ensure that the Authority may be
satisfied that any roof-top plant, ancillary enclosure/structure and/or the lift overruns do not
have a harmful impact on the surrounding streetscene.

19

Solar PV
Prior to the commencement of superstructure works on site, details of the proposed Solar
Photovoltaic Panels at the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. These details shall include but not be limited to :
- Location;
- Area of panels;
- Design (including elevation plans); and
- How the design of the PVs would not adversely affect the provisions of green roofs on site
The solar photovoltaic panels as approved shall be installed prior to the first occupation of
the development and retained as such permanently thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of addressing climate change and to secure sustainable
development and to secure high quality design in the resultant development.

20

Rainwater and greywater recycling
Details of the [rainwater and/or greywater] recycling system shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior any superstructure works
commencing onsite. The details shall also demonstrate the maximum level of recycled
water that can feasibly be provided to the development.
The rainwater recycling system shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so
approved, installed and operational prior to the first occupation of the building to which they
form part or the first use of the space in which they are contained and shall be maintained
as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure the sustainable use of water.

21

Rainwater goods
All new external rainwater goods and soil pipes on the visible elevations shall be of cast iron
and painted black.
REASON: In order to safeguard the special architectural or historic interest of the heritage
asset.

22

Bird and bat nesting
Details of bird/bat nesting boxes / bricks shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on site.
No less than [number] nesting boxes / bricks shall be provided and the details shall include
the exact location, specification and design of the habitats.

Page 244

P-RPT-COM-Main

The nesting boxes / bricks shall be provided strictly in accordance with the details so
approved, installed prior to the first occupation of the building to which they form part or the
first use of the space in which they are contained and shall be maintained as such
thereafter.
REASON: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards
creation of habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity

23

Protection of existing ground floor commercial floorspace
Operation of Section 55(2)(f) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is precluded with
regard to permitted office use. The building hereby approved shall only be used for office
use and for no other purpose (including any other purpose within Class E of the Schedule 2
of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 and subsequent Town and
Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020) or in any
provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that
Order with or without modification.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the Local Planning Authority can
restrict the use of the building to this specific use only, in order to protect the supply of office
floorspace in this location (Employment Growth Area). This would allow the Council to retain
control over the change of use of the building in the future and to secure an appropriate
balance of uses, and ensure that the availability of a range of workspaces to support the
delivery of economic growth within the borough.

24

Use of flat roofs for maintenance only.
The flat roofs of the development hereby approved shall not be used as amenity spaces and
shall not be accessed other than for maintenance.
REASON: To ensure that the amenity of residents is not adversely affected.

25

Biodiverse brown green roofs
Details of the biodiversity (green/brown) roof(s) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on
site. The biodiversity (green/brown) roof(s) shall be:
a)
biodiversity based with extensive substrate base (depth 80-150mm);
b)
laid out in accordance with plan and section detail to be submitted.
c)
planted/seeded with an agreed mix of species within the first planting season
following the practical completion of the building works (the seed mix shall be focused on
wildflower planting, and shall contain no more than a maximum of 25% sedum).
The biodiversity (green/brown) roof shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of
any kind whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential maintenance or repair,
or escape in case of emergency.
The biodiversity roof(s) shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards
creation of habitats and valuable areas for biodiversity.

26

Fire Strategy
Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a Fire Safety Strategy shall
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the development is
capable of providing adequate Fire Brigade access to the building (with reference to
Approved Document B, volume 2 or relevant code of practice). The Strategy shall also
include arrangement for safe evacuation of disabled people in an emergency.
Should any subsequent change(s) required to secure compliance with the submitted Fire
Safety Strategy, a revised Fire Safety Strategy would need to be submitted to and approved
by the Local Planning Authority.
Page 245
P-RPT-COM-Main

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Fire Safety Strategy under this
condition and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To ensure appropriate fire safety measures, in particular adequate access for
Fire Brigade appliances.

27

Landscaping
A landscaping scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority prior to any superstructure works commencing on site. The landscaping scheme
shall include the following details:
a)
an updated Access Statement detailing routes through the landscape and the
facilities it provides;
b)
a biodiversity statement detailing how the landscaping scheme maximises
biodiversity;
c)
existing and proposed underground services and their relationship to both hard and
soft landscaping;
d)
proposed trees: their location, species and size;
e)
soft plantings: including grass and turf areas, shrub and herbaceous areas;
f)
topographical survey: including earthworks, ground finishes, top soiling with both
conserved and imported topsoil(s), levels, drainage and fall in drain types;
g)
enclosures: including types, dimensions and treatments of walls, fences, screen
walls, barriers, rails, retaining walls and hedges;
h)
hard landscaping: including ground surfaces, kerbs, edges, ridge and flexible
pavings, unit paving, furniture, steps and if applicable synthetic surfaces; and
i)
any other landscaping feature(s) forming part of the scheme.
All landscaping in accordance with the approved scheme shall be completed / planted
during the first planting season following practical completion of the development hereby
approved. The landscaping and tree planting shall have a two year maintenance / watering
provision following planting and any existing tree shown to be retained or trees or shrubs to
be planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme which are removed, die, become
severely damaged or diseased within five years of completion of the development shall be
replaced with the same species or an approved alternative to the satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority within the next planting season.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and
shall be maintained as such permanently thereafter.
REASON: In the interest of biodiversity, sustainability and to ensure that a satisfactory
standard of visual amenity is provided.

28

No overlooking/obscure glazing
Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved the new bedroom windows in the flank elevation
of the extension facing Merino Court and the windows witihin the rear elevation directly
facing the flank elevation of the northern terrace of Guinness Court on Lever Street shall be
obscure glazed.
The details of how the windows shall be altered/treated to prevent overlooking shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the windows
being installed.
The agreed alteration/treatment shall be provided/installed prior first occupation of the
development hereby approved and the development shall be carried out strictly in
accordance with the details so approved and maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: To prevent the undue overlooking of neighbouring habitable room windows.

Page 246
P-RPT-COM-Main

29

Student accommodation – single planning unit.
The student accommodation hereby approved shall be retained in a single planning unit and
shall not be subdivided into independent residential units for the purpose of management or
sale. The rooms shall not be occupied other than by students who are associated with the
provision of further or higher education within the Greater London area and for whom such
studies constitute their main vocation. The rooms shall not constitute permanent residential
accommodation.
REASON: To ensure that the facility remains intact for its intended purpose as student
accommodation.

30

The proposed development
The development hereby approved shall provide:
A net increase of 50 student bedrooms
The retention of 270sq.m of office floorspace
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning

31

32

33

Student facilities
The revised student accommodation essential facilities being the basement cycle
parking, ground floor entrance and reception and communal kitchens lounges and
bathrooms shall be provided, fitted out and operational prior to the first occupation fo
the student accommodation. The essential facilities shall be provided strictly in
accordance with the approved details and shall be maintained as such thereafter
and shall not be converted into individual student rooms.
REASON: To provide for the wellbeing of future occupiers.
Water supply
Prior to the commencement of the superstructure works, impact studies of the
existing water supply infrastructure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority in consultation with Thames Water. The studies should
determine the magnitude of any new additional capacity required in the system and
a suitable connection point.
REASON: To ensure that the water supply infrastructure has sufficient capacity to
cope with any additional demand.
Ventilation
Prior to commencement of the relevant part of the development, full details of any
ventilation for both non-residential and residential units shall be submitted to the
Local Planning Authority and approved win writing before implementation for the
following parts:
a) Student accommodation units
b) Non-student accommodation units
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so
approved and shall be maintained as such thereafter.
REASON: In order to protect the future occupants of the development from adverse
health effects from poor air quality.

List of Informatives:
1

S106
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT

Page 247
P-RPT-COM-Main

You are advised that this permission has been granted subject to a legal
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2

Superstructure
DEFINITION OF ‘SUPERSTRUCTURE’ AND ‘PRACTICAL COMPLETION’
A number of conditions attached to this permission have the time restrictions ‘prior
to superstructure works commencing on site’ and/or ‘following practical completion’.
The council considers the definition of ‘superstructure’ as having its normal or
dictionary meaning, which is: the part of a building above its foundations. The
council considers the definition of ‘practical completion’ to be: when the work
reaches a state of readiness for use or occupation even though there may be
outstanding works/matters to be carried out.

3

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) (Granting Consent)
INFORMATIVE: Under the terms of the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), this development
is liable to pay the Mayor of London's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). This
will be calculated in accordance with the Mayor of London's CIL Charging Schedule
2012. One of the development parties must now assume liability to pay CIL by
submitting an Assumption of Liability Notice to the Council at cil@islington.gov.uk.
The Council will then issue a Liability Notice setting out the amount of CIL that is
payable.
Failure to submit a valid Assumption of Liability Notice and Commencement Notice
prior to commencement of the development may result in surcharges being
imposed. The above forms can be found on the planning portal at:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil
Pre-Commencement Conditions:
These conditions are identified with an ‘asterisk’ * in front of the short description.
These conditions are important from a CIL liability perspective as a scheme will not
become CIL liable until all of these unidentified pre-commencement conditions
have been discharged.

4

5

Car-Free Development
INFORMATIVE: (Car-Free Development) All new developments are car free in
accordance with Policy CS10 of the Islington Core Strategy 2011. This means that
no parking provision will be allowed on site and occupiers will have no ability to
obtain car parking permits, except for parking needed to meet the needs of
disabled people.
Sustainable sourcing of materials
SUSTAINABLE SOURCING OF MATERIALS: Materials procured for the development
should be selected to be sustainably sourced and otherwise minimise their environmental
impact, including through maximisation of recycled content, use of local suppliers and by
reference to the BRE's Green Guide Specification.

6

Thames Water
Thames Water recommends the installation of a properly maintained fat trap on all catering
establishments. Furthermore, it is recommended, in line with best practice for the disposal
of fats, oils and grease, the collection of waste by an oil contractor, particularly to recycle for
the production of bio-diesel. Failure to implement these recommendations may result in this
and other properties suffering blocked drains, sewage flooding and pollution to local
watercourses.

Page 248
P-RPT-COM-Main

Thames Water would recommend that petrol / oil interceptors be fitted in all car-parking /
washing / repair facilities. Failure to do enforce the effective use of petrol / oil interceptors
could result in oil-polluted discharges entering local watercourses.
A Trade Effluent Consent will be required for any Effluent discharge other than a 'Domestic
Discharge'. Any discharge without this consent is illegal and may result in prosecution.

7

Thames Water
THAMES WATER: [delete paragraphs as appropriate]
Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx
1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Water pipes.
The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed
development.
With regard to surface water drainage it is the responsibility of the developer to make proper
provision for drainage to ground, water courses or a suitable sewer. In respect of surface
water it is recommended that the applicant should ensure that storm flows are attenuated or
regulated into the receiving public network through on or off site storage. When it is
proposed to connect to a combined public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and
combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not permitted for the
removal of Ground Water. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer
prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required.
There are public sewers crossing this site and no building works will be permitted within 3
metres of the sewers without Thames Water's approval. Thames Water advises that they
should be contacted directly should a building over / diversion application form, or other
information relating to Thames Water's assets be required.
Thames Water requests that the Applicant should incorporate within their proposal
protection to the property by installing for example, a non-return valve or other suitable
device to avoid the risk of backflow at a later date, on the assumption that the sewerage
network may surcharge to ground level during storm conditions.

8

Thames Water
Compliance with sections 168 to 175 and of the Highways Act, 1980, relating to
"Precautions to be taken in doing certain works in or near streets or highways". This relates,
to scaffolding, hoarding and so on. All licenses can be acquired through . All agreements
relating to the above need to be in place prior to works commencing.
Compliance with section 174 of the Highways Act, 1980 - "Precautions to be taken by
persons executing works in streets." Should a ccompany/individual request to work on the
public highway a Section 50 license is required. Can be gained through
streetworks@islington.gov.uk. Section 50 license must be agreed prior to any works
commencing. Compliance with section 140A of the Highways Act, 1980 ? ?Builders skips:
charge for occupation of highway. Licenses can be gained through
streetworks@islington.gov.uk.Compliance with sections 59 and 60 of the Highway Act, 1980
“Recovery by highways authorities etc. of certain expenses incurred in maintaining
highways”. Haulage route to be agreed with streetworks officer. Contact
streetworks@islington.gov.uk.

9

Joint Conditions Surveys
Joint condition survey required between Islington Council Highways and interested parties
before commencement of building works to catalogue condition of streets and drainage
gullies. Contact highways.maintenance@islington.gov.uk Approval of highways required
and copy of findings and condition survey document to be sent to planning case officer for
development in question.
Temporary crossover licenses to be acquired from streetworks@islington.gov.uk. Heavy
duty vehicles will not be permitted to access the site unless a temporary heavy duty

Page 249

P-RPT-COM-Main

crossover is in place. Highways re-instatement costing to be provided to recover expenses
incurred for damage to the public highway directly by the build in accordance with sections
131 and 133 of the Highways Act, 1980. Before works commence on the public highway
planning applicant must provide Islington Council?s Highways Service with six months?
notice to meet the requirements of the Traffic Management Act, 2004. Development will
ensure that all new statutory services are complete prior to footway and/or carriageway
works commencing.

Page 250
P-RPT-COM-Main

APPENDIX 2:

RELEVANT POLICIES

This appendix lists all relevant development plan polices and guidance notes pertinent to the
determination of this planning application.
1

National Guidance

The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 seeks to secure positive growth in a way that
effectively balances economic, environmental and social progress for this and future
generations. The NPPF is a material consideration and has been taken into account as part of
the assessment of these proposals.
2.

Development Plan

The Development Plan is comprised of the London Plan 2021, Islington Core Strategy 2011,
Development Management Policies 2013, Finsbury Local Plan 2013 and Site Allocations 2013.
The following policies of the Development Plan are considered relevant to this application:
A) The London Plan 2021 - Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London
Policy SD4 Central Activities Zone
Policy SD5 Offices, other strategic functions
and residential development in the CAZ
Policy GG1 Building strong and inclusive
communities
Policy GG2 Making the best use of land
Policy D1 London’s form, character and
capacity for growth
Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through
design-led approach
Policy D4 Delivering Good Design
Policy D5 Inclusive Design
Policy D8 Public Realm
Policy D10 Basement development
Policy D12 Fire safety
Policy D13 Agent of Change
Policy D14 Noise
Policy H1 Increasing housing supply
Policy H15 Purpose built student
Accommodation.
Policy E1 Offices
Policy E11 Skills and opportunities for all.
Policy HC1 Heritage and Growth

B)

Policy G5 Urban Greening
Policy G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
Policy SI1 Improving air quality
Policy SI2 Minimising greenhouse emissions
Policy SI3 Energy Infrastructure
Policy SI4 Managing heat risk
Policy SI5 Water infrastructure
Policy SI7 Reducing waste and supporting the
circular economy
Policy SI12 Flood risk management
Policy SI13 Sustainable drainage
Policy T2 Healthy Streets
Policy T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and
safeguarding
Policy T4 Assessing and mitigating transport
impacts
Policy T5 Cycling
Policy T6 Car parking
Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and
construction

Islington Core Strategy 2011
Spatial Strategy
Policy CS7 (Bunhill and Clerkenwell)
Policy CS8 (Enhancing Islington’s
Character)
Strategic Policies

Page

Policy CS13 (Employment Spaces)
Infrastructure and Implementation
Policy CS18 (Delivery and
Infrastructure)
Policy CS19 (Health Impact
Assessments)
251
P-RPT-COM-Main

Policy CS9 (Protecting and Enhancing
Islington’s Built and Historic
Environment)
Policy CS10 (Sustainable Design)
Policy CS11 (Waste)
Policy CS12 (Meeting the Housing
Challenge)
C)

Policy CS20 (Partnership Working)

Development Management Policies June 2013
Design and Heritage
DM2.1 Design
DM2.2 Inclusive Design
DM2.3 Heritage
Housing
DM3.9 Houses in Multiple Occupation,
hostels and student accommodation

Employment
DM5.1 New business floorspace
DM5.2 Loss of existing business
floorspace
DM5.4 Size and affordability of
workspace
Health and open space
DM6.1 Healthy development
DM6.5 Landscaping, trees and
biodiversity
DM6.6 Flood prevention
Energy and Environmental Standards
DM7.1 Sustainable design and
construction statements
DM7.2 Energy efficiency and carbon
reduction in minor schemes
DM7.3 Decentralised energy networks
DM7.4 Sustainable design standards
DM7.5 Heating and cooling
Transport
DM8.1 Movement hierarchy
DM8.2 Managing transport impacts
DM8.3 Public transport
DM8.4 Walking and cycling
DM8.5 Vehicle parking
DM8.6 Delivery and servicing for new
developments
Infrastructure
DM9.1 Infrastructure
DM9.2 Planning obligations
DM9.3 Implementation

D)

Finsbury Local Plan June 2013
BC8 Achieving a balanced mix of uses
BC9 Tall buildings and contextual
considerations for building heights
BC10 Implementation

Page 252
P-RPT-COM-Main

5.

Designations
- Moorfields Conservation area
- Central Activities Zone

6.

- Bunhill and Finsbury Area Action Plan
(BC1 Kings Square & St Luke’s

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) / Document (SPD)
The following SPGs and/or SPDs are relevant:
Islington Local Development Plan
-

London Plan

Student Bursaries
Conservation Area Design Guidelines
Inclusive Landscape Design
Planning Obligations and S106
Urban Design Guide

- Accessible London: Achieving and
Inclusive Environment
- Housing
- Sustainable Design & Construction
- Providing for Children and Young
Peoples Play and Informal Recreation
- Planning for Equality and Diversity in
London

Page 253
P-RPT-COM-Main

This page is intentionally left blank

WEST

Islington SE GIS Print Template

LA ND

Shelters

PH

E

13

12

P LA C

7

2

18.6m

19

16

SHEPHERDESS
PLACE
213

4

226

2

215

LB

1

210

e

197

to 2

Eagle House

07

202

193
195

198

1 to

16

London
City
House

Eagle
Dwellings

163

18.0m

to 1

89

18.0m

2

96

RE
RA
MO

Shelters
4

6

154

S T RE

186

29
to

1
152

1 to 5

Court
BATH

Merino

5 to 16

2

188

19.2m

to 1

ST

34

Gambier
House

190

ET

212

1 to 115

18 to

Judd
House

1 to 36

208

220
on P
Nels

18.0m

214
to
218

PH

ag
ass

3 to

11

1

230

221

BSG House

ET

18.9m

STR

CAYTON

FB

EET

29

17 to 25
8 to 26

Cayto

Eye Hospital

of O p

46 to 67

Moorfields

e

stitute

n Plac

UCL In

City University
London
Willen House

1 to 27

Guinness Court

27

28 to 45

68 to 82

hthalm
ology

11 to 43

El Sub Sta
TCB
Play Area

ESS

1 to

29

rd C

ourt

12

W
GAL

10

AY S

T RE

ET

50
1
1 to

G

102

yH
alwa

o u se

5

Rad

nor

Hou

PEE

7 to 9

a
Me n

RLE S

S ST

RE E

T

se

19.2m
1 to 45

NO R

STR

ET

RA D

Paterso

0

School
House

1 to 12

se

Godfrey
House

Hou

S T RE

son

Gray

BATH

99
1 to

EET

19.8m

St L

's
uke
a ry
Prim
ool
Sch

19.5m

Play Area

1 to 128

LIZA

Bath
Court

RD
STR

EET

This material has been reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data with the permission of the controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright.
P2021/0616/FUL

Page 255

n Court

This page is intentionally left blank

